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Criminal law—Search and seizure—Vehicle—Traffic stop—
Reasonable suspicion—When a police officer lacks information
negating an inference that a person driving is the vehicle’s owner, an
investigative traffic stop made after running the vehicle’s license plate
and learning that the registered owner’s driver’s license has been
revoked is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment—Stopping
officer’s commonsense inference that the owner of a vehicle was likely
the vehicle’s driver provided more than reasonable suspicion to initiate
the stop

KANSAS, Petitioner v. CHARLES GLOVER. U.S. Supreme Court. Case No. 18-556.
Argued November 4, 2019—Decided April 6, 2020. On Writ of Certiorari to the
Supreme Court of Kansas.

Syllabus
A Kansas deputy sheriff ran a license plate check on a pickup truck, discovering that the

truck belonged to respondent Glover and that Glover’s driver’s license had been
revoked. The deputy pulled the truck over because he assumed that Glover was
driving. Glover was in fact driving and was charged with driving as a habitual
violator. He moved to suppress all evidence from the stop, claiming that the deputy
lacked reasonable suspicion. The District Court granted the motion, but the Court
of Appeals reversed. The Kansas Supreme Court in turn reversed, holding that the
deputy violated the Fourth Amendment by stopping Glover without reasonable
suspicion of criminal activity.

Held: When the officer lacks information negating an inference that the owner is
driving the vehicle, an investigative traffic stop made after running a vehicle’s
license plate and learning that the registered owner’s driver’s license has been
revoked is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. Pp. 3-10.

(a) An officer may initiate a brief investigative traffic stop when he has “a
particularized and objective basis” to suspect legal wrongdoing. United States v.
Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417. The level of suspicion required is less than that
necessary for probable cause and “depends on ‘ “the factual and practical
considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal
technicians, act.” ’ ” Prado Navarette v. California, 572 U.S. 393, 402. Courts must
therefore permit officers to make “commonsense judgments and inferences about
human behavior.” Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 125. P. 3.

(b) Here, the deputy’s commonsense inference that the owner of a vehicle was
likely the vehicle’s driver provided more than reasonable suspicion to initiate the
stop. That inference is not made unreasonable merely because a vehicle’s driver is
not always its registered owner or because Glover had a revoked license. Though
common sense suffices to justify the officer’s inference, empirical studies
demonstrate that drivers with suspended or revoked licenses frequently continue
to drive. And Kansas’ license-revocation scheme, which covers drivers who have
already demonstrated a disregard for the law or are categorically unfit to drive,
reinforces the reasonableness of the inference that an individual with a revoked
license will continue to drive. Pp. 4-6.

(c) Glover’s counterarguments are unpersuasive. He argues that the deputy’s
inference was unreasonable because it was not grounded in his law enforcement
training or experience. Such a requirement, however, is inconsistent with this
Court’s Fourth Amendment jurisprudence. See, e.g., Navarette, 572 U.S., at 402.
It would also place the burden on police officers to justify their inferences by
referring to training materials or experience, and it would foreclose their ability to
rely on common sense obtained outside of their work duties. Glover’s argument
that Kansas’ view would permit officers to base reasonable suspicion exclusively
on probabilities also carries little force. Officers, like jurors, may rely on probabili-
ties in the reasonable suspicion context. See, e.g., United States v. Sokolow, 490
U.S. 1, 8-9. Moreover, the deputy here did more than that: He combined facts
obtained from a database and commonsense judgments to form a reasonable suspi-
cion that a specific individual was potentially engaged in specific criminal activity.
Pp. 6-8.

(d) The scope of this holding is narrow. The reasonable suspicion standard
“ ‘takes into account the totality of the circumstances.’ ” Navarette, 572 U.S., at
397. The presence of additional facts might dispel reasonable suspicion, but here,
the deputy possessed no information sufficient to rebut the reasonable inference
that Glover was driving his own truck. P. 9.

308 Kan. 590, 422 P. 3d 64, reversed and remanded.

THOMAS, J., delivered the opinion of the Court, in which ROBERTS, C. J., and
GINSBURG, BREYER, ALITO, KAGAN, GORSUCH, and KAVANAUGH, JJ.,

joined. KAGAN, J., filed a concurring opinion, in which GINSBURG, J., joined.
SOTOMAYOR, J., filed a dissenting opinion.

))))))))))))))))))
JUSTICE THOMAS delivered the opinion of the Court.
This case presents the question whether a police officer violates the

Fourth Amendment by initiating an investigative traffic stop after
running a vehicle’s license plate and learning that the registered owner
has a revoked driver’s license. We hold that when the officer lacks
information negating an inference that the owner is the driver of the
vehicle, the stop is reasonable.

I
Kansas charged respondent Charles Glover, Jr., with driving as a

habitual violator after a traffic stop revealed that he was driving with
a revoked license. See Kan. Stat. Ann. §8-285(a)(3) (2001). Glover
filed a motion to suppress all evidence seized during the stop, claiming
that the officer lacked reasonable suspicion. Neither Glover nor the
police officer testified at the suppression hearing. Instead, the parties
stipulated to the following facts:

“1. Deputy Mark Mehrer is a certified law enforcement officer
employed by the Douglas County Kansas Sheriff’s Office.

2. On April 28, 2016, Deputy Mehrer was on routine patrol in
Douglas County when he observed a 1995 Chevrolet 1500 pickup
truck with Kansas plate 295ATJ.

3. Deputy Mehrer ran Kansas plate 295ATJ through the Kansas
Department of Revenue’s file service. The registration came back to
a 1995 Chevrolet 1500 pickup truck.

4. Kansas Department of Revenue files indicated the truck was
registered to Charles Glover Jr. The files also indicated that Mr.
Glover had a revoked driver’s license in the State of Kansas.

5. Deputy Mehrer assumed the registered owner of the truck was
also the driver, Charles Glover Jr.

6. Deputy Mehrer did not observe any traffic infractions, and did
not attempt to identify the driver [of] the truck. Based solely on the
information that the registered owner of the truck was revoked,
Deputy Mehrer initiated a traffic stop.

7. The driver of the truck was identified as the defendant, Charles
Glover Jr.” App. to Pet. for Cert. 60-61.

The District Court granted Glover’s motion to suppress. The Court of
Appeals reversed, holding that “it was reasonable for [Deputy] Mehrer
to infer that the driver was the owner of the vehicle” because “there
were specific and articulable facts from which the officer’s common-
sense inference gave rise to a reasonable suspicion.” 54 Kan. App. 2d
377, 385, 400 P. 3d 182, 188 (2017).

The Kansas Supreme Court reversed. According to the court,
Deputy Mehrer did not have reasonable suspicion because his
inference that Glover was behind the wheel amounted to “only a
hunch” that Glover was engaging in criminal activity. 308 Kan. 590,
591, 422 P. 3d 64, 66 (2018). The court further explained that Deputy
Mehrer’s “hunch” involved “applying and stacking unstated assump-
tions that are unreasonable without further factual basis,” namely, that
“the registered owner was likely the primary driver of the vehicle” and
that “the owner will likely disregard the suspension or revocation
order and continue to drive.” Id., at 595-597, 422 P. 3d, at 68-70. We
granted Kansas’ petition for a writ of certiorari, 587 U.S. ___ (2019),
and now reverse.
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II
Under this Court’s precedents, the Fourth Amendment permits an

officer to initiate a brief investigative traffic stop when he has “a
particularized and objective basis for suspecting the particular person
stopped of criminal activity.” United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411,
417-418 (1981); see also Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21-22 (1968).
“Although a mere ‘hunch’ does not create reasonable suspicion, the
level of suspicion the standard requires is considerably less than proof
of wrongdoing by a preponderance of the evidence, and obviously less
than is necessary for probable cause.” Prado Navarette v. California,
572 U.S. 393, 397 (2014) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S690a] (quotation
altered); United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989).

Because it is a “less demanding” standard, “reasonable suspicion
can be established with information that is different in quantity or
content than that required to establish probable cause.” Alabama v.
White, 496 U.S. 325, 330 (1990). The standard “depends on the
factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which
reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians, act.” Navarette,
supra, at 402 (quoting Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690, 695
(1996) (emphasis added; internal quotation marks omitted)). Courts
“cannot reasonably demand scientific certainty . . . where none
exists.” Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 125 (2000). Rather, they
must permit officers to make “commonsense judgments and infer-
ences about human behavior.” Ibid.; see also Navarette, supra, at 403
(noting that an officer “ ‘need not rule out the possibility of innocent
conduct’ ”).

III
We have previously recognized that States have a “vital interest in

ensuring that only those qualified to do so are permitted to operate
motor vehicles [and] that licensing, registration, and vehicle inspec-
tion requirements are being observed.” Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S.
648, 658 (1979). With this in mind, we turn to whether the facts
known to Deputy Mehrer at the time of the stop gave rise to reasonable
suspicion. We conclude that they did.

Before initiating the stop, Deputy Mehrer observed an individual
operating a 1995 Chevrolet 1500 pickup truck with Kansas plate
295ATJ. He also knew that the registered owner of the truck had a
revoked license and that the model of the truck matched the observed
vehicle. From these three facts, Deputy Mehrer drew the common-
sense inference that Glover was likely the driver of the vehicle, which
provided more than reasonable suspicion to initiate the stop.

The fact that the registered owner of a vehicle is not always the
driver of the vehicle does not negate the reasonableness of Deputy
Mehrer’s inference. Such is the case with all reasonable inferences.
The reasonable suspicion inquiry “falls considerably short” of 51%
accuracy, see United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 274 (2002) [15
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S81a], for, as we have explained, “[t]o be
reasonable is not to be perfect,” Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54,
60 (2014) [25 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S20a].

Glover’s revoked license does not render Deputy Mehrer’s
inference unreasonable either. Empirical studies demonstrate what
common experience readily reveals: Drivers with revoked licenses
frequently continue to drive and therefore to pose safety risks to other
motorists and pedestrians. See, e.g., 2 T. Neuman et al., National
Coop. Hwy. Research Program Report 500: A Guide for Addressing
Collisions Involving Unlicensed Drivers and Drivers With Suspended
or Revoked Licenses, p. III-1 (2003) (noting that 75% of drivers with
suspended or revoked licenses continue to drive); National Hwy. and
Traffic Safety Admin., Research Note: Driver License Compliance
Status in Fatal Crashes 2 (Oct. 2014) (noting that approximately 19%
of motor vehicle fatalities from 2008-2012 “involved drivers with
invalid licenses”).

Although common sense suffices to justify this inference, Kansas
law reinforces that it is reasonable to infer that an individual with a
revoked license may continue driving. The State’s license-revocation
scheme covers drivers who have already demonstrated a disregard for
the law or are categorically unfit to drive. The Division of Vehicles of
the Kansas Department of Revenue (Division) “shall” revoke a
driver’s license upon certain convictions for involuntary manslaugh-
ter, vehicular homicide, battery, reckless driving, fleeing or attempt-
ing to elude a police officer, or conviction of a felony in which a motor
vehicle is used. Kan. Stat. Ann. §§8-254(a), 8-252. Reckless driving
is defined as “driv[ing] any vehicle in willful or wanton disregard for
the safety of persons or property.” §8-1566(a). The Division also has
discretion to revoke a license if a driver “[h]as been convicted with
such frequency of serious offenses against traffic regulations govern-
ing the movement of vehicles as to indicate a disrespect for traffic laws
and a disregard for the safety of other persons on the highways,” “has
been convicted of three or more moving traffic violations committed
on separate occasions within a 12-month period,” “is incompetent to
drive a motor vehicle,” or “has been convicted of a moving traffic
violation, committed at a time when the person’s driving privileges
were restricted, suspended[,] or revoked.” §§8-255(a)(1)-(4). Other
reasons include violating license restrictions, §8-245(c), being under
house arrest, §21-6609(c), and being a habitual violator, §8-286,
which Kansas defines as a resident or nonresident who has been
convicted three or more times within the past five years of certain
enumerated driving offenses, §8-285. The concerns motivating the
State’s various grounds for revocation lend further credence to the
inference that a registered owner with a revoked Kansas driver’s
license might be the one driving the vehicle.

IV
Glover and the dissent respond with two arguments as to why

Deputy Mehrer lacked reasonable suspicion. Neither is persuasive.

A
First, Glover and the dissent argue that Deputy Mehrer’s inference

was unreasonable because it was not grounded in his law enforcement
training or experience. Nothing in our Fourth Amendment precedent
supports the notion that, in determining whether reasonable suspicion
exists, an officer can draw inferences based on knowledge gained only
through law enforcement training and experience. We have repeatedly
recognized the opposite. In Navarette, we noted a number of
behaviors—including driving in the median, crossing the center line
on a highway, and swerving—that as a matter of common sense
provide “sound indicia of drunk driving.” 572 U.S., at 402. In
Wardlow, we made the unremarkable observation that “[h]eadlong
flight—wherever it occurs—is the consummate act of evasion” and
therefore could factor into a police officer’s reasonable suspicion
determination. 528 U.S., at 124. And in Sokolow, we recognized that
the defendant’s method of payment for an airplane ticket contributed
to the agents’ reasonable suspicion of drug trafficking because we
“fe[lt] confident” that “[m]ost business travelers . . . purchase airline
tickets by credit card or check” rather than cash. 490 U.S., at 8-9. So
too here. The inference that the driver of a car is its registered owner
does not require any specialized training; rather, it is a reasonable
inference made by ordinary people on a daily basis.

The dissent reads our cases differently, contending that they permit
an officer to use only the common sense derived from his “experi-
ences in law enforcement.” Post, at 5 (opinion of SOTOMAYOR, J.).
Such a standard defies the “common sense” understanding of
common sense, i.e., information that is accessible to people generally,
not just some specialized subset of society. More importantly, this
standard appears nowhere in our precedent. In fact, we have stated that
reasonable suspicion is an “abstract” concept that cannot be reduced
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to “a neat set of legal rules,” Arvizu, 534 U.S., at 274 (internal
quotation marks omitted), and we have repeatedly rejected courts’
efforts to impose a rigid structure on the concept of reasonableness,
ibid.; Sokolow, 490 U.S., at 7-8. This is precisely what the dissent’s
rule would do by insisting that officers must be treated as bifurcated
persons, completely precluded from drawing factual inferences based
on the commonly held knowledge they have acquired in their
everyday lives.

The dissent’s rule would also impose on police the burden of
pointing to specific training materials or field experiences justifying
reasonable suspicion for the myriad infractions in municipal criminal
codes. And by removing common sense as a source of evidence, the
dissent would considerably narrow the daylight between the showing
required for probable cause and the “less stringent” showing required
for reasonable suspicion. Prouse, 440 U.S., at 654; see White, 496
U.S., at 330. Finally, it would impermissibly tie a traffic stop’s validity
to the officer’s length of service. See Devenpeck v. Alford, 543 U.S.
146, 154 (2004) [18 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S42a]. Such requirements are
inconsistent with our Fourth Amendment jurisprudence, and we
decline to adopt them here.

In reaching this conclusion, we in no way minimize the significant
role that specialized training and experience routinely play in law
enforcement investigations. See, e.g., Arvizu, 534 U.S., at 273-274.
We simply hold that such experience is not required in every instance.

B
Glover and the dissent also contend that adopting Kansas’ view

would eviscerate the need for officers to base reasonable suspicion on
“specific and articulable facts” particularized to the individual, see
Terry, 392 U.S., at 21, because police could instead rely exclusively
on probabilities. Their argument carries little force.

As an initial matter, we have previously stated that officers, like
jurors, may rely on probabilities in the reasonable suspicion context.
See Sokolow, 490 U.S., at 8-9; Cortez, 449 U.S., at 418. Moreover, as
explained above, Deputy Mehrer did not rely exclusively on probabil-
ities. He knew that the license plate was linked to a truck matching the
observed vehicle and that the registered owner of the vehicle had a
revoked license. Based on these minimal facts, he used common sense
to form a reasonable suspicion that a specific individual was poten-
tially engaged in specific criminal activity—driving with a revoked
license. Traffic stops of this nature do not delegate to officers “broad
and unlimited discretion” to stop drivers at random. United States v.
Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 882 (1975). Nor do they allow officers
to stop drivers whose conduct is no different from any other driver’s.
See Brown v. Texas, 443 U.S. 47, 52 (1979). Accordingly, combining
database information and commonsense judgments in this context is
fully consonant with this Court’s Fourth Amendment precedents.1

V
This Court’s precedents have repeatedly affirmed that “ ‘the

ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is “reasonableness.’ ” ”
Heien, 574 U.S., at 60 (quoting Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373, 381
(2014) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S921a]). Under the totality of the
circumstances of this case, Deputy Mehrer drew an entirely reason-
able inference that Glover was driving while his license was revoked.

We emphasize the narrow scope of our holding. Like all seizures,
“[t]he officer’s action must be ‘justified at its inception.’ ” Hiibel v.
Sixth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev., Humboldt Cty., 542 U.S. 177, 185
(2004) [17 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S406a] (quoting United States v.
Sharpe, 470 U.S. 675, 682 (1985)). “The standard takes into account
the totality of the circumstances—the whole picture.” Navarette, 572
U.S., at 397 (internal quotation marks omitted). As a result, the
presence of additional facts might dispel reasonable suspicion. See
Terry, supra, at 28. For example, if an officer knows that the registered

owner of the vehicle is in his mid-sixties but observes that the driver
is in her mid-twenties, then the totality of the circumstances would not
“raise a suspicion that the particular individual being stopped is
engaged in wrongdoing.” Cortez, 449 U.S., at 418; Ornelas, 517 U.S.,
at 696 (“ ‘[e]ach case is to be decided on its own facts and circum-
stances’ ” (quoting Ker v. California, 374 U.S. 23, 33 (1963))). Here,
Deputy Mehrer possessed no exculpatory information—let alone
sufficient information to rebut the reasonable inference that Glover
was driving his own truck—and thus the stop was justified.2

*    *    *
For the foregoing reasons, we reverse the judgment of the Kansas

Supreme Court, and we remand the case for further proceedings not
inconsistent with this opinion.

It is so ordered.
))))))))))))))))))

1The dissent contends that this approach “pave[s] the road to finding reasonable
suspicion based on nothing more than a demographic profile.” Post, at 6-7 (opinion of
SOTOMAYOR, J.). To alleviate any doubt, we reiterate that the Fourth Amendment
requires, and Deputy Mehrer had, an individualized suspicion that a particular citizen
was engaged in a particular crime. Such a particularized suspicion would be lacking in
the dissent’s hypothetical scenario, which, in any event, is already prohibited by our
precedents. See United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 876 (1975) (holding
that it violated the Fourth Amendment to stop and “question [a vehicle’s] occupants
[about their immigration status] when the only ground for suspicion [was] that the
occupants appear[ed] to be of Mexican ancestry”).

2The dissent argues that this approach impermissibly places the burden of proof on
the individual to negate the inference of reasonable suspicion. Post, at 3. Not so. As the
above analysis makes clear, it is the information possessed by the officer at the time of
the stop, not any information offered by the individual after the fact, that can negate the
inference.

))))))))))))))))))
JUSTICE KAGAN, with whom JUSTICE GINSBURG joins,

concurring.
When you see a car coming down the street, your common sense

tells you that the registered owner may well be behind the wheel. See
ante, at 4, 9. Not always, of course. Families share cars; friends
borrow them. Still, a person often buys a vehicle to drive it himself. So
your suspicion that the owner is driving would be perfectly reason-
able. See ibid.

Now, though, consider a wrinkle: Suppose you knew that the
registered owner of the vehicle no longer had a valid driver’s license.
That added fact raises a new question. What are the odds that someone
who has lost his license would continue to drive? The answer is by no
means obvious. You might think that a person told not to drive on pain
of criminal penalty would obey the order—so that if his car was on the
road, someone else (a family member, a friend) must be doing the
driving. Or you might have the opposite intuition—that a person’s
reasons for driving would overcome his worries about violating the
law, no matter the possible punishment. But most likely (let’s be
honest), you just wouldn’t know. Especially if you’ve not had your
own license taken away, your everyday experience has given you little
basis to assess the probabilities. Your common sense can therefore no
longer guide you.

Even so, Deputy Mark Mehrer had reasonable suspicion to stop the
truck in this case, and I join the Court’s opinion holding as much.
Crucially for me, Mehrer knew yet one more thing about the vehicle’s
registered owner, and it related to his proclivity for breaking driving
laws. As the Court recounts, Mehrer learned from a state database that
Charles Glover, the truck’s owner, had had his license revoked under
Kansas law. See ante, at 2. And Kansas almost never revokes a license
except for serious or repeated driving offenses. See Kan. Stat. Ann.
§8-254 (2001); ante, at 5. Crimes like vehicular homicide and
manslaughter, or vehicular flight from a police officer, provoke a
license revocation; so too do multiple convictions for moving traffic
violations within a short time. See ante, at 5. In other words, a person
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with a revoked license has already shown a willingness to flout driving
restrictions. That fact, as the Court states, provides a “reason[ ] to
infer” that such a person will drive without a license—at least often
enough to warrant an investigatory stop. Ibid. And there is nothing
else here to call that inference into question. That is because the par-
ties’ unusually austere stipulation confined the case to the facts stated
above—i.e., that Mehrer stopped Glover’s truck because he knew that
Kansas had revoked Glover’s license.

But as already suggested, I would find this a different case if
Kansas had barred Glover from driving on a ground that provided no
similar evidence of his penchant for ignoring driving laws. Consider,
for example, if Kansas had suspended rather than revoked Glover’s
license. Along with many other States, Kansas suspends licenses for
matters having nothing to do with road safety, such as failing to pay
parking tickets, court fees, or child support. See Kan. Stat. Ann. §8-
2110(b) (2018 Cum. Supp.); see also, e.g., N. J. Stat. Ann. §39:4-
139.10 (West Supp. 2019); Ark. Code Ann. §9-14-239 (Supp. 2019).
Indeed, several studies have found that most license suspensions do
not relate to driving at all; what they most relate to is being poor. See
Brief for Fines and Fees Justice Center et al. as Amici Curiae 7. So the
good reason the Court gives for thinking that someone with a revoked
license will keep driving—that he has a history of disregarding driving
rules—would no longer apply. And without that, the case for assum-
ing that an unlicensed driver is at the wheel is hardly self-evident. It
would have to rest on an idea about the frequency with which even
those who had previously complied with driving laws would defy a
State’s penalty-backed command to stay off the roads. But where
would that idea come from? As discussed above, I doubt whether our
collective common sense could do the necessary work. See supra, at
1. Or otherwise said, I suspect that any common sense invoked in this
altered context would not much differ from a “mere ‘hunch’ ”—and
so “not create reasonable suspicion.” Prado Navarette v. California,
572 U.S. 393, 397 (2014) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S690a] (quoting
Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968)).

And even when, as under the revocation scheme here, a starting
presumption of reasonable suspicion makes sense, the defendant may
show that in his case additional information dictates the opposite
result. The Court is clear on this point, emphasizing that under the
applicable totality-of-the-circumstances test, “the presence of
additional facts might dispel reasonable suspicion” even though an
officer knows that a car on the road belongs to a person with a revoked
license. Ante, at 9; see ante, at 1 (stating that further information may
“negat[e] an inference that the owner is the driver of the vehicle”). Just
as the Court once said of a trained drug-detection dog’s “alert,” the
license-revocation signal is always subject to a defendant’s challenge,
whether through cross-examination of the officer or introduction of
his own fact or expert witnesses. Florida v. Harris, 568 U.S. 237, 247
(2013) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S18a].

That challenge may take any number of forms. The Court offers a
clear example of observational evidence dispelling reasonable
suspicion: if the officer knows the registered owner of a vehicle is an
elderly man, but can see the driver is a young woman. See ante, at 9.
Similarly (if not as cut-and-dry), when the officer learns a car has two
or more registered owners, the balance of circumstances may tip away
from reasonable suspicion that the one with the revoked license is
driving. And so too, the attributes of the car may be relevant. Consider
if a car bears the markings of a peer-to-peer carsharing service; or
compare the likelihoods that someone other than the registered owner
is driving (1) a family minivan and (2) a Ferrari. The officer himself
may have a wealth of accumulated information about such matters,
and the defendant may probe what that knowledge suggests about the
stop at issue.

Such a challenge may also use statistical evidence, which is almost

daily expanding in sophistication and scope. States or municipalities
often keep information about “hit rates” in stops like this one—in
other words, the frequency with which those stops discover unlicensed
drivers behind the wheel. See generally Brief for Andrew Manuel
Crespo as Amicus Curiae 23-27. Somewhat less direct but also useful
are state and local data (collected by governments, insurance compa-
nies, and academics alike) about the average number of drivers for
each registered automobile and the extent to which unlicensed persons
continue to drive. See id., at 13-18. (If, to use an extreme example,
every car had 10 associated drivers, and losing a license reduced driv-
ing time by 90%, an officer would not have reasonable suspicion for
a stop.) Here too, defendants may question testifying officers about
such information. Indeed, an officer may have his own hit rate, which
if low enough could itself negate reasonable suspicion. See, e.g.,
United States v. Cortez-Galaviz, 495 F. 3d 1203, 1208-1209 (CA10
2007) (Gorsuch, J.) (considering, as part of the reasonable suspicion
inquiry, the frequency of an officer’s misses and the accuracy of the
database on which he relied).*

In this strange case, contested on a barebones stipulation, the
record contains no evidence of these kinds. There is but a single,
simple fact: A police officer learned from a state database that a car on
the road belonged to a person with a revoked license. Given that
revocations in Kansas nearly always stem from serious or repeated
driving violations, I agree with the Court about the reasonableness of
the officer’s inference that the owner, “Glover[,] was driving while his
license was revoked.” Ante, at 9. And because Glover offered no
rebuttal, there the matter stands. But that does not mean cases with
more complete records will all wind up in the same place. A defendant
like Glover may still be able to show that his case is different—that the
“presence of additional facts” and circumstances “dispel[s] reasonable
suspicion.” Ibid. Which is to say that in more fully litigated cases, the
license-revocation alert does not (as it did here) end the inquiry. It is
but the first, though no doubt an important, step in assessing the
reasonableness of the officer’s suspicion.
))))))))))))))))))

*Of course, aggregate statistics of this kind cannot substitute for the individualized
suspicion that the Fourth Amendment requires. See, e.g., Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21,
n. 18 (1968) (“Th[e] demand for specificity . . . is the central teaching of this Court’s
Fourth Amendment jurisprudence”). But in a case like this one, the officer’s suspicion
is individualized: It arises from the license status of the known owner of a specific car.
The only question is whether that suspicion is reasonable—whether, in other words,
there is enough to back up the officer’s belief that the owner is driving the vehicle. As
to that matter, statistics may be highly relevant, either to support or to cast doubt on the
officer’s judgment.

))))))))))))))))))
JUSTICE SOTOMAYOR, dissenting.
In upholding routine stops of vehicles whose owners have revoked

licenses, the Court ignores key foundations of our reasonable-
suspicion jurisprudence and impermissibly and unnecessarily reduces
the State’s burden of proof. I therefore dissent.

I
I begin with common ground. The Fourth Amendment permits

“brief investigatory” vehicle stops, United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S.
411, 417 (1981), on “facts that do not constitute probable cause,”
United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 881 (1975). To assess
whether an officer had the requisite suspicion to seize a driver, past
cases have considered the “totality of the circumstances—the whole
picture,” Cortez, 449 U.S., at 417, and analyzed whether the officer
assembled “fact on fact and clue on clue,” id., at 419.

The stop at issue here, however, rests on just one key fact: that the
vehicle was owned by someone with a revoked license. The majority
concludes—erroneously, in my view—that seizing this vehicle was
constitutional on the record below because drivers with revoked
licenses (as opposed to suspended licenses) in Kansas “have already
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demonstrated a disregard for the law or are categorically unfit to
drive.” Ante, at 5. This analysis breaks from settled doctrine and
dramatically alters both the quantum and nature of evidence a State
may rely on to prove suspicion.

A
The State bears the burden of justifying a seizure. Florida v. Royer,

460 U.S. 491, 500 (1983) (plurality opinion); Brown v. Texas, 443
U.S. 47, 51-52 (1979). This requires the government to articulate
factors supporting its reasonable suspicion, usually through a trained
agent. See Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690, 696 (1996); see
also United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 10 (1989). While the Court
has not dictated precisely what evidence a government must produce,
it has stressed that an officer must at least “articulate more than an
‘inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or “hunch’ ” of criminal
activity.” Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123-124 (2000) (quoting
Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968)). That articulation must include
both facts and an officer’s “rational inferences from those facts.”
Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S., at 880, 884. A logical “gap as to any one
matter” in this analysis may be overcome by “ ‘a strong showing’ ”
regarding “ ‘other indicia of reliability.’ ” Florida v. Harris, 568 U.S.
237, 245 (2013) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S18a]. But gaps may not go
unfilled.

Additionally, reasonable suspicion eschews judicial common
sense, ante, at 5, in favor of the perspectives and inferences of a
reasonable officer viewing “the facts through the lens of his police
experience and expertise.” Ornelas, 517 U.S., at 699; Cortez, 449
U.S., at 416-418 (explaining that the facts and inferences giving rise
to a stop “must be seen and weighed . . . as understood by those versed
in the field of law enforcement”); Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S.
54, 73 (2014) [25 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S20a] (SOTOMAYOR, J.,
dissenting) (“[O]ur enunciation of the reasonableness inquiry and our
justification for it . . . have always turned on an officer’s factual
conclusions and an officer’s expertise with respect to those factual
conclusions”). It is the reasonable officer’s assessment, not the
ordinary person’s—or judge’s—judgment, that matters.1

Finally, a stop must be individualized—that is, based on “a
suspicion that the particular [subject] being stopped is engaged in
wrongdoing.” Cortez, 449 U.S., at 418; Prado Navarette v. Califor-
nia, 572 U.S. 393, 396-397 (2014) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S690a].
This does not mean that the officer must know the driver’s identity.
But a seizure must rest on more than the “likelihood that [a] given
person” or particular vehicle is engaged in wrongdoing. Brignoni-
Ponce, 422 U.S., at 886-887. The inquiry ordinarily involves some
observation or report about the target’s behavior—not merely the
class to which he belongs. See, e.g., Navarette, 572 U.S., at 398, 402
(upholding vehicle stop based on an anonymous tip about driver
conduct, interpreted in light of the “accumulated experience of
thousands of officers”); Sokolow, 490 U.S., at 10 (evaluating the
collective facts giving rise to suspicion that an individual was
transporting narcotics instead of relying on law enforcement’s
simplified drug courier “ ‘profile’ ”).

B
Faithful adherence to these precepts would yield a significantly

different analysis and outcome than that offered by the majority.
For starters, the majority flips the burden of proof. It permits

Kansas police officers to effectuate roadside stops whenever they lack
“information negating an inference” that a vehicle’s unlicensed owner
is its driver. Ante, at 1. This has it backwards: The State shoulders the
burden to supply the key inference that tethers observation to suspi-
cion. The majority repeatedly attributes such an inference to Deputy
Mehrer. Ante, at 4, 6, 9. But that is an after-the-fact gloss on a seven-
paragraph stipulation. Nowhere in his terse submission did Deputy
Mehrer indicate that he had any informed belief about the propensity

of unlicensed drivers to operate motor vehicles in the area—let alone
that he relied on such a belief in seizing Glover. Ante, at 1-2.

The consequence of the majority’s approach is to absolve officers
from any responsibility to investigate the identity of a driver where
feasible. But that is precisely what officers ought to do—and are more
than capable of doing. Of course, some circumstances may not
warrant an officer approaching a car to take a closer look at its
occupants. But there are countless other instances where officers have
been able to ascertain the identity of a driver from a distance and make
out their approximate age and gender. Indeed, our cases are rife with
examples of officers who have perceived more than just basic driver
demographics. See, e.g., Heien, 574 U.S., at 57 (officer thought that
motorist was “ ‘very stiff and nervous’ ”); United States v. Arvizu, 534
U.S. 266, 270 (2002) [15 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S81a] (officer observed
an “adult man” driving who “appeared stiff”); United States v. Ross,
456 U. S 798, 801 (1982) (officer pulled alongside car and noticed that
the driver matched a description from an informant); Brignoni-Ponce,
422 U.S., at 875 (officers stopped a vehicle whose occupants
“appeared to be of Mexican descent”). The majority underestimates
officers’ capabilities and instead gives them free rein to stop a vehicle
involved in no suspicious activity simply because it is registered to an
unlicensed person. That stop is based merely on a guess or a “hunch”
about the driver’s identity. Wardlow, 528 U.S., at 124 (internal
quotation marks omitted).

With no basis in the record to presume that unlicensed drivers
routinely continue driving, the majority endeavors to fill the gap with
its own “common sense.” Ante, at 5. But simply labeling an inference
“common sense” does not make it so, no matter how many times the
majority repeats it. Cf. ante, at 5, 6, 7, 8. Whether the driver of a
vehicle is likely to be its unlicensed owner is “by no means obvious.”
Ante, at 1 (KAGAN, J., concurring). And like the concurrence, I
“doubt” that our collective judicial common sense could answer that
question, even if our Fourth Amendment jurisprudence allowed us to
do so. Ante, at 3.

Contrary to the majority’s claims, ante, at 3-5, 7, the reasonable-
suspicion inquiry does not accommodate the average person’s
intuition. Rather, it permits reliance on a particular type of common
sense—that of the reasonable officer, developed through her experi-
ences in law enforcement. Cortez, 449 U.S., at 418. This approach
acknowledges that what may be “common sense” to a layperson may
not be relevant (or correct) in a law enforcement context. Indeed, this
case presents the type of geographically localized inquiry where an
officer’s “inferences and deductions that might well elude an un-
trained person” would come in handy. Ibid.; see also Arvizu, 534 U.S.,
at 276 (prizing an officer’s “specialized training and familiarity with
the customs of the area’s inhabitants”). By relying on judicial in-
ferences instead, the majority promotes broad, inflexible rules that
overlook regional differences.

Allowing judges to offer their own brand of common sense where
the State’s proffered justifications for a search come up short also
shifts police work to the judiciary. Our cases—including those the
majority cites—have looked to officer sensibility to establish
inferences about human behavior, even though they just as easily
could have relied on the inferences “made by ordinary people on a
daily basis.” Ante, at 6. See, e.g., Navarette, 572 U.S., at 402 (pointing
to “the accumulated experience of thousands of officers” to identify
certain “erratic” behaviors “as sound indicia of drunk driving”);
Wardlow, 528 U.S., at 124 (permitting officers to account for the
relevant characteristics of a location when interpreting whether flight
from police is “evasive”); Sokolow, 490 U.S., at 9-10 (crediting the
evidentiary significance of facts “as seen by a trained agent” to
identify a suspicious traveler). There is no reason to depart from that
practice here.



Headnotes and indexes are copyrighted and may not be duplicated by photocopying, printing,
or other means without the express permission of the publishers. 1-800-351-0917

28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S116 UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT

Finally, to bolster its conclusion as grounded in “common experi-
ence,” the majority cites “empirical studies.” Ante, at 4. But its use of
statistics illustrates the danger of relying on large-scale data to carry
out what is supposed to be a particularized exercise. Neither of the
referenced reports tells us the percentage of vehicle owners with
revoked licenses in Kansas who continue to drive their cars. Neither
report even offers a useful denominator: One lumps drivers with
suspended and revoked licenses together, while the other examines
the license status of only motorists involved in fatal collisions. The
figures say nothing about how the behavior of revoked drivers
measures up relative to their licensed counterparts—whether one
group is more likely to be involved in accidents, or whether the
incidences are comparable—which would inform a trooper’s
inferences about driver identity.

As the concurrence recognizes, while statistics may help a
defendant challenge the reasonableness of an officer’s actions, they
“cannot substitute for the individualized suspicion that the Fourth
Amendment requires.” Ante, at 4-5, n. If courts do not scrutinize
officer observation or expertise in the reasonable-suspicion analysis,
then seizures may be made on large-scale data alone—data that say
nothing about the individual save for the class to which he belongs.
That analytical approach strays far from “acting upon observed
violations” of law—which this Court has said is the “foremost method
of enforcing traffic and vehicle safety regulations.” Delaware v.
Prouse, 440 U.S. 648, 659 (1979).

The majority today has paved the road to finding reasonable
suspicion based on nothing more than a demographic profile. Its logic
has thus made the State’s task all but automatic. That has never been
the law, and it never should be.

II
The majority’s justifications for this new approach have no

foundation in fact or logic. It supposes that requiring officers to point
to “training materials or field experiences” would demand “ ‘scientific
certainty.’ ” Ante, at 3. But that is no truer in this case than in other
circumstances where the reasonable-suspicion inquiry applies.
Indeed, the State here was invited to stipulate to the evidence it relied
on to make the stop. It could have easily described the individual or
“accumulated experience” of officers in the jurisdiction. Cf.
Navarette, 572 U.S., at 402. The State chose not to present such
evidence and has not shown that it could not have done so. Accord-
ingly, it has proved no harm to itself.2

In fact, it is the majority’s approach that makes scant policy sense.
If the State need not set forth all the information its officers considered
before forming suspicion, what conceivable evidence could be used
to mount an effective challenge to a vehicle stop, as the concurrence
imagines? Ante, at 4. Who could meaningfully interrogate an officer’s
action when all the officer has to say is that the vehicle was registered
to an unlicensed driver? How would a driver counter that evidence—
by stating that they were of a different age or gender than the owner
and insisting that the officer could have easily discerned that? And
where would a defendant bring his arguments if the trial judge makes
the key inference, or by the same token, fails to make an inference that
“might well elude” the untrained? Cortez, 449 U.S., at 418.

Moreover, the majority’s distinction between revocation and
suspension may not hold up in other jurisdictions. For one, whether
drivers with suspended licenses have “demonstrated a disregard for
the law or are categorically unfit to drive” is completely unknown.
And in several States, the grounds for revocation include offenses
unrelated to driving fitness, such as using a license to unlawfully buy
alcohol. See, e.g., Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. §186.560 (West Cum. Supp.
2019); Mont. Code Ann. §61-5-206 (2019); R. I. Gen. Laws §31-11-6
(2010). In yet other jurisdictions, “revocation” is the label assigned to
a temporary sanction, which may be imposed for such infractions as

the failure to comply with child support payments. Okla. Stat., Tit. 47,
§6-201.1 (2011). Whether the majority’s “common sense” assump-
tions apply outside of Kansas is thus open to challenge.

*    *    *
Vehicle stops “interfere with freedom of movement, are inconve-

nient, and consume time.” Prouse, 440 U.S., at 657. Worse still, they
“may create substantial anxiety” through an “unsettling show of
authority.” Ibid. Before subjecting motorists to this type of investiga-
tion, the State must possess articulable facts and officer inferences to
form suspicion. The State below left unexplained key components of
the reasonable-suspicion inquiry. In an effort to uphold the conviction,
the Court destroys Fourth Amendment jurisprudence that requires
individualized suspicion. I respectfully dissent.
))))))))))))))))))

1Cortez explained why this is so. Law enforcement officers, behaving akin to
“jurors as factfinders,” have “formulated certain commonsense conclusions about
human behavior” as it relates to “the field of law enforcement.” 449 U.S., at 418. A
trained officer thus “draws inferences and makes deductions—inferences and
deductions that might well elude an untrained person.” Ibid.; see also United States v.
Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 276 (2002) [15 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S81a] (crediting officer
assessment of driver behavior that was based on “his specialized training and
familiarity with the customs of the area’s inhabitants”).

2The majority suggests that requiring the State to supply the missing link between
fact and suspicion would “considerably narrow the daylight” between the reasonable-
suspicion showing and that required to establish probable cause. Ante, at 7. But that
may simply be a feature of this unique context, where the difference between a
permissible and impermissible stop turns on a single fact. Given that reasonable
suspicion and probable cause are not “reducible to ‘precise definition or quantifica-
tion,’ ” Florida v. Harris, 568 U.S. 237, 243 (2013) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S18a], the
gradation between the two is bound to vary from case to case.

*        *        *

Employer-employee relations—Age Discrimination in Employment
Act—The plain language of 29 U.S.C. section 633a(a), the federal-
sector provision of ADEA,  provides, with a few exceptions, that
“personnel actions” affecting individuals aged 40 and older “shall be
made free from any discrimination based on age”—Plaintiffs cannot
obtain reinstatement, compensatory damages, or other relief related to
the end result of an adverse employment decision without showing that
age discrimination was a but-for cause of the employment outcome—
However, plaintiffs who show that age was a but-for cause of differen-
tial treatment in an employment decision, but not a but-for cause of the
adverse decision itself, can still seek injunctive or other forward-
looking relief

NORIS BABB, Petitioner v. ROBERT WILKIE, SECRETARY OF VETERANS
AFFAIRS. U.S. Supreme Court. Case No. 18-882. Argued January 15, 2020—Decided
April 6, 2020. On Writ of Certiorari to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh
Circuit.

Syllabus
Petitioner Noris Babb, a clinical pharmacist at a U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

Medical Center, sued the Secretary of Veterans Affairs (hereinafter VA) for, inter
alia, age discrimination in various adverse personnel actions. The VA moved for
summary judgment, offering nondiscriminatory reasons for the challenged actions.
The District Court granted the VA’s motion after finding that Babb had established
a prima facie case, that the VA had proffered legitimate reasons for the challenged
actions, and that no jury could reasonably conclude that those reasons were
pretextual. On appeal, Babb contended the District Court’s requirement that age be
a but-for cause of a personnel action was inappropriate under the federal-sector
provision of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (ADEA). Because
most federal-sector “personnel actions” affecting individuals aged 40 and older
must be made “free from any discrimination based on age,” 29 U.S.C. §633a(a),
Babb argued, such a personnel action is unlawful if age is a factor in the challenged
decision. Thus, even if the VA’s proffered reasons in her case were not pretextual,
it would not necessarily follow that age discrimination played no part. The
Eleventh Circuit found Babb’s argument foreclosed by Circuit precedent.

Held: The plain meaning of §633a(a) demands that personnel actions be untainted by
any consideration of age. To obtain reinstatement, damages, or other relief related
to the end result of an employment decision, a showing that a personnel action
would have been different if age had not been taken into account is necessary, but
if age discrimination played a lesser part in the decision, other remedies may be ap-
propriate. Pp. 3-14.
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(a) The Government argues that the ADEA’s federal-sector provision imposes
liability only when age is a but-for cause of an employment decision, while Babb
maintains that it prohibits any adverse consideration of age in the decision-making
process. The plain meaning of the statutory text shows that age need not be a but-
for cause of an employment decision in order for there to be a violation. Pp. 4-7.

(1) The ADEA does not define the term “personnel action,” but a statutory
provision governing federal employment, 5 U.S.C. §2302(a)(2)(A), defines it to
include most employment-related decisions—an interpretation consistent with the
term’s general usage. The phrase “free from” means “untainted,” and “any”
underscores that phrase’s scope. As for “discrimination,” its “normal definition”
is “differential treatment.” Jackson v. Birmingham Bd. of Ed., 544 U.S. 167, 174.
And “[i]n common talk, the phrase ‘based on’ indicates a but-for causal relation-
ship,” Safeco Ins. Co. of America v. Burr, 551 U.S. 47, 63, thus indicating that age
must be a but-for cause of the discrimination alleged. The remaining phrase—
“shall be made”—denotes a duty, emphasizing the importance of avoiding the
taint. Pp. 4-5.

(2) Two matters of syntax are critical here. First, “based on age” is an adjectival
phrase modifying the noun “discrimination,” not the phrase “personnel actions.”
Thus, age must be a but-for cause of discrimination but not the personnel action
itself. Second, “free from any discrimination” is an adverbial phrase that modifies
the verb “made” and describes how a personnel action must be “made,” namely, in
a way that is not tainted by differential treatment based on age. Thus, the straight-
forward meaning of §633a(a)’s terms is that the statute does not require proof that
an employment decision would have turned out differently if age had not been
taken into account. Instead, if age is a factor in an employment decision, the statute
has been violated.

The Government has no answer to this parsing of the statutory text. It makes
correct points about the meaning of particular words, but draws the unwarranted
conclusion that the statutory text requires something more than a federal em-
ployer’s mere consideration of age in personnel decisions. The Government’s only
other textual argument is that the term “made” refers to a particular moment in time,
i.e., the moment when the final employment decision is made. That interpretation,
however, does not mean that age must be a but-for cause of the ultimate outcome.
Pp. 5-7.

(b) Contrary to the Government’s primary argument, this interpretation is not
undermined by prior cases interpreting the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C.
§1681m(a), see Safeco Ins. Co. of America, 551 U.S. 47; the ADEA’s private-sector
provision, 29 U.S.C. §623(a)(1), see Gross v. FBL Financial Services, Inc., 557
U.S. 167; and Title VII’s anti-retaliation provision, 42 U.S.C. §2000e-3(a), see
University of Tex. Southwestern Medical Center v. Nassar, 570 U.S. 338. The
language of §633a(a) is markedly different than the language of those statutes; thus
the holdings in those cases are entirely consistent with the holding here. And the
traditional rule favoring but-for causation does not change the result: §633a(a)
requires proof of but-for causation, but the objection of that causation is “discrimi-
nation,” not the personnel action. Pp. 8-11.

(c) It is not anomalous to hold the Federal Government to a stricter standard
than private employers or state and local governments. See §623(a). When
Congress expanded the ADEA’s scope beyond private employers, it added state
and local governments to the definition of employers in the private-sector
provision. But it “deliberately prescribed a distinct statutory scheme applicable
only to the federal sector,” Lehman v. Nakshian, 453 U.S. 156, 166, eschewing the
private-sector provision language. That Congress would want to hold the Federal
Government to a higher standard is not unusual. See, e.g., 5 U.S.C. §2301(b)(2).
Regardless, where the statute’s words are unambiguous, the judicial inquiry is
complete. Pp. 11-13.

(d) But-for causation is nevertheless important in determining the appropriate
remedy. Plaintiffs cannot obtain compensatory damages or other forms of relief
related to the end result of an employment decision without showing that age
discrimination was a but-for cause of the employment outcome. This conclusion
is supported by basic principles long employed by this Court, see, e.g., Steel Co. v.
Citizens for Better Environment, 523 U.S. 83, 103, and traditional principles of tort
and remedies law. Remedies must be tailored to the injury. Plaintiffs who show that
age was a but-for cause of differential treatment in an employment decision, but not
a but-for cause of the decision itself, can still seek injunctive or other forward-
looking relief. Pp. 13-14.

743 Fed. Appx. 280, reversed and remanded.

ALITO, J., delivered the opinion of the Court, in which ROBERTS, C. J., and
BREYER, SOTOMAYOR, KAGAN, GORSUCH, and KAVANAUGH, JJ., joined,
and in which GINSBURG, J., joined as to all but footnote 3. SOTOMAYOR, J., filed
a concurring opinion, in which GINSBURG, J., joined. THOMAS, J., filed a dissenting
opinion.

))))))))))))))))))
JUSTICE ALITO delivered the opinion of the Court.*
The federal-sector provision of the Age Discrimination in Employ-

ment Act of 1967 (ADEA), 88 Stat. 74, 29 U.S.C. §633a(a), provides
(with just a few exceptions) that “personnel actions” affecting

individuals aged 40 and older “shall be made free from any discrimi-
nation based on age.” We are asked to decide whether this provision
imposes liability only when age is a “but-for cause” of the personnel
action in question.

We hold that §633a(a) goes further than that. The plain meaning of
the critical statutory language (“made free from any discrimination
based on age”) demands that personnel actions be untainted by any
consideration of age. This does not mean that a plaintiff may obtain all
forms of relief that are generally available for a violation of §633a(a),
including hiring, reinstatement, backpay, and compensatory damages,
without showing that a personnel action would have been different if
age had not been taken into account. To obtain such relief, a plaintiff
must show that age was a but-for cause of the challenged employment
decision. But if age discrimination played a lesser part in the decision,
other remedies may be appropriate.

I
Noris Babb, who was born in 1960, is a clinical pharmacist at the

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center in Bay Pines,
Florida. Babb brought suit in 2014 against the Secretary of Veterans
Affairs (hereinafter VA), claiming that she had been subjected to age
and sex discrimination, as well as retaliation for engaging in activities
protected by federal anti-discrimination law. Only her age-discrimina-
tion claims are now before us.

Those claims center on the following personnel actions. First, in
2013, the VA took away Babb’s “advanced scope” designation, which
had made her eligible for promotion on the Federal Government’s
General Scale from a GS-12 to a GS-13.1 Second, during this same
time period, she was denied training opportunities and was passed
over for positions in the hospital’s anticoagulation clinic. Third, in
2014, she was placed in a new position, and while her grade was raised
to GS-13, her holiday pay was reduced. All these actions, she
maintains, involved age discrimination, and in support of her claims,
she alleges, among other things, that supervisors made a variety of
age-related comments.

The VA moved for summary judgment and offered nondiscrimina-
tory reasons for the challenged actions, and the District Court granted
that motion. Evaluating each of Babb’s claims under the burden-
shifting framework outlined in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green,
411 U.S. 792 (1973), the court found that Babb had established a
prima facie case, that the Secretary had proffered legitimate reasons
for the challenged actions, and that no jury could reasonably conclude
that those reasons were pretextual.

Babb appealed, contending that the District Court should not have
used the McDonnell Douglas framework because it is not suited for
“mixed motives” claims. She argued that under the terms of the
ADEA’s federal-sector provision, a personnel action is unlawful if age
is a factor in the challenged decision. As a result, she explained that
even if the VA’s proffered reasons were not pretextual, it would not
necessarily follow that age discrimination played no part.

The Eleventh Circuit panel that heard Babb’s appeal found that her
argument was “foreclosed” by Circuit precedent but added that it
might have agreed with her if it were “writing on a clean slate.” Babb
v. Secretary, Dept. of Veterans Affairs, 743 Fed. Appx. 280, 287
(2018) (citing Trask v. Secretary, Dept. of Veterans Affairs, 822 F. 3d
1179 (CA11 2016)).

We granted certiorari, 588 U.S. ___ (2019), to resolve a Circuit
split over the interpretation of §633a(a).

II
That provision of the ADEA states in relevant part: “All personnel

actions affecting employees or applicants for employment who are at
least 40 years of age . . . shall be made free from any discrimination
based on age.” 29 U.S.C. §633a(a).
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The Government interprets this provision to impose liability only
when age is a but-for cause of an employment decision. According to
the Government, even if age played a part in such a decision, an
employee or applicant for employment cannot obtain any relief unless
it is shown that the decision would have been favorable if age had not
been taken into account. This interpretation, the Government
contends, follows both from the meaning of the statutory text and
from the “default rule” that we have recognized in other employment
discrimination cases, namely, that recovery for wrongful conduct is
generally permitted only if the injury would not have occurred but for
that conduct. See, e.g., University of Tex. Southwestern Medical
Center v. Nassar, 570 U.S. 338, 346-347 (2013) [24 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. S366a].

Babb interprets the provision differently. She maintains that its
language prohibits any adverse consideration of age in the decision-
making process. Accordingly, she argues proof that age was a but-for
cause of a challenged employment decision is not needed.

A
Which interpretation is correct? To decide, we start with the text of

the statute, see Gross v. FBL Financial Services, Inc., 557 U.S. 167,
175 (2009) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S958a], and as it turns out, it is not
necessary to go any further. The plain meaning of the statutory text
shows that age need not be a but-for cause of an employment decision
in order for there to be a violation of §633a(a). To explain the basis for
our interpretation, we will first define the important terms in the
statute and then consider how they relate to each other.

1
Section 633a(a) concerns “personnel actions,” and while the

ADEA does not define this term, its meaning is easy to understand.
The Civil Service Reform Act of 1978, which governs federal
employment, broadly defines a “personnel action” to include most
employment-related decisions, such as appointment, promotion, work
assignment, compensation, and performance reviews. See 5 U.S.C.
§2302(a)(2)(A). That interpretation is consistent with the term’s
meaning in general usage, and we assume that it has the same meaning
under the ADEA.

Under §633a(a), personnel actions must be made “free from”
discrimination. The phrase “free from” means “untainted” or “[c]lear
of (something which is regarded as objectionable).” Webster’s Third
New International Dictionary 905 (def. 4(a)(2)) (1976); 4 Oxford
English Dictionary 521 (def. 12) (1933); see also American Heritage
Dictionary 524 (def. 5(a)) (1969) (defining “free” “used with from”
as “[n]ot affected or restricted by a given condition or circumstance”);
Random House Dictionary of the English Language 565 (def. 12)
(1966) (defining “free” as “exempt or released from something
specified that controls, restrains, burdens, etc.”). Thus, under
§633a(a), a personnel action must be made “untainted” by discrimina-
tion based on age, and the addition of the term “any” (“free from any
discrimination based on age”) drives the point home.2 And as for
“discrimination,” we assume that it carries its “ ‘normal definition,’ ”
which is “ ‘differential treatment.’ ” Jackson v. Birmingham Bd. of
Ed., 544 U.S. 167, 174 (2005) [18 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S193a].

Under §633a(a), the type of discrimination forbidden is “discrimi-
nation based on age,” and “[i]n common talk, the phrase ‘based on’
indicates a but-for causal relationship.” Safeco Ins. Co. of America v.
Burr, 551 U.S. 47, 63 (2007) [20 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S322a]; cf.
Comcast Corp. v. National Assn. of African American-Owned Media,
ante, at 6. Therefore, §633a(a) requires that age be a but-for cause of
the discrimination alleged.

What remains is the phrase “shall be made.” “[S]hall be made” is
a form of the verb “to make,” which means “to bring into existence,”
“to produce,” “to render,” and “to cause to be or become.” Random

House Dictionary of the English Language, at 866. Thus, “shall be
made” means “shall be produced,” etc. And the imperative mood,
denoting a duty, see Black’s Law Dictionary 1233 (5th ed. 1979),
emphasizes the importance of avoiding the taint.

2
So much for the individual terms used in §633a(a). What really

matters for present purposes is the way these terms relate to each other.
Two matters of syntax are critical. First, “based on age” is an adjecti-
val phrase that modifies the noun “discrimination.” It does not modify
“personnel actions.” The statute does not say that “it is unlawful to
take personnel actions that are based on age”; it says that “personnel
actions . . . shall be made free from any discrimination based on age.”
§633a(a). As a result, age must be a but-for cause of discrimination—
that is, of differential treatment—but not necessarily a but-for cause
of a personnel action itself.

Second, “free from any discrimination” is an adverbial phrase that
modifies the verb “made.” Ibid. Thus, “free from any discrimination”
describes how a personnel action must be “made,” namely, in a way
that is not tainted by differential treatment based on age. If age
discrimination plays any part in the way a decision is made, then the
decision is not made in a way that is untainted by such discrimination.

This is the straightforward meaning of the terms of §633a(a), and
it indicates that the statute does not require proof that an employment
decision would have turned out differently if age had not been taken
into account.

To see what this entails in practice, consider a simple example.
Suppose that a decision-maker is trying to decide whether to promote
employee A, who is 35 years old, or employee B, who is 55. Under the
employer’s policy, candidates for promotion are first given numerical
scores based on non-discriminatory factors. Candidates over the age
of 40 are then docked five points, and the employee with the highest
score is promoted. Based on the non-discriminatory factors, employee
A (the 35-year-old) is given a score of 90, and employee B (the 55-
year-old) gets a score of 85. But employee B is then docked 5 points
because of age and thus ends up with a final score of 80. The decision-
maker looks at the candidates’ final scores and, seeing that employee
A has the higher score, promotes employee A.

This decision is not “made” “free from any discrimination”
because employee B was treated differently (and less favorably) than
employee A (because she was docked five points and A was not). And
this discrimination was “based on age” because the five points would
not have been taken away were it not for employee B’s age.

It is true that this difference in treatment did not affect the outcome,
and therefore age was not a but-for cause of the decision to promote
employee A. Employee A would have won out even if age had not
been considered and employee B had not lost five points, since A’s
score of 90 was higher than B’s initial, legitimate score of 85. But
under the language of §633a(a), this does not preclude liability.

The Government has no answer to this parsing of the statutory text.
It makes two correct points: first, that “ ‘discrimination based on age’ ”
“requires but-for causation,” and, second, that “ ‘discrimination’ ”
means “ ‘ “differential treatment.’ ” ” Brief for Respondent 16-17. But
based on these two points, the Government draws the unwarranted
conclusion that “[i]t is thus not enough for a federal employer merely
to consider age . . . if that consideration does not actually cause the
employer to make a less favorable personnel action than it would have
made for a similarly situated person who is younger.” Id., at 17. That
conclusion does not follow from the two correct points on which it
claims to be based. What follows instead is that, under §633a(a), age
must be the but-for cause of differential treatment, not that age must
be a but-for cause of the ultimate decision. 3

B
The Government’s primary argument rests not on the text of

§633a(a) but on prior cases interpreting different statutes. But
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contrary to the Government’s argument, nothing in these past
decisions undermines our interpretation of §633a(a).

1. In Safeco Ins. Co. of America v. Burr, 551 U.S., at 63, we
interpreted a provision of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA)
requiring that notice be provided “[i]f any person takes any adverse
action with respect to any consumer that is based in whole or in part
on any information contained in a consumer [credit] report.” 15
U.S.C. §1681m(a) (emphasis added). This language is quite different
from that of 29 U.S.C. §633a(a).

In §1681m(a), the phrase “based . . . on any information contained
in a consumer [credit] report” modifies “adverse action,” and thus the
information in question must be a but-for cause of the adverse action.
By contrast, in §633a(a), “based on” does not modify “personnel
actions”; it modifies “discrimination,” i.e., differential treatment
based on age.

The Government tries to find support in Safeco’s discussion of
FCRA’s reference to an adverse action that is “based . . . in part” on a
credit report. 15 U.S.C. §1681m(a) (emphasis added). The Safeco
Court observed that the phrase “in part” could be read to mean that
notice had to be given “whenever the report was considered in the
rate-setting process,” but it rejected this reading. 551 U.S., at 63. The
Government suggests that the Court reached this conclusion because
it thought that Congress would have “said so expressly” if it had meant
to require notice in situations where consideration of a credit report
was inconsequential. Brief for Respondent 19. Accordingly, the
Government argues, because §633a(a) does not say expressly that
consideration of age is unlawful, we should conclude that mere
consideration is insufficient to trigger liability. See id., at 19-20.

This argument fails for two reasons. First, as explained above, the
language of §633a(a) does expressly impose liability if age discrimi-
nation plays a part in a federal employment decision. Second, Safeco
did not invoke the sort of super-plain-statement rule that the Govern-
ment now attributes to it. Instead, the Safeco Court rejected the argu-
ment on other grounds, including its assessment of the particular
statutory scheme at issue. See 551 U.S., at 63-64. That reasoning
obviously has no application here.

2. In Gross v. FBL Financial Services, Inc., 557 U.S. 167, we
interpreted the private-sector provision of the ADEA, 29 U.S.C.
§623(a)(1), and held that it requires a plaintiff to prove that “age was
the ‘but-for’ cause of the employer’s adverse action.” 557 U.S., at 177.
But as we previously recognized, the ADEA’s private- and public-
sector provisions are “couched in very different terms.” Gómez-Pérez
v. Potter, 553 U.S. 474, 488 (2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S259a].

Section 623(a)(1) makes it “unlawful for an employer . . . to fail or
refuse to hire or to discharge any individual or otherwise discriminate
against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms,
conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual’s
age.” Thus, the but-for causal language in §623(a)(1)—“because of
such individual’s age”—is an adverbial phrase modifying the verbs
(“to fail or refuse to hire,” etc.) that specify the conduct that the
provision regulates. For this reason, the syntax of §623(a)(1) is
critically different from that of §633a(a), where, as noted, the but-for
language modifies the noun “discrimination.” This is important
because all the verbs in §623(a)(1)—failing or refusing to hire,
discharging, or otherwise discriminating with respect to “compensa-
tion, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment”—refer to end
results.4 By contrast, the provision in our case, §633a(a), prohibits any
age discrimination in the “mak[ing]” of a personnel decision, not just
with respect to end results.

3. Finally, in University of Tex. Southwestern Medical Center v.
Nassar, 570 U.S. 338, we interpreted Title VII’s anti-retaliation
provision, 42 U.S.C. §2000e-3(a), as requiring retaliation to be a but-
for cause of the end result of the employment decision. The Court saw
no “meaningful textual difference between the text [of that provision]

and the one in Gross,” 570 U.S., at 352, and the Court found support
for its interpretation in the rule that recovery for an intentional tort
generally requires proof “ ‘that the harm would not have occurred’ in
the absence of—that is, but for—the defendant’s conduct.” 570 U.S.,
at 346-347 (quoting Restatement of Torts §431, Comment a, pp.
1159-1160 (1934)).

That reasoning has no application in the present case. The wording
of §633a(a)—which refers expressly to the “mak[ing]” of personnel
actions in a way that is “free from any discrimination based on age”—
is markedly different from the language of the statutes at issue in
Gross and Nassar, and the traditional rule favoring but-for causation
does not dictate a contrary result. Section 633a(a) requires proof of
but-for causation, but the object of that causation is “discrimination,”
i.e., differential treatment, not the personnel action itself.

For these reasons, Safeco, Gross, and Nassar are entirely consistent
with our holding in this case.

C
We are not persuaded by the argument that it is anomalous to hold

the Federal Government to a stricter standard than private employers
or state and local governments. That is what the statutory language
dictates, and if Congress had wanted to impose the same standard on
all employers, it could have easily done so.

As first enacted, the ADEA “applied only to actions against private
employers.” Lehman v. Nakshian, 453 U.S. 156, 166 (1981). In 1974,
“Congress expanded the scope of the ADEA” to reach both state and
local governments and the Federal Government. Ibid. To cover state
and local governments, Congress simply added them to the definition
of an “employer” in the ADEA’s private-sector provision, see 29
U.S.C. §630(b), and Congress could have easily done the same for the
Federal Government. Indeed, the first proposal for expansion of the
ADEA to government entities did precisely that. Lehman, 453 U.S.,
at 166, n. 14.

But Congress did not choose this route. Instead, it “deliberately
prescribed a distinct statutory scheme applicable only to the federal
sector,” id., at 166, and in doing so, it eschewed the language used in
the private-sector provision, §623(a). See Gómez-Pérez, 553 U.S., at
488. We generally ascribe significance to such a decision. See
Russello v. United States, 464 U.S. 16, 23 (1983) (“ ‘[W]here
Congress includes particular language in one section of a statute but
omits it in another section of the same Act, it is generally presumed
that Congress acts intentionally and purposely in the disparate
inclusion or exclusion’ ”).

That Congress would want to hold the Federal Government to a
higher standard than state and private employers is not unusual. See
Supp. Letter Brief for Respondent 1 (“The federal government has
long adhered to anti-discrimination policies that are more expansive
than those required by . . . the ADEA”); e.g., Exec. Order No. 11478,
§1, 3 CFR 446 (1969) (“It is the policy of the Government of the
United States to provide equal opportunity in Federal employment for
all persons, to prohibit discrimination in employment . . . and to
promote the full realization of equal employment opportunity through
a continuing affirmative program”); Exec. Order No. 12106, §1-102,
3 CFR 263 (1978) (amending Exec. Order No. 11478 to cover
discrimination on the basis of age). And several years after adding
§633a(a) to the ADEA, Congress amended the civil service laws to
prescribe similar standards. See 5 U.S.C. §2301(b)(2) (“Federal
personnel management should be implemented consistent with the . . .
merit system principl[e that a]ll employees and applicants for
employment should receive fair and equitable treatment in all aspects
of personnel management without regard to . . . age”).

In any event, “where, as here, the words of [a] statute are unambig-
uous, the ‘ “judicial inquiry is complete.’ ” ” Desert Palace, Inc. v.
Costa, 539 U.S. 90, 98 (2003) [16 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S335a]
(quoting Connecticut Nat. Bank v. Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 254
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(1992)).

D
While Babb can establish that the VA violated §633a(a) without

proving that age was a but-for cause of the VA’s personnel actions,
she acknowledges—and we agree—that but-for causation is impor-
tant in determining the appropriate remedy. It is bedrock law that
“requested relief” must “redress the alleged injury.” Steel Co. v.
Citizens for Better Environment, 523 U.S. 83, 103 (1998). Thus,
§633a(a) plaintiffs who demonstrate only that they were subjected to
unequal consideration cannot obtain reinstatement, back-pay,
compensatory damages, or other forms of relief related to the end
result of an employment decision. To obtain such remedies, these
plaintiffs must show that age discrimination was a but-for cause of the
employment outcome.

We have long employed these basic principles. In Texas v. Lesage,
528 U.S. 18, 21-22 (1999) (per curiam), we applied this rule to a
plaintiff who sought recovery under Rev. Stat. §1979, 42 U.S.C.
§1983, for an alleged violation of the Equal Protection Clause. We
explained: “[W]here a plaintiff challenges a discrete governmental
decision as being based on an impermissible criterion and it is
undisputed that the government would have made the same decision
regardless, there is no cognizable injury warranting [damages] relief.”
528 U.S., at 21. Cf. Mt. Healthy City Bd. of Ed. v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274,
285 (1977) (rejecting rule that “would require reinstatement . . . even
if the same decision would have been reached had the incident not
occurred”).

Our conclusion is also supported by traditional principles of tort
and remedies law. “Remedies generally seek to place the victim of a
legal wrong . . . in the position that person would have occupied if the
wrong had not occurred.” R. Weaver, E. Shoben, & M. Kelly,
Principles of Remedies Law 5 (3d ed. 2017). Thus, “[a]n actor’s
liability is limited to those harms that result from the risks that made
the actor’s conduct tortious.” Restatement (Third) of Torts §29, p. 493
(2005). Remedies should not put a plaintiff in a more favorable
position than he or she would have enjoyed absent discrimination. But
this is precisely what would happen if individuals who cannot show
that discrimination was a but-for cause of the end result of a personnel
action could receive relief that alters or compensates for the end result.

Although unable to obtain such relief, plaintiffs are not without a
remedy if they show that age was a but-for cause of differential
treatment in an employment decision but not a but-for cause of the
decision itself. In that situation, plaintiffs can seek injunctive or other
forward-looking relief. Determining what relief, if any, is appropriate
in the present case is a matter for the District Court to decide in the first
instance if Babb succeeds in showing that §633a(a) was violated.

*    *    *
The judgment of the United States Court of Appeals for the

Eleventh Circuit is reversed, and the case is remanded for further
proceedings consistent with this opinion.

It is so ordered.
))))))))))))))))))

*JUSTICE GINSBURG joins all but footnote 3 of this opinion.
1The General Schedule (GS) is a federal pay scale that is divided

into 15 numbered grades. See 5 U.S.C. §5104. “[A]s the number of the
grade increases, so do pay and responsibilities.” United States v.
Clark, 454 U.S. 555, 557 (1982).

2We have repeatedly explained that “ ‘the word “any” has an
expansive meaning.’ ” Ali v. Federal Bureau of Prisons, 552 U.S. 214,
219 (2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S53a] (quoting United States v.
Gonzales, 520 U.S. 1, 5 (1997)). The standard dictionary definition of
“any” is “[s]ome, regardless of quantity or number.” American
Heritage Dictionary 59 (def. 2) (1969).

3Beyond this, the Government’s only other textual argument is that
the term “made” refers to a particular moment in time, i.e., the

moment when the final employment decision is made. We agree, but
this does not mean that age must be a but-for cause of the ultimate
outcome. If, at the time when the decision is actually made, age plays
a part, then the decision is not made “free from” age discrimination.

It is not clear that Babb actually disagrees with the Government on
this point, although the many references in her brief to the decision-
making process could be read to mean that §633a(a) can be violated
even if age played no part whatsoever when the actual decision was
made. If that is what Babb wants to suggest, however, we must
disagree. It is entirely natural to regard an employment decision as
being “made” at the time when the outcome is actually determined and
not during events leading up to that decision. See American Heritage
Dictionary, at 788 (def. 10) (defining “make” as “[t]o arrive at” a
particular conclusion, i.e., to “make a decision”). And holding that
§633a(a) is violated when the consideration of age plays no role in the
final decision would have startling implications.

Consider this example: A decision-maker must decide whether to
promote employee A, who is under 40, or employee B, who is over 40.
A subordinate recommends employee A and says that the recommen-
dation is based in part on employee B’s age. The decision-maker
rebukes this subordinate for taking age into account, disregards the
recommendation, and makes the decision independently. Under an
interpretation that read “made” expansively to encompass a broader
personnel process, §633a(a) would be violated even though age
played no role whatsoever in the ultimate decision. Indeed, there
might be a violation even if the decision-maker decided to promote
employee B. We are aware of no other anti-discrimination statute that
imposes liability under such circumstances, and we do not think that
§633a(a) should be understood as the first.

4Moreover, even if “discriminating with respect to compensation,
terms, conditions, or privileges of employment” could be read more
broadly to encompass things that occur before a final decision is made,
the ejusdem generis canon would counsel a court to read that final
phrase to refer—like the prior terms—to the final decision. See
Christopher v. SmithKline Beecham Corp., 567 U.S. 142, 163, and n.
19 (2012) [23 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S377a].
))))))))))))))))))

JUSTICE SOTOMAYOR, with whom JUSTICE GINSBURG
joins, concurring.

I join the majority opinion because I agree that 29 U.S.C. §633a
imposes liability even when age is not a “ ‘but-for cause’ ” of a
personnel action. Ante, at 1. I write separately to make two observa-
tions.

First, the Court does not foreclose §633a claims arising from
discriminatory processes. Cf. Comcast Corp. v. National Assn. of
African American-Owned Media, ante, p. ___ (GINSBURG, J.,
concurring in part and concurring in judgment). If, for example, an
employer hires a 50-year-old person who passed a computer-aptitude
test administered only to applicants above 40, clearly a question could
arise as to whether the hiring decision was “made free from” differen-
tial treatment.

Second, this same example may suggest that §633a permits
damages remedies, even when the Government engages in
nondispositive “age discrimination in the ‘ma[king]’ of a personnel
decision.” Ante, at 10. If an applicant incurs costs to prepare for the
discriminatorily administered aptitude test, a damages award
compensating for such out-of-pocket expenses could restore the
applicant to the “position tha[t] he or she would have enjoyed absent
discrimination.” Ante, at 14.
))))))))))))))))))

JUSTICE THOMAS, dissenting.
Until now, the rule for pleading a claim under a federal

antidiscrimination statute was clear: A plaintiff had to plausibly allege
that discrimination was the but-for cause of an adverse action, unless
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the statute’s text unequivocally replaced that standard with a different
one. Today, however, the Court departs from this rule, concluding that
the federal-sector provision of the Age Discrimination in Employment
Act of 1967 (ADEA) imposes liability if an agency’s personnel
actions are at all tainted by considerations of age. See ante, at 1. This
rule is so broad that a plaintiff could bring a cause of action even if he
is ultimately promoted or hired over a younger applicant. This novel
“any consideration” standard does serious damage to our interpreta-
tion of antidiscrimination statutes and disrupts the settled expectations
of federal employers and employees. I therefore respectfully dissent.

I

A
In my view, the default rule of but-for causation applies here

because it is not clearly displaced by the text of the ADEA’s federal-
sector provision. Though the Court engages at length with the
provision’s text, it barely acknowledges our default rule, which
undergirds our antidiscrimination jurisprudence. Because the
interpretation of an antidiscrimination statute must be assessed against
the backdrop of this default rule, I begin by describing the rule in
detail.

We have explained that “[c]ausation in fact—i.e., proof that the
defendant’s conduct did in fact cause the plaintiff’s injury—is a
standard requirement of any tort claim,” including claims of discrimi-
nation. University of Tex. Southwestern Medical Center v. Nassar,
570 U.S. 338, 346 (2013) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S366a] (quoting
various provisions of the Restatement of Torts (1934)). “In the usual
course, this standard requires the plaintiff to show that the harm would
not have occurred in the absence of—that is, but for—the defendant’s
conduct.” Id., at 346-347 (internal quotation marks omitted). But-for
causation is “the background against which Congress legislate[s],”
and it is “the default rul[e Congress] is presumed to have incorporated,
absent an indication to the contrary in the statute itself.” Id., at 347
(citing W. Keeton, D. Dobbs, R. Keeton, & D. Owen, Prosser and
Keeton on Law of Torts 265 (5th ed. 1984)). We have recognized as
much when interpreting 42 U.S.C. §1981’s prohibition against racial
discrimination in contracting, Comcast Corp. v. National Assn. of
African American-Owned Media, ante, p. ___, Title VII’s retaliation
provision, Nassar, 570 U.S. 338, and the private-sector provision of
the ADEA, Gross v. FBL Financial Services, Inc., 557 U.S. 167
(2009) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S958a].

Given this established backdrop, the question becomes whether the
federal-sector provision of the ADEA contains sufficiently clear
language to overcome the default rule. The provision states: “All
personnel actions affecting employees or applicants for employment
who are at least 40 years of age . . . shall be made free from any
discrimination based on age.” 29 U.S.C. §633a(a).

I agree with the Court that discrimination means differential
treatment, that “based on” connotes a but-for relationship, and that “to
make” typically means to produce or to become. Ante, at 5. But I
disagree with the Court’s overall interpretation of how these terms fit
together. Specifically, the Court believes that “ ‘based on age’ ”
modifies only “ ‘discrimination,’ ” not “ ‘personnel actions.’ ” Ante,
at 6. From this, the Court concludes that the plain meaning of the text
“demands that personnel actions be untainted by any consideration of
age.” Ante, at 1.

In my view, however, the provision is also susceptible of the
Government’s interpretation, i.e., that the entire phrase “discrimina-
tion based on age” modifies “personnel actions.” Under this reading,
as the Government explains, the provision “prohibits agencies from
engaging in ‘discrimination based on age’ in the making of personnel
actions.” Brief for Respondent 16. Because the only thing being
“made” in the statute is a “personnel action,” it is entirely reasonable
to conclude that age must be the but-for cause of that personnel action.

At most, the substantive mandate against discrimination in

§633a(a) is ambiguous. And it goes without saying that an ambiguous
provision does not contain the clear language necessary to displace the
default rule. Accordingly, I would hold that the default rule of but-for
causation applies here.

B
The Court attempts to downplay the sweeping nature of its novel

“any consideration” rule by discussing the limited remedies available
under that rule. Specifically, the Court declares that a plaintiff can
obtain compensatory damages, backpay, and reinstatement only if he
proves that age was a but-for cause of an adverse personnel action.
Otherwise, he can obtain only injunctive or prospective relief. See
ante, at 13-14.

If the text of the ADEA contained this remedial scheme, it would
support the Court’s conclusion regarding causation. But the Court
does not cite any remedial statutory provision. Nor can it, as one does
not exist. The Court also fails to cite any authority suggesting that its
remedial scheme existed, at common law or otherwise, in 1974 when
Congress added the federal-sector provision to the ADEA. §28(b)(2),
88 Stat. 74-75.

Instead, the Court principally relies on Texas v. Lesage, 528 U.S.
18 (1999) (per curiam), which applied Mt. Healthy City Bd. of Ed. v.
Doyle, 429 U.S. 274 (1977). See Lesage, 528 U.S., at 20-22. But Mt.
Healthy and, by extension, Lesage do not assist the Court. In Mt.
Healthy, the Court crafted, for the first time, a remedial scheme for
constitutional claims brought under 42 U.S.C. §1983. 429 U.S., at
285-287. Significantly, that decision postdates enactment of the
federal-sector provision by three years. And Mt. Healthy did not
import a remedial scheme from a previously existing statute or
common-law rule. Rather, the Court cited other cases in which it had
similarly fashioned a novel causation standard for constitutional
claims—none of which concerned remedies—as “instructive in
formulating the test to be applied.” Id., at 286-287. It is incongruous
to suggest that Congress could have intended to incorporate a remedial
scheme that appears not to have existed at the time the statute was
passed. Moreover, Mt. Healthy concerned a constitutional injury, and
the Court was tasked with creating a remedy for that injury in the face
of §1983’s silence. The Court fails to provide any explanation as to
why it is appropriate to rely on judicially fashioned remedies for
constitutional injuries in this purely statutory context.

In sum, the Court implausibly concludes that, in the federal-sector
provision of the ADEA, Congress created a novel “any consideration”
causation standard but remained completely silent as to what remedies
were available under that new rule. Just as implausibly, the Court
assumes from this congressional silence that Congress intended for
judges to craft a remedial scheme in which the available relief would
vary depending on the inflicted injury, using an as-yet-unknown
scheme.

I would not follow such an unusual course. We have stated in the
past that we must “read [the ADEA] the way Congress wrote it.”
Meacham v. Knolls Atomic Power Laboratory, 554 U.S. 84, 102
(2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S400a]. The federal-sector provision
contains no clear language displacing the default rule, and Congress
has demonstrated that it knows how to do so when it wishes. See 42
U.S.C. §2000e-2(m) (providing that an employer is liable if an
employee establishes that a protected characteristic was a motivating
factor in an employment action); §2000e-5(g)(2)(B) (limiting the
remedies available to plaintiffs who establish motivating factor
liability).1 Rather than supplementing a novel rule with a judicially
crafted remedy, I would infer from the textual silence that Congress
wrote the ADEA to conform to the default rule of but-for causation.

II
Perhaps the most striking aspect of the Court’s analysis is its failure

to grapple with the sheer unworkability of its rule. The Court contends
that a plaintiff may successfully bring a cause of action if age
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“taint[s]” the making of a personnel action, even if the agency would
have reached the same outcome absent any age-based discrimination.
Ante, at 6-7. Because §633a(a)’s language also appears in the federal-
sector provision of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. §2000e-16(a), the Court’s rule
presumably applies to claims alleging discrimination based on sex,
race, religion, color, and national origin as well.

The Court’s rule might have some purchase if, as Babb contends,
the Federal Government purposely set up a purely merit-based system
for its personnel actions. But as anyone with knowledge of the Federal
Government’s hiring practices knows, this is hardly the case. Federal
hiring is riddled with exceptions and affirmative action programs,
which by their very nature are not singularly focused on merit.

A few examples suffice to demonstrate this point. The Veterans
Preference Act of 1944 entitles certain veterans, their spouses, and
their parents to preferences in hiring and in retention during reductions
in force. 5 U.S.C. §§2108(3), 3502, 3309; 5 CFR §211.102 (2019).
Affirmative action exists for people with disabilities, both in competi-
tive and noncompetitive employment. See 29 U.S.C. §791; 5 CFR
§213.3102(u); 29 CFR §1614.203(d) (2019). The Federal Equal
Opportunity Recruitment Program requires agencies to implement
recruitment plans for women and certain underrepresented minorities.
5 U.S.C. §7201; 5 CFR §720.205. And Exec. Order No. 13171, 3 CFR
299 (2000), requires federal agencies to “provide a plan for recruiting
Hispanics that creates a fully diverse work force for the agency in the
21st century.” Whatever the wisdom of these policies, they are not
strictly merit-based hiring.

The Court’s new rule is irreconcilable with these various programs
because affirmative action initiatives always taint personnel actions
with consideration of a protected characteristic. Consider Exec. Order
No. 13583, 3 CFR 267 (2011), which directs agencies to “develop and
implement a more comprehensive, integrated, and strategic focus on
diversity and inclusion as a key component of their human resources
strategies.” To provide just one example of how agencies are imple-
menting this requirement, Customs and Border Protection’s plan
commits the agency to “[i]ncreas[ing the] percentage of applicants
from underrepresented groups for internships and fellowships,”
“[c]reat[ing] a targeted outreach campaign to underrepresented
groups for career development programs at all levels,”
“[e]stablish[ing] and maintain[ing] strategic partnerships with diverse
professional and affinity organizations,” “[a]nalyz[ing] demographic
data for new hires and employee separations to identify and assess
potential barriers to workforce diversity,” and “[d]evelop[ing] a
diversity recruitment performance dashboard which provides relevant
statistics and related performance metrics to evaluate progress
towards achievement of recruitment goals.” U.S. Customs and Border
Protection, Privacy and Diversity Office, Diversity and Inclusion:
Strategic Plan 2016-2020, pp. 11-15 (2015). Programs such as these
intentionally inject race, sex, and national origin into agencies’ hiring
and promotion decisions at the express direction of the President or
Congress.

A but-for (or even a motivating-factor2) standard of causation
could coexist relatively easily with these affirmative action programs,
as it would be difficult for a plaintiff to plausibly plead facts sufficient
to establish the requisite causation. The Court’s rule, by contrast,
raises the possibility that agencies will be faced with a flood of
investigations by the EEOC or litigation from dissatisfied federal
employees. So long as those employees can show that their em-
ployer’s decision to hire a particular job applicant was “tainted”
because that applicant benefited in some way from an affirmative
action program, their complaints to enjoin these programs can survive
at least the pleadings stage.3

*    *    *
Today’s decision is inconsistent with the default rule underlying

our interpretation of antidiscrimination statutes and our precedents,

which have consistently applied that rule. Perhaps just as important,
the Court’s holding unnecessarily risks imposing hardship on those
tasked with managing thousands of employees within our numerous
federal agencies. I respectfully dissent.
))))))))))))))))))

1Courts have followed similar reasoning when determining the standard of
causation under the Americans with Disabilities Act. See, e.g., Natofsky v. New York,
921 F. 3d 337, 346-348 (CA2 2019); Gentry v. East West Partners Club Mgmt. Co.,
816 F. 3d 228, 233-236 (CA4 2016); Serwatka v. Rockwell Automation, Inc., 591 F. 3d
957, 961-964 (CA7 2010).

2Many Courts of Appeals apply the motivating-factor standard to federal-sector
Title VII claims. See, e.g., Ponce v. Billington, 679 F. 3d 840, 844 (CADC 2012);
Makky v. Chertoff, 541 F. 3d 205, 213-214 (CA3 2008). Even assuming this is a correct
interpretation, see 42 U.S.C. §2000e-16(d) (incorporating by reference the private-
sector motivating-factor provisions), the Court’s “any consideration” rule imposes an
even lower bar. No party submitted briefing on the criteria that courts or the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) use to establish a motivating factor,
but the cases from which this standard was derived indicate that it mirrored the tort
concept of substantial cause. See, e.g., Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228, 249
(1989) (plurality opinion); Mt. Healthy City Bd. of Ed. v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274, 287
(1977).

3On this score, it is worth mentioning that even the EEOC has not adopted the
Court’s low bar but instead employs a motivating-factor standard. See, e.g., Brenton
W. v. Chao, 2017 WL 2953878, *9 (June 29, 2017); Arroyo v. Shinseki, 2012 WL
2952078, *4 (July 11, 2012).

*        *        *

Elections—Voting—Absentee ballots—The District Court’s order
granting a preliminary injunction is stayed to the extent it requires
Wisconsin to count absentee ballots postmarked after April 7, 2020, the
date of the State’s election

REPUBLICAN NATIONAL COMMITTEE, et al. v. DEMOCRATIC NATIONAL
COMMITTEE, et al. U.S. Supreme Court. Case No. 19A1016. On Application for
Stay. April 6, 2020.

PER CURIAM.
The application for stay presented to JUSTICE KAVANAUGH

and by him referred to the Court is granted. The District Court’s order
granting a preliminary injunction is stayed to the extent it requires the
State to count absentee ballots postmarked after April 7, 2020.

Wisconsin has decided to proceed with the elections scheduled for
Tuesday, April 7. The wisdom of that decision is not the question
before the Court. The question before the Court is a narrow, technical
question about the absentee ballot process. In this Court, all agree that
the deadline for the municipal clerks to receive absentee ballots has
been extended from Tuesday, April 7, to Monday, April 13. That
extension, which is not challenged in this Court, has afforded
Wisconsin voters several extra days in which to mail their absentee
ballots. The sole question before the Court is whether absentee ballots
now must be mailed and postmarked by election day, Tuesday, April
7, as state law would necessarily require, or instead may be mailed and
postmarked after election day, so long as they are received by
Monday, April 13. Importantly, in their preliminary injunction
motions, the plaintiffs did not ask that the District Court allow ballots
mailed and postmarked after election day, April 7, to be counted. That
is a critical point in the case. Nonetheless, five days before the
scheduled election, the District Court unilaterally ordered that
absentee ballots mailed and postmarked after election day, April 7,
still be counted so long as they are received by April 13. Extending the
date by which ballots may be cast by voters—not just received by the
municipal clerks but cast by voters—for an additional six days after
the scheduled election day fundamentally alters the nature of the
election. And again, the plaintiffs themselves did not even ask for that
relief in their preliminary injunction motions. Our point is not that the
argument is necessarily forfeited, but is that the plaintiffs themselves
did not see the need to ask for such relief. By changing the election
rules so close to the election date and by affording relief that the
plaintiffs themselves did not ask for in their preliminary injunction
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motions, the District Court contravened this Court’s precedents and
erred by ordering such relief. This Court has repeatedly emphasized
that lower federal courts should ordinarily not alter the election rules
on the eve of an election. See Purcell v. Gonzalez, 549 U.S. 1 (2006)
[20 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S1a] (per curiam); Frank v. Walker, 574 U.S.
929 (2014); Veasey v. Perry, 574 U.S. __ (2014).

The unusual nature of the District Court’s order allowing ballots to
be mailed and postmarked after election day is perhaps best demon-
strated by the fact that the District Court had to issue a subsequent
order enjoining the public release of any election results for six days
after election day. In doing so, the District Court in essence enjoined
nonparties to this lawsuit. It is highly questionable, moreover, that this
attempt to suppress disclosure of the election results for six days after
election day would work. And if any information were released during
that time, that would gravely affect the integrity of the election
process. The District Court’s order suppressing disclosure of election
results showcases the unusual nature of the District Court’s order
allowing absentee ballots mailed and postmarked after election day to
be counted. And all of that further underscores the wisdom of the
Purcell principle, which seeks to avoid this kind of judicially created
confusion.

The dissent is quite wrong on several points. First, the dissent
entirely disregards the critical point that the plaintiffs themselves did
not ask for this additional relief in their preliminary injunction
motions. Second, the dissent contends that this Court should not
intervene at this late date. The Court would prefer not to do so, but
when a lower court intervenes and alters the election rules so close to
the election date, our precedents indicate that this Court, as appro-
priate, should correct that error. Third, the dissent refers to voters who
have not yet received their absentee ballots. But even in an ordinary
election, voters who request an absentee ballot at the deadline for
requesting ballots (which was this past Friday in this case) will usually
receive their ballots on the day before or day of the election, which in
this case would be today or tomorrow. The plaintiffs put forward no
probative evidence in the District Court that these voters here would
be in a substantially different position from late-requesting voters in
other Wisconsin elections with respect to the timing of their receipt of
absentee ballots. In that regard, it bears mention that absentee voting
has been underway for many weeks, and 1.2 million Wisconsin voters
have requested and have been sent their absentee ballots, which is
about five times the number of absentee ballots requested in the 2016
spring election. Fourth, the dissent’s rhetoric is entirely misplaced and
completely overlooks the fact that the deadline for receiving ballots
was already extended to accommodate Wisconsin voters, from April
7 to April 13. Again, that extension has the effect of extending the date
for a voter to mail the ballot from, in effect, Saturday, April 4, to
Tuesday, April 7. That extension was designed to ensure that the
voters of Wisconsin can cast their ballots and have their votes count.
That is the relief that the plaintiffs actually requested in their prelimi-
nary injunction motions. The District Court on its own ordered yet an
additional extension, which would allow voters to mail their ballots
after election day, which is extraordinary relief and would fundamen-
tally alter the nature of the election by allowing voting for six
additional days after the election.

Therefore, subject to any further alterations that the State may
make to state law, in order to be counted in this election a voter’s
absentee ballot must be either (i) postmarked by election day, April 7,
2020, and received by April 13, 2020, at 4:00 p.m., or (ii) hand-
delivered as provided under state law by April 7, 2020, at 8:00 p.m.

The Court’s decision on the narrow question before the Court
should not be viewed as expressing an opinion on the broader
question of whether to hold the election, or whether other reforms or
modifications in election procedures in light of COVID-19 are

appropriate. That point cannot be stressed enough.
The stay is granted pending final disposition of the appeal by the

United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit and the timely
filing and disposition of a petition for a writ of certiorari. Should the
petition for a writ of certiorari be denied, this stay shall terminate
automatically. In the event the petition for a writ of certiorari is
granted, the stay shall terminate upon the sending down of the judg-
ment of this Court.

It is so ordered.
))))))))))))))))))

JUSTICE GINSBURG, with whom JUSTICE BREYER, JUS-
TICE SOTOMAYOR, and JUSTICE KAGAN join, dissenting.

The District Court, acting in view of the dramatically evolving
COVID-19 pandemic, entered a preliminary injunction to safeguard
the availability of absentee voting in Wisconsin’s spring election. This
Court now intervenes at the eleventh hour to prevent voters who have
timely requested absentee ballots from casting their votes. I would not
disturb the District Court’s disposition, which the Seventh Circuit
allowed to stand.

I

A
Wisconsin’s spring election is scheduled for tomorrow, Tuesday,

April 7, 2020. At issue are the presidential primaries, a seat on the
Wisconsin Supreme Court, three seats on the Wisconsin Court of
Appeals, over 100 other judgeships, over 500 school board seats, and
several thousand other positions. Democratic National Committee v.
Bostelmann, ___ F. Supp. 3d ___, ___, 2020 WL 1638374, *3 (WD
Wis., Apr. 2, 2020).

In the weeks leading up to the election, the COVID-19 pandemic
has become a “public health crisis.” Id., at ___, 2020 WL 1638374,
*1. As of April 2, Wisconsin had 1,550 confirmed cases of COVID-19
and 24 deaths attributable to the disease, “with evidence of increasing
community spread.” Id., at ___, 2020 WL 1638374, *3. On March 24,
the Governor ordered Wisconsinites to stay at home until April 24 to
slow the spread of the disease. Ibid.

Because gathering at the polling place now poses dire health risks,
an unprecedented number of Wisconsin voters—at the encourage-
ment of public officials—have turned to voting absentee. Id., at ___,
2020 WL 1638374, *4. About one million more voters have requested
absentee ballots in this election than in 2016. Ibid. Accommodating
the surge of absentee ballot requests has heavily burdened election
officials, resulting in a severe backlog of ballots requested but not
promptly mailed to voters. Id., at ___-___, 2020 WL 1638374, *4-*5.

B
Several weeks ago, plaintiffs—comprising individual Wisconsin

voters, community organizations, and the state and national Demo-
cratic parties—filed three lawsuits against members of the Wisconsin
Elections Commission in the United States District Court for the
Western District of Wisconsin.1 The District Court consolidated the
suits on March 28. The plaintiffs sought several forms of relief, all
aimed at easing the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the
upcoming election.

After holding an evidentiary hearing, the District Court issued a
preliminary injunction on April 2. As relevant here, the court con-
cluded that the existing deadlines for absentee voting would unconsti-
tutionally burden Wisconsin citizens’ right to vote. See Burdick v.
Takushi, 504 U.S. 428, 434 (1992); Anderson v. Celebrezze, 460 U.S.
780, 789 (1983). To alleviate that burden, the court entered a twofold
remedy. First, the District Court extended the deadline for voters to
request absentee ballots from April 2 to April 3. Second, the District
Court extended the deadline for election officials to receive completed
absentee ballots. Previously, Wisconsin law required that absentee
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ballots be received by 8 p.m. on election day, April 7; under the
preliminary injunction, the ballots would be accepted until 4 p.m. on
April 13, regardless of the postmark date. The District Court also
enjoined members of the Elections Commission and election
inspectors from releasing any report of polling results before the new
absentee-voting deadline, April 13.

Although the members of the Wisconsin Elections Commission
did not challenge the preliminary injunction, the intervening defen-
dants applied to the Seventh Circuit for a partial stay. Of the twofold
remedy just described, the stay applicants challenged only the second
aspect, the extension of the deadline for returning absentee ballots. On
April 3, the Seventh Circuit declined to modify the absentee-ballot
deadline. The same applicants then sought a partial stay in this Court,
which the Court today grants.

II

A
The Court’s order requires absentee voters to postmark their ballots

by election day, April 7—i.e., tomorrow—even if they did not receive
their ballots by that date. That is a novel requirement. Recall that
absentee ballots were originally due back to election officials on April
7, which the District Court extended to April 13. Neither of those
deadlines carried a postmark-by requirement.

While I do not doubt the good faith of my colleagues, the Court’s
order, I fear, will result in massive disenfranchisement. A voter cannot
deliver for postmarking a ballot she has not received. Yet tens of
thousands of voters who timely requested ballots are unlikely to
receive them by April 7, the Court’s postmark deadline. Rising
concern about the COVID-19 pandemic has caused a late surge in
absentee-ballot requests. ___ F. Supp. 3d, at ___-___, 2020 WL
1638374, *4-*5. The Court’s suggestion that the current situation is
not “substantially different” from “an ordinary election” boggles the
mind. Ante, at 3. Some 150,000 requests for absentee ballots have
been processed since Thursday, state records indicate.2 The surge in
absentee-ballot requests has overwhelmed election officials, who face
a huge backlog in sending ballots. ___ F. Supp. 3d, at ___,___, ___-
___, ___-___, 2020 WL 1638374, *1, *5, *9-*10, *17-*18. As of
Sunday morning, 12,000 ballots reportedly had not yet been mailed
out.3 It takes days for a mailed ballot to reach its recipient—the postal
service recommends budgeting a week—even without accounting for
pandemic-induced mail delays. Id., at ___, 2020 WL 1638374, *5. It
is therefore likely that ballots mailed in recent days will not reach
voters by tomorrow; for ballots not yet mailed, late arrival is all but
certain.4 Under the District Court’s order, an absentee voter who
receives a ballot after tomorrow could still have voted, as long as she
delivered it to election officials by April 13. Now, under this Court’s
order, tens of thousands of absentee voters, unlikely to receive their
ballots in time to cast them, will be left quite literally without a vote.

This Court’s intervention is thus ill advised, especially so at this
late hour. See Purcell v. Gonzalez, 549 U.S. 1, 4-5 (2006) [20 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S1a]  (per curiam). Election officials have spent the past
few days establishing procedures and informing voters in accordance
with the District Court’s deadline. For this Court to upend the
process—a day before the April 7 postmark deadline—is sure to
confound election officials and voters.

B
What concerns could justify consequences so grave? The Court’s

order first suggests a problem of forfeiture, noting that the plaintiffs’
written preliminary-injunction motions did not ask that ballots
                 

postmarked after April 7 be counted. But unheeded by the Court,
although initially silent, the plaintiffs specifically requested that
remedy at the preliminary-injunction hearing in view of the ever-
increasing demand for absentee ballots. See Tr. 102-103 (Apr. 1,
2020).

Second, the Court’s order cites Purcell, apparently skeptical of the
District Court’s intervention shortly before an election. Nevermind
that the District Court was reacting to a grave, rapidly developing
public health crisis. If proximity to the election counseled hesitation
when the District Court acted several days ago, this Court’s interven-
tion today—even closer to the election—is all the more inappropriate.

Third, the Court notes that the District Court’s order allowed
absentee voters to cast ballots after election day. If a voter already in
line by the poll’s closing time can still vote, why should Wisconsin’s
absentee voters, already in line to receive ballots, be denied the
franchise? According to the stay applicants, election-distorting
gamesmanship might occur if ballots could be cast after initial results
are published. But obviating that harm, the District Court enjoined the
publication of election results before April 13, the deadline for
returning absentee ballots, and the Wisconsin Elections Commission
directed election officials not to publish results before that date.5

The concerns advanced by the Court and the applicants pale in
comparison to the risk that tens of thousands of voters will be
disenfranchised. Ensuring an opportunity for the people of Wisconsin
to exercise their votes should be our paramount concern.

*    *    *
The majority of this Court declares that this case presents a

“narrow, technical question.” Ante, at 1. That is wrong. The question
here is whether tens of thousands of Wisconsin citizens can vote safely
in the midst of a pandemic. Under the District Court’s order, they
would be able to do so. Even if they receive their absentee ballot in the
days immediately following election day, they could return it. With
the majority’s stay in place, that will not be possible. Either they will
have to brave the polls, endangering their own and others’ safety. Or
they will lose their right to vote, through no fault of their own. That is
a matter of utmost importance—to the constitutional rights of Wiscon-
sin’s citizens, the integrity of the State’s election process, and in this
most extraordinary time, the health of the Nation.
))))))))))))))))))

1The state and national Republican parties intervened as defendants. The District
Court denied intervention by the state legislature, which the Seventh Circuit later
allowed.

2See Wisconsin Elections Commission, Absentee Ballot Report, Apr. 2, 2020,
https://elections.wi.gov/node/6806; Wisconsin Elections Commission, Absentee
Ballot Report, Apr. 3, 2020, https://elections.wi.gov/node/6808; Wisconsin Elections
Commission, Absentee Ballot Report, Apr. 4, 2020, https://elec-
tions.wi.gov/node/6814; Wisconsin Elections Commission, Absentee Ballot Report,
Apr. 5, 2020, https://elections.wi.gov/node/6815.

3See Wisconsin Elections Commission, Absentee Ballot Report, Apr. 5, 2020,
https://elections.wi.gov/index.php/node/6815.

4See, e.g., Tr. 18-19 (Apr. 1, 2020) (testimony that mail delivery “can take up to a
week” or longer, threatening “the opportunity for the voter to receive [the absentee]
ballot by mail”); id., at 35 (testimony that the “transaction time from the time the clerk
puts [an absentee ballot] in the mail to the voter receiving it could take up to a week”);
id., at 40 (testimony agreeing that “there will be some people who request . . . [an] ab-
sentee ballot [on April 2] who will not be receiving it in time to put it in the mail by
April 7th”); Brief for City of Green Bay as Amicus Curiae in No. 3:20-cv-00249 (WD
Wis.), p. 5 (“[D]elays at the post office are . . . affecting the speed with which voters
receive their ballots . . . .”).

5Memorandum from M. Wolfe, Administrator of the Wisconsin Elections
Commission, to Wisconsin Municipal Clerks et al. (Apr. 3, 2020), https://elec-
tions.wi.gov/sites/elections.wi.gov/files/2020-04/Clerk%20comm%20re.%
20court%20decisions%204.3.pdf.

*        *        *



Headnotes and indexes are copyrighted and may not be duplicated by photocopying, printing,
or other means without the express permission of the publishers. 1-800-351-0917

C989

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
April 17, 2020 ELEVENTH CIRCUITVolume 28, Number 19

Civil rights—Law enforcement officers—
Sheriffs—Section 1983 action against officers
alleging false arrest, excessive force, and fail-
ure to intervene, and against sheriff alleging
custom or policy of excessive force or failure to
adequately train, supervise, and discipline—
Qualified immunity—Trial court improperly
concluded that arresting officer was entitled to
qualified immunity on false arrest and exces-
sive force claims—False arrest—No reason-
able officer in defendant’s position could have
believed there was probable cause to arrest
defendant under Florida disorderly conduct
statute based on words alone—Further, under
plaintiff’s version of facts, officer did not
possess arguable probable cause for arresting
plaintiff for resisting without violence where
plaintiff merely declined to cooperate or pro-
vide useful information—Excessive force—
Court rejects plaintiff’s theory that any force is
excessive if underlying arrest was illegiti-
mate—Allegations that officer continuously
used pepper spray on plaintiff’s face for a
three-to-five-minute period while plaintiff lay
on the ground helplessly was sufficient to
create disputed issue of material fact as to
whether officer’s use of force was excessive—
Failure to intervene—No error in granting
summary judgment in favor of fellow officer
on failure to intervene claim where plaintiff
did not allege what further steps officer should
have taken or that officer had opportunity to
take further steps to intervene while also help-
ing to restrain bystander—Sheriff’s liability—
District court properly granted summary
judgment in favor of sheriff where plaintiff
provided practically no evidence to support
claims of policy or custom of excessive force,
deliberate indifference to repeated violations,
or failure to properly train
OMAR T. ALSTON, Plaintiff-Appellant, v. MARK
SWARBRICK, Deputy, Marion County Sheriff’s Office, in
official and individual capacities, DANIEL TRAMMEL,
Deputy, Marion County Sheriff’s Office, in official and
individual capacities, SHERIFF OF MARION COUNTY,
FLORIDA, Defendants-Appellees, FNU DIXON, Captain,
Marion County Sheriff’s Office, in official and individual
capacities, et al., Defendants. 11th Circuit. Case No. 18-10791.
March 26, 2020. Appeal from the U.S. District Court for the
Middle District of Florida (No. 5:14-cv-00485-WTH-PRL).

(Before WILSON and GRANT, Circuit Judges,
and MARTINEZ,* District Judge.)

(WILSON, Circuit Judge.) Omar Alston appeals
the district court’s grant of summary judgment in
favor of Officer Mark Swarbrick, Officer Daniel
Trammel, and the Marion County Sheriff in his 42
U.S.C. § 1983 action. In his complaint, Alston
asserted that Swarbrick falsely arrested him and
used excessive force; Trammel failed to intervene;
and the Sheriff had a custom or policy of exces-
sive force or failed to adequately train, supervise,

and discipline Swarbrick and Trammel. On ap-
peal, Alston contests the district court’s grant of
summary judgment on each of his claims. After
reviewing the record, and with the benefit of oral
argument, we reverse the district court’s grant of
summary judgment to Officer Swarbrick on
Alston’s false arrest claim and Alston’s excessive
force claim regarding an alleged three-to-five
minute period of pepper spraying, and remand
those claims for further proceedings. We affirm
the district court’s grant of summary judgment to
Officer Swarbrick as to any other allegations of
excessive force, and likewise affirm the claims
against the Sheriff and Officer Trammel.

I. Background
Alston asserted the following facts at summary

judgment. In June 2011, Officers Swarbrick and
Trammel of the Marion County Sheriff’s Depart-
ment were called to investigate a domestic dis-
pute. A minor in Alston’s custody, Q.D.B., had
gone to a neighbor’s house to ask for a knife to kill
Alston. After Q.D.B. was handcuffed and placed
in Trammel’s vehicle, Trammel stood with
Q.D.B.’s mother, Temekia Morris; Morris’s other
minor son, L.D.B.; and a crowd of onlookers as
Swarbrick approached Alston and began aggres-
sively questioning him about what happened.
Alston acknowledged Swarbrick by saying
“Good morning,” but ignored his questions.
Swarbrick repeatedly asked Alston what hap-
pened, but Alston continued responding only,
“Good morning.” Unwilling to talk to Swarbrick
about what happened, Alston finally turned
around and stated “[f***] you I don’t have to
answer anything” while walking away from
Swarbrick. Swarbrick ran after Alston, slammed
him into the street from behind, and arrested him
for disorderly conduct under Florida Statute §
877.03. Swarbrick handcuffed Alston behind his
back and threw him in the back of his patrol car
while Trammel stood back and watched with
Morris, L.D.B., and the other onlookers.

While handcuffed with his hands behind his
back in the patrol car, Alston retrieved his cell
phone and called his aunt to tell her what was
happening. Seeing Alston’s movements inside the
vehicle, Trammel approached Alston and took his
cell phone. Swarbrick then forcefully removed
Alston from the vehicle to search him, pulling
down his pants and revealing his genitalia in the
process. Swarbrick took an additional cell phone
and a set of car keys from Alston and threw him
back inside the vehicle. Morris then approached
Swarbrick to request that he give her the keys and
phones he obtained; Swarbrick made her beg for
the items before returning them to her.

This led to a heated verbal exchange between
Swarbrick, who was sitting in the driver’s seat,
and Alston, who was still in the backseat with his
hands handcuffed behind him. Enraged,
Swarbrick jumped out of the vehicle, reached

inside, and tried to pull Alston out by jerking him
by his arm. Alston repeatedly screamed in pain
and yelled that his foot was stuck under the seat.
Swarbrick continued jerking harder and then
grabbed his pepper spray and sprayed Alston
repeatedly in the face. Trammel came over and
freed Alston’s foot from the other side of the car,
thus allowing Swarbrick to pull Alston out of the
vehicle. Swarbrick continued to pepper spray
Alston’s face for three to five minutes while
Alston laid on the ground, screaming and yelling,
with his hands still restrained. Swarbrick then
pulled Alston off the ground and “re-arrested”
him for resisting an officer without violence under
Florida Statute § 843.02.1 The charges were later
dropped.

Swarbrick’s and Trammel’s versions of the
facts differed in several aspects from Alston’s.
First, their affidavits stated that Alston’s behavior
when Swarbrick first approached him incited
Morris and L.D.B. to run over to Swarbrick,
requiring Trammel to run over to provide security
for Swarbrick. Second, neither of their versions of
the facts included Alston’s first removal from the
car following a phone call to his aunt. In fact, they
contested Alston ever making such a phone call.
Third, the officers claimed that Alston moved his
cuffed hands from behind his back to the front,
and that Swarbrick removed Alston from the
patrol car so he could reposition Alston’s hand-
cuffs because permitting Alston to keep his hands
in front could pose a safety risk. Additionally,
Swarbrick claimed that Alston was threatening to
urinate on him during their verbal exchange in the
car, and that after Alston moved his hands to the
front, he started to unbuckle and pull down his
pants to make good on the threat.

The district court granted summary judgment
in favor of Swarbrick, Trammel, and the Sheriff
on all of Alston’s claims. It concluded that
Swarbrick was entitled to qualified immunity on
the false arrest claims and did not use excessive
force. As to Trammel, the court held that he had
no reason to intervene because Alston did not use
excessive force. Finally, the court concluded that
the Sheriff was not liable because neither
Swarbrick nor Trammel had committed a consti-
tutional violation. Alston brought this appeal.

II. Qualified Immunity
We review a district court’s rulings on a mo-

tion for summary judgment de novo. See
Kingsland v. City of Miami, 382 F.3d 1220, 1225
(11th Cir. 2004) [17 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1021a]. “We view the evidence and all factual
inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to
the non-moving party, and resolve all reasonable
doubts about the facts in favor of the non-
movant.” Id. at 1226.

When determining whether a defendant is
entitled to qualified immunity, we resolve any
issues of material fact in favor of the plaintiff.
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Stephens v. DeGiovanni, 852 F.3d 1298, 1313
(11th Cir. 2017) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1366a]. Police officers acting in their discretion-
ary authority are entitled to qualified immunity
from suit unless a plaintiff can establish that (1)
the officer violated a constitutional right, and (2)
the right violated was clearly established. Grider
v. City of Auburn, 618 F.3d 1240, 1254 (11th Cir.
2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1423a].

“[I]t is well established that a warrantless
arrest without probable cause violates the Fourth
Amendment and forms a basis for a section 1983
claim.” Carter v. Butts Cty., 821 F.3d 1310, 1319
(11th Cir. 2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C271a]
(internal quotation mark omitted) (alteration
accepted). For probable cause to arrest to exist, an
arrest must be objectively reasonable based on the
totality of the circumstances. Kingsland, 382 F.3d
at 1226. This standard is met “when law enforce-
ment officials have facts and circumstances within
their knowledge sufficient to warrant a reasonable
belief that the suspect had committed or was
committing a crime.” Skop v. City of Atlanta, 485
F.3d 1130, 1137 (11th Cir. 2007) [20 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C579a]. But arresting an individual
without probable cause will not remove the shield
of qualified immunity so long as the officer had
“arguable probable cause” for the arrest. Id.
Arguable probable cause exists if “reasonable
officers in the same circumstances and possessing
the same knowledge as the [d]efendants could
have believed that probable cause existed to arrest
the plaintiff.” Davis v. Williams, 451 F.3d 759,
762 (11th Cir. 2006) [19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C640a] (internal quotation mark omitted).

A. Disorderly Conduct
Alston argues that Swarbrick lacked probable

cause to arrest him for disorderly conduct, and
was therefore not entitled to qualified immunity,
because his words did not incite onlookers to
breach the peace. He claims that the district court
improperly drew factual inferences in favor of the
officers when it found otherwise.

Florida Statute § 877.03 defines disorderly
conduct as acts “of a nature to corrupt the public
morals, or outrage the sense of public decency, or
affect the peace and quiet of persons who may
witness them.” Probable cause under § 877.03
cannot be based on “mere words.” Davis, 451
F.3d at 766; see State v. Saunders, 339 So. 2d 641,
643-44 (Fla. 1976) (limiting the application of §
877.03 so that it would only apply to “fighting
words” or “words like shouts of ‘fire’ in a
crowded theatre” to avoid First Amendment
concerns); cf. Smith v. State, 967 So. 2d 937, 939-
40 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007) [32 Fla. L. Weekly
D2128a] (holding that defendant directing loud
and vulgar language towards police officer out-
side of a relatively busy bank did not support a
conviction for disorderly conduct); Barry v. State,
934 So. 2d 656, 658-59 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006) [31
Fla. L. Weekly D2065a] (collecting cases; hold-
ing that defendant screaming obscenities at police
officer while pointing and shaking a finger in her
face did not support a conviction for disorderly
conduct despite crowd of observers).

Here, the district court improperly accepted
the officers’ version of the facts and drew infer-

ences in their favor. The officers attested that
Alston’s obscenities incited Morris and L.D.B. to
run toward Swarbrick, which in turn caused
Trammel to run over to provide security to
Swarbrick. However, in his affidavit and Third
Amended Complaint, Alston states that Trammel,
Morris, and L.D.B. stood back with other onlook-
ers during the arrest and did not intervene. There-
fore, a genuine dispute of material fact exists as to
when, or if, Morris and L.D.B. ran over to
Swarbrick and Alston, and whether Alston’s
comments amounted to disorderly conduct.

The court also erred by concluding that
Alston’s version of events, if true, would establish
probable cause for his arrest. According to Alston,
Swarbrick arrested him based merely on him
refusing to answer questions and spouting ob-
scenities while walking away. But by 2011, it was
clearly established that words alone cannot sup-
port probable cause for disorderly conduct—
including profanity regarding police officers. See,
e.g., Davis, 451 F.3d at 766; Gold v. City of Mi-
ami, 121 F.3d 1442, 1446 (11th Cir. 1997). Under
those facts, no reasonable officer in Swarbrick’s
position could have believed there was probable
cause to arrest Alston under the Florida disorderly
conduct statute. Therefore, the district court
improperly concluded that Swarbrick was entitled
to qualified immunity on that basis.

B. Resisting an Officer Without Violence
Officer Swarbrick also argues that he had

probable cause to arrest Alston for resisting an
officer without violence, claiming that Alston
impeded his lawful investigation of the incident
involving Q.D.B. A conviction for resisting an
officer without violence under Florida Statute §
843.02 requires that “(1) the officer was engaged
in the lawful execution of a legal duty; and, (2) the
actions of the defendant obstructed, resisted or
opposed the officer in the performance of that
legal duty.” V.L. v. State, 790 So. 2d 1140, 1142
(Fla. 5th DCA 2001) [26 Fla. L. Weekly D1657a].
“An essential element of the offense of resisting a
law enforcement officer without violence is that
the arrest must be lawful.” Id. at 1143.

We conclude that, under Alston’s version of
the facts, Swarbrick did not possess arguable
probable cause for arresting Alston under the
resisting without violence statute. At the time of
the arrest it was clearly established that, as with
the disorderly conduct statute, “mere words”
would not suffice to provide probable cause for
resisting without violence. See Davis, 451 F.3d at
766. And under Alston’s version of the facts, he
did not physically obstruct Swarbrick’s path or
otherwise prevent him from conducting his inves-
tigation as to Q.D.B. See id. at 765. Alston merely
declined to cooperate or provide useful informa-
tion. His failure to answer Officer Swarbrick’s
questions—and even his profanity-laced re-
sponse—were not even arguably sufficient to
support probable cause under § 843.02. See id.
Because Officer Swarbrick lacked arguable
probable cause to arrest Alston under this (or any
other) statute, Alston’s false arrest claim must
proceed.

III. Excessive Force
Alston then argues that because Swarbrick

lacked arguable probable cause to arrest him in
the first place, any amount of force was excessive
under the Fourth Amendment. He also argues that
the district court based its determination that
Swarbrick used a reasonable amount of force on
its erroneous finding that Alston repositioned his
handcuffs.

“The Fourth Amendment’s freedom from
unreasonable searches and seizures encompasses
the plain right to be free from the use of excessive
force in the course of an arrest.” Vinyard v. Wil-
son, 311 F.3d 1340, 1347 (11th Cir. 2002) [16
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C49a]. “[E]ven de minimis
force will violate the Fourth Amendment if the
officer is not entitled to arrest or detain the sus-
pect.” Reese v. Herbert, 527 F.3d 1253, 1272
(11th Cir. 2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C724a].
However, under “this Circuit’s law[,] a claim that
any force in an illegal stop or arrest is excessive is
subsumed in the illegal stop or arrest claim and is
not a discrete excessive force claim.” Bashir v.
Rockdale County, 445 F.3d 1323, 1331 (11th Cir.
2006) [19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C444a] (citation
omitted). We therefore disagree with Alston that
he may support an excessive force claim on the
theory that any force is excessive if the underlying
arrest was illegitimate.

Even after that rule is applied, however, the
entirety of Alston’s excessive force claim is not
subsumed into his false arrest claim. In particular,
Officer Swarbrick’s alleged three to five minutes
of pepper spraying may qualify as a sufficient
“discrete constitutional violation relating to the
manner in which an arrest was carried out” that “is
independent of whether law enforcement had the
power to arrest.” Id. at 1332. To determine
whether Officer Swarbrick is entitled to qualified
immunity as to that use of force, we ask whether
an “objectively reasonable officer in the same
situation could have believed the use of force was
not excessive.” Brown v. City of Huntsville, 608
F.3d 724, 738 (11th Cir. 2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C931a]. In reviewing the use of force, a court
must consider “[1] the severity of the crime at
issue, [2] whether the suspect poses an immediate
threat to the safety of the officers or others, and [3]
whether he is actively resisting arrest or attempt-
ing to evade arrest by flight.” Id.

We note at the outset that the district court
made an improper credibility determination when
it concluded that Alston could not have made his
alleged phone call without moving his hands from
behind his back to in front of his body. Its reliance
on United States v. Calderon was misplaced
because that case said that testimony is incredible
as a matter of law only if the stated facts “could
not have occurred under the laws of nature.” See
127 F.3d 1314, 1325 (11th Cir. 1997). That is not
the case here, as it is not inconceivable that Alston
could have made a phone call with his hands
behind his back, and a jury could reasonably
conclude that he did.2 Accordingly, assuming that
Alston’s hands were handcuffed behind his back
and he was restrained in the back of Swarbrick’s
vehicle, he posed a minimal threat to the offi-
cers—who allege only that he was threatening to
urinate on them. But we judge “from the perspec-
tive of a reasonable officer on the scene, rather
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than with the 20/20 vision of hindsight.” See Post
v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 7 F.3d 1552, 1559
(11th Cir. 1993). While Alston yelling that his
foot was stuck could have indicated to a reason-
able officer that Alston was not actively resisting
removal from the vehicle, a reasonable officer
may have believed—following a heated verbal
exchange—that Alston was intentionally resisting
and falsely claiming that his foot was stuck so as
not to cooperate. Accordingly, Officer Swarbrick
is entitled to qualified immunity with regards to
the initial force used to remove Alston from the
vehicle.

But Alston’s allegations go further. Alston
alleges a three-to-five minute period during which
Officer Swarbrick continuously used pepper
spray on his face while he lay on the ground
helplessly. Under this Circuit’s caselaw, such a
prolonged use of pepper spray on a non-resisting
and handcuffed detainee would violate the de-
tainee’s clearly established Fourth Amendment
rights. See Vinyard v. Wilson, 311 F.3d 1340,
1349 (11th Cir. 2002) [16 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C49a]. Of course, the finder of fact may ulti-
mately disbelieve Alston’s testimony and con-
clude that the alleged period of prolonged pepper
spraying did not occur. Nonetheless, viewing the
facts in the light most favorable to Alston, he has
at least presented a genuine dispute of material
fact regarding Swarbrick’s use of force as to that
period of pepper spraying, and thus, granting
summary judgment in favor of Swarbrick was
improper.

IV. Failure to Intervene
Alston challenges the district court’s grant of

summary judgment on his claim that Trammel
failed to intervene when Swarbrick pulled him
from the patrol car and used excessive force. “An
officer who is present at the scene and who fails to
take reasonable steps to protect the victim of
another officer’s use of excessive force” can be
liable for failing to intervene, so long as he “was
in a position to intervene yet failed to do so.”
Hadley v. Gutierrez, 526 F.3d 1324, 1330-31
(11th Cir. 2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C666a]
(alteration accepted).

In his summary judgment affidavit, Alston
claimed that Trammel stood off with Alston’s
family and the other onlookers while Swarbrick
used excessive force against him. However, he
also claimed that, at some point while Swarbrick
was jerking him out of the patrol car, Trammel
opened the driver’s side back passenger door and
freed his foot that was stuck. And, in his Third
Amended Complaint, he stated that Trammel
helped Morris restrain L.D.B., who was yelling at
Swarbrick, while Swarbrick pepper sprayed him.
Alston did not allege what further steps Trammel
should have taken or that he had the opportunity
to take further steps while also restraining L.D.B.
Thus, the record does not support that Trammel
was able to intervene but failed to do so, and
therefore, he cannot be liable for failing to inter-
vene. We affirm the district court’s grant of sum-
mary judgment on this claim.

V. Sheriff’s Liability
Alston’s final argument is that the district

court improperly granted summary judgment on

his claim against the Sheriff because the officers
were liable for several constitutional violations
and he showed that the Sheriff failed to train the
officers and created a policy or custom of exces-
sive force.

For a supervisor to be liable under § 1983, he
must be causally connected to the constitutional
issue by having an unlawful policy or custom. See
Skop, 485 F.3d at 1145; Gray ex rel. Alexander v.
Bostic, 458 F.3d 1295, 1308 (11th Cir. 2006) [19
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C894a]. A supervisor can
also be liable under § 1983 if he is deliberately
indifferent to a lawful policy being repeatedly
violated or a failure to train resulting in a depriva-
tion of people’s rights. See Keith v. DeKalb Cty.,
749 F.3d 1034, 1052 (11th Cir. 2014) [24 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C1280a]; Depew v. City of St.
Marys, 787 F.2d 1496, 1499 (11th Cir. 1986).

The district court properly granted summary
judgment in favor of the Sheriff. Alston provided
practically no evidence to support his claims of a
policy or custom of excessive force, deliberate
indifference to repeated violations, or a failure to
properly train. Indeed, the evidence presented was
sufficient for a jury to conclude that Swarbrick
was up to date on his training. Therefore, no
reasonable jury could conclude that the Sheriff
was causally connected to any potential violation
of Alston’s constitutional rights.

Accordingly, we reverse and remand to the
district court on Alston’s claims of false arrest and
excessive force as to the alleged period of pepper
spraying, and otherwise affirm the district court.

AFFIRMED IN PART, REVERSED AND
REMANDED IN PART.
))))))))))))))))))

*Honorable Jose E. Martinez, United States District
Judge for the Southern District of Florida, sitting by
designation.

1We briefly clear up one confusing factual issue:
Alston was under arrest from the time he was tackled
and handcuffed by Officer Swarbrick. The parties’
disputes regarding Swarbrick’s treatment of Alston after
he was arrested go to the reasonableness of the force
used to manage the detainee under the relevant circum-
stances; removing him from the car did not amount to a
“second arrest.”

2In his affidavit, Alston states that he retrieved his
cell phone while his hands were handcuffed behind his
back and called his aunt. Based on this record, it is not
clear whether Alston claims to have made the call by
voice dialing and speakerphone, or by manually dialing
the number. Regardless, it is not inconceivable that he
placed a call with his hands behind his back.

*        *        *
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SUSAN MONAGHAN, Plaintiff-Appellant, v. WORLDPAY
US, INC., Defendant-Appellee. 11th Circuit. Case No. 17-
14333. April 2, 2020. Appeal from the U.S. District Court for
the Northern District of Georgia (D.C. Docket No. 1:16-cv-
00760-CC).

(Before JORDAN and TJOFLAT, Circuit Judges,
and HINKLE,* District Judge.)

(PER CURIAM.) Susan Monaghan appeals from
the district court’s grant of summary judgment in
favor of her former employer, Worldpay US, Inc.,
on her claim of retaliation under Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a). Follow-
ing a review of the record, and with the benefit of
oral argument, we reverse and remand.

The district court applied our decision in
Gowski v. Peake, 682 F.3d 1299, 1312 (11th Cir.
2012) [23 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1100a], and
required Ms. Monaghan to show that the alleged
retaliation was sufficiently pervasive to alter the
conditions of her employment. But the proper
standard in a retaliation case is the one set out by
the Supreme Court in Burlington Northern &
Santa Fe Railway Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53, 57
(2006) [19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S326a], and
confirmed by this circuit in Crawford v. Carroll,
529 F.3d 961, 974 (11th Cir. 2008) [21 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C758a]—the retaliation is material
if it “well might have dissuade[d] a reasonable
worker from making or supporting a charge of
discrimination.” Under this standard, a jury must
decide Ms. Monaghan’s retaliation claim.

I
Viewed in the light most favorable to Ms.

Monaghan, see Bucklew v. Precythe, 139 S.Ct.
1112, 1137 (2019) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S760a], the facts relevant to the retaliatory harass-
ment claim are relatively straightforward.1

Ms. Monaghan, who is white and over 40
years old, worked as an executive assistant at
Worldpay from September 2 to November 21 of
2014. Worldpay terminated Ms. Monaghan’s
employment during the 90-day probationary
period applicable to new employees.

Tammi Daniel, who is black, was Ms.
Monaghan’s immediate supervisor from Septem-
ber 2 to November 3, when Ruth Hrubala (who is
white and over 50 years of age) replaced Ms.
Daniel. About a week after Ms. Monaghan began
her tenure at Worldpay, Ms. Daniel made a num-
ber of race- and age-based comments to her. For
example, Ms. Daniel told Ms. Monaghan that she
needed a “suntan” to work in the executive suite,
that she was “too old” to fit in at Worldpay, and
that she was “over the hill.” Ms. Daniel, referring
to Ms. Monaghan, also told another employee that
“this little white woman is giving me drama over
here,” and that Worldpay “did not need another
older executive assistant around here.” Ms.
Monaghan says that she verbally reported Ms.
Daniel’s discriminatory comments to the
Worldpay executives she supported, as well as to
others, but not to anyone in human resources.
According to Ms. Monaghan, the executives told
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her to avoid Ms. Daniel, or to stop reporting such
conduct because Ms. Daniel was a black female
and Worldpay did not want to get sued.

On October 2, Ms. Daniel called Ms.
Monaghan into a meeting in a conference room
and berated her for about 45 minutes regarding
her complaints to the executives concerning the
discriminatory remarks. Ms. Daniel was angry
and told Ms. Monaghan that she had “cut her own
throat” by making the complaints. Ms. Daniel also
instructed Ms. Monaghan not to have any contact
with the executives she supported unless it was
directly related to work on a specific task. Ms.
Daniel did not stop there. She told Ms. Monaghan
that she was “fucked,” that she would be black-
balled, that her days working for Worldpay were
numbered, and that she “better watch it” because
Ms. Daniel and her boyfriend knew where she
lived. Ms. Daniel ended the meeting by pounding
her fists on a table, leaning towards Ms.
Monaghan, and saying: “I’m so pissed off at you,
Susan Monaghan. How dare you make com-
plaints about me.” Ms. Monaghan contends that
she told some of the executives about Ms. Dan-
iel’s behavior at this meeting, but they again
refused to consider her complaints.

About two weeks later, around October 20,
Ms. Daniel told Ms. Monaghan that she was
training another person “to take your job. You
better watch it, white girl.” Ms. Monaghan again
complained to an executive that Ms. Daniel was
making racist remarks, but once again the com-
plaint fell on deaf ears.2

In late October, while Ms. Monaghan was
eating a banana sandwich for lunch, Ms. Daniel
asked her how old she was. Ms. Daniel remarked
that the only person she knew who ate that type of
sandwich was her own mother.

At an offsite meeting on October 29, Ms.
Daniel told Ms. Monaghan that she would be
resigning. A human resources executive, who was
listening to the conversation, asked Ms. Daniel if
she had plenty of “give a damn” money. Ms.
Daniel asked Ms. Monaghan if she knew that that
meant, and when Ms. Monaghan said no, Ms.
Daniel said “you white girls kill me.” Ms. Daniel
also told Ms. Monaghan that she needed to “watch
herself.” Ms. Monaghan reported these comments
but was generally told to ignore Ms. Daniel be-
cause she was leaving the company.

In mid-November, Ms. Hrubala, who had
taken over for Ms. Daniel, began to ignore Ms.
Monaghan. Worldpay terminated Ms.
Monaghan’s employment on November 20 and
asserts that it did so due to “lack of confidence,
lack of trust, and lack of teamwork.” But Ms.
Monaghan says that Ms. Hrubala told her that she
was being discharged for “complain[ing] and
complain[ing]” to the executives, that they were
tired of her “complaining,” and that she did not
“fit in with” Worldpay.3

Ms. Watkins told Ms. Monaghan “I need you
to understand that today is for Tammi” as she was
escorting her out of the building on the day of her
termination. Ms. Monaghan understood that
comment to mean that Worldpay was retaliating
against her by firing her because Ms. Daniel had
been discharged.

II
We review the district court’s summary judg-

ment order de novo. See Guevara v. NCL (Baha-
mas) Ltd., 920 F.3d 710, 720 (11th Cir. 2019) [27
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1811a]. Before we begin
our discussion, we explain what claim we are
addressing.

Count II of Ms. Monaghan’s complaint as-
serted a Title VII retaliation claim against
Worldpay. See D.E. 1 at 9-10. Count III, a claim
under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 for unlawful racial dis-
crimination, mentioned retaliation in passing but
only in a concluding paragraph alleging that
Worldpay was liable for damages. See id. at 11.
Count V, a claim for unlawful age discrimination
under the Age Discrimination in Employment
Act, 29 U.S.C. § 623 et seq., did not mention
retaliation at all and did not cite to the Act’s anti-
retaliation provision, § 623(d). See id. at 12-13.

In her response to Worldpay’s motion for
summary judgment, however, Ms. Monaghan
proceeded as though she had asserted retaliation
claims under § 1981 and the ADEA as well as
under Title VII. See D.E. 73 at 7. The magistrate
judge apparently proceeded on this assumption as
well. See D.E. 85 at 30-31. It is unclear whether
the district court analyzed retaliation only under
Title VII. See D.E. 91 at 5-6.

On appeal, Ms. Monaghan asserts (or at the
very least suggests) that she pursued (and is
pursuing) distinct retaliation claims under Title
VII, § 1981, and the ADEA. But we need only
address Ms. Monaghan’s Title VII retaliation
claim. That was the only retaliation claim pled in
the complaint, and “a plaintiff cannot amend h[er]
complaint through argument made in h[er] brief in
opposition to the defendant’s motion for summary
judgment.” Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Fla. v.
United States, 716 F.3d 535, 559 (11th Cir. 2013)
[24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C271a].4

III
The term “retaliatory harassment” is not new

to Title VII law, see, e.g., Adams v. Reed, 567
F.2d 1283, 1285 n.4 (5th Cir. 1978) (noting that
the Title VII defendant had not appealed district
court’s injunction prohibiting “retaliatory harass-
ment”), but its contours have not always been
clear. In Wu v. Thomas, 996 F.2d 271, 273-74
(11th Cir. 1993), we left open whether Title VII’s
anti-retaliation provision, set out as part of 42
U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a), permits a claim for retalia-
tory harassment which “caused the employee no
tangible harm, such as loss of salary, benefits, or
position.” A couple of years later, we held that
“Title VII’s protection against retaliatory discrim-
ination extends to adverse actions which fall short
of ultimate employment decisions.” Wideman v.
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 141 F.3d 1455, 1456 (11th
Cir. 1998). We concluded that, viewed collec-
tively, the acts complained of by the plaintiff—
being improperly listed as a no-show for work,
receiving reprimands and a suspension, and
having a supervisor solicit co-workers for nega-
tive comments about the plaintiff, threaten to
shoot the plaintiff in the head if she called head-
quarters to complain, and a delay in authorizing
medical treatment for the plaintiff’s allergic

reaction—were “sufficient to constitute prohib-
ited discrimination.” Id.

A
It has long been settled that Title VII makes

discriminatory treatment actionable only if it
reaches a sufficient level of substantiality. Trivial
slights are not actionable. See, e.g., Oncale v.
Sundown Offshore Servs., Inc., 523 U.S. 75, 81
(1998) (noting that Title VII is not a general
civility code). Articulating the dividing line
between substantial and trivial has not always
been easy. But by now, apart from one outlier
addressed later, the standards, if not always their
proper application in any given case, are pretty
well established.

First, some events are substantial enough
standing alone to be actionable. These have
sometimes been referred to as “tangible” or
“adverse” employment actions. See, e.g., Cotton
v. Cracker Barrel Old Country Store, Inc., 434
F.3d 1227, 1231 (11th Cir. 2006) [19 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C167a] (“tangible employment
action”); Jefferson v. Sewon Am., Inc., 891 F.3d
911, 920-21 (11th Cir. 2018) [27 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C927a] (“adverse employment action”). The
terms are interchangeable, at least as applied to
this kind of discrimination claim. See Brown v.
Snow, 440 F.3d 1259, 1266 (11th Cir. 2006) [19
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C307a] (“Under our case law,
the definitions of tangible employment actions
and adverse employment actions are essentially
the same.”).

Tangible employment actions consist of things
that affect continued employment or pay—things
like terminations, demotions, suspensions without
pay, and pay raises or cuts—as well as other
things that are similarly significant standing
alone. See Davis v. Town of Lake Park, 245 F.3d
1232, 1238-39 (11th Cir. 2001) [14 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C543a]; Gillis v. Ga. Dep’t of Corr.,
400 F.3d 883, 888 (11th Cir. 2005) [18 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C235a]. A claim that an employee
has suffered a tangible employment action based
on race or other prohibited characteristics is
sometimes referred to as a disparate-treatment
claim. See, e.g., Watson v. Fort Worth Bank & Tr.,
487 U.S. 977, 985-86 (1988); Int’l Bhd. of Team-
sters v. United States, 431 U.S. 324, 335 n.15
(1977); Crawford v. Carroll, 529 F.3d 961, 970
(11th Cir. 2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C758a].
Such a claim arises under 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-
2(a)(1), which prohibits discrimination with
respect to “compensation, terms, conditions, or
privileges of employment.”

Second, mistreatment based on race or other
prohibited characteristics, including subjection to
adverse conditions, is actionable even if the
mistreatment does not rise to the level of a tangi-
ble employment action, but only if the mistreat-
ment is “sufficiently severe or pervasive” that it
can be said to alter the terms, conditions, or privi-
leges of employment. See Miller v. Kenworth of
Dothan, Inc., 277 F.3d 1269, 1275 (11th Cir.
2002) [15 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C172a] (quoting
Harris v. Forklift Sys., Inc., 510 U.S. 17, 21
(1993)). A claim based on this kind of mistreat-
ment is often referred to as a hostile-environment
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claim. When the mistreatment involves unwel-
come sexual advances, the claim may be referred
to alternatively as a sexual-harassment claim. See,
e.g., Cotton, 434 F.3d at 1231 (noting that “sexual
harassment” is actionable if it results in either a
tangible employment action or a hostile environ-
ment); Hulsey v. Pride Rests., LLC, 367 F.3d
1238, 1244 (11th Cir. 2004) [17 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C485a] (noting that “sexual harassment” is
actionable if it creates a “hostile or abusive envi-
ronment”). Such a claim arises under the same
Title VII provision as a disparate-treatment claim,
42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1)—the provision that
prohibits discrimination in compensation, terms,
conditions, or privileges of employment.

Third, mistreatment based on retaliation for
protected conduct—for example, making or
supporting a charge of discrimination—is action-
able whether or not the mistreatment rises to the
level of a tangible employment action, but only if
the mistreatment “well might have dissuaded a
reasonable worker from making or supporting a
charge of discrimination.” Burlington Northern,
548 U.S. at 68 (quoting Rochon v. Gonzales, 438
F.3d 1211, 1219 (D.C. Cir. 2006)). Burlington
Northern recognized that this retaliation standard
protects employees more broadly—and is more
easily satisfied—than the standard applicable to
claims of discrimination. See id. at 67. Claims of
this kind—retaliation claims—arise under 42
U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a). In contrast to the disparate-
treatment provision, § 2000e-2(a)(1), the retalia-
tion provision is not limited to discrimination with
respect to compensation, terms, conditions, or
privileges of employment.

In Crawford v. Carroll, 529 F.3d 961 (11th
Cir. 2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C758a], we
recognized that Burlington Northern set out a
different standard for retaliation claims. We said
that under Burlington Northern, “in the context of
a Title VII retaliation claim, a materially adverse
action ‘means it well might have dissuaded a
reasonable worker from making or supporting a
charge of discrimination.’ ” Id. at 974 (quoting
Burlington Northern, 548 U.S. at 68). We applied
the “well might have dissuaded” standard again in
Alvarez v. Royal Atl. Developers, Inc., 610 F.3d
1253, 1268 (11th Cir. 2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C1080a].

Not surprisingly, every other circuit also has
adopted this standard for retaliation claims after
Burlington Northern. See, e.g., Billings v. Town of
Grafton, 515 F.3d 39, 52-53 (1st Cir. 2008);
Kessler v. Westchester Cty. Dep’t of Soc. Servs.,
461 F.3d 199, 207-08 (2d Cir. 2006); Moore v.
City of Phila., 461 F.3d 331, 341 (3d Cir. 2006);
Hoyle v. Freightliner, LLC, 650 F.3d 321, 337
(4th Cir. 2011); Aryain v. Wal-Mart Stores Tex.
LP, 534 F.3d 473, 484 n.9 (5th Cir. 2008); Mi-
chael v. Caterpillar Fin. Servs. Corp., 496 F.3d
584, 593-96 (6th Cir. 2007); Szymanski v. Cty. of
Cook, 468 F.3d 1027, 1029 (7th Cir. 2006); Clegg
v. Ark. Dep’t of Corr., 496 F.3d 922, 928-29 (8th
Cir. 2007); Campbell v. Haw. Dep’t of Educ., 892
F.3d 1005, 1021 (9th Cir. 2018); Williams v. W.D.
Sports, N.M., Inc., 497 F.3d 1079, 1083, 1086-87,
1090 (10th Cir. 2007); Velikonja v. Gonzales, 466

F.3d 122, 124 (D.C. Cir. 2006).

B
That brings us to the outlier. In Gowski v.

Peake, 682 F.3d 1299 (11th Cir. 2012) [23 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C1100a] (per curiam), four plaintiffs
alleged they were subjected to a wide range of
mistreatment at the hospital where they were
employed. Only two of the plaintiffs, both doc-
tors, were involved in the appeal, and we discuss
only their claims.

The doctors alleged they were mistreated in
retaliation for complaining about discrimination
and proceeded to trial. The verdict form sepa-
rately presented claims that the doctors suffered
retaliatory mistreatment that rose to the level of
tangible employment actions, on the one hand,
and retaliatory mistreatment that constituted a
hostile environment, on the other hand. See id. at
1308. The jury resolved the retaliatory-tangible-
adverse-actions claim against the two doctors but
resolved the retaliatory-hostile-environment
claim in their favor. See id. The defendant ap-
pealed, asserting, among other things, that there
was no such thing as a retaliatory-hostile-environ-
ment claim. We had no trouble resolving that
issue in the doctors’ favor. We acknowledged that
our circuit had never so held but that every other
circuit to address the issue had recognized such a
claim. See id. at 1311-12.

That left for decision whether the evidence
was sufficient to support the verdict in the doc-
tors’ favor. We held that it was. Curiously, how-
ever, we began the discussion of this issue by
setting out not the Burlington Northern standard,
and not our unrestricted adoption of that standard
in Crawford, but the standard applied in older
cases. We said that to return a verdict for the
doctors, the jury had to find the mistreatment at
issue was “sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter
the terms and conditions of employment, thus
constituting an adverse employment action.”
Gowski, 682 F.3d at 1312. This “terms and condi-
tions” language came from the wrong statute—§
2000e-2(a)(1) instead of § 2000e-3(a). And we
said this even though we had just cited cases from
other circuits recognizing retaliatory-hostile-
environment claims—and cited those that applied
the “severe or pervasive” standard as having been
“abrogated on other grounds” by Burlington
Northern. See Gowski, 682 F.3d at 1311 (citing
three cases abrogated on other grounds by
Burlington Northern, including, for example,
Jensen v. Potter, 435 F.3d 444, 449 (3d Cir. 2006)
(adopting the “severe or pervasive” standard for a
retaliatory-hostile-environment claim)).

We agree with Ms. Monaghan, and with the
EEOC as amicus curiae, that the articulation of the
retaliation standard in Gowski is inconsistent with
Burlington Northern and Crawford. Our adher-
ence to the prior-panel rule is strict, but when
there are conflicting prior panel decisions, the
oldest one controls. See, e.g., Cohen v. Office
Depot, Inc., 204 F.3d 1069, 1072 (11th Cir.
2000). We now reaffirm that the standard applica-
ble to all Title VII retaliation claims is the
Burlington Northern “well might have dissuaded”
standard, precisely as our pre-Gowski opinion in

Crawford said.

C
The remaining question is whether the evi-

dence, viewed in the light most favorable to Ms.
Monaghan, satisfied Burlington Northern. Under-
standing that the “well might have dissuaded”
standard is contextual, see Burlington Northern,
548 U.S. at 69, we conclude that it did.

According to Ms. Monaghan, at the October 2
meeting Ms. Daniel told her that she had “cut her
own throat,” that she was “fucked,” that she
would be blackballed, and that her days at
Worldpay were numbered. Ms. Daniel also threat-
ened Ms. Monaghan, telling her that she “better
watch it” because Ms. Daniel and her boyfriend
knew where she lived. Ms. Daniel ended the
meeting by pounding her fists on a table and
saying to Ms. Monaghan “[h]ow dare you make
complaints against me.” Around October 20, Ms.
Daniel told Ms. Monaghan that she was training
another person to “take your job,” and again
threatened her: “You better watch it, white girl.”
These statements from a supervisor—which
threatened both termination and possible physical
harm—“well might have dissuaded a reasonable
worker from making or supporting a charge of
discrimination.” See Burlington Northern, 548
U.S. at 70-72 (holding that a jury could reason-
ably find that reassignment to a less prestigious
and more arduous position and a 37-day suspen-
sion without pay were—despite the receipt of
backpay—materially adverse retaliatory actions).

In addition, Worldpay fired Ms. Monaghan.
Termination easily satisfies the “well might have
dissuaded” standard, and a reasonable jury could
find that the termination was retaliatory. First,
when Ms. Monaghan was terminated, Ms.
Hrubala told her that she was being fired for
“complain[ing] and complain[ing].” As noted
earlier, a jury could draw the inference that the
reference to Ms. Monaghan’s “complain[ing]”
was to the complaints about Ms. Daniel. Second,
Ms. Watkins told Ms. Monaghan “I need you to
understand this is for Tammy” when she escorted
her out of the building. This statement, by a
Worldpay executive, is additional evidence
supporting the inference that the termination was
retaliation for Ms. Monaghan’s complaints about
Ms. Daniel.5

IV
We reverse the district court’s grant of sum-

mary judgment on Ms. Monaghan’s Title VII
retaliation claim and remand for a jury trial on that
claim. REVERSED AND REMANDED.
))))))))))))))))))

*The Honorable Robert L. Hinkle, Senior United
States District Judge for the Northern District of Florida,
sitting by designation.

1Ms. Monaghan’s version of events is disputed, and
we do not suggest that the facts summarized here set out
what actually happened. But at the summary judgment
stage, it is Ms. Monaghan’s version that counts.

2Around this time, another Worldpay employee
heard April Watkins, the human resources director, tell
Ms. Daniel that she needed to find a way to make Ms.
Monaghan “disappear.”

3Ms. Hrubula made the decision to fire Ms.
Monaghan, but she consulted with Ms. Watkins and the
executives whom Ms. Monaghan supported. These
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executives were aware of Ms. Monaghan’s complaints
about Ms. Daniel. Given the reasons Ms. Hrubula gave
to Ms. Monaghan for her firing, a reasonable jury could
find that Ms. Hrubula knew of Ms. Monaghan’s com-
plaints from the executives or others.

4Ms. Monaghan does not appeal the grant of sum-
mary judgment on her discrimination claims and
discusses her termination in the context of her retalia-
tion claim. Because all her arguments are focused on the
retaliation claim, that is the only claim we address.

5In closing, we note that Ms. Daniel’s conduct and
the termination are alternative theories of retaliation. So
a jury could find for Ms. Monaghan based on Ms.
Daniel’s conduct even if it concludes that the termina-
tion was not retaliatory.

))))))))))))))))))
(TJOFLAT, Circuit Judge, concurring in part,
dissenting in part.) The District Court gave
Worldpay US, Inc. summary judgment on Susan
Monaghan’s claims that Worldpay retaliated
against her in violation of Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a), 42
U.S.C. § 1981, and the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act (“ADEA”), 29 U.S.C. § 623(d).1

I concur in Court’s decision to reverse the District
Court’s judgment and remand the case for further
proceedings; for genuine issues of material fact
remain to be litigated. I write separately because
I disagree with the Court that our rule barring the
amendment of a complaint in a memorandum
filed in opposition to a motion for summary
judgment precludes us from considering the
retaliation claims the District Court rejected. True,
Monaghan did amend her complaint—specifi-
cally Counts II, III and V—in her memorandum
opposing Worldpay’s motion, but the bar is
inoperative here because Worldpay went along
with the amendment, effectively consenting to it
within the meaning of Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 15(a)(2).2 And the District Court did,
too. It granted Worldpay summary judgment on
the retaliation claims Monaghan presented in her
memorandum. A review of the way in which the
case was litigated makes this clear.

I.
Susan Monaghan’s complaint provided the

background for this litigation, nothing more. The
complaint contained five counts. All were based
on a set of factual allegations that were common
to all counts.3 The counts asserted the following
claims: Count I—“Race Discrimination in Viola-
tion of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964,”
Count II—“Retaliation in Violation of Title VII of
the Civil Rights Act of 1964,” Count III—
“Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981,” Count IV—
“Claims for Relief Under Civil Rights Act of
1991,”4 and Count V—“Violations of the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act, as
Amended.” Counts II through V incorporated by
reference all of the complaint’s factual allegations
and each of the preceding counts, such that Count
V was an amalgamation of all counts.5 To compli-
cate matters further, the count-specific allegations
were mere “legal conclusion[s] couched as . . .
factual allegation[s].” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S.
662, 678, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1950 (2009) [21 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S853a] (internal quotations omit-
ted).6

Worldpay replied to Monaghan’s complaint in

kind, filing an answer with sixteen affirmative
defenses, all but one consisting of one sentence.7

None of the defenses referenced a specific count;
thus, all defenses applied to all counts. After the
parties joined issue in this way, discovery ensued.
When it concluded, Worldpay moved the District
Court for a summary judgment on all of
Monaghan’s claims. The motion referred to her
claims collectively: that “her employment was
terminated on the basis of her age and race (Cau-
casian); that she was subjected to a hostile work
environment on the basis of her age and race; and,
that she was subjected to retaliation for allegedly
reporting age and race discrimination.”8

In her response memorandum (“Opposition
Memorandum”), Monaghan stated that she was
“not moving forward on her claims of a hostile
work environment.” Instead, she was moving
forward on her claims of retaliation under “42
U.S.C. § 1981, Title VII and the ADEA.”
Monaghan was presenting two claims of retalia-
tion. First, Worldpay retaliated against her for
engaging in protected activity, for complaining of
“Daniel’s racist and ageist statements to the
executives she worked for.” And second, Daniel,
and thus Worldpay, retaliated against her in two
ways: (1) by telling her that “she ‘cut her own
throat,’ was blackballed and ‘f-ed’ and her days
‘were numbered because [she] was too old to ‘fit
in’ the office,” and (2) with “thinly veiled threats
of bodily harm, telling [her repeatedly] ‘to watch
it’ because her boyfriend knew where [she] lived
[and] had money.”

In its reply brief, Worldpay argued that any
retaliation claim based on Daniel’s conduct was
not properly before the District Court because
Monaghan had not presented it in her complaint
(and had not obtained leave to amend it pursuant
to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a)(2)).
According to Worldpay, “[t]he only retaliation
claim alleged in the Complaint is based on the
termination of Plaintiff’s employment.”

The Magistrate Judge to whom the case had
been referred took Worldpay’s motion for sum-
mary judgment under advisement. In her Report
and Recommendation (“R&R”) on the motion,
the Magistrate Judge explained Monaghan’s two
theories of retaliation as the Magistrate Judge
understood them: Worldpay retaliated against
Monaghan (1) when it terminated her employ-
ment because of her protected activity, and (2)
when Daniel, in her supervisory capacity over
Monaghan, created a hostile work environment.9

The Magistrate Judge did not address Worldpay’s
argument that the second retaliation theory was
not properly before the District Court. Instead, the
Magistrate Judge assumed that it was. She de-
scribed Monaghan’s second theory of retaliation
(as explained in Monaghan’s Opposition Memo-
randum) as follows:

In this case, Plaintiff asserts that during a
period of approximately a month between
Plaintiff’s first purported complaints of dis-
crimination and Daniel’s discharge, Daniel
retaliated against her by (1) threatening to
terminate her employment; (2) issuing “thinly
veiled threats of bodily harm” when Daniel
said to “watch it” and said she and her boy-

friend knew where Plaintiff lived; and (3)
grooming O’Neal as Plaintiff’s replacement.10

The Magistrate Judge conceptualized the
second theory of retaliation as a “retaliatory
hostile work environment claim,” citing our
decision in Gowski v. Peake, 682 F.3d 1299, 1312
(11th Cir. 2012) [23 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1100a], as her authority. To prevail on such
claim, the employee must establish that (1) she
engaged in statutorily protected activity, (2) after
doing so, was subjected to harassment that was (3)
caused by her protected activity, and the harass-
ment (4) was sufficiently severe or pervasive to
alter the terms of her employment. The Magistrate
Judge found that Daniel’s “threats to terminate”
Monaghan’s employment or “replace” her with
O’Neal “d[id] not amount to a sufficiently mate-
rial adverse action to constitute retaliation.” Nor
did Daniel’s implied threats to her physical safety
meet the threshold. The threats were not
“ ‘extremely serious’ enough without a tangible
employment action to amount to a material
change in the terms and conditions of employ-
ment.” Monaghan’s retaliatory hostile work
environment claim accordingly failed.

Turning to Monaghan’s retaliatory termina-
tion claim, the Magistrate Judge acknowledged
the existence in the record of evidence that
Monaghan “was terminated for her purported
complaints about race and/or age-based discrimi-
nation” and that such evidence amounted to
“circumstantial evidence of improper retaliatory
intent under Title VII and/or the ADEA.” But that
was not enough to make out a claim of retaliatory
termination. Monaghan failed to introduce evi-
dence that the decisionmaker, Ruth Hrubala, who
had replaced Daniel as her supervisor on Novem-
ber 3, 2014, “knew about the substantive contents
of [her] complaints.” Worldpay had presented
“uncontradicted evidence” that the decisionmaker
was unaware that Monaghan had engaged in
protected activity. The Magistrate Judge therefore
found that Monaghan’s retaliatory termination
claim also failed.

Monaghan objected to the Magistrate Judge’s
R&R on several grounds, including those relevant
to her claim that Worldpay terminated her em-
ployment because she complained of race and age
discrimination and to her claim (presented in her
Opposition Memorandum) that Worldpay retali-
ated against her based on Daniel’s conduct.11

Regarding the retaliatory termination claim,
Monaghan took issue with the Magistrate Judge’s
position that Hrubala, as the decisionmaker, was
unaware that Monaghan had engaged in protected
activity. In Monaghan’s mind, Hrubala was not
the decisionmaker. All she did was make a “rec-
ommendation” to the HR department, which
consulted with the ELTs, all of whom were aware
of the complaints of discrimination Monaghan
had made and determined whether Monaghan
should be discharged.

Regarding the retaliation claim based on
Daniel’s conduct, Monaghan contended that the
Magistrate Judge erroneously treated her claim as
a “hostile work environment” claim under Gowski
rather than a retaliation claim under Burlington N.
& Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White, and the standard it
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established: Whether the retaliatory conduct
“could well dissuade a reasonable worker from
making or supporting a charge of discrimination.”
548 U.S. 53, 57, 126 S. Ct. 2405, 2409 (2006) [19
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S326a].

The District Court overruled Monaghan’s
objections to the Magistrate Judge’ R&R and
adopted the R&R as the opinion of the Court.
Referring to the Magistrate Judge’s treatment of
the claim presented in Monaghan’s Opposition
Memorandum—retaliation by Worldpay based
on Daniel’s conduct—the Court reframed the
claim as a retaliatory harassment claim and re-
jected it. It did so because, as it read the record,
Worldpay’s conduct did not alter the terms or
conditions of Monaghan’s employment.

II.
This is the way the case was litigated in the

District Court. At the end of the day, the question
for the District Court was pure and simple:
whether the evidence adduced during discovery
was sufficient to create a material issue of fact on
claims of retaliation asserted under Title VII, 42
U.S.C. §1981, and the ADEA. Like the Magis-
trate Judge’s R&R, the District Court’s
dispositive order is silent as to where in
Monaghan’s complaint these claims were al-
leged—other than to imply that the claims were
presented in the counts brought under those three
statutes. It was sufficient that Monaghan fleshed
them out in her Opposition Memorandum. I
submit that, on remand, the District Court’s task is
to treat this case as presenting claims of retaliation
under Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a), 42
U.S.C. § 1981,12 and the ADEA, 29 U.S.C. §
623(d).

*    *    *
In this case, the plaintiff alleged claims under

Title VII in Count II, under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 in
Count III, and under the ADEA in Count V. Only
one of the counts, Count II, contained a claim of
retaliation; Monaghan was fired “because of
protected activity.” Count II said nothing about
retaliation based on Daniel’s conduct. Counts III
and V alleged that Monaghan was subjected to
“different terms and conditions of employment”
due to race (Count III) and age (Count V), but said
nothing about retaliation for engaging in pro-
tected activity.13 What Monaghan did with her
Opposition Memorandum was to insert facts
discovery established into Counts II, III and V and
thus create new claims of retaliation. Count II now
included (in addition to the retaliatory discharge
claim) a claim that Daniel, acting for Worldpay,
retaliated against Monaghan because she had
complained of her conduct. Count III then repli-
cated Count II’s dual claims of retaliation. Like-
wise Count V. These are the counts the District
Court adjudicated. It did so, albeit tacitly, after
augmenting Counts II, III and V with facts the
parties’ discovery disclosed and thus expanding
the claims they asserted.

The tactic of filing a complaint consisting of
claims pled like the claims here, with labels identi-
fying the legal theories on which the claims were
based and conclusory statements to support them,
are commonplace in the Eleventh Circuit, espe-
cially in employment discrimination cases. The

tactic bears fruit when, as here, the defendant
foregoes a motion to dismiss or for a more definite
statement and, treating the complaint as legally
sufficient,14 responds to it in kind. The com-
plaint’s claims, though legally insufficient as
pled, become sufficient after the defendant moves
for summary judgment. At this point, the plaintiff
buttresses her claims in a memorandum in opposi-
tion to the defendant’s motion. In fact, the more
nebulous and insufficient the complaint the
greater the potential for presenting claims beyond
the contours of its allegations. The memorandum
is likely to be the defendant’s first notice of what
the plaintiff is actually contending. That was the
situation here. But the defendant could hardly
complain. After all, by foregoing a challenge to
the complaint’s sufficiency at the outset, the
defendant practically invites the scenario that
develops.

It goes without saying that the manner in
which this case was litigated hardly comports with
the litigation model the framers of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure created. The complaint
and answer the parties filed here should not have
been permitted to go forward. The pleadings did
little, if anything, more than to notify the District
Court of a legal dispute in Worldpay’s workplace.
The District Court should have required the
plaintiff to replead her complaint without waiting
for the defendant to respond. As we stated in
Byrne v. Nezhat, 261 F.3d 1075, 1133 (11th Cir.
2001) [14 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1100a], the
“district court must intervene . . . and order a
repleading . . . even if the defendant does not
move for a more definite statement.”15

))))))))))))))))))
1“Plaintiff generally maintains . . . that Defendant is

liable for retaliation . . . under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, Title
VII, and the ADEA.” The District Court made this
statement in reviewing Monaghan’s objections to the
Magistrate Judge’s Report and Recommendation
(“R&R”), which recommended that the District Court
grant Worldpay’s motion for summary judgment on
those retaliation claims.

2Rule 15(a)(2) provides that after the defendant has
filed a responsive pleading, a complaint can be amended
“only with the opposing party’s written consent or the
court’s leave.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2).

3For convenience, and to put my remarks in context,
I have made the complaint an appendix to this opinion.

4Although Count IV did not cite the United States
Code for the relevant provision of the Act, I assume that
Monaghan was referring to 42 U.S.C. § 1981(a),
“Damages in cases of intentional discrimination in
employment,” which states, in pertinent part:

(a) Right of recovery
(1) Civil rights
In an action brought by a complaining party under
section 706 or 717 of the Civil Rights Act of 1964
against a respondent who engaged in unlawful
intentional discrimination (not an employment
practice that is unlawful because of its disparate
impact) prohibited under section 703, 704, or 717 of
the Act, and provided that the complaining party
cannot recover under section 1981 of this title, the
complaining party may recover compensatory and
punitive damages as allowed in subsection (b), in
addition to any relief authorized by section 706(g)
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, from the respon-
dent.
. . . .
(b) Compensatory and punitive damages

(1) Determination of punitive damages
A complaining party may recover punitive damages
under this section against a respondent (other than
a government, government agency or political
subdivision) if the complaining party demonstrates
that the respondent engaged in a discriminatory
practice or discriminatory practices with malice or
with reckless indifference to the federally protected
rights of an aggrieved individual.
(2) Exclusions from compensatory damages Com-
pensatory damages awarded under this section shall
not include backpay, interest on backpay, or any
other type of relief authorized under section 706(g)
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.

Count IV was not an independent claim. Rather, if
Monaghan prevailed on her Count III claim brought
under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, she might be able to recover
punitive damages under § 1981a(b).

5This is classic “shotgun” pleading. See Weiland v.
Palm Beach Cty. Sheriff’s Office, 792 F.3d 1313, 1320-
23 (11th Cir. 2015) [25 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1366a]
(explaining shotgun pleadings). In responding to a
multiple-count complaint like the one Monaghan filed,
the defendant is unable to determine which factual
allegations pertain to which count, and to the extent the
counts are fused together, to determine the elements of
the fused claim. So, as here, the defendant, rather than
undertaking such determinations, simply replies to the
complaint in kind with a bevy of one-sentence affirma-
tive defenses that apply indiscriminately to all counts.

6Due to its shotgun nature and conclusory allega-
tions, Monaghan’s complaint failed to comply with the
requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a), as interpreted by
the Supreme Court in Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678, 129 S. Ct.
at 1949 (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S.
544, 570, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1974 (2007) [20 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S267a], by “ ‘stat[ing] a claim for relief
that is plausible on its face.’ ” Had Worldpay moved the
District Court to dismiss the complaint or to require a
more definite statement, see Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) and
12(e), the Court would have granted its motion. But
Worldpay did not move the Court to do that. Although
its first affirmative defense alleged that the complaint
failed to state a claim for relief, the Magistrate Judge to
whom the case was referred, and thus the District Court,
could not consider the defense because Worldpay did
not present it to the Court for disposition pursuant to a
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c) motion for judgment on the plead-
ings.

7Several affirmative defenses—the second, third,
fourth, fifth, seventh, eight, eleventh, fourteenth, and
sixteenth—were nothing but bald conclusions that in
the context of this case were incomprehensible. For
example, the Complaint alleged that Worldpay “pur-
ports to provide a legitimate non-discriminatory reason
for the adverse action, [but] this reason is . . . pre-tex-
tual.” The Complaint didn’t reveal the reason.
Worldpay’s answer alleged that it had “legitimate non-
discriminatory reasons for its actions,” but failed to
reveal the reasons. The seventh affirmative defense
alleged that “all actions . . . Worldpay [took] . . . were for
legitimate, non-discriminatory and non-retaliatory
business reasons and factors,” but it once again failed to
say what those reasons were. The sixteenth defense
alleged that “Plaintiff’s claims may be barred in whole
or in part on the doctrines of laches, waiver, estoppel, or
unclean hands,” but failed to indicate the basis for the
doctrines’ applications.

8Worldpay’s description of Monaghan’s claims did
not square with what the complaint alleged. The com-
plaint contained no allegation that Monaghan’s employ-
ment was “terminated on the basis of her age and race.”
Nor did it contain the words “hostile work environ-
ment.”

9As the Magistrate Judge expressed it in her R&R to
the District Court, “[i]n this case, Plaintiff asserts that
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she was retaliated against for complaining about Dan-
iel’s alleged discriminatory comments and/or conduct
(1) when Daniel created a hostile work environment for
Plaintiff while Daniel was still employed by Worldpay
and (2) when Plaintiff was discharged.”

10This paraphrases what Monaghan stated in her
Opposition Memorandum.

11Worldpay made no objection to the R&R. It
therefore waived its argument that the Magistrate Judge
erred in considering the claim Monaghan asserted for
the first time in her Opposition Memorandum.

12The substantive standard governing retaliation
claims brought under Title VII and § 1981 is the same in
this Circuit. See Goldsmith v. Bagby Elevator Co., 513
F.3d 1261, 1277 (11th Cir. 2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C316a] (“To establish a claim of retaliation under
Title VII or section 1981, a plaintiff must prove that he
engaged in statutorily protected activity, he suffered a
materially adverse action, and there was some causal
relation between the two events.”). However, § 1981, by
its statutory language, only applies to claims premised
on racial discrimination. See 42 U.S.C. § 1981(a) (“All
persons within the jurisdiction of the United States shall
have the same right[s] . . . as [are] enjoyed by white
citizens”).

13The word “retaliation” appeared in the final
sentence of Count III as one of the conditions of em-
ployment, not as an act precipitated by protected com-
plaints of discrimination.

14In theory, the defendant treats the complaint as
legally sufficient even though it asserts as an affirmative
defense that the complaint fails to state a claim for relief.
I say this because the defendant never presents the
defense to the district court for adjudication in a motion
for judgment on the pleadings.

15This is in keeping with the district court’s “power
and duty to define the issues at the earliest stage of
litigation.” Johnson Enters. of Jacksonville v. FPL
Grp., Inc., 162 F.3d 1290, 1333 (11th Cir. 1998).
Congress has enforced a similar policy in cases in which
“a prisoner seeks redress from a governmental entity” in
a civil action brought in district court. 28 U.S.C. §
1915A. A district court “shall . . . dismiss the [pris-
oner’s] complaint . . . , if the complaint . . . fails to state
a claim upon which relief may be granted.” Id. (empha-
sis added).

))))))))))))))))))
APPENDIX

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
COMES NOW, Plaintiff Susan Monaghan

(“Plaintiff”), by and through the undersigned
counsel, and files this, her Complaint for Dam-
ages, respectfully showing the Court as follows:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1.
Plaintiff invokes the jurisdiction of this court

pursuant to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of
1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e (“Title
VII”), 42 U.S.C. § 1981, Civil Rights Act of 1991,
and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act
of 1967, as amended (“ADEA”). This Court has
jurisdiction of this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§§ 1331 and 1343, 42 U.S.C. § 12117, 42 U.S.C.
§ 2000e-5(f), and 29 U.S.C. § 2617(2)(a).

2.
Defendant WorldPay US, Inc. (“Defendant”

or “WorldPay”) does business in this judicial
district. Additionally, the unlawful employment
practices alleged in this Complaint were commit-
ted within this District.

PARTIES

3.
Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States of Amer-

ica, and is subject to the jurisdiction of this Court.

4.
Defendant WorldPay US, Inc. (“Defendant” or
“WorldPay”) is qualified and licensed to do
business in Georgia, and at all times material
hereto has conducted business within this District.

5.
Defendant can be served through their Registered
Agent of record, Corporation Service Company,
40 Technology Parkway South, Suite 300,
Norcross, GA 30092.

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES

6.
Plaintiff has fulfilled all conditions necessary to
proceed with this cause of action under Title VII.
Plaintiff filed a charge of discrimination with the
EEOC on March 24, 2015; the EEOC issued its
Notice of Right to Sue on February 17, 2016.

7.
Plaintiff timely files this action within ninety (90)
days of receipt of the Notice of Right to Sue from
the EEOC.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

8.
Defendant is now, and at all times relevant hereto,
has been an employer engaged in an industry
affecting commerce within the meaning of
§701(b), (g) and (h) of Title VII and has employed
more than the requisite number of persons for the
requisite duration under Title VII.

9.
Defendant hired Plaintiff on or about September
2, 2014, as an Executive Assistant to the CIO,
CTO, and SVP.

10.
Plaintiff’s direct supervisor, Tammi Daniel, began
to subject Plaintiff to race-based discrimination
almost immediately after Plaintiff started working
for Defendant.

11.
For example, Ms. Daniel told Plaintiff that she
needed a “suntan” in order to sit in their office.

12.
Ms. Daniel’s expressed to Plaintiff that she did not
have the time to train her, but then allowed a
temporary employee that began a week after
Plaintiff to shadow her.

13.
Plaintiff complained to Bernie McGarrigle, CIO
for Defendant, on or about September 9, 2014,
about Ms. Daniel’s race-based comment and
resistance to help Plaintiff.

14.
Following Plaintiff’s complaint to Mr.
McGarrigle, Ms. Daniel continued to harass and
threaten Plaintiff.

15.
For example, Ms. Daniel told Plaintiff that she
was not a fit for the office because she had com-
plained.

16.
Ms. Daniel also told Plaintiff that she was “too
old” to fit in at the office.

17.
Ms. Daniel also forbade Plaintiff from speaking to
any other ELT member about anything other than
for a specific task Plaintiff was performing,
thereby making it more difficult for Plaintiff to
successfully do her job.

18.
Ms. Daniel also told Plaintiff that she was “black-
balled” and asked if Plaintiff had “enough sense”
to understand what that phrase meant.

19.
Ms. Daniel also told Plaintiff that Plaintiff’s days
working for Defendant were numbered.

20.
Ms. Daniel told Plaintiff that April Watkins, the
Chief Human Resources Officer at the time, was
her boss and close friend, so Plaintiff was f****d.

21.
Ms. Daniel also threatened Plaintiff, stating that
she and her boyfriend knew where Plaintiff lived.

22.
On or about October 6, 2014, Plaintiff approached
Mr. McGarrigle for a second time in an attempt to
report the discrimination and harassment by Ms.
Daniel.

23.
Plaintiff told Mr. McGarrigle that she had pre-
pared an email that she wanted to send to him.

24.
Mr. McGarrigle’s response was that if it was
about Ms. Daniel, then he did not want to hear
anything else, and to not send him an email that
was “inappropriate.”

25.
After Mr. McGarrigle refused to hear Plaintiff out,
Plaintiff printed the complaint and asked Steve
Karp, the SVP of Products, to look it at.

26.
After reading Plaintiff’s complaint, Mr. Karp
stated “don’t send this to me. I don’t want to
know.”

27.
Plaintiff expressed her frustration to Mr. Karp and
told him that she had been threatened by Ms.
Daniel, to which Mr. Karp replied “I don’t want to
hear it, it’s too much.”

28.
Approximately two weeks after Plaintiff’s second
complaint, Plaintiff was notified that Ms. Daniel
would be leaving the company.

29.
The same week Plaintiff came home to find the
glass in her front door shattered.

30.
Ms. Daniel was permitted to work for a few
additional weeks in order to train her replacement,
during which time she continued to torment
Plaintiff.

31.
Instead of taking action to ensure that the harass-
ment and discrimination of Plaintiff ceased,
Defendant allowed Ms. Daniel to continue to
target Plaintiff.
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32.
In November 2014, Plaintiff’s car was tampered
with.

33.
On November 21, 2014, Plaintiff was terminated.

34.
Chief Human Resource Office April Watkins told
Plaintiff that Plaintiff was being terminated be-
cause of her complaints of discrimination.

35.
Others outside the Plaintiff’s protected class were
treated differently.

36.
Although Defendant purports to provide a legiti-
mate non-discriminatory reason for the adverse
action, this reason is a pre-textual in nature.

37.
Defendant fired Plaintiff because of her protected
activity, ie., complaining about being harassed
and discriminated against on the basis of her race
and age.

COUNT I: RACE DISCRIMINATION
IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII

OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964

38.
Plaintiff re-alleges the preceding paragraphs as if
set forth fully herein.

39.
Defendant’s actions in subjecting Plaintiff to
different terms and conditions of employment
constitutes unlawful discrimination and retalia-
tion on the basis of her race in violation of Title
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended,
42 U.S.C. 2000e et seq. and 42 U.S.C. section
1981A.

40.
Defendant has willfully and wantonly disregarded
Plaintiff’s rights, and its discrimination against
Plaintiff was undertaken in bad faith.

41.
The effect of the conduct complained of herein
has been to deprive Plaintiff of equal employment
opportunity, and has otherwise adversely affected
her status as an employee because of her race.

42.
Accordingly, Defendant is liable for the damages
Plaintiff has sustained as a result of Defendant’s
unlawful discrimination

COUNT II: RETALIATION
IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII

OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964

43.
Plaintiff re-alleges the preceding paragraphs as if
set forth fully herein.

44.
Defendant’s actions, as detailed above, in termi-
nating Plaintiff because of her protected activity
constitutes unlawful intentional retaluation in
violation of Title VII.

45.
Defendant willfully and wantonly disregarded
Plaintiff’s rights, and Defendant’s retaliation
against Plaintiff was untertaken in bad faith.

46.
Accordingly, Defendant is liable for the damages
Plaintiff has sustained as a result of Defendant’s
unlawful retaliation.

CLAIM III: VIOLATION OF
42 U.S.C. § 1981

47.
Plaintiff re-alleges the preceding paragraphs as if
set forth fully herein.

48.
Defendant’s actions in subjecting Plaintiff to
different terms and conditions of employment
constitutes unlawful discrimination on the basis
of race in violation of 42 U.S.C. section 1981.

49.
The effect of the conduct was to deprive Plaintiff
of economic opportunites, and otherwise ad-
versely effected Plaintiff’s status as an employee,
because of his race.

50.
As a direct and proximate result of these actions,
Plaintiff has been made a victim of acts that
adversely affected his psychological and physical
well being.

51.
As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s
unlawful employment practices, Plaintiff has been
embarrassed, humiliated and has suffered damage
to his emotional health, and has lost back pay and
front pay.

52.
Defendant has willfully and wantonly disregarded
Plaintiff’s rights, and Defendant’s discrimination
against Plaintiff was undertaken in bad faith.

53.
Accordingly, Defendant is liable for the damages
Plaintiff has sustained as a result of Defendant’s
unlawful retaliation.

COUNT IV: CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
UNDER CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1991

54.
Plaintiff re-alleges the preceding paragraphs as if
set forth fully herein.

55.
Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff, and in
failing and refusing to take any appropriate reme-
dial action to remedy the unlawful employment
practices has not only deprived Plaintiff of equal
employment opportunities, but has exhibited
malice or reckless indifference to the federally
protected rights of Plaintiff.

56.
Plaintiff thus seeks compensatory and punitive
damages pursuant to §102(a)(1) of the Civil
Rights Act of 1991.

COUNT V: VIOLATIONS OF THE
AGE DISCRIMINATION IN

EMPLOYMENT ACT, AS AMENDED

57.
Plaintiff re-alleges the preceding paragraphs as if
set forth fully herein.

58.
Defendant’s actions in subjecting Plaintiff to

different terms and conditions of employment
constitutes unlawful discrimination on the basis
of her age in violation of ADEA, as amended.

59.
Defendant has willfully and wantonly disregarded
Plaintiff’s rights, and Defendant’s discrimination
against Plaintiff was undertaken in bad faith.

60.
The effect of the conduct complained of herein
has been to deprive Plaintiff of equal employment
opportunity, and has otherwise adversely affected
her status as an employee because of her age.

61.
As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s
violation of the ADEA, Plaintiff has lost wages
and benefits.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests
that this Court enter judgment as follows:

(a) General damages for mental and emotional
suffering caused by Defendant’s misconduct;

(b) Punitive damages based on Defendant’s
willful, malicious, intentional, and deliberate acts,
including ratification, condonation and approval
of said acts;

(c) Special damages and/or liquidated dam-
ages for lost wages and benefits and prejudgment
interest thereon;

(d) Reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses of
litigation;

(e) Trial by jury as to all issues;
(f) Prejudgment interest at the rate allowed by

law;
(g) Declaratory relief to the effect that Defen-

dant WorldPay, Inc. has violated Plaintiff’s
statutory rights;

(h) Injunctive relief of reinstatement, or front
pay in lieu thereof, and prohibiting Defendant
WorldPay, Inc. from further unlawful conduct of
the type described herein; and,

(i) All other relief to which Plaintiff may be
entitled.

Respectfully submitted this 9th day of March,
2016.

*        *        *

Criminal law—Search and seizure—Motel
room
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff-Appellee, v.
WALI EBBIN RASHEE ROSS, a.k.a. Wali Ibn Ross, a.k.a.
Wal Ebbin Rashee Ross, Defendant-Appellant. 11th Circuit.
Case No. 18-11679. March 23, 2020. Appeal from the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Florida (No. 3:17-cr-
00086-MCR-1).

(Before ED CARNES, Chief Judge, WILSON,
WILLIAM PRYOR, MARTIN, JORDAN,
ROSENBAUM, JILL PRYOR, NEWSOM,
BRANCH, GRANT, LUCK and LAGOA, Cir-
cuit Judges.)

[Original Opinion at 28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C522a]

BY THE COURT:
A petition for rehearing en banc having been

filed, a member of this Court in active service
having requested a poll on whether this case
should be reheard en banc, and a majority of the
judges of this Court in active service having voted
in favor of granting rehearing en banc, it is OR-
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DERED that this case will be reheard en banc.
The panel’s opinion is VACATED.

*        *        *

Criminal law—Habeas corpus—Counsel—
Ineffectiveness—Sentencing phase of capital
trial—Deference to state court ruling
FREDERICK R. WHATLEY, Petitioner-Appellee Cross
Appellant, v. WARDEN, GEORGIA DIAGNOSTIC AND
CLASSIFICATION CENTER, Respondent-Appellant Cross
Appellee. 11th Circuit. Case No. 13-12034. April 10, 2020.
Appeals from the U.S. District Court for the Northern District
of Georgia (No. 3:09-cv-00074-WSD).

(Before ED CARNES, Chief Judge, WILSON,
WILLIAM PRYOR, MARTIN, JORDAN,
ROSENBAUM, JILL PRYOR, NEWSOM,
BRANCH, GRANT, LUCK, and LAGOA,
Circuit Judges.)

[Original Opinion at 27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C2075a]

BY THE COURT:
A petition for rehearing having been filed and

a member of this Court in active service having
requested a poll on whether this case should be
reheard by the Court sitting en banc, and a major-
ity of the judges in active service on this Court
having voted against granting a rehearing en banc,
it is ORDERED that this case will not be reheard
en banc.
))))))))))))))))))
(MARTIN, Circuit Judge, dissenting from the
denial of rehearing en banc.) Frederick R.
Whatley is a prisoner on death row in Georgia. A
panel of the court denied his federal habeas peti-
tion. Whatley v. Warden, 927 F.3d 1150 (11th Cir.
2019) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C2075a]. I asked
the full court to rehear Mr. Whatley’s case en
banc, because I believe the panel opinion applied
the wrong legal standard in deciding whether,
under 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d),1 to defer to the Geor-
gia Supreme Court’s denial of Mr. Whatley’s
claim that his counsel was ineffective during the
penalty phase of his trial. This court is bound by
the rule pronounced by the Supreme Court in
Wilson v. Sellers, 584 U.S. ___, 138 S. Ct. 1188
(2018) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S183b], as well as
our own precedent in Meders v. Warden, 911 F.3d
1335 (11th Cir. 2019) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1617a]. This precedent requires our court to
review “the specific reasons given by the state
court” for denying the petitioner’s claim “and
defer[ ] to those reasons if they are reasonable.”
Wilson, 138 S. Ct. at 1192; see also Meders, 911
F.3d at 1349. The panel’s analysis in Whatley
conflicts with this precedent by suggesting that
federal courts may look beyond the reasons a state
court gives for denying habeas relief. See 927
F.3d at 1182. I believe this court should hear this
case en banc, in order to fix the panel’s departure
from established law, and make clear the standard
for assessing the reasonableness of a state court’s
rationale, which limits us to the specific reasons
given by the court. I dissent from the court’s
decision to let the Whatley panel opinion stand.

Whatley begins by correctly articulating the §
2254(d) analysis:

When a district court reviews a state court’s
decision under AEDPA, it must first consider
the claim as it was presented to the state court.

Next, it considers the state court’s decision. If
the state court applied the correct Supreme
Court precedent . . . the district court decides
whether the state court applied the Supreme
Court precedent unreasonably. The district
court also considers whether the state court’s
decision was based on an unreasonable deter-
mination of the facts.

Whatley, 927 F.3d at 1181 (citations omitted).
However, at three points in its analysis, the
Whatley opinion suggests that the actual reasons
a state court gives for denying habeas relief play a
minimal role in the federal habeas court’s decision
to defer to the state court’s ruling. First, Whatley
says “under [§ 2254(d)], we’re most concerned
with the reviewing [state] court’s ultimate conclu-
sion, not the quality of its written opinion.” Id. at
1177 (quotation marks omitted). It continues by
saying “our review is not limited to the reasons the
[state] Court gave in its analysis.” Id. at 1178.
Third, it says “we are not limited to the reasons the
[state] Court gave and instead focus on its ulti-
mate conclusion.” Id. at 1182 (quotation marks
omitted). The Whatley opinion concludes its
recitation of the legal standard by saying this
Court “must ‘determine what arguments or theo-
ries could have supported the state court’s deci-
sion.’ ” Id. (first emphasis added and alteration
adopted) (quoting Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S.
86, 102, 131 S. Ct. 770, 786 (2011) [22 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S753a]).

These statements conflict with precedent that
binds federal judges in deciding the extent to
which we defer to a state court’s decision during
our review of those decisions on federal habeas
review. See 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d). The Supreme
Court set the rule that must govern our § 2254(d)
deference analysis in Wilson v. Sellers, 138 S. Ct.
1188, and this Court applied that rule in Meders v.
Warden, 911 F.3d 1335. Neither Wilson nor
Meders is cited anywhere in the Whatley opinion.

Section 2254(d) bars federal courts from
issuing a writ of habeas corpus to a state prisoner
on any claim adjudicated on the merits in state
court unless the state court’s decision “was con-
trary to, or involved an unreasonable application
of, clearly established Federal law, as determined
by the Supreme Court of the United States” or
“was based on an unreasonable determination of
the facts in light of the evidence presented in the
State court proceeding.” 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d).
Section 2254(d) sets a high (although not insur-
mountable) bar. Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362,
402-13, 120 S. Ct. 1495, 1518-23 (2000). Where
the last state court to address the prisoner’s claims
issued a reasoned decision, the Supreme Court
tells us that the deference analysis is a “straight-
forward inquiry.” Wilson, 138 S. Ct. at 1192. We
are to “simply review[ ] the specific reasons given
by the state court and defer[ ] to those reasons if
they are reasonable.” Id. “Deciding whether a
state court’s decision involved an unreasonable
application of federal law or was based on an
unreasonable determination of fact requires the
federal habeas court to train its attention on the
particular reasons—both legal and factual—why
the state courts rejected a state prisoner’s federal

claims.” Id. at 1191-92 (quotation marks omitted).
The deference analysis set forth in Whatley

cannot be squared with the Supreme Court’s rule
stated in Wilson. Indeed, Whatley makes no effort
to square them. Yet, Wilson made clear that it is
not proper for federal judges to try and come up
with any rationale that could have supported the
state court’s decision. Instead, we must defer to
the specific reasons given by the state court, so we
must, in turn, focus on the particular reasons the
state court gave.

I recognize that Wilson was decided in a
different procedural posture than that presented
by Mr. Whatley’s case.2 But that does not change
Wilson’s mandate that our court’s decision about
whether to give AEPDA deference to a state court
ruling must be based on the reasons the state court
gave, as opposed to whatever reason a federal
court can come up with.

The Whatley opinion also ignores this Court’s
precedent that reinforces the Wilson analysis.
Since Wilson, this court has consistently looked to
the specific reasons the last reasoned state-court
decision gave and examined whether those rea-
sons merit AEDPA deference. See, e.g., Meders,
911 F.3d at 1349 (“Deciding whether a state
court’s decision involved an unreasonable appli-
cation of federal law requires the federal habeas
court to train its attention on the particular
reasons—both legal and factual—why state
courts rejected a state prisoner’s federal claims,
and to give appropriate deference to that deci-
sion.” (citation omitted and alteration adopted));
see also Hawthorne v. Sec’y, Dep’t of Corr., 786
F. App’x 896, 899 (11th Cir. 2019) (per curiam)
(unpublished) (“Wilson informs our analysis.”);
Junes v. Fla. Dep’t of Corr., 778 F. App’x 639,
641 (11th Cir. 2019) (per curiam) (unpublished)
(“The district court must consider the particular
factual and legal reasons that the state court re-
jected the prisoner’s federal claims.”); Johnson v.
Sec’y, Dep’t of Corr., 737 F. App’x 438, 441
(11th Cir. 2018) (per curiam) (unpublished)
(explaining standard set forth in Wilson v. Sell-
ers). Our prior precedent rule required the
Whatley panel to follow Meders. See United
States v. Archer, 531 F.3d 1347, 1352 (11th Cir.
2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C829b] (“[A] prior
panel’s holding is binding on all subsequent
panels unless and until it is overruled or under-
mined to the point of abrogation by the Supreme
Court or by this court sitting en banc.”). But it did
not.

I agree with the Whatley opinion when it says
the Georgia Supreme Court did not have to walk
through every step of a “hypothetical retrial” of
Mr. Whatley’s penalty phase. Whatley, 927 F.3d
at 1182. It is not my purpose to suggest the Geor-
gia court must take this walk. I know that Wilson
does not mean that federal judges must (or even
may) “flyspeck” the state court decision. Meders,
911 F.3d at 1349. But it does mean that “we are to
focus not merely on the bottom line ruling of the
decision but on the reasons, if any, given for it.”
Id. The Whatley majority said it was not required
to do as Meders instructs. Thus, it promotes an
incorrect statement of law.

The Whatley majority looks mainly to Har-
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rington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 131 S. Ct. 770
(2011) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S753a], and Gill
v. Mecusker, 633 F.3d 1272 (11th Cir. 2011) [22
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1799a]. See 927 F.3d at
1182. But Richter never advocates that federal
judges look only to the state court’s resolution of
the case, as opposed to its reasoning. In Richter,
the Supreme Court held that AEDPA deference
applies even when the state court gives no reasons
for its decision. 562 U.S. at 98, 131 S. Ct. at 784
(“Where a state court’s decision is unaccompa-
nied by an explanation, the habeas petitioner’s
burden still must be met by showing there was no
reasonable basis for the state court to deny re-
lief.”). Nevertheless, Richter does not tell us to
look beyond the reasons the state court actually
gave. Nor does it license federal judges to invent
any reason that could support the state court’s
resolution of the case. Rather, it established a
presumption that a state court adjudicated a claim
on the merits when it gives no other reason for its
decision. Id. at 98-99, 131 S. Ct. at 784-85. Rich-
ter recognized that this “presumption may be
overcome when there is reason to think some
other explanation for the state court’s decision is
more likely.” Id. at 99-100, 131 S. Ct. at 785
(citing Ylst v. Nunnemaker, 501 U.S. 797, 803,
111 S. Ct. 2590, 2594 (1991)). In Wilson, the
Court reiterated that this presumption is overcome
where an earlier state court decision sets forth
reasons. 138 S. Ct. at 1195-96. Wilson told us we
must presume the unexplained state court decision
relied on the same rationale as the last reasoned
opinion, absent some reason to think otherwise.
Id. And it told us to look to the reasons the state
court gave, not those we think up ourselves. Id.
Finally, if it is true that Gill reads Richter as
requiring us to focus on the state court’s conclu-
sion to the exclusion of its rationale, see Gill, 633
F.3d at 1290-91, then Gill has been “undermined
to the point of abrogation by the Supreme Court,”
because of the Wilson decision. See Archer, 531
F.3d at 1352.

I dissent from the denial of rehearing en banc
because as written, Whatley contains an incorrect
statement of law. I believe the Whatley opinion
requires our en banc court to make clear that this
court’s evaluation of the reasonableness of the
Georgia Supreme Court’s rationale in denying
Mr. Whatley relief must be limited to the specific
reasons that court gave, and that it is improper for
our court to supply its own. I dissent from the
court’s vote declining to rehear Mr. Whatley’s
case.
))))))))))))))))))

1This statute is a part of the Antiterrorism and
Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996. I refer to it as
AEDPA.

2Wilson held that federal courts “should ‘look
through’ [an] unexplained [state court] decision to the
last related state-court decision that does provide a
relevant rationale” and then “presume that the unex-
plained decision adopted the same reasoning.” 138 S.
Ct. at 1192. Federal courts must decide whether to defer
based on the reasons given by the last state court to issue
a reasoned decision. Id. at 1195-96. Here, the last state
court to address Mr. Whatley’s claims was the Georgia
Supreme Court, so there is no need to rely on Wilson’s
“look through” presumption. See generally Whatley v.

Terry, 668 S.E.2d 651 (Ga. 2008).

*        *        *

Criminal law—Limitation of actions—Con-
tinuing offenses—Conspiracy—Receiving,
concealing, and retaining money of the United
States—Conspiracy prosecution was not
barred by statute of limitations where defen-
dant was charged with multi-object conspir-
acy, and it was undisputed that defendant
committed two of the three alternative objects
of the conspiracy within the limitation pe-
riod—Receiving, concealing, and retaining
money of the U.S. is a continuing offense, and
each day that defendant continued to retain
federal funds at issue created “a renewed
threat” that money could not be recovered by
government—Grand jury timely indicted
defendant within five years of date on which it
was undisputed that government funds re-
mained in defendant’s bank account
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff-Appellee, v. LEE
JOHN MAHER, Defendant-Appellant. 11th Circuit. Case No.
19-10074. Non-Argument Calendar. April 8, 2020. Appeal
from the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Florida
(No. 4:16-cr-00030-MW-CAS-1).

(Before WILLIAM PRYOR, BRANCH and
LUCK, Circuit Judges.)

(WILLIAM PRYOR, Circuit Judge.) Lee John
Maher appeals his convictions for conspiring to
defraud the United States by committing mail
fraud, wire fraud, and receiving, concealing, and
retaining money of the United States, 18 U.S.C.
§§ 371, 1349, and for receiving, concealing, and
retaining money of the United States, id. § 641.
Maher argues that his prosecution was barred by
the five-year statute of limitations for non-capital
offenses. See id. § 3282(a). We affirm Maher’s
conviction for conspiracy because he does not
dispute that he committed two of the three alterna-
tive objectives of the conspiracy within the limita-
tion period. We also affirm Maher’s conviction
for receiving, concealing, and retaining govern-
ment money on the ground it is a continuing
offense for which he was timely indicted.

I. BACKGROUND
On May 17, 2016, a grand jury returned a two-

count indictment against Maher and Larry Ken-
neth Long. Count one alleged that, between April
1, 2009, and March 31, 2013, Maher and Long
conspired to commit mail fraud, id. § 1341, to
commit wire fraud, id. § 1343, and to receive,
conceal, and retain federal grant money, id. § 641,
with their last overt act occurring on November
15, 2012. Count two alleged that, “[b]etween on
or about December 10, 2010, and on or about
March 31, 2013, . . . Maher and . . . Long, know-
ingly and willfully did receive, conceal, and
retain, with the intent to convert to their own use
and gain, . . . grant funds disbursed from the
United States Department of Energy, through the
State of Florida, in the approximate amount of
$2,232,000, knowing such money to have been
converted.” Maher pleaded not guilty to both
charges.

Maher moved to dismiss count two of his
indictment as barred by the statute of limitations.

18 U.S.C. § 3282(a). He argued that the limitation
period expired five years after December 10,
2010, when he deposited the grant funds into a
bank account. The government opposed dismissal
and argued that Maher timely was indicted for
retaining and concealing converted government
funds under the doctrine of continuing offenses.
After a hearing, the district court denied Maher’s
motion.

Evidence presented during trial proved that
Maher and his employee, Long, concocted a
fraudulent scheme to obtain federal grant money
disbursed by the Office of Energy of the Florida
Department of Agriculture and Consumer Ser-
vices. Long applied for $2.5 million from a grant
funded by the American Recovery and Reim-
bursement Act of 2009 for Maher’s company,
Clean Fuel, LLC, under the pretense of purchas-
ing a Fairbanks Morse generator set. On May 13,
2010, Clean Fund executed a grant agreement that
required it to invest $7 million for approved
projects to be completed by April 30, 2012, for
which it could receive a maximum reimbursement
of $2.5 million. On October 13, 2010, the parties
amended the agreement to add the generator set as
an approved expense.

In November 2010, Clean Fuel requested
reimbursement for $2,480,000 for purportedly
purchasing the generator set. Maher and Long
submitted forged documents and fake checks to
establish that Clean Fuel had purchased the gener-
ator set and had invested more than $8 million in
the project. After the grant manager approved the
request, the State of Florida issued Clean Fuel a
check for $2,232,000 for 90 percent of the amount
requested, with the balance to be paid upon com-
pletion of the project. On December 10, 2010,
Clean Fuel negotiated the check and Maher
transferred the grant funds to several bank ac-
counts. Maher used the funds to pay credit card
bills, legal fees, some debts of Clean Fuel, and
rent for his penthouse in Manhattan and to pur-
chase box seats for professional football games.
On May 31, 2011, at least $6,891.33 of the grant
funds remained in one of Maher’s bank accounts.

In January 2012, Long submitted a fraudulent
monthly progress report to the Office of Energy.
The report falsely stated that, in December 2011,
Clean Fuel had purchased $2,480,000 in “electri-
cal components” and had been negotiating to
purchase property to house the generator set. The
report also falsely stated that Clean Fuel had
invested more than $8 million in the project.

In early February 2012, the Office of Energy
notified Maher that the project was not progress-
ing in accordance with the grant workplan and
that Clean Fuel faced remedial action should it not
come into compliance. On February 13, 2012,
Maher responded that Clean Fuel was “making
every effort possible” to complete the project by
the April deadline. In March 2012, Maher re-
quested a six-month extension to complete his
project and stated that Clean Fuel had invested
$10 million in the project. On April 3, 2012, the
Office of Energy informed Maher that it was
terminating the grant agreement for cause, and in
July 2012, the Office of Energy terminated the
agreement.
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Maher and Long continued to fake compliance
with the agreement. They found a substitute
generator that was the same make and model, but
cost significantly less than the $2,232,000 they
had been paid. In October 2012, Long sent a
photograph of the substitute generator to the grant
manager as evidence that Clean Fuel had pur-
chased the generator set. On November 2, 2012,
Maher put a $30,000 deposit on the substitute
generator, and on November 15, 2012, Long sent
the grant manager an email stating that Clean Fuel
had purchased the generator set and it was ready
to be shipped to their facility.

At the close of the evidence, Maher moved for
a judgment of acquittal, which the district court
denied. Fed. R. Crim. P. 29. The district court
rejected Maher’s arguments that his prosecution
for receiving, concealing, and retaining govern-
ment funds was untimely based on the face of his
indictment, see 18 U.S.C. § 3282(a), and that, in
the alternative, even if his crime was a continuing
offense, his indictment was untimely when re-
turned more than five years after negotiation of
the grant check on December 10, 2010. Maher
also argued that his indictment for conspiracy was
untimely when returned more than five years after
he completed the object of the conspiracy, which
was to receive grant funds.

The district court treated Maher’s timeliness
argument as a factual issue for the jury. It in-
structed the jury as follows that, if the government
failed to prove that Maher participated in the
conspiracy within the five years preceding his
indictment and that, within that same period, he
received, concealed, and retained the grant funds,
it had to acquit him of the charges:

The law requires that a prosecution be
brought within a specified period after a crime
is completed, in this case five years. Defendant
asserts that prosecution of Count One and
Two are barred by the statute of limitations
because more than five years elapsed after the
events constituting the alleged crimes and
before the return of the indictment in this case.
The indictment was returned on May 17,
2016.

As to Count One, the statute of limitations
issue for you to decide is whether defendant
Maher was a member of the alleged conspir-
acy on or about May 17, 2011. As to Count
Two, the statute of limitations issue for you to
decide is whether defendant Maher received,
concealed, or retained money of the United
States with a value of more than $1,000,
knowing it had been converted, and with the
intent to convert it to . . . his use or gain, on or
after May 17, 2011.

The burden is on the government to prove
beyond a reasonable doubt that the . . . of-
fenses are not barred by the five-year statute of
limitations. If the government has not sus-
tained its burden regarding either count, then
the law requires a verdict of not guilty as to
each count.

The jury found Maher guilty of both counts of
his indictment. The jury returned a special verdict
finding Maher guilty of all three objectives of the
conspiracy. Maher renewed his motion for a

judgment of acquittal on both counts of his indict-
ment, and the district court denied the motion.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW
We review de novo the denial of a motion for

a judgment of acquittal. United States v. Hansen,
262 F.3d 1217, 1236 (11th Cir. 2001) [14 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C1186a]. We also review de novo
the application of a statute of limitations. United
States v. Carrell, 252 F.3d 1193, 1198 (11th Cir.
2001) [14 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C760a].

III. DISCUSSION
Maher argues that the five-year statute of

limitations barred his prosecution for conspiring
to receive, conceal, and retain government money
and for the underlying substantive offense. See 18
U.S.C. § 3282(a). He contends that the limitations
period began to run on December 10, 2010, when
he negotiated the grant check and the period
expired before the government obtained his
indictment in May 2016. The government re-
sponds that we should affirm Maher’s convictions
because he does not dispute that he was timely
indicted for conspiring to commit mail fraud and
to commit wire fraud and because his crime of
receiving, concealing, and retaining government
money is a continuing offense for which the
limitations period commenced running at the end
of May 2011.

A. The Undisputed Evidence
Establishes that Maher Timely Was

Indicted for Conspiracy.
We need not address Maher’s argument that

he was not timely indicted for conspiring to
receive, conceal, and retain government funds, 18
U.S.C. § 641, because we can affirm Maher’s
conviction based on the jury’s special verdict
finding him guilty of conspiring to commit mail
fraud, id. § 1341, and to commit wire fraud, id. §
1343. “To obtain reversal of a district court judg-
ment that is based on multiple, independent
grounds, [Maher] must convince us that every
stated ground for the judgment against him is
incorrect.” Sapuppo v. Allstate Floridian Ins. Co.,
739 F.3d 678, 680 (11th Cir. 2014) [24 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C916a]. Because “there is a convic-
tion for a multi-object conspiracy, the evidence
[had] only [to] be sufficient to sustain a conviction
for any one of the charged objectives.” United
States v. Medina, 485 F.3d 1291, 1301 (11th Cir.
2007) [20 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C628a]. Maher
does not challenge the jury’s findings that he
conspired to commit mail fraud and to commit
wire fraud within five years of his indictment, so
we deem “abandoned any argument that th[ose]
additional reasons [the jury identified to support
his conviction for conspiracy] . . . was error.” See
Sapuppo, 739 F.3d at 680. “It follows that
[Maher’s conviction for conspiracy] is due to be
affirmed.” Id. at 683.

B. The Government Timely Indicted
Maher for Receiving, Concealing,
and Retaining Government Money.

The government is required to indict a person
for a non-capital offense within five years of its
commission. 18 U.S.C. § 3282(a). The statute of
limitations serves “to limit exposure to criminal

prosecution to a certain fixed period of time
following the occurrence of those acts . . . .
punish[ed] by criminal sanctions.” Toussie v.
United States, 397 U.S. 112, 114 (1970). Enforce-
ment of the limitations period ensures an accused
does not have to defend against charges “when the
basic facts may have become obscured by the
passage of time” and reduces “the danger of
official punishment because of acts in the far-
distant past.” Id. at 114-15.

The running of the statute of limitations de-
pends on whether the accused’s offense is deter-
minate or continuing. When an accused commits
a crime that is determinate, the five-year limita-
tions period “begin[s] to run when the crime is
complete,” id. at 115 (internal quotation mark
omitted), which is “when all the elements of the
crime have been satisfied,” United States v.
Pacchioli, 718 F.3d 1294, 1300 (11th Cir. 2013)
[24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C367a]. But if an accused
commits a crime that “continue[s] to be perpe-
trated over time,” United States v. Gilbert, 136
F.3d 1451, 1453 (11th Cir. 1998), the five-year
period commences running on the date of the last
act that furthers the crime, Pacchioli, 718 F.3d at
1302.

We construe the term “continuing offense”
narrowly because it extends the statute of limita-
tions. Toussie, 397 U.S. at 115. “A continuing
offense is a continuous, unlawful act or series of
acts set on foot by a single impulse and operated
by an unintermittent force, however long a time it
may occupy.” United States v. Midstate Horticul-
tural Co., 306 U.S. 161, 166 (1939). To qualify as
a continuing offense “the explicit language of the
substantive criminal statute [must] compel[ ]
[that] conclusion” or “the nature of the crime
involved . . . [must be] such that Congress must
assuredly have intended that it be treated as a
continuing one,” Toussie, 397 U.S. at 115, be-
cause “each day’s acts bring a renewed threat of
the substantive evil Congress sought to prevent,”
id. at 122.

To classify Maher’s offense, we have to deter-
mine which of the alternative means the govern-
ment had to prove to obtain a conviction. The
statute that Maher violated is phrased in the
disjunctive to punish “[w]hoever receives, con-
ceals, or retains” money of the United States. 18
U.S.C. § 641. But Maher’s indictment alleged that
he “knowingly and willfully did receive, conceal,
and retain . . . money of the United States . . . .”
Because the “statute specifies in the disjunctive
several means of committing [the] offense,
[Maher’s] indictment [could] allege those means
in the conjunctive and the Government [was] only
required to prove one of them.” United States v.
Minchew, 417 F.2d 218, 220 n.4 (5th Cir. 1969).
“Thus the Government was only required to prove
that [Maher] ‘retained’ the . . . property” within
the limitations period. Id. Maher argues that the
statute of limitations commenced running upon
his “conversion” of government property “when
grant funds were deposited into . . .[his] bank
account,” but Maher was indicted for “receiving,
concealing, and retaining” government property,
not for converting government property.

The text of section 641 makes clear that we
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must treat Mayer’s offense of retaining govern-
ment property as a continuing offense. Retain
means “[t]o continue to hold, have, use, recog-
nize, etc. and to keep,” Retain, Black’s Law
Dictionary (6th ed. 1990), and “[t]o hold in pos-
session or under control; to keep and not lose, part
with, or dismiss,” Retain, Black’s Law Dictionary
(11th ed. 2019). The essence of retention is pos-
session, which itself is a “continuing offense”
because the crime is not complete until the pos-
sessor parts with the item. See United States v.
D’Angelo, 819 F.2d 1062, 1066 (11th Cir. 1987)
(“Possession [of a firearm unlawfully] a continu-
ing offense . . . .”); United States v. Stitzer, 785
F.2d 1506, 1519 (11th Cir. 1986) (“[P]ossession
with intent to distribute is a continuing offense
. . . .”). Likewise, the crime of retaining property
unlawfully is not complete until the holder relin-
quishes the property to its rightful owner. Maher’s
offense of retaining government property contin-
ued so long as he possessed the federal grant
money. Each day that he held onto the money
created “a renewed threat” that it could not be
recovered by the government. See Toussie, 397
U.S. at 122.

The district court did not err by denying
Maher’s motion for a judgment of acquittal. The
statute of limitations for Maher’s offense com-
menced running on the date that he last retained
the grant money. See Pacchioli, 718 F.3d at 1302.
Maher does not dispute that more than $6,000 of
the grant money remained in his bank account on
May 31, 2011. When the grand jury returned its
indictment on May 17, 2016, fourteen days re-
mained in the limitations period to prosecute
Maher for receiving, concealing, and retaining
property of the government. The grand jury
timely indicted Maher.

IV. CONCLUSION
We AFFIRM Maher’s convictions for con-

spiring to commit mail fraud and wire fraud and
for receiving, concealing, and retaining property
of the government.

*        *        *

Criminal law—Child pornography—Text
messages requesting a person believed to be a
minor to send sexually explicit pictures cannot
support a conviction for making a “notice or
advertisement” to receive child pornography
in violation of 18 U.S.C. §2251(d)(1)(A)—
Ordinary meaning of term “advertisement” is
not broad enough to encompass defendant’s
private, person-to-person text messages—
Whether “notice” applies to private, person-
to-person text messages between two individu-
als is ambiguous—Relying on rule of lenity,
court holds that there was insufficient evidence
for jury to find that defendant’s private,
person-to-person text messages requesting
sexually explicit photos were “notice[s]”
“ma[de]” within meaning of statute—There
was sufficient evidence for reasonable jury to
find that defendant believed he was texting a
thirteen-year-old where minor told defendant
several times that she was thirteen during their

exchange of text messages; much of minor’s
text messages suggested that she was thirteen,
being on spring break, not old enough to drive,
and being sexually inexperienced; and there
was nothing expressly or inferentially suggest-
ing that minor was an adult or that the two
were only role playing—Expert testimony—
District court did not abuse discretion in per-
mitting detective’s challenged testimony re-
garding contents of defendant’s cell phone—
Testimony did not violate Rule 704(b) of Fed-
eral Rules of Evidence where detective was not
offered or qualified as an expert witness and,
even if detective did give expert testimony, his
testimony clearly did not expressly address
defendant’s mental state or whether defendant
believed minor was thirteen—Rule 704(b) only
precludes an expert from expressly stating a
conclusion that the defendant did or did not
have the requisite intent and from stating an
opinion as to the defendant’s state of mind at
the time of the offense—Error, if any, in per-
mitting challenged testimony was harmless
because there is no reasonable likelihood that
it affected defendant’s substantial rights
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[Original Opinion at 27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1709a]

(PER CURIAM.) Upon reconsideration, this
Court sua sponte VACATES its prior opinion,
published at 916 F.3d 929 (11th Cir. 2019) [27
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1709a], and substitutes the
following in its place.

In this direct criminal appeal, Defendant
Matthew Caniff challenges his convictions for
three federal child sex offenses. After careful
review of the record, and with the benefit of oral
argument, we REVERSE Caniff’s conviction
under 18 U.S.C. § 2251(d)(1) and AFFIRM his
convictions under § 2422(b) and § 2251(a). In
doing so, we hold, among other things, that
Caniff’s private, person-to-person text messages
asking an individual he thought was a minor to
send him sexually explicit pictures of herself
cannot support a conviction for “mak[ing]” a
“notice” to receive child pornography in violation
of 18 U.S.C. § 2251(d)(1).

I. BACKGROUND
The evidence at trial, viewed in the light most

favorable to the jury’s verdict, see United States v.
Dixon, 901 F.3d 1322, 1335 (11th Cir. 2018) [27
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1262a], cert. denied sub
nom. Portela v. United States, 139 S. Ct. 854
(2019), established the following: St. John’s
County, Florida law enforcement initiated an
operation to locate individuals who have a sexual
interest in children and who were willing to act on
that interest. As part of the operation, FBI Special
Agent Abbigail Beccaccio posed as “Mandy,” a
thirteen-year-old girl, on “Whisper.” Whisper is
an online website and cellphone application “that

allows users to text or communicate anonymously
with other users.” (Aplt. Br. 3.) Whisper’s “terms
of use” provide that “individuals who use Whis-
per must be at least 13 years of age . . . and that if
you are between the ages of 13 and 18, that you
should be supervised by a parent.” (Doc. 79 at 35-
36.)

On the afternoon of March 31, 2016, Agent
Beccaccio posted on Whisper a photo of another
FBI employee taken when that employee was in
her early twenties. The FBI had “age regress[ed]”
that photo to make the person in it look “more
childlike and youthful.” (Id. at 37-38.) The photo
showed “Mandy” dressed in a heavy sweatshirt or
coat worn over another shirt; Mandy was not
dressed or posed in any sexually suggestive
manner. Agent Beccaccio posted this picture with
the words: “Spring Break! And I’m
BORED!!!!!!” superimposed over the photo.
(Gov’t ex. 1.)

Caniff, a thirty-two-year-old pharmacy techni-
cian, responded, stating “Let’s do something
then,” followed by a “winky smiling face.” (Doc.
79 at 41, Gov’t ex. 2 at 1.) Mandy asked if Caniff
was on spring break too; he responded that he was
“[t]otally off today.” (Doc. 79 at 42-43; Gov’t ex.
2 at 2.) Caniff wanted to “do something water
related.” (Gov’t ex. 2 at 3.) Mandy asked Caniff if
he was old enough to drive; Caniff said he was;
Mandy responded: “Sweet!! I’m not old enough
too [sic].” (Id. at 4.) Caniff then asked Mandy if
she had a bikini and was it cute. (Id. at 5.) Caniff
soon agreed with Mandy to leave Whisper and
instead text message each other.

Caniff and Mandy exchanged text messages
the rest of that afternoon and evening. Although
Mandy told Caniff several times at the outset of
their text messaging that she was thirteen years
old, Caniff’s text messages to Mandy turned
sexual and eventually became quite explicit and
graphic. Caniff also sent Mandy several pictures
of his penis and asked her to send him pictures of
her genitalia and of her masturbating. When
Mandy asked if she could get in trouble, Caniff
responded that “[t]he only one of us the [sic]
could get in trouble would be me.” (Gov’t ex. 3 at
3.) Eventually, Mandy agreed to have sex with
Caniff.

Before driving an hour and a half to meet
Mandy, who said she was home alone, Caniff
asked Mandy if she was a cop. She responded,
“[l]ike 13 year old [sic] are cops!” (Id. at 14.)
Caniff said Mandy “could be pretending to be
13.” (Id.) Mandy said she was not. Mandy asked
Caniff what he was bringing her; he said he had
Xanax to share with her. Fate almost intervened
for Caniff when his car broke down on his drive to
Mandy. But he was able to get his car working
again and arrived at Mandy’s home at approxi-
mately 1:30 a.m. where he was arrested.

After his arrest, Caniff consented to agents
searching his computer, cell phone and other
electronic devices, as well as his vehicle. Agents
found only adult pornography on Caniff’s phone,
and no child pornography anywhere. Caniff also
gave agents information that would enable them
to access his social media accounts; officers found
nothing incriminating there, either. There was
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Xanax in Caniff’s wallet, which Caniff said he
found in the trash at the pharmacy where he
worked.

After giving Caniff Miranda1 warnings,
officers interviewed him. During that interview,
Caniff acknowledged that Mandy had told him
she was thirteen, but he stated that on the Whisper
“application, it says that you have to be at least 17
or 18 to download,2 so I assumed that that was the
age. I thought that there was some kind of role-
playing going on.” (Gov’t ex. 27A at 5 (footnote
added); see also id. at 9-10 (“I thought we were
role-playing . . . because . . . the site says that you
have to be an adult . . . , so I believe that you have
to be an adult. . . . I assumed that she was role-
playing. . . . I assumed that I wasn’t meeting a
juvenile.”).)

The United States charged Caniff with three
offenses: 1) attempting to entice a minor to en-
gage in illegal sexual conduct, in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 2422(b); 2) advertising for child pornog-
raphy, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2251(d)(1)(A)
and (2)(B); and 3) attempted production of child
pornography, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2251(a).
For these federal offenses, a minor is defined as
“any person under the age of eighteen years.” 18
U.S.C. § 2256(1). Count 1 relied on Florida law,
which defines a minor to be under sixteen years of
age. These offenses required the Government to
prove, not that there was an actual child victim,
but that Caniff believed he was texting with a
minor. See United States v. Rothenberg, 610 F.3d
621, 626 (11th Cir. 2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1048a] (§ 2422(b)); United States v. Lee, 603
F.3d 904, 913 (11th Cir. 2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C1746a] (§ 2251(a)). At trial, Caniff’s pri-
mary defense was that he believed he was, instead,
communicating with an adult who was role play-
ing as a thirteen-year-old. The jury rejected that
defense and convicted Caniff of each of the three
charged offenses. The district court imposed three
concurrent fifteen-year sentences, followed by
five years’ supervised release.

II. DISCUSSION

A. Caniff’s text messages requesting that
Mandy send him sexually explicit photos
cannot support an 18 U.S.C. § 2251(d)(1)(A)
conviction for making a “notice” seeking to
receive child pornography

Caniff challenges his Count 2 conviction for
violating 18 U.S.C. § 2251(d)(1)(A) and (2)(B),
which provides:

(d)(1) Any person who, in a circumstance
described in paragraph (2), knowingly makes,
prints, or publishes, or causes to be made,
printed, or published, any notice or advertise-
ment seeking or offering—

(A) to receive, exchange, buy, produce,
display, distribute, or reproduce, any vi-
sual depiction, if the production of such
visual depiction involves the use of a mi-
nor engaging in sexually explicit conduct
and such visual depiction is of such con-
duct;

. . . .
shall be punished as provided under subsec-
tion (e).

(2) The circumstance referred to in paragraph
(1) is that—

. . . .
(B) such notice or advertisement is trans-
ported using any means or facility of inter-
state or foreign commerce or in or affect-
ing interstate or foreign commerce by any
means including by computer or mailed.

(Emphasis added.)
The trial court, without objection, used the

statutory language to instruct the jurors that the
Government had to prove beyond a reasonable
doubt, among other elements, “that the defendant
knowingly made, printed, or published or caused
to be made, printed, or published any notice or
advertisement,” and “that such notice or adver-
tisement sought or offered to receive . . . any
visual depiction . . . that . . . involved . . . a minor
child engaged in sexually explicit conduct.” (Doc.
80 at 132-33.) The jurors deliberated for thirty
minutes before they sent the court a question,
inquiring: “What is the definition of the term
‘notice’ in Count Two, or should we determine
that definition?” (Id. at 144.) The district court
discussed the jury’s question with counsel and
then, without objection, responded to the jury:
“You should determine the definition based upon
the instructions you have.” (Id. at 145.) The jury
deliberated another half hour and then returned a
verdict convicting Caniff of Count 2, as well as
the other two counts.

On appeal, Caniff contends that there was
insufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to find
that the text messages he sent just to Mandy
asking her to send him sexually explicit photos of
herself were a “notice or advertisement” for
purposes of § 2251(d)(1). We review that argu-
ment de novo. See Dixon, 901 F.3d at 1335 (re-
viewing de novo whether evidence was sufficient
to support conviction); see also United States v.
Jim, 891 F.3d 1242, 1250-51 (11th Cir. 2018) [27
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C938a] (addressing statutory
construction de novo), cert. denied, 139 S. Ct.
2637 (2019).

The parties agree that, because the statute does
not define the terms “notice” or “advertisement,”
those terms must be given their ordinary or com-
mon, everyday meanings. This is consistent with
the approach taken by other circuits addressing
similar questions under § 2251(d)(1), see, e.g.,
United States v. Gries, 877 F.3d 255, 260 (7th Cir.
2017); United States v. Franklin, 785 F.3d 1365,
1367-68 (10th Cir. 2015), as well as with the rules
of statutory interpretation generally, see Sebelius
v. Cloer, 569 U.S. 369, 376 (2013) [24 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S207a].

We begin with what we consider to be the
easier question—namely, whether the ordinary
meaning of the term “advertisement” is broad
enough to encompass Caniff’s private, person-to-
person text messages. We think it clear that it
isn’t. Standard English-language dictionaries
confirm what we all know to be true—that, at least
as used in modern parlance, an “advertisement”
entails a public, and typically commercial, state-
ment. Webster’s Second, for instance, defines
“advertisement” (in the only entry not marked

either “[o]bs[olete]” or “[a]rchaic”) to mean “[a]
public notice, esp. in some public print, as a
newspaper, periodical, book, poster, or handbill
. . . .” Webster’s Second New International Dictio-
nary 39 (1944). Webster’s Third echoes that
definition, adding only that an advertisement is
typically “paid” and may also be disseminated
“over radio or television.” Webster’s Third New
International Dictionary 31 (2002). The Oxford
English Dictionary likewise defines “advertise-
ment” (in its non-obsolete, non-archaic sense) to
mean “a public notice or announcement, now esp.
one advertising goods or services”—originally
“on a placard, poster, etc., or in a journal or news-
paper,” and more recently “on a broadcast me-
dium, [such] as radio, television, etc.” Advertise-
ment, Oxford English Dictionary, www.oed.com/
view/Entry/2978 (last visited March 25, 2020). In
Black’s, more of the same: “[a] commercial
solicitation”—“an item of published or transmit-
ted matter made with the intention of attracting
clients or customers.” Black’s Law Dictionary 65
(10th ed. 2009). Caniff’s text messages to Mandy
were neither public nor commercial. They were
private requests for sexually explicit material.
Accordingly, they were not “advertisement[s].”

The more difficult question, we think—and
the question to which the lion’s share of our
analysis is devoted—is whether the ordinary
meaning of the term “notice” can fairly be under-
stood to encompass Caniff’s private, person-to-
person text messages. Dictionaries define “notice”
in various ways. Some definitions suggest that the
word is broad enough to capture purely private
communications. Dictionary.com, for instance,
suggests that “notice” can include targeted com-
munications, defining the term simply to mean “a
note, placard, or the like conveying information or
a warning.” Notice, Dictionary.com,
www.dictionary.com/browse/notice (lasted
visited March 25, 2020). Along the same lines, the
Seventh Circuit noted in its opinion in Gries that
Webster’s Third defines “notice” to include a
“warning or intimation of something,” as does the
New Oxford American Dictionary (3d ed. 2010).
877 F.3d at 260. And in its opinion in Franklin,
the Tenth Circuit cited a host of definitions of
“notice” taken from a different version of Web-
ster’s Third, observing that none of them required
“a public component.” 785 F.3d at 1368 (citing
Webster’s Third New International Dictionary
1544 (1993)).3

Other definitions, though, indicate that “no-
tice” refers only to public communications. Web-
ster’s Second, for instance, defines “notice,” as
“[a] written or printed sign . . . communicating
information or warning”—as in “to put a notice
on a door.” Webster’s Second at 1669. So too
Webster’s Third: “a written or printed announce-
ment or bulletin”—like “insert[ing] a [notice] in
the newspaper.” Webster’s Third at 1544. And the
OED: “[a] displayed sign or placard giving news
or information” (such as, for example, “notices on
the bulletin board at your grocery store, describ-
ing your product and giving a price”) or “[a] short
announcement or advertisement in a newspaper,
magazine, etc.” Notice, Oxford English Dictio-
nary, www.oed.com/view/Entry/128591 (last
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visited March 25, 2020). And Black’s, as well:
“[a] written or printed announcement”—as in “the
notice of sale was posted on the courthouse bulle-
tin board.” Black’s Law Dictionary at 1227.

In the end, these contrasting dictionary defini-
tions serve mainly to tee up the issue before us—
namely, whether the word “notice,” as used in §
2251(d)(1), refers only to public communications,
or whether it is instead broad enough to encom-
pass private, person-to-person text messages
between two individuals. The definitions that
we’ve cited demonstrate that either meaning is
plausible. To help to determine which (if either) of
these two competing interpretations is the better
one, we turn to statutory context. See, e.g., Tyler
v. Cain, 533 U.S. 656, 662 (2001) [14 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S453a] (emphasizing that courts
should not “construe the meaning of statutory
terms in a vacuum”); Deal v. United States, 508
U.S. 129, 132 (1993) (observing that the meaning
of a statutory term should not be “determined in
isolation,” but instead “must be drawn from the
context in which it is used”).

Recall that, in relevant part, § 2251(d)(1)
makes it a crime for anyone to “knowingly
make[ ], print[ ], or publish[ ], or cause[ ] to be
made, printed, or published, any notice or adver-
tisement seeking or offering [child pornogra-
phy].” In mining the context, we’ll begin at the
beginning—with the verb phrase “make[ ],
print[ ], or publish[ ].” On its own, the term
“make” would seem, on balance, to support an
expansive interpretation of “notice”—one that
could be read to cover purely private communica-
tions. Black’s, for instance, defines “make”
broadly as “caus[ing] (something) to exist,” as in
“to make a record.” Black’s Law Dictionary at
1099; see also Random House College Dictionary
808 (1982) (“to write or compose, as a poem”).
Thus, as the Supreme Court has said, “[w]hen
‘make’ is paired with a noun expressing the action
of a verb, the resulting phrase is ‘approximately
equivalent in sense’ to that verb.” Janus Capital
Grp., Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 564 U.S.
135, 142 (2011) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S1124a]
(internal quotation marks omitted). In other
words, on its face, “to make any notice” simply
means “to notify”—a phrase that ostensibly
includes both public and private forms of “no-
tice.”

For two reasons, though, we are reluctant to
read the term “make[ ]”—and with it the phrase
“make[ ] . . . any notice”—for all it might possibly
be worth. First, the phrase “make[ ] . . . any no-
tice” does not—at least “in [its] ordinary and
usual sense,” Caminetti v. United States, 242 U.S.
470, 485-86 (1917)—naturally signal the private-
communication variant of the word “notice.”
When invoking the person-to-person understand-
ing, the average speaker of American English
would typically refer to giving “notice”: a utility
company might give an individual customer
“notice” that it is going to turn off the customer’s
service; an employee might give “notice” to his
boss that he won’t be at work tomorrow; and a
parent might give “notice” to a child that if he
doesn’t turn down his music, there will be conse-
quences. In none of these situations, however,

would it be natural to think of the speaker
“mak[ing]” a “notice”—it would be odd, for
instance, to say that a landlord made “notice” to a
tenant that he had to vacate the premises.

Second, we must contend with the words that
follow “make[ ]”—“print[ ]” and “publish[ ].”
Both of these terms clearly denote public commu-
nication. Webster’s Second, for instance, defines
“publish” to mean “[t]o make public announce-
ment of” or “to make known to people in gen-
eral”—or, alternatively, “[t]o bring before the
public, as for sale or distribution.” Webster’s
Second at 2005. Webster’s Third similarly defines
the term to mean “to declare publicly” or to “make
generally known”—or, alternatively, “to call to
the attention of the public: advertise,” “to place
before the public (as through a mass medium),” or
to “disseminate.” Webster’s Third at 1837. “Print”
is similar. The most pertinent definition in Web-
ster’s Second defines “print” to mean “[t]o pub-
lish a book, article, music, or the like,” Webster’s
Second at 1967, and the successor in Webster’s
Third treats the term as a subset of publishing
generally, defining it to include “to publish in
print”—as in “all the news that’s fit to [print],”
Webster’s Third at 1803. On balance, then, we
think that the context provided by the terms
“print[ ]” and “publish[ ]” operates to cabin the
meaning of the word “make[ ]” as used in §
2251(d)(1). The interpretive canon noscitur a
sociis, after all, instructs that “words grouped in a
list should be given related meanings.” Antonin
Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The
Interpretation of Legal Texts 195 (2012) (internal
quotation marks omitted). Applying that rule
here, the words “print[ ]” and “publish[ ],” which
clearly contemplate only public communication,
would seem to similarly limit the word “make[ ].”

When we shift our focus from the verb phrase
“make[ ], print[ ], or publish[ ]” to its object—
“any notice or advertisement”—we find contex-
tual clues pointing in opposite directions. On one
side of the ledger, there is the fact that §
2251(d)(1) uses the capacious term “any.” Typi-
cally, when Congress intends to restrict the scope
of a particular word, it introduces that word with
a limiting adjective or adverb. See, e.g., Wisconsin
Cent. Ltd. v. United States, 138 S. Ct. 2067, 2071-
72 (2018) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S383a]. Ac-
cordingly, had Congress wanted to limit the word
“notice” to mean only “public notice,” it could
easily have added the adjective “public.” Instead,
Congress did just the opposite: it modified “no-
tice” with the encompassing adjective “any.” See
Gries, 877 F.3d at 260 (“The phrase ‘any notice or
advertisement’ in § 2251(d) casts a wide net for
this offense.”). As we have often had occasion to
say, when interpreting a statute, “any” means
“all.” Merritt v. Dillard Paper Co., 120 F.3d
1181, 1186 (11th Cir. 1997) (“[T]he adjective
‘any’ is not ambiguous; it has a well-established
meaning . . . . Congress did not add any language
limiting the breadth of that word, so ‘any’ means
all.” (internal quotation marks omitted)); see also
Laperriere v. Vesta Ins. Grp., Inc., 526 F.3d 715,
726 (11th Cir. 2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C649a] (“[T]he term ‘any’ in a statute has a
‘broad,’ ‘powerful,’ and ‘expansive’ meaning; it

does not mean ‘some’ or ‘all but a few,’ but in-
stead means ‘all.’ ” (internal quotation marks
omitted)). Congress’s use of “any” in §
2251(d)(1) obliges us to give the word “notice”
the broadest interpretation that it will reasonably
bear.

There is, though, contextual evidence that cuts
the other way—most notably, Congress’s juxta-
position of the terms “notice” and “advertise-
ment.” As we’ve already explained, see supra at
8-9, the word “advertisement” clearly connotes a
public communication. Applying the noscitur a
sociis canon—which, again, holds that words
grouped together should be given a similar
meaning—would suggest that “notice,” too,
should be limited to public communications. Cf.
Gustafson v. Alloyd Co., 513 U.S. 561, 573-76
(1995) (interpreting the phrase “any . . . communi-
cation” to refer only to public communications, in
part because the adjacent inclusion of the terms
“notice, circular, [and] advertisement” made it
“apparent that the list refer[red] to documents of
wide dissemination” (emphasis added)). Having
said that, noscitur a sociis is no trump here, for
two reasons. First, some courts—including at
least one interpreting § 2251(d)(1)—have posited
that the canon is of limited utility where the statu-
tory term whose meaning is being sought is one of
a group of only two, rather than one of three or
more. See, e.g., Franklin, 785 F.3d at 1369 (re-
jecting application of noscitur a sociis to define
“advertisement” and “notice” under § 2251(d)
because “a list of two words” is “too short for the
canon”); but cf. MBIA Ins. Corp. v. FDIC, 708
F.3d 234, 241-42, 245 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (declining
to accept a party’s argument that “a list of two
words is an inappropriate occasion for application
of noscitur a sociis”). Second, for noscitur a
sociis to apply, “the terms must be conjoined in
such a way as to indicate that they have some
quality in common.” Scalia & Garner, supra, at
196. And here, although the terms “notice” and
“advertisement” undoubtedly share similarities,
Congress’s decision to separate them by the
disjunctive term “or” might indicate that it in-
tended their meanings to be different. See
Loughrin v. United States, 573 U.S. 351, 357
(2014) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S892a] (stating
that the “ordinary use” of “or” “is almost always
disjunctive, that is, the words it connects are to be
given separate meanings”).

As our back-and-forth, tennis-match-ish
analysis indicates, neither dictionary definitions
nor the traditional canons of statutory interpreta-
tion neatly resolve the question we face here—
whether, as used in 18 U.S.C. § 2251(d)(1), the
phrase “make[ ] . . . any notice” refers only to
public communication, or instead is broad enough
to encompass private, person-to-person texts
messages between two individuals. To resolve
this seemingly intractable ambiguity, therefore,
we turn to a traditional interpretive tiebreaker: the
rule of lenity. See United States v. Rivera, 884
F.2d 544, 546 (11th Cir. 1989) (“The rule of
lenity is merely a canon of statutory construc-
tion.”).

The rule of lenity holds that if at the end of the
interpretive road—having exhausted the applica-
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ble semantic and contextual canons of interpreta-
tion, and thus “seiz[ed] everything from which aid
can be derived,” Ocasio v. United States, 136 S.
Ct. 1423, 1434 n.8 (2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S116a] (internal quotation marks omitted)—
meaningful doubt remains about the application
of a criminal statute to a defendant’s conduct, then
the doubt should be resolved in the defendant’s
favor. See Scalia & Garner, supra, at 296-302.
The rule is born of the principle that the law “must
speak ‘in language that is clear and definite’ if it is
to render something a crime,” United States v.
Phifer, 909 F.3d 372, 383 (11th Cir. 2018) [27
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1354a] (quoting United
States v. Bass, 404 U.S. 336, 347 (1971)), and
serves the twin aims of (1) ensuring that the public
is given a “fair warning” that punishment will
follow when “a certain line is passed” and (2)
preserving the “separation-of-powers doctrine,
[which] requires [that] legislatures, not courts . . .
define crimes,” id.

We have serious doubts about whether the
phrase “make[ ] . . . any notice” in § 2251(d)(1) is
broad enough to cover the private, person-to-
person text messages that Caniff sent—doubts
that we find cannot be adequately resolved by
reference to the traditional tools of statutory
interpretation. In this instance, therefore, the rule
of lenity requires us to resolve our doubts in
Caniff’s favor. Accordingly, we hold that 18
U.S.C. § 2251(d)(1)—and specifically, its prohi-
bition against “knowingly mak[ing] . . . any notice
. . . seeking or offering [child pornography]”—
does not apply to a private text message sent from
one individual to another.

We think it important to note that our interpre-
tation does not, as the government warns,
“thwart” 18 U.S.C. § 2251’s “purpose.” (Aple.
Br. 39.) It may be true that Congress intended §
2251 to be a “comprehensive regulatory scheme”
aimed at “criminalizing the receipt, distribution,
sale, production, possession, solicitation and
advertisement of child pornography.” United
States v. Parton, 749 F.3d 1329, 1330 (11th Cir.
2014) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1295a] (internal
quotation marks omitted) (addressing § 2251(a)).
Noble as that purpose may be, though, we can’t
serve it by making one of that scheme’s constitu-
ent provisions—§ 2251(d)(1)—say something it
doesn’t, or by ignoring an ambiguity within it that
we think is inescapable. See United States v.
Wiltberger, 18 U.S. 76, 95-96 (1820) (Marshall,
C.J.) (stating that “[t]he intention of the legislature
is to be collected from the words they employ”
and elaborating that “[t]o determine that a case is
within the intention of a statute, its language must
authorise us to say so”).

Nor does our interpretation, as the government
insists, “circumvent federal law” by “creat[ing] a
one-on-one advertisement exception for persons
interested in child pornography.” (Aple. Br. 39.)
Regardless of what we decide today about the
scope of § 2251(d)(1), Title 18 gives the govern-
ment ample—and clear—authority to punish
those, like Caniff, who solicit child pornography
through private text messages. Perhaps most on
point, 18 U.S.C. § 2251(a) prescribes a 15-years-
to-life sentence for anyone “who employs, uses,

persuades, induces, entices, or coerces any minor
to engage in . . . any sexually explicit conduct for
the purpose of producing any visual depiction of
such conduct.” That prohibition extends not only
to those who solicit minors for sex, but also to
those, like Caniff, who ask for nude photos—the
surest proof being that Caniff was charged and
convicted under § 2251(a) and that (as we will
explain momentarily) we affirm that conviction
today. See also United States v. Mathis, 767 F.3d
1264, 1279-80 (11th Cir. 2014) [25 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C472a] (rejecting a sufficiency-of-
the-evidence challenge to a § 2251(a) conviction
of a defendant who sent a text message to a minor
“offer[ing] to pay [the minor] for a picture of [his]
genitalia” and “direct[ing the minor] to take
sexually explicit pictures”), abrogated on other
grounds by Lockhart v. United States, 136 S. Ct.
958, 961 (2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S9a].

Then there’s 18 U.S.C. § 2252(a)(2), which
makes it a crime—punishable by five to 40 years
in prison—to “knowingly receive[ ] . . . any visual
depiction” of a minor engaging in “sexually
explicit conduct” by “using any means or facility
of interstate or foreign commerce.” So too §
2252A(a)(2), which makes it a crime—also
punishable by five to 40 years—to knowingly
receive any “child pornography” that has been
mailed or “using any means or facility of interstate
or foreign commerce . . . by any means, including
by computer.” Notably, wholly apart from the act
of soliciting nude photos, § 2252(a)(2) and §
2252A allow the government to separately charge
an individual if he receives pictures via “any
means or facility of interstate or foreign com-
merce.”

As these provisions (and the balance of our
opinion) make clear, our interpretation of §
2251(d)(1) does not prevent or inhibit the govern-
ment from prosecuting those who solicit child
pornography through private text messages—far
from it.4

* * *
Relying on the rule of lenity, we hold that

there was insufficient evidence for the jury to find
that Caniff’s private, person-to-person text mes-
sages to “Mandy” requesting sexually explicit
photos were “notice[s]” “ma[de]” within the
meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 2251(d)(1). Accordingly,
we reverse Caniff’s conviction on that ground.

B. There was sufficient evidence for a jury to
find that Caniff believed Mandy was thirteen

Caniff next challenges his remaining two
convictions, arguing that, in light of his defense
that he believed that he was text messaging with
an adult woman who was role playing the part of
a thirteen-year-old, there was insufficient evi-
dence for the jury to find that he believed he was
texting a minor.5 “We review de novo the suffi-
ciency of the evidence[,] . . . view[ing] the evi-
dence in the light most favorable to the govern-
ment and draw[ing] all reasonable inferences and
credibility choices in favor of the jury’s verdict.”
Dixon, 901 F.3d at 1335 (internal quotation marks
and citation omitted).

We will not reverse unless no reasonable trier
of fact could find guilt beyond a reasonable
doubt. It is not our function to make credibility

choices or to pass upon the weight of the
evidence. Instead, we must sustain the verdict
where there is a reasonable basis in the record
for it.

United States v. Farley, 607 F.3d 1294, 1333
(11th Cir. 2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C905a]
(internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

There is a reasonable basis in this record to
support the jury’s finding that Caniff believed
Mandy was a minor. During their exchange of text
messages, Mandy expressly told Caniff several
times that she was thirteen. See United States v.
Rutgerson, 822 F.3d 1223, 1228-30, 1232-33
(11th Cir. 2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C291a]
(holding there was sufficient evidence for jury to
find defendant believed he was electronically
conversing with fifteen-year-old because she told
him in her emails and text messages that she was
fifteen); United States v. Yost, 479 F.3d 815, 819
(11th Cir. 2007) [20 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C346a]
(per curiam) (holding there was sufficient evi-
dence for jury to find that the defendant acted with
specific intent to persuade a minor to engage in
criminal sexual activity where “both girls told
Yost they were under-age multiple times”). In
addition, a jury could find that many of Mandy’s
text messages suggested that she was thirteen—
being on spring break, not being old enough to
drive, and being sexually inexperienced. Further-
more, there was nothing in their text messages that
expressly or even inferentially suggested that
Mandy was an adult or that either Caniff or
Mandy were only role playing.

To be sure, there was some other evidence
from Caniff after his arrest where he professed to
believe Mandy was an adult who was role playing
to be a minor—Caniff’s statements to police, for
example, during his interview immediately after
his arrest—from which the jury could have found
instead that Caniff thought Mandy was an adult
role playing as a thirteen-year-old. But at the very
most, that sets up conflicting evidence. However,
we must on this appeal take the evidence in the
light most favorable to the government and ask
only if there was enough, if that evidence was
believed, to cause a reasonable jury to convict. In
light of that, we must uphold Caniff’s convictions.
See Farley, 607 F.3d at 1300, 1333-34 (holding
evidence was sufficient for trial court conducting
bench trial to find that defendant who believed he
was texting a mother about having sex with her
and her ten-year-old daughter “was ‘for real,’ and
to disbelieve his insistence at trial that it was all a
fantasy”); Yost, 479 F.3d at 819 (holding there
was sufficient evidence for jury to find that defen-
dant had specific intent to persuade minor to
engage in criminal sexual activity, despite his
assertion that “he believed he was communicating
with adult women role-playing as minors”).

C. The district court did not abuse its discre-
tion in permitting Detective Greene’s chal-
lenged testimony

Lastly, Caniff challenges Detective Greene’s
testimony regarding the contents of Caniff’s cell
phone. After Caniff’s arrest, Detective Greene
interviewed Caniff and searched his cell phone.
On direct examination, the detective testified that



Headnotes and indexes are copyrighted and may not be duplicated by photocopying, printing,
or other means without the express permission of the publishers. 1-800-351-0917

U.S. COURT OF APPEALS, ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1005

on Caniff’s cell phone he found pictures of a penis
and the text messages that Caniff and Mandy
exchanged. During cross-examination, defense
counsel asked Detective Greene if he found
anything else on Caniff’s cell phone:

Q. . . . Other than that, there was nothing
else in the phone of any evidentiary value,
correct?

A. In reference to this case, no—or, I
mean—

Q. In reference to anything.
A. —any other case that I knew of, yes.
Q. There was no other illegal activity—

even if that’s illegal activity, there was no
illegal activity in the phone, correct?

A. Correct.
Q. Okay. There was no child pornography

in his phone, correct?
A. Correct.
Q. There were no chats on his phone that

were inappropriate or illegal, correct?
A. Correct.
Q. Okay. The only thing found on his

phone was adult pornography, correct?
A. To the best of my knowledge, yes.
Q. Okay. And nothing illegal with what he

had, correct?
A. Correct.

(Doc. 80 at 23.) On redirect, the prosecutor asked:
Q. Okay. Now [defense counsel] asked

you if there was evidence of any—I think she
said there was no—she said there was no
evidence of any illegal activity in the phone.

Is it your understanding that the text mes-
sages are evidence of illegal activity that is
what brings us here today?

A. Yes.
[Defense counsel]: Objection, Your

Honor. He’s asking for an opinion. That’s the
whole issue in this courtroom today.

THE COURT: Give me just a moment.
I’ll overrule the objection. You may an-

swer the question, Detective.
THE WITNESS: Thank you.
I assumed aside from what we were here to

discuss today, but yes, I found nothing else
that was apparent—apparently illegal in the
phone outside of this.

BY [Prosecutor]:
Q. But you gathered the evidence of the

text messages.
A. Yes.
Q. And based on the judge’s ruling, you

can answer. Was that, in your opinion—
A. Yes.
Q. —evidence of illegal activity.
A. Yes.
Q. And the same question for the photos of

the penises that were sent to Agent Beccaccio.
Is it—based on your training and—
[Defense counsel]: Your honor, same

objection.
THE COURT: Same ruling.

BY [Prosecutor]:
Q. Based on your training as a law enforce-

ment officer, did you deem those to be evi-
dence of illegal activity?

A. Yes.

(Id. at 25-26.)
“We review the district court’s evidentiary

ruling[ ] for an abuse of discretion.” United States
v. Augustin, 661 F.3d 1105, 1123 (11th Cir. 2011)
[23 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1562a] (per curiam).
Caniff argues primarily that this testimony vio-
lated Federal Rule of Evidence 704(b), which
“[i]n a criminal case,” precludes an expert’s
“opinion about whether the defendant did or did
not have a mental state or condition that consti-
tutes an element of the crime charged or of a
defense. Those matters are for the trier of fact
alone.”6 But Detective Greene was never offered
or qualified as an expert witness. “[J]ust because
a lay witness’s position and experience could
have qualified him for expert witness status does
not mean that any testimony he gives at trial is
considered ‘expert testimony.’ Lay witnesses may
draw on their professional experiences to guide
their opinions without necessarily being treated as
expert witnesses.” United States v. Jeri, 869 F.3d
1247, 1265 (11th Cir. 2017) [27 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C161a] (citation, internal quotation marks,
alterations omitted) (holding police officer did not
testify as expert even though his testimony
“showed [his] familiarity with narcotics investiga-
tions and his experience interviewing drug couri-
ers”), cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 529 (2017).

Moreover, even if Detective Greene did give
expert testimony, Rule704(b) only precludes an
expert from “expressly stat[ing] a conclusion that
the defendant did or did not have the requisite
intent” and from stating “an opinion as to the
defendant’s state of mind at the time of the of-
fense.” Id. at 1266 (internal quotation marks
omitted). But Rule 704(b) does not preclude even
“expert testimony that supports an obvious infer-
ence with respect to the defendant’s state of mind
if that testimony does not actually state an opinion
on this ultimate issue, and instead leaves this
inference for the jury to draw.” Augustin, 661
F.3d at 1123 (internal quotation marks and alter-
ation omitted). Detective Greene’s challenged
testimony may be ambiguous, but it clearly did
not expressly address Caniff’s mental state.
Detective Greene’s testimony did not at all ad-
dress whether Caniff believed Mandy was thir-
teen. Detective Greene, on rebuttal, testified only
that he found “evidence of illegal activity” on the
phone. Indeed, he did not even say what that
evidence was or whether it related at all to
Caniff’s state of mind. “Evidence of illegality”
could as easily have referred to other elements of
illegality other than the mens rea element.

But even if we could say that the district court
abused its discretion in permitting Detective
Greene’s challenged testimony, any error was
harmless because there is no “reasonable likeli-
hood that it affected [Caniff’s] substantial rights.”
Id. (internal quotation marks and alteration omit-
ted). It was defense counsel, not the Government,
who first asked the detective if there was “illegal
activity” on the phone. The Government, on
redirect, was merely attempting to clarify any
confusion the detective’s responses on cross-
examination may have created, and to explain
why he gathered the text messages as evidence.

We cannot conclude the district court abused its
discretion in admitting this testimony but even if
the district court did so, any error was harmless.

III. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, we REVERSE

Caniff’s conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 2251(d)(1)
and AFFIRM his convictions under § 2422(b)
and § 2251(a).
))))))))))))))))))

*The Honorable David M. Ebel, United States
Circuit Judge for the Tenth Circuit, sitting by designa-
tion.

1Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).
2As noted previously, Whisper only requires users

to be thirteen years old or older. There is no evidence
about how, or if, that age restriction is enforced.

3In Franklin, the Tenth Circuit, nevertheless,
assumed for purposes of its analysis, without deciding,
that 18 U.S.C. § 2251(d)(1)’s use of the term “notice”
had a public component. 785 F.3d at 1369.

4We also reject the government’s suggestion that
our interpretation of § 2251(d)(1) departs from the
approach taken by our sister circuits. As the government
notes, other courts have held that § 2251(d)(1) makes it
a crime to post offers to buy and sell child pornography
in computer “chat rooms.” See, e.g., United States v.
Grovo, 826 F.3d 1207, 1211-12 (9th Cir. 2016) (mes-
sages visible to 40-45 people); Franklin, 785 F.3d at
1367 (messages visible to 108 people). These decisions
are perfectly consistent with the reasoning we have
articulated here: Posts in chat rooms or to online mes-
sage boards are just the contemporary successors to the
signs, posters, and placards to which pre-internet
dictionaries refer. See supra at 10-11. That an online
message board might be password-protected does not
make the “notice[s] or advertisement[s]” posted there
any less public—it is merely the equivalent of a bulletin
board in a college dorm that requires keycard access to
enter.

5Caniff raises this same challenge to his conviction
under 18 U.S.C. § 2251(d)(1). Because we reverse that
conviction on other grounds, however, we needn’t
consider this argument.

6Rule 704 provides:
(a) In General—Not Automatically Objec-

tionable. An opinion is not objectionable just
because it embraces an ultimate issue.

(b) Exception. In a criminal case, an expert
witness must not state an opinion about whether the
defendant did or did not have a mental state or
condition that constitutes an element of the crime
charged or of a defense. Those matters are for the
trier of fact alone.

))))))))))))))))))
(NEWSOM, Circuit Judge, concurring.) I concur
in the Court’s revised opinion. For reasons that
I’ve already explained at length and needn’t
repeat here, I am convinced that 18 U.S.C. §
2251(d)(1) is best (if unfortunately) interpreted
not to reach Caniff’s conduct. It has always
seemed pretty obvious to me that when Caniff
sent private, person-to-person text messages
requesting explicit photos, he didn’t “make[ ]” a
“notice” for them. See United States v. Caniff, 916
F.3d 929, 940-48 (11th Cir. 2019) [27 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C1709a] (Newsom, J., concurring in
part and dissenting in part). Having said that,
because, at the very least, § 2251(d)(1) doesn’t
clearly cover Caniff’s conduct, I am satisfied with
the Court’s lenity-based resolution.

*        *        *
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Federal preemption—Higher Education Act—
HEA, which prohibits the application of state
law disclosure requirements to loans made
under federal student loan programs, does not
preempt, either expressly or otherwise,  bor-
rowers’ claims that defendant that serviced
their student loans made affirmative misrepre-
sentations to plaintiffs and other borrowers
that they were on track to have their student
loans forgiven based on their public-service
employment when, in fact, their loans were
ineligible for the forgiveness program—Al-
though HEA expressly preempts a state law’s
imposition of disclosure requirements on
federal student loan servicers, plaintiffs did not
allege that servicer had a duty to disclose
anything about Public Service Student Loan
Forgiveness Program—Conflict preemption
does not apply to plaintiffs’ claims—Prohibit-
ing servicer from making affirmative misrep-
resentations to borrowers, in contrast to im-
posing a duty to disclose, does no harm to
standardization of disclosures for federal
student loan programs—Field preemption
likewise does not apply—Dismissal of claims
reversed
AMANDA LAWSON-ROSS, TRISTIAN BYRNE, Plaintiffs-
Appellants, v. GREAT LAKES HIGHER EDUCATION
CORPORATION, Defendant-Appellee. 11th Circuit. Case No.
18-14490. April 10, 2020. Appeal from the U.S. District Court
for the Northern District of Florida (No. 1:17-cv-00253-MW-
GRJ).

(Before WILLIAM PRYOR and JILL PRYOR,
Circuit Judges, and ROBRENO,* District Judge.)

(JILL PRYOR, Circuit Judge.) Plaintiffs Dr.
Amanda Lawson-Ross and Tristian Byrne (the
“Borrowers”) each took out federal student loans
to finance higher education. The Borrowers’
federal student loans were serviced by defendant
Great Lakes Higher Education Corporation. The
Borrowers alleged that Great Lakes made affirma-
tive misrepresentations to them and other borrow-
ers that they were on track to have their student
loans forgiven based on their public-service
employment when, in fact, their loans were ineli-
gible for the forgiveness program. The Borrowers
sued Great Lakes, bringing a variety of claims
under Florida law, including the Florida Con-
sumer Collection Practices Act (“FCCPA”), Fla.
Stat. § 559.55 et seq.

The district court ruled that the Borrowers’
claims were preempted by a provision of the
Higher Education Act of 1965, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1001
et seq. (“HEA”), which prohibits the application
of state law disclosure requirements to loans made
under federal student loan programs. 20 U.S.C. §
1098g. In this appeal, we must decide whether the
HEA preempts state law claims alleging that
student loan servicers made affirmative misrepre-
sentations to borrowers regarding their eligibility
for a federal program that forgives student loan
balances. We hold that the HEA—which ex-
pressly preempts state law disclosure require-
ments—does not preempt the Borrowers’ claims
here. We therefore vacate the district court’s
dismissal of the claims and remand for further
proceedings.

I. STUDENT LOAN REGULATION
Congress enacted the HEA, the primary statute

governing federal student loans, “to keep the
college door open to all students of ability, regard-
less of socioeconomic background.” Rowe v.
Educ. Credit Mgmt. Corp., 559 F.3d 1028, 1030
(9th Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks omit-
ted); see also 20 U.S.C. § 1070(a). To fulfill this
goal of improving access to higher education, the
HEA established the Federal Family Education
Loan Program (“FFELP”). See 20 U.S.C. § 1071.

Under the FFELP, lenders used their own
funds to make loans, known as FFEL loans, to
students attending postsecondary institutions.
These loans were guaranteed by private guaran-
tors and reinsured by the federal government. See
id. § 1078(a)-(c). Although the federal govern-
ment did not directly fund these loans, it served as
the ultimate guarantor of the loans through the
reinsurance program.1 Lenders for FFEL loans
contracted with loan servicing companies to
manage borrowers’ repayment of the loans.

In time, Congress shifted away from the
FFELP to the William D. Ford Federal Direct
Loan Program. See id. §§ 1087a-1087j. Under
this program, the federal government itself served
as the lender, directly providing the funds for
student loans. Because the federal government
directly provided the funds for these loans, they
aptly became known as “direct loans.” Id. §
1087a(b)(2). The government contracted with
non-government entities to service direct loans.

To encourage student loan recipients to enter
and remain employed in public service jobs,
Congress created the Public Service Loan For-
giveness Program (“PSLF” or the “PSLF Pro-
gram”), to forgive direct loan balances for bor-
rowers employed in government or not-for-profit
organizations. See College Cost Reduction and
Access Act, Pub. L. No. 110-84 § 401, 121 Stat.
784, 800 (2007). Under the PSLF Program, the
federal government forgives outstanding student
loan balances for borrowers who: (1) made 120
payments on their loan after October 1, 2007; (2)
made these payments on an eligible direct loan;
(3) were on a qualifying repayment plan; and (4)
were employed in public service at the time of the
loan forgiveness and had been employed in public
service during the period in which the 120 pay-
ments were made. 20 U.S.C. § 1087e(m)(1).

A key requirement of the PSLF Program is
that the 120 payments must be made on an “eligi-
ble Federal Direct Loan.” Id. § 1087e(m). Con-
gress defined an “eligible Federal Direct Loan” to
include “a Federal Direct Stafford Loan, Federal
Direct PLUS Loan, or Federal Direct
Unsubsidized Stafford Loan, or a Federal Direct
Consolidation Loan.” Id. § 1087e(m)(3)(A).
Borrowers with other types of federal student loan
debt—including FFEL loans—are ineligible for
the PSLF Program. Borrowers with FFEL loans
are not entirely out of luck, however. They may
consolidate their loans into a Federal Direct
Consolidation Loan to become eligible. See id. §§
1078-3(b)(5); 1087e(m)(3)(A). But any payments
they made before consolidation do not count
toward the 120 payments required for the pro-
gram.

The HEA also imposes obligations on student
loan lenders and loan servicers.2 Most relevant to
the Borrowers’ claims here are the requirements
that lenders and servicers make various disclo-
sures to borrowers. See id. § 1083. Although the
HEA does not define the term “disclosure,” it
specifies the information that must be disclosed
and when the disclosures must occur. Id. §
1083(a)-(b), (e). The HEA mandates disclosures
at or during particular points in time, including:
(1) at or before the disbursement of loan proceeds
(19 required disclosures); (2) at or before the start
of repayment (13 required disclosures); and (3)
periodically during repayment. See id. § 1083(a)-
(b), (e). Certain information must be provided
with each bill or statement sent to the borrower,
including the original principal amount of the
loan, the borrower’s current outstanding loan
balance, the loan’s interest rate, and the total
amount the borrower has paid in interest and in
the aggregate. Id. § 1083(e)(1). Additional infor-
mation must be disclosed when the borrower
either has provided notice that she is having
difficulty making payments or is 60 days delin-
quent in making payments. See id. § 1083(e)(2)-
(3).

Along with imposing these disclosure require-
ments, the HEA expressly preempts the imposi-
tion of state law disclosure requirements. Section
1098g, entitled “Exemption from State disclosure
requirements,” provides:

Loans made, insured, or guaranteed pursuant
to a program authorized by Title IV of the
[HEA] . . . shall not be subject to any disclo-
sure requirements of any State law.

Id. § 1098g.

II. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background
Defendant-appellee Great Lakes services the

Borrowers’ federal student loans. The Borrowers
allege that Great Lakes representatives told them
they were eligible for forgiveness of their loans
through the PSLF Program, and only later did
they discover they were not eligible—after they
had already made payments that could not then be
counted toward the PSLF Program.3

Plaintiff-appellant Lawson-Ross has a mas-
ter’s degree and a doctoral degree in counseling
psychology. She borrowed to finance both de-
grees. The majority of her loans were not Federal
Direct Loans.4 Since completing her doctorate,
Lawson-Ross has been employed at the Univer-
sity of Florida working in its Counseling and
Wellness Center and also at Florida Gulf Coast
University’s Counseling and Psychological
Services Office. Given this work in public service,
Lawson-Ross expected that after 10 years of
working her student loans would be forgiven
through the PSLF Program.

Once she began repaying her student loans in
2007, Lawson-Ross regularly contacted Great
Lakes to “ensur[e] that she was on track to receive
the benefits of the PSLF.” Doc. 24 at ¶ 41.5 Dur-
ing her communications with Great Lakes repre-
sentatives, she inquired about her eligibility for
the PSLF Program, and the representatives
“repeatedly and explicitly” told her that she was
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“on track to benefit [from] PSLF, that her loans
qualified under that program, and that she would
not need to complete any additional forms until
her 10 years of public service was completed.” Id.
at ¶ 42 (emphasis added).

In July 2017, however—almost 10 years
later—a Great Lakes representative told Lawson-
Ross that she was ineligible for the PSLF Pro-
gram. She was ineligible because most of her
loans were not Federal Direct Loans—the only
loans eligible for the PSLF Program. As a result,
none of the payments she had made during those
10 years counted toward the PSLF Program. Had
Lawson-Ross known that her loans were ineligi-
ble for the PSLF Program, she either could have
made sure she was eligible for forgiveness under
the PSLF Program (presumably by consolidating
her loans) or undertaken a different career path.

Plaintiff-appellant Byrne graduated with an
associate degree in criminal justice. She took out
FFEL loans to help finance her education. Byrne
learned about the PSLF Program while working
for the Pinellas County Sheriff’s Office. When
she learned about the program, she reached out to
Great Lakes to ask whether her job with the sher-
iff’s office would qualify her for the program. A
Great Lakes representative informed her that to
qualify for the PSLF Program, she needed only to
work full time in her current job, complete an
application, have human resources fill out a form
certifying her employment, and apply for income-
based payments. Great Lakes represented that
once Byrne had made 120 payments on her stu-
dent loans, the remainder of her loan balance
would be forgiven.

Byrne followed Great Lakes’s instructions.
She submitted an application for loan forgiveness.
After hearing nothing from Great Lakes, she
submitted a second application. Several months
later, Great Lakes told Byrne that she was ineligi-
ble for the PSLF Program because her loans were
not Federal Direct Loans. If Great Lakes had not
misinformed Byrne, she would have taken the
steps necessary to ensure that she was eligible for
the PSLF Program.

As a federal student loan servicer, Great Lakes
was responsible for collecting payments from
borrowers, providing borrowers with repayment
options, managing borrowers’ student loan ac-
counts, and communicating with borrowers about
their loans. Great Lakes held itself out as an
authority for advice about the best path to student
loan repayment. It did so, the Borrowers alleged,
by stating on its website, “You should never have
to pay for student loan advice or services. Call us,
instead. Our representatives have access to your
latest student loan information and are trained to
understand all of your options.” Id. at ¶ 29.

The United States Department of Education
(“DOE”) also encouraged borrowers to consult
their federal loan servicers regarding repayment
and options for borrowers having trouble making
their loan payments. The DOE made statements
such as: “Work with your loan servicer to choose
a federal student repayment plan that’s best for
you;” “Your loan servicer will help you decide
whether one of these plans is right for you;”
“Always contact your loan servicer immediately

if you are having trouble making your student
loan payment;” and “Why pay for help with your
federal student loans when your loan servicer will
help you for FREE? Contact your servicer to
apply for income-driven repayment plans, student
loan forgiveness, and more.” Id. at ¶ 27. There-
fore, the Borrowers reasonably looked to Great
Lakes for advice about the PSLF Program and
relied on Great Lakes’s representations.

B. Procedural History
The Borrowers filed a complaint against Great

Lakes alleging that it misrepresented that they
were on track to benefit from the PSLF Program
when they were not and that they were harmed by
these misrepresentations. They further alleged
that Great Lakes had incentives to put its own
interests ahead of the Borrowers whose loans it
serviced so that it could continue to service the
loans and benefit from the extra principal, fees,
and interest that it would not otherwise have
collected had the Borrowers been given correct
information so that they could make their loans
PSLF-eligible.

On behalf of a class of similarly situated
borrowers, the Borrowers brought claims under
Florida law for breach of fiduciary duty, negli-
gence, unjust enrichment, breach of implied-in-
law contract, and violation of the FCCPA. See
Fla. Stat. § 559.72.6 The Borrowers Lawson-Ross
and Byrne alleged that they and the other class
members spent years making payments that they
believed, based on Great Lakes’s representations,
qualified for the PSLF Program, only to find out
years later that none of their loan payments
counted toward loan forgiveness.

Great Lakes moved to dismiss the case for
failure to state a claim. Among other arguments,
Great Lakes maintained that the Borrowers’
claims were expressly preempted under § 1098g
of the HEA. Invoking § 1098g’s explicit preemp-
tion of “any disclosure requirements of any State
law,” 20 U.S.C. § 1098g, Great Lakes argued that
the Borrowers’ claims were based on alleged
failures to disclose information. Allowing these
state law claims to proceed, they contended,
would effectively impose additional disclosure
requirements, in violation of § 1098g.

After Great Lakes filed its motion to dismiss,
the Secretary of the DOE issued a notice outlining
the agency’s position regarding federal preemp-
tion of state law by the HEA. See Federal Preemp-
tion and State Regulation of the Department of
Education’s Federal Student Loans Programs and
Federal Student Loan Servicers, 83 Fed. Reg.
10619 (Mar. 12, 2018) (the “Notice”). In the
Notice, the Secretary announced that “Congress
intended section 1098g to preempt any State law
requiring lenders to reveal facts or information not
required by Federal law.” Id. at 10621 (alteration
adopted) (internal quotation marks omitted).7

According to the Notice, state laws imposing
“new prohibitions on misrepresentation or the
omission of material information” ran afoul of §
1098g’s express preemption provision. Id.

Great Lakes notified the district court that the
Notice “squarely addresse[d] the preemption
issue” in Great Lakes’s favor. Doc. 30 at 3. The
district court then directed the parties to file

supplemental briefs regarding the Notice and
whether the court should defer to it.

In its supplemental briefing, Great Lakes again
argued that the Borrowers’ claims were simply
restyled nondisclosure claims that were expressly
preempted. It further argued that even if the court
were to accept that the Borrowers’ claims were
based on affirmative misrepresentations rather
than failures to disclose, the claims nevertheless
should be dismissed for failure to satisfy the
heightened pleading standards of Rule 9(b) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Claims based
on affirmative misrepresentation, Great Lakes
contended, “sound in fraud” and therefore must
satisfy the requirements of Rule 9(b). Doc. 34 at
19-21 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The district court granted Great Lakes’s mo-
tion to dismiss, concluding that the Borrowers’
claims were expressly preempted by § 1098g. The
court addressed only the preemption arguments.
It construed Great Lakes’s alleged misrepresenta-
tions as a “failure to provide accurate informa-
tion,” or “in other words . . . [a] disclosure.” Doc.
44 at 8. Then, looking to Skidmore v. Swift & Co.,
323 U.S. 134 (1944), the district court determined
that the DOE’s guidance in the Notice was enti-
tled to deference and concluded that the HEA
expressly preempted the Borrowers’ Florida state
law claims and granted the motion to dismiss.8

The Borrowers appealed that decision, which we
now review.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW
We review de novo the district court’s grant of

a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim. See
Snow v. DirecTV, Inc., 450 F.3d 1314, 1317 (11th
Cir. 2006) [19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C591a]. We
likewise review de novo whether federal law
preempts a state law claim. Graham v. R.J.
Reynolds Tobacco Co., 857 F.3d 1169, 1181
(11th Cir. 2017) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1549a]
(en banc).

IV. DISCUSSION
The Constitution’s Supremacy Clause makes

federal law “the supreme Law of the Land; . . . any
Thing in the Constitution or Laws of any State to
the Contrary notwithstanding.” U.S. Const., art.
VI, cl. 2. When applying the Supremacy Clause,
we begin “with the assumption that the historic
police powers of the States are not to be super-
seded by Federal Act unless that is the clear and
manifest purpose of Congress.” Cipollone v.
Liggett Grp., Inc., 505 U.S. 504, 516 (1992)
(alterations adopted) (internal quotation marks
omitted). “The purpose of Congress is the ulti-
mate touchstone” of preemption analysis. Retail
Clerks Int’l Ass’n, Local 1625 v. Schermerhorn,
375 U.S. 96, 103 (1963). In determining Con-
gress’s purpose, we look to the “text and structure
of the statute at issue.” CSX Transp., Inc. v.
Easterwood, 507 U.S. 658, 664 (1993). Where
Congress legislates in a field traditionally occu-
pied by the states, the presumption against pre-
emption “applies with particular force.” Altria
Grp., Inc. v. Good, 555 U.S. 70, 77 (2008) [21
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S563a].

Congress’s intent to preempt state law may be
stated expressly in a statute or implied by the
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statute’s structure and purpose. Jones v. Rath
Packing Co., 430 U.S. 519, 525 (1977). Absent
express preemption language, congressional
intent to preempt state law will be implied where
there is a “conflict with a congressional enact-
ment,” Lorillard Tobacco Co. v. Reilly, 533 U.S.
525, 541 (2001) [14 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S470a],
or where “the scheme of federal regulation is
sufficiently comprehensive to make reasonable
the inference that Congress left no room for
supplementary state regulation” in a particular
area of law, Hillsborough Cty. v. Automated Med.
Labs., Inc., 471 U.S. 707, 713 (1985) (internal
quotation marks omitted). These forms of implied
preemption are known as conflict preemption and
field preemption, respectively.

In this appeal we confront the question of
whether the Borrowers’ state law claims are
preempted, expressly or otherwise, by the HEA.
Our answer to the question is no. We divide our
analysis into two parts. In Part A, we address why
the Borrowers’ claims are not expressly pre-
empted by § 1098g of the HEA. In Part B, we
explain why the Borrowers’ claims are not pre-
empted implicitly, either by conflict or field
preemption.

A. The Borrowers’ Claims Are Not Expressly
Preempted.

We first consider whether the Borrowers’
claims are preempted by express language in the
HEA. The HEA includes various provisions that
explicitly preempt certain areas of state law. See,
e.g., 20 U.S.C. §§ 1078(d) (state usury laws);
1091a(a)(2) (state statutes of limitations);
1091a(b)(2) (state law infancy defense). Section
1098g, entitled, “Exemption from State disclosure
requirements,” is one such express preemption
provision. It provides:

Loans made, insured, or guaranteed pursuant
to a program authorized by Title IV of the
[HEA] . . . shall not be subject to any disclo-
sure requirements of any State law.

Id. § 1098g.
It is clear, and the parties do not contest, that §

1098g expressly preempts state laws requiring
federal student loan servicers to make additional
disclosures beyond what the HEA requires. The
Borrowers’ complaint attempts to impose state
disclosure requirements on servicers, Great Lakes
argues, because their affirmative misrepresenta-
tion claims, at their core, are based on a failure to
disclose correct information. We reject Great
Lakes’s characterization of the Borrowers’ claims
and its argument that § 1098g so broadly pre-
empts state law. We conclude that the precise
language Congress used in § 1098g preempts only
state law that imposes disclosure requirements;
state law causes of action arising out of affirma-
tive misrepresentations a servicer voluntarily
made that did not concern the subject matter of
required disclosures impose no “disclosure re-
quirements.”

Before we address Great Lakes’s characteriza-
tion of the Borrowers’ claims, as an initial matter
we must “identify the domain expressly pre-
empted” by § 1098g. Cipollone, 505 U.S. at 517
To identify the domain expressly preempted by

Congress, we read “the words of a statute . . . in
their context and with a view to their place in the
overall statutory scheme.” Home Depot U. S. A.,
Inc. v. Jackson, 139 S. Ct. 1743, 1748 (2019) [27
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S857a] (internal quotation
marks omitted). Section 1098g concerns “disclo-
sure requirements,” but the HEA does not define
“disclosure requirements” or “disclosure.” The
HEA does, however, identify the disclosures it
requires. See 20 U.S.C. § 1083(a), (b), (e).
Viewed in its statutory context, then, the term
“disclosure requirements” refers to the HEA’s
requirements that certain information be commu-
nicated to borrowers during the various stages of
a loan, as laid out in § 1083 of the statute. Thus,
the domain § 1098g preempts is the type of disclo-
sures to borrowers that § 1083 requires.

We now turn to the nature of the Borrowers’
state law claims. We examine whether these
claims are based on failures to disclose, as Great
Lakes contends, such that allowing the claims to
proceed would violate § 1098g. The Borrowers
allege that Great Lakes made affirmative misrep-
resentations to them while they were in the repay-
ment stage of their federal student loans. The most
relevant part of the HEA is § 1083(e), which
details the “[r]equired disclosures during repay-
ment.” See id. § 1083(e). Section 1083(e) princi-
pally requires the servicer to disclose information
about the loan itself, including: the original princi-
pal amount of the loan, the borrower’s current
outstanding balance, the loan’s interest rate, the
fees the borrower has been charged, the total
amount paid in interest on the loan, and the aggre-
gate total amount the borrower has paid on the
loan. See id. § 1083(e)(1). In addition, when a
borrower is having difficulty making payments,
the servicer must provide a description of avail-
able repayment plans, the requirements for for-
bearance on the loan, and the options to help the
borrower avoid defaulting on the loan. See id. §
1083(e)(2).

Comparing these types of disclosures to the
communications between Great Lakes and the
Borrowers here, we find little to no similarity.
Although at first blush the subject of the commu-
nications at issue might appear to resemble a
description of payment plans or options to prevent
default, the Borrowers were not behind on pay-
ments or facing default. Instead, they requested
information about a loan forgiveness program for
borrowers employed in public service jobs, spe-
cifically, whether they were in a position to meet
that program’s requirements. Great Lakes’s
voluntary, personalized, affirmative misrepresen-
tations in the form of advice about whether an
individual borrower was on track to qualify for
the PSLF Program was different in kind from any
disclosure required by this subsection or any other
provision of the HEA. The Borrowers’ claims
therefore did not correspond with a failure to
make a disclosure under the HEA.

In concluding that the Borrowers’ affirmative
misrepresentation claims are simply restyled
failure-to-disclose claims and so allowing the
claims to proceed would impose state law disclo-
sure requirements on servicers in violation of §
1098g, the district court never considered what

constitutes a disclosure under § 1083 or any other
provision of the HEA. Without reference to the
HEA’s identification of information required to
be disclosed, the district court stated that “[c]laims
that a servicer provided inaccurate information
[are] no different than a claim that Great Lakes
failed to make proper disclosures.” Doc. 44 at 9.
Great Lakes contends that this position is sup-
ported by Chae v. SLM Corp., 593 F.3d 936 (9th
Cir. 2010). We first explain why Great Lakes’s
characterization of the Borrowers’ claims as
failure-to-disclose claims is untenable and then
explain why Chae fails to persuade us otherwise.

Taking a close look at the Borrowers’ com-
plaint, we see no allegation that Great Lakes failed
to provide them with any information that it had a
legal obligation to disclose. Rather, the Borrowers
alleged that when Great Lakes chose to provide
them with information it was not required to
disclose—about their eligibility for the PSLF
Program—it gave false information.9 If instead
the Borrowers had alleged that Great Lakes had a
duty to inform them whether they qualified for the
PSLF Program, such a claim might well be pre-
empted. But here, Great Lakes was not required to
say anything about loan forgiveness. It could have
remained silent instead of giving the Borrowers
advice. Holding Great Lakes liable for offering
false information would therefore neither impose
nor equate to imposing on servicers a duty to
disclose information. It would simply require
Great Lakes and other servicers to speak truthfully
when they choose to speak about a borrower’s
qualification for the PSLF Program or any other
topic on which servicers have no duty to disclose.

We find support for this distinction between
an affirmative misrepresentation and a failure to
disclose in the law of torts. To succeed on a
failure-to-disclose claim, the plaintiff must estab-
lish that there was a duty to speak and the duty
was breached. See Chiarella v. United States, 445
U.S. 222, 228 (1980) (“[O]ne who fails to disclose
material information . . . commits fraud only when
he is under a duty to do so. And the duty to dis-
close arises when one party has information that
the other party is entitled to know because of a
fiduciary or other similar relation of trust and
confidence between them” (alteration adopted)
(internal quotations omitted)). In contrast, a claim
alleging an affirmative misrepresentation does not
rely on a duty to disclose. See Nelson v. Great
Lakes Educ. Loan Servs., Inc., 928 F.3d 639, 649
(7th Cir. 2019) (“The common law tort of fraud
ordinarily requires a deliberately false statement
of material fact. An omission or failure to dis-
close, on the other hand, will not support a com-
mon law fraud claim . . . .” (citations omitted)).
Here, the Borrowers alleged no duty to disclose
information about the Borrowers’ eligibility for
PSLF, only a duty to speak truthfully; we thus
reject Great Lakes’s characterization of the Bor-
rowers’ claims as failure-to-disclose claims.

We now address Great Lakes’s argument that
the Ninth Circuit’s decision in Chae supports its
characterization of the Borrowers’ claims as
restyled failure-to-disclose claims.10 Great Lakes
argues that Chae is persuasive as a “nearly identi-
cal” case. Appellee’s Br. at 41. At issue in Chae
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were state law claims challenging how a federal
student loan servicer communicated its methods
of calculating interest, assessing late fees, and
setting the first repayment date. Chae, 593 F.3d at
940-41. The borrowers in Chae claimed, in part,
that the servicer violated California’s unfair
competition law and Consumer Legal Remedies
Act by failing to disclose key information about
these methods in its billing statements and coupon
books.11 Id. at 942. The Ninth Circuit concluded
that these misrepresentation claims were simply
restyled nondisclosure claims that were expressly
preempted by § 1098g. Id. at 943.

Importantly, these claims challenged how the
servicer communicated information that the HEA
required it to disclose. Id. at 942-43; see Nelson,
928 F.3d 649-50 (“The plaintiffs in Chae com-
plained about the supposed failures to disclose
key information in specific ways, such as loan
terms and repayment requirements. Since the
defendant was required to disclose that informa-
tion by federal law and had disclosed it in ways
permitted by federal law, the Ninth Circuit found
that the plaintiffs were implicitly seeking to
impose additional disclosure requirements under
state law.”) Here, however, the Borrowers made
no claim that Great Lakes disclosed in a mislead-
ing manner information it was required to dis-
close; rather, they alleged that Great Lakes volun-
tarily provided information on a matter on which
it was not required to disclose, and while doing so
made affirmative misrepresentations. Chae does
not persuade us that the Borrowers’ claims are
expressly preempted.

Without a doubt, § 1098g of the HEA ex-
pressly preempts a state law’s imposition of
disclosure requirements on federal student loan
servicers, but the Borrowers do not allege that
Great Lakes had a duty to disclose anything about
the PSLF Program—and in fact it had no such
duty. Section 1098g of the HEA does not ex-
pressly preempt the Borrowers’ claims.

B. The Borrowers’ Claims Are Not Otherwise
Preempted.

Having concluded that the Borrowers’ claims
are not expressly preempted, we next turn to Great
Lakes’s argument that the Borrowers’ claims are
preempted implicitly, either by the doctrine of
conflict or of field preemption.12

1. Conflict Preemption Does Not Apply
to the Borrowers’ Claims.

Even where state law is not expressly pre-
empted, it may nevertheless be preempted where
it “conflicts with federal law.” Cipollone, 505
U.S. at 516. Conflict preemption can occur when
(1) it is impossible for a party to comply with both
state and federal law, or (2) the state law “stands
as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execu-
tion of the full purposes and objectives of Con-
gress.” Crosby v. Nat’l Foreign Trade Council,
530 U.S. 363, 373 (2000) (internal quotation
marks omitted). We conclude that conflict pre-
emption does not apply here due to the general
implication that arises when Congress has ex-
pressly preempted specific areas of state law: that
it did not intend to preempt state law more
broadly. But even if the inference against preemp-

tion should not be drawn here, the Borrowers’
claims present no conflict with federal law be-
cause we remain unconvinced that the purpose
Great Lakes advances—uniformity for unifor-
mity’s sake—is in fact a goal of the HEA.

When Congress has explicitly addressed
preemption in a statute, an implication arises that
it did not intend to preempt other areas of state
law. Graham, 857 F.3d at 1189; see Nelson, 928
F.3d at 648 (reasoning that the inclusion of other
express preemption provisions in the HEA
“weigh[s] against attributing to Congress a desire
to preempt state law broadly”). In Cipollone, the
Supreme Court explained:

When Congress has considered the issue of
pre-emption and has included in the enacted
legislation a provision explicitly addressing
that issue, and when that provision provides a
reliable indicium of congressional intent with
respect to state authority, there is no need to
infer congressional intent to pre-empt state
laws from the substantive provisions of the
legislation. Such reasoning is a variant of the
familiar principle of expression unius est
exclusio alterius: Congress’ enactment of a
provision defining the pre-emptive reach of a
statute implies that matters beyond that reach
are not pre-empted.

Cipollone, 505 U.S. at 517 (internal quotation
marks and citations omitted). Based on this impli-
cation, we conclude that conflict preemption does
not apply. In the HEA, Congress included provi-
sions expressly preempting specific areas of state
law, including § 1098. See, e.g., 20 U.S.C. §§
1078(d) (state usury laws); 1091a(a)(2) (state
statutes of limitations); 1091a(b)(2) (state law
infancy defense). Section 1098g “offer[s] no
cause to look beyond” it. Cipollone, 505 U.S. at
517. We therefore find “no need to infer congres-
sional intent to pre-empt state laws from the
substantive provisions” of the HEA. Id. (internal
quotation marks omitted).

But even assuming that conflict preemption
could exist here despite the HEA’s express pre-
emption provisions, we would nonetheless con-
clude that the Borrowers’ claims present no
conflict with the HEA.13 Great Lakes argues that
the Borrowers’ state law claims would interfere
with, and therefore stand as an obstacle to, what
Great Lakes contends was Congress’s objective in
the federal student loan program: uniformity of
communications between loan servicers and
borrowers.14 Great Lakes’s argument fails because
it rests on the mistaken premise that Congress’s
goal in enacting the federal student loan program
was such uniformity. Congress expressly identi-
fied the purposes of the program to include: (A)
“encourag[ing] States and nonprofit institutions
and organizations to establish adequate loan
insurance programs for students,” (B)
“provid[ing] a Federal program of student loan
insurance for students or lenders who do not have
reasonable access to a State or private nonprofit
program of student loan insurance,” (C) “pay[ing]
a portion of the interest on loans to qualified
students which are insured,” and (D)
“guarantee[ing] a portion of each loan insured
under a [qualified] program of a State or of a

nonprofit private institution or organization.” See
20 U.S.C. § 1071(a)(1). Notably, Congress did
not use the word “uniformity” or invoke the
concept of uniformity in § 1071(a)(1).

Absent a statement or other indication from
Congress that its purpose in enacting the FFELP
was uniformity, multiple courts that have exam-
ined this issue have determined that uniformity
was not a goal of the HEA. See Coll. Loan Corp.
v. SLM Corp., 396 F.3d 588, 597 (4th Cir. 2005)
(“We are unable to confirm that the creation of
‘uniformity’ . . . was actually an important goal of
the HEA.”); Daniel v. Navient Sols., LLC, 328 F.
Supp. 3d 1319, 1324 (M.D. Fla. 2018) (“Unifor-
mity, however, is not one of Congress’s expressed
goals in enacting the HEA . . . .”); see also Brooks
v. Salle Mae, Inc., No. FSTCV096002530S, 2011
WL 6989888, at *9 (Conn. Super. Ct. Dec. 20,
2011) (unpublished) (concluding that “because
uniformity is not mentioned as a goal of the
HEA,” compliance with the Connecticut Unfair
Trade Practices Act “is not an obstacle to the
achievement of the objectives of the HEA”).

We acknowledge that the Ninth Circuit in
Chae concluded otherwise when it determined
that although some of the borrowers’ claims were
not expressly preempted by § 1098g, they none-
theless were implicitly preempted because they
posed an obstacle to the uniform operation of
FFELP and therefore the HEA. Chae, 593 F.3d at
946. In concluding that uniformity was an in-
tended purpose of the HEA, the Ninth Circuit
relied on the comprehensive framework of the
FFELP, citing congressional direction to the DOE
in the FFELP that referenced the standardizing of
forms, procedures, terms, conditions, and benefits
throughout the federal student loan programs. Id.
at 944-45. The Ninth Circuit then determined that
allowing state law causes of action to proceed
would conflict with that purpose. Id. at 943, 945.

We are unconvinced by the Ninth Circuit’s
conclusion that uniformity was an intended
purpose of the HEA. Accepting the Ninth Cir-
cuit’s reasoning that the HEA, through regula-
tions in the FFELP, provides a detailed compre-
hensive scheme or the standardization of certain
procedures and other aspects of the federal student
loan program does not lead us to its conclusion
because we do not infer preemption from the
comprehensive nature of a regulation alone. N.Y.
State Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Dublino, 413 U.S.
405, 415 (1973). Although the guidance provided
by Congress in the FFELP is comprehensive,
“subjects of modern social and regulatory legisla-
tion often by their very nature require intricate and
complex responses from the Congress, but with-
out Congress necessarily intending its enactment
as the exclusive means of meeting the problem.”
Id. Chae is also distinguishable because the Ninth
Circuit identified the Congress’s purpose as the
“uniform administration” of the FFELP. 593 F.3d
at 944-55, 948. The claims in Chae concerned
assessment of late fees, establishing repayment
start dates, and interest calculations—core admin-
istrative aspects of the FFELP that arguably
require more nationwide consistency than the
subject of the claims at issue here, personalized
advice about loan forgiveness provided to indi-
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vidual student loan borrowers. See id.; see also
Nelson, 928 F.3d at 651 (noting that the broad
language regarding conflict preemption in Chae
“focused on different sorts of claims, where the
value of uniformity would be more compelling
than it is here” and “assum[ing] the need for
nationwide consistency on those sorts of adminis-
trative mechanics is substantial”).

Even if we assume that uniformity is a purpose
of the HEA, the Borrowers’ claims would not
conflict with that purpose. Congress’s interest in
ensuring uniform disclosures would not be
harmed by a prohibition on voluntary affirmative
misrepresentations See Cipollone, 505 U.S. at 529
(“State-law prohibitions on false statements of
material fact do not create ‘diverse, nonuniform,
and confusing’ standards.”) (plurality opinion);
see also Pennsylvania v. Navient Corp., 354 F.
Supp. 3d 529, 553 (M.D. Pa. 2018) (“Whether or
not ‘uniformity’ is actually a goal of the HEA . . .
[t]he uniformity of the HEA in setting its require-
ments for the standard parameters of the federal
student loan programs is not harmed by prohibit-
ing unfair or deceptive conduct in the operation of
those programs that is not explicitly permitted by
the HEA . . . .”).15 We agree with the reasoning of
these courts: prohibiting Great Lakes from mak-
ing affirmative misrepresentations to borrowers—
in contrast to imposing a duty to disclose—does
no harm to standardization of disclosures for
federal student loan programs.

2. The HEA Does Not Preempt the Field
of Regulation of Student Loans.

Relying on its argument that the HEA requires
uniform administration, Great Lakes argues that
field preemption also applies. Field preemption
exists where Congress has “legislated so compre-
hensively” in an area of law that there is no room
for supplemental state legislation. R.J. Reynolds
Tobacco Co. v. Durham Cty., 479 U.S. 130, 140
(1986).

We find Great Lakes’s field preemption
argument to be the weakest of its preemption
arguments. This Court previously has addressed
the question of field preemption by the HEA in
the context of debt collection and consumer
protection law. See Cliff v. Payco Gen. Am. Cred-
its, Inc., 363 F.3d 1113, 1125-26 (11th Cir. 2004)
[17 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C337a]. Taking into
account the HEA’s express preemption provi-
sions, we concluded in Cliff that “the enactment of
the HEA does not ‘occupy the field’ of debt
collection practices and thus does not impliedly
preempt [state laws].” Id. at 1126. We similarly
conclude here that federal regulation of lending to
students for higher education is not so extensive
as to indicate that Congress intended to occupy
the entire field. The mere fact that Congress has
legislated in this field does not imply that it seeks
to occupy the entirety of it. See Keams v. Tempe
Tech. Inst., Inc., 39 F.3d 222, 226 (9th Cir. 1994)
(observing that “a detailed regulatory scheme
does not by itself imply preemption of state reme-
dies” or an intent by Congress to occupy the entire
field). Given the implication against implied
preemption where Congress has expressly pre-
empted specific areas of state law, see Cipollone,

505 U.S. at 517, we conclude, as we did in Cliff,
that field preemption does not apply to the HEA.

Our conclusion is consistent with decisions
from other courts addressing field preemption by
the HEA. Indeed, no circuit court that has consid-
ered the issue has found field preemption. See
Nelson, 928 F.3d at 652 (“Courts have consis-
tently held that field preemption does not apply to
the HEA, and we do as well.”); Chae, 593 F.3d at
941-42 (noting that “field preemption does not
apply to the HEA”); Armstrong v. Accrediting
Council for Continuing Educ. & Training, Inc.,
168 F.3d 1362, 1369 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (conclud-
ing that “federal education policy regarding
[lending to students] is not so extensive as to
occupy the field”). Field preemption does not
apply to the Borrowers’ claims.

V. CONCLUSION
The district court erred in concluding that the

Borrowers’ claims were preempted by the HEA.
We note that Great Lakes raised in the district
court additional arguments why the Borrowers’
claims should be dismissed, including that the
Borrowers failed to meet Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 9(b)’s heightened pleading standard.
But “[b]ecause none of these issues were decided
initially, we decline to address them for the first
time on appeal.” Leal v. Ga. Dep’t of Corrs., 254
F.3d 1276, 1280-81 (11th Cir. 2001) [14 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C875a]. We thus vacate the district
court’s order granting the motion to dismiss and
remand for further proceedings consistent with
this opinion.

VACATED and REMANDED.
))))))))))))))))))

*Honorable Eduardo C. Robreno, United States
District Judge for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania,
sitting by designation.

1In 2010, the government stopped reinsuring new
FFEL loans. 20 U.S.C. § 1071(d). 3

2Direct loans are subject to the “same terms, condi-
tions, and benefits” as loans issued under the FFELP. 20
U.S.C. § 1087e(a)(1).

3We describe the facts as alleged in the Borrowers’
complaint. In reviewing the grant of a motion to dismiss,
we accept the well-pleaded allegations in the complaint
as true and view them in the light most favorable to the
plaintiff. See Chaparro v. Carnival Corp., 693 F.3d
1333, 1335 (11th Cir. 2012) [23 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1508a].

4The complaint did not identify what the type of
loans Lawson-Ross had; it alleged only that they were
not Federal Direct Loans.

5Citations in the form “Doc. #” refer to the num-
bered entries on the district court’s docket.

6The FCCPA prohibits false representations regard-
ing the character or status of a debt and forbids use of
deceptive debt collection methods. Fla. Stat. § 559.72.

7The Notice further explained that it “interprets
disclosure requirements under section 1098g of the
HEA to encompass informal or non-written communi-
cations to borrowers as well as reporting to third parties
such as credit reporting bureaus.” Notice, 83 Fed. Reg.
at 10621 (internal quotation marks omitted).

8Because the district court concluded that the Bor-
rowers’ claims were preempted, it did not reach the
issue of whether the complaints’ allegations otherwise
sufficed to state a claim for relief.

9The Borrowers additionally argue that § 1083, read
together with DOE regulations, suggests that Congress
intended to draw a distinction between written “disclo-
sures” and “other communications” between a bor-

rower, on the one hand, and a lender or servicer, on the
other, see 34 C.F.R. § 682.205(a)(4)(ii). The Borrowers
contend that this distinction leads to the conclusion that
the HEA provides no “guidance regarding what loan
servicers may or may not communicate in informal
telephonic communications.” Appellants’ Br. at 23.
Therefore, they argue, federal law does not preempt
state law with respect to such communications. Because
we conclude that the affirmative misrepresentations
Great Lakes allegedly made were not subject to disclo-
sure requirements under the HEA, we need not address
this argument.

10Great Lakes also argues that the Borrowers’ claims
are similar to a fraudulent misrepresentation theory the
Supreme Court held to be expressly preempted by § 5 of
the federal Public Health Cigarette Smoking Act of
1969 (“PHCSA”). Cipollone, 505 U.S. at 510. We
disagree that the Borrowers’ claims are analogous to the
preempted fraudulent misrepresentation theory in
Cipollone. First, the preemption statute at issue in
Cipollone contained broader, different language than §
1098g of the HEA. Second, the Borrowers’ affirmative
misrepresentation claims are more like the second
theory of fraudulent misrepresentation addressed in
Cipollone. The Court held in Cipollone that the plain-
tiffs’ second theory of fraudulent misrepresentation was
not preempted because it was based not on a duty related
to smoking and health, the subject of the PHCSA, but
“rather on a more general obligation[,] the duty not to
deceive.” Id. at 528-29 (plurality opinion). Similarly,
the Borrowers’ claims are based not on a duty to dis-
close but the duty not to deceive. Thus, we are not
persuaded by Great Lakes’s argument that Cipollone
leads to a contrary conclusion.

11The plaintiffs in Chae also brought claims against
the servicer for breach of contract, unjust enrichment,
breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair
dealing, and the use of fraudulent and deceptive prac-
tices apart from the billing statements. See Chae, 593
F.3d at 943. Because the Ninth Circuit held that these
claims were not expressly preempted, we do not discuss
them here.

12The district court did not address conflict or field
preemption; having concluded that the Borrowers’
claims were expressly preempted, the court had no need
to address implied preemption.

13Great Lakes argues that we must defer to the
DOE’s determination in the Notice that Congress
intended for the HEA to preempt state laws regulating
servicers of FFEL loans. See Notice, 83 Fed. Reg. at
10621. But we conclude that the Notice is entitled to no
special deference. We find persuasive the district court’s
analysis of what deference the Notice is owed in Student
Loan Servicing Alliance v. District of Columbia, 351 F.
Supp. 3d 26, 48-49 (D.D.C. 2018), and similarly con-
clude that Skidmore, 323 U.S. at 138, 140, provides the
appropriate framework for determining whether the
agency’s determination is entitled to deference. Under
Skidmore, we conclude that the Notice should be given
little weight because “it is not particularly thorough and
it ‘represents a stark, unexplained change’ in the Depart-
ment’s position.” Nelson, 928 F.3d at 651 n.2 (quoting
Student Loan Servicing Alliance, 351 F. Supp. 3d at 50).
We acknowledge that the Notice also addresses express
preemption; however, we find the Notice unpersuasive
as to express preemption for the same reason.

14Relying on Boyle v. United Technologies Corp.,
487 U.S. 500, 508 (1988), Great Lakes also advances a
broader theory of conflict preemption, one based on the
“uniquely federal interest in uniformity.” Appellee’s Br.
at 28. In Boyle, the Supreme Court held that state law is
preempted where there is: (1) “an area of uniquely
federal interest” and (2) a “significant conflict exists
between an identifiable federal policy or interest and the
operation of state law, or the application of state law
would frustrate specific objectives of federal legisla-
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tion.” Boyle, 487 U.S. at 507 (alteration adopted)
(citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Great
Lakes argues that there is a uniquely federal interest
present in the HEA because loan servicers act under
contracts with the federal government.

It is true that when liability is imposed on federal
government contractors, the interest of the federal
government is affected. The inquiry does not end there,
however, because even though the conflict in an area of
uniquely federal interest “need not be as sharp as that
which must exist for ordinary pre-emption,” a “conflict
there must be.” Id. at 507-08. Because we conclude that
uniformity is not an overarching goal of the HEA, no
such conflict exists, and Boyle is inapplicable.

15An appeal of this decision is currently pending
before the Third Circuit. See Pennsylvania v. Navient
Corp., No. 19-2116 (3rd Cir).

*        *        *

Criminal law—Sentencing—Armed Career
Criminal Act—Prior violent felony—Prior
conviction for making terroristic threats under
Georgia statute is not a predicate violent felony
under elements clause of ACCA—Because the
statute is indivisible and overbroad under
Mathis v. United States, a violation of that
statute categorically does not constitute a
predicate offense under elements clause—
Accordingly, defendant does not have three
qualifying predicate offenses as required to
support ACCA enhancement—Resentencing
required—Extensive discussion of Mathis
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff-Appellee, v.
NAJEE OLIVER, Defendant-Appellant. 11th Circuit. Case
No. 17-15565. April 8, 2020. Appeal from the U.S. District
Court for the Southern District of Georgia (No. 4:17-cr-00065-
WTM-GRS-1).

(Before WILSON, JILL PRYOR, and TALL-
MAN,* Circuit Judges.)

[Original Opinion at 28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C701a]

(WILSON, Circuit Judge.) We vacate our prior
opinion in United States v. Oliver, 946 F.3d 1276
(11th Cir. 2020) [28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C701a],
and substitute the following.

Najee Oliver pled guilty to possessing a fire-
arm and ammunition as a convicted felon under
18 U.S.C. §§ 922(g) and 924(a)(2). Based on his
prior convictions, including a prior Georgia
conviction for making terroristic threats under
O.C.G.A. § 16-11-37(a) (2010), Oliver was
sentenced under the Armed Career Criminal Act
(ACCA) to 180 months in prison. On appeal,
Oliver argues that his prior conviction for making
terroristic threats is not a predicate violent felony
under the elements clause of the ACCA, 18
U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B)(i). Because § 16-11-37(a)
is indivisible and overbroad under Mathis v.
United States, 136 S. Ct. 2243, 2249 (2016) [26
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S315a], a violation of that
statute categorically does not constitute a predi-
cate offense under the elements clause of the
ACCA. Therefore, Oliver does not have three
qualifying predicate offenses, as required to
support the application of the ACCA enhance-
ment, and we remand to the district court for
resentencing.

I. Background
Late one evening, an officer from the

Savannah-Chatham Metropolitan Police Depart-

ment observed Oliver pulling on car door handles.
When the officer approached, Oliver fled, and the
officer followed. During the pursuit, Oliver threw
a firearm and a bag over a fence into a nearby
construction site. Shortly after, the officer appre-
hended Oliver. Police then investigated the con-
struction site and recovered a loaded 9mm Glock
pistol, which the police later determined was
stolen in a residential burglary. They also recov-
ered the bag, which contained 45 grams of mari-
juana.

A federal grand jury indicted Oliver on three
felony counts: possession of a firearm and ammu-
nition by a convicted felon, in violation of §§
922(g)(1) and 924(a)(2) (Count One); possession
with intent to distribute a controlled substance, in
violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) (Count Two);
and using and carrying a firearm during and in
relation to the drug trafficking offense charged in
Count Two, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
924(c)(1)(A)(i) (Count Three). Oliver pled guilty
to Count One pursuant to a written plea agree-
ment, and the district court dismissed Counts Two
and Three.

A probation officer prepared a presentence
investigation report (PSI), which stated that
Oliver qualified as an armed career criminal under
the ACCA based on two prior convictions for
possession with intent to distribute and his prior
Georgia conviction for making terroristic threats.1

Based on an offense level of 30 and a criminal
history category of VI, his initial guideline range
was 168-210 months’ imprisonment. But because
Oliver qualified as an armed career criminal, the
ACCA mandated a 15-year minimum sentence.
The guideline range was thus 180-210 months.

At sentencing, Oliver objected to his armed-
career-criminal status, arguing that his prior
Georgia conviction for making terroristic threats
did not qualify as a violent felony for purposes of
the ACCA enhancement. In the PSI, the probation
officer asserted that Oliver’s terroristic-threats
conviction “clearly qualified as the ‘threatened
use of physical force against the person of an-
other’ ” within the meaning of the ACCA. Fur-
ther, the government argued that, based on United
States v. Greer (Greer I), 440 F.3d 1267, 1273-74
(11th Cir. 2006) [19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C312a],
and the conduct underlying the offense, Oliver’s
conviction for making terroristic threats was a
violent felony under the ACCA. The district court
overruled Oliver’s objection, applied the ACCA
enhancement, and sentenced Oliver to 180
months’ imprisonment.

II. Discussion
Oliver challenges the district court’s determi-

nation that a conviction for making terroristic
threats qualifies as a violent felony under the
ACCA’s elements clause. He argues that Geor-
gia’s terroristic-threats statute, § 16-11-37(a), can
be violated without the use, attempted use, or
threatened use of physical force against the person
of another. Specifically, he argues that the statute
can be violated by threatening to commit “any
crime of violence” against the person or property
of another. Therefore, he asserts, Georgia’s statute
is overly broad and encompasses conduct that
falls outside of the ACCA’s definition of a violent

felony.
We review de novo a district court’s determi-

nation that a prior conviction qualifies as a violent
felony under the ACCA. See United States v.
Howard, 742 F.3d 1334, 1341 (11th Cir. 2014)
[24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1047a].

A. The ACCA’s Elements Clause
The ACCA imposes a 15-year mandatory-

minimum sentence on defendants who violate §
922(g) and have three prior convictions for “a
violent felony or a serious drug offense, or both.”
18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(1). Under the elements clause,
the ACCA defines “violent felony” as any crime
punishable by a term of imprisonment exceeding
one year that “has as an element the use, attempted
use, or threatened use of physical force against the
person of another.” Id. § 924(e)(2)(B)(i).

Under this provision, “use” requires active
employment of physical force. Leocal v. Ashcroft,
543 U.S. 1, 9 (2004) [18 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S9a]. The Supreme Court has clarified that “the
phrase ‘physical force’ means violent force—that
is, force capable of causing physical pain or injury
to another person.” Johnson v. United States, 559
U.S. 133, 140 (2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S152a].

In determining whether a state conviction
qualifies as a violent felony under the ACCA’s
elements clause, we employ a “categorical ap-
proach,” examining only “the elements of the
statute of conviction, not the specific conduct of a
particular offender.” United States v. Davis, 875
F.3d 592, 597 (11th Cir. 2017) [27 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C368a] (alteration accepted) (internal quota-
tion marks omitted). Because an examination of
the state conviction does not involve an analysis
of its underlying facts, we must presume that the
conviction rested upon the “least of the acts
criminalized” by the statute. Moncrieffe v. Holder,
569 U.S. 184, 190-91 (2013) [24 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. S160a] (alteration accepted) (internal quota-
tion mark omitted). If the “least of the acts
criminalized” by the statute of conviction has an
element requiring “the use, attempted use, or
threatened use of physical force against the person
of another,” then the offense categorically quali-
fies as a violent felony under the ACCA’s ele-
ments clause. See Davis, 875 F.3d at 597. “If not,
that is the end of our inquiry and the prior convic-
tion does not count as a violent felony under the
elements clause.” Id.

In a narrow range of cases, however, the
statute of conviction is “divisible,” which makes
comparison of the elements more difficult. A
divisible statute “lists multiple, alternative ele-
ments,” which “effectively creates several differ-
ent crimes.” Descamps v. United States, 570 U.S.
254, 264 (2013) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S343a]
(alteration accepted) (internal quotation mark
omitted). For example, a divisible burglary statute
might state that “burglary involves entry into a
building or an automobile.” Id. at 257. When
faced with an offense from a divisible statute, we
must employ the “modified categorical approach”
to determine “which crime in the statute formed
the basis of the defendant’s conviction.” Davis,
875 F.3d at 597. Under the modified categorical
approach, a “court looks to a limited class of
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documents . . . to determine what crime, with what
elements, a defendant was convicted of.” Mathis,
136 S. Ct. at 2249.

B. The Mathis Framework
Determining whether a statute is indivisible or

divisible is not always a simple task. Sometimes,
a statute may appear to describe alternative
“elements”—that is, the “ ‘constituent parts’ of a
crime’s legal definition,” which the prosecution
must prove to obtain a conviction—but it actually
describes alternative “means.” Cintron v. U.S.
Att’y Gen., 882 F.3d 1380, 1384 (11th Cir. 2018)
[27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C626a]. “Means,” by
contrast, are merely “various factual ways of
committing some component of the offense [and]
a jury need not find (or a defendant admit) any
particular item.” Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2249. This
determination makes a difference: If a statute lists
alternative means, rather than alternative ele-
ments, and any one of those means “would not
constitute [a violent felony], then the statute is
indivisible and categorically cannot constitute a [a
violent felony under the ACCA].” See Cintron,
882 F.3d at 1384.

The Supreme Court in Mathis set forth a
framework for determining whether an alterna-
tively phrased statute sets forth elements or
means. The Supreme Court instructed courts to
consult “authoritative sources of state law,”
including the language of the statute itself, perti-
nent state court decisions, and—if state law fails
to provide clear answers—record documents from
the defendant’s own prior conviction. Mathis, 136
S. Ct. at 2256. As to a statute’s text, the “statutory
alternatives [may] carry different punishments,”
which would indicate that they were elements. Id.
On the other hand, the alternatives may be
“drafted to offer ‘illustrative examples,’ ” in
which case the alternatives would be different
means of committing the offense. Id. Finally, “a
statute may itself identify which things must be
charged (and so are elements) and which need not
be (and so are means).” Id.

If the language of the statute does not resolve
the question, “a state court decision may.”
Cintron, 882 F.3d at 1385 (citing Mathis, 136 S.
Ct. at 2256). In Mathis, the Court concluded that
a state court decision holding that the alternatively
listed items were “alternative methods of commit-
ting one offense, so that a jury need not agree” on
a specific statutory alternative, “definitively
answer[ed] the question.” Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at
2256 (alteration accepted) (internal quotation
mark omitted). “When a ruling of that kind ex-
ists,” the Court stated, “a sentencing judge need
only follow what it says.” Id.

And if the text of the statute and state deci-
sional law is unclear, “then courts may look to
other evidence of state law, including indictments
or jury instructions.” Cintron, 882 F.3d at 1385
(citing Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2256-57). For in-
stance, if one of these documents includes all the
statutory alternatives or uses a “single umbrella
term,” then this indicates that the statute is indivis-
ible. Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2257. On the other
hand, “an indictment and jury instructions could
indicate, by referencing one alternative term to the

exclusion of all others, that the statute contains a
list of elements, each one of which goes toward a
separate crime.” Id.

Mathis also stated that “[o]f course, such
record materials will not in every case speak
plainly,” although such “indeterminancy should
prove more the exception than the rule.” Id.
Importantly, this Court has held that if these
sources of state law “do not ‘speak plainly,’ [then
we] must resolve the inquiry in favor of indivisi-
bility.” Cintron, 882 F.3d at 1385 (citing Mathis,
136 S. Ct. at 2257). With this framework in mind,
we examine these sources of state law to deter-
mine whether Georgia’s terroristic-threats statute
contains alternatively listed elements or means
and, therefore, whether it is divisible.

C. Applicability of Greer I
Before we analyze § 16-11-37(a) under

Mathis, we address the government’s argument
that this case is controlled by Greer I. In that case,
we held that a determination of whether a Georgia
terroristic-threats conviction qualifies as a violent
felony under the ACCA is a question for the
district court judge, not the jury. The government
contends that we already decided in Greer I that a
Georgia terroristic-threats conviction qualifies as
an ACCA predicate offense. But because that was
not our holding in Greer I, we conclude that it
does not control this appeal.

In Greer I, we determined that the district
court erred by refusing to impose an enhanced
sentence under the ACCA based on its determina-
tion that “if anything beyond the conviction itself
and the statutory elements had to be considered in
making the violent crime finding, the Constitution
requires that the jury make it.” 440 F.3d at 1273.
We held that determining the nature of a prior
conviction for ACCA purposes was a determina-
tion for a judge, not a jury, to make. Id. at 1275.
To be sure, Greer I stated that “there was no real
dispute” in the case as to whether Greer’s indict-
ments “proved that [his] three prior convictions
were crimes of violence under the ACCA.” Id. at
1273. However, in reaching our conclusion that
this determination rests with the district court
judge, we relied on the district court’s character-
ization of the defendant’s terroristic-threats con-
victions as violent felonies. See id. at 1273-74.
And because the defendant in Greer I did not
challenge this determination, we had no occasion
to consider the issue further. Moreover, Greer I’s
discussion about the substance of the ACCA
determination was tangential to the primary issue
in the case—specifically, if a district court judge,
instead of a jury, can decide whether a defendant’s
prior conviction is an ACCA predicate offense.
See id. at 1273; see also Aqua Log, Inc. v. Lost &
Abandoned Pre-Cut Logs & Rafts of Logs, 709
F.3d 1055, 1060 n.4 (11th Cir. 2013) [24 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C13a] (“A holding is both the result
of the case and those portions of the opinion
necessary to that result.” (internal quotation mark
omitted)).

Thus, we did not decide in Greer I the
divisibility of Georgia’s terroristic-threats statute.
Further, Greer I did not explicitly address whether
a Georgia terroristic-threats conviction qualifies

as a violent felony under the ACCA’s
enumerated-offense clause, elements clause, or
residual clause.2 Therefore, we find that Greer I
does not control here.3

D. Divisibility of Georgia’s
Terroristic-Threats Statute

Returning to the framework set forth in
Mathis, we now consider whether Georgia’s
terroristic-threats statute, § 16-11-37(a), is divisi-
ble. At the time of Oliver’s conviction, Georgia’s
terroristic-threat statute provided:

A person commits the offense of a terroristic
threat when he or she threatens to commit any
crime of violence, to release any hazardous
substance, as such term is defined in
[O.C.G.A. §] 12-8-92, or to burn or damage
property with the purpose of terrorizing an-
other or of causing the evacuation of a build-
ing, place of assembly, or facility of public
transportation or otherwise causing serious
public inconvenience or in reckless disregard
of the risk of causing such terror or inconve-
nience. No person shall be convicted under
this subsection on the uncorroborated testi-
mony of the party to whom the threat is com-
municated.

O.C.G.A. § 16-11-37(a) (2010). Thus, the statute
lists three types of threats that qualify as a viola-
tion of the statute: (1) threats “to commit any
crime of violence,” (2) threats “to release any
hazardous substance,” and (3) threats “to burn or
damage property.” Id.

It is clear from the face of the statute that not
all threats criminalized by the statute require the
“threatened use of physical force against the
person of another,” as is required to satisfy the
ACCA’s elements clause. See 18 U.S.C. §
924(e)(2)(B)(i). Specifically, the statutory phrase
criminalizing a threat “to burn or damage prop-
erty” lacks any requirement of physical force
against a person. Thus, if the alternatively listed
threats in § 16-11-37(a) are means, and therefore
the statute is indivisible, then a conviction under
the statute cannot serve as a predicate violent
felony under the ACCA. See Cintron, 882 F.3d at
1384.

The government therefore urges us to con-
clude that the Georgia statute is divisible, requir-
ing application of the modified categorical ap-
proach. The government contends that the statute
contains divisible threat elements, and that the
type of threat underlying Oliver’s conviction—a
threat to “commit any crime of vio-
lence”—always contains an element of threatened
violent force against another. However, because
we conclude that the statute is indivisible, we
disagree.

As explained above, Mathis instructs us to first
look to authoritative state law—the statute itself
and state decisional law—to determine whether a
statute refers to elements or means. Here, we
cannot resolve this question based solely on the
text of the statute. First, § 16-11-37(a) lacks the
clarifying traits described in Mathis as dispositive.
The statute does not assign different punishments
to the different types of threats, it does not offer
illustrative examples of any of the threats, and it
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does not “identify which things must be charged
(and so are elements) and which need not be (and
so are means).” See Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2256;
O.C.G.A. § 16-11-37(a). Further, the statute
facially suggests indivisibility: it contains “lan-
guage indicating that the . . . methods of commis-
sion are to be treated as a single offense,” a fact
that we have explained weighs in favor of indivis-
ibility. Cintron, 882 F.3d at 1387; see O.C.G.A. §
16-11-37(a) (“A person commits the offense of a
terroristic threat . . . .” (emphasis added)).4 Ac-
cordingly, the language of the statute does not
“speak plainly” to whether the statute’s alterna-
tives are elements or means, so we proceed to
consider state case law. See Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at
2256-57; Cintron, 882 F.3d at 1385.

Similarly, Georgia’s state court decisions are
not dispositive. In Mathis, the Supreme Court
explained that a state court decision sufficiently
resolved the divisibility inquiry when it (1) de-
scribed statutory alternatives as “alternative
method[s] of committing the single crime of
burglary” and (2) clarified that a jury need not
unanimously agree on the particular method the
defendant used. Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2250, 2256
(alteration adopted) (internal quotation mark
omitted).

Here, Georgia case law is inconclusive as to
whether the statute describes elements or means.
To be sure, Georgia appellate decisions appear to
suggest that § 16-11-37(a) describes a single
offense that may be committed in several ways.
See Koldewey v. State, 714 S.E.2d 371, 373 (Ga.
Ct. App. 2011) (“To prove the crime of terroristic
threats as alleged in Counts 1 through 4, the
State’s burden was to show that Koldewey
‘threaten[ed] to commit any crime of violence . . .
or to burn or damage property . . . .” (quoting
O.C.G.A. § 16-11-37(a))); Armour v. State, 594
S.E.2d 765, 767 (Ga. Ct. App. 2004) (“A person
commits the crime of making a terroristic threat
when he threatens to commit any crime of vio-
lence or to burn or damage property . . . .”). By
referring to making terroristic threats as a single
offense that could be committed in more than one
way, Georgia case law suggests that the listed
types of threats are alternative “means of satisfy-
ing the actus reus element of [the] offense.” Schad
v. Arizona, 501 U.S. 624, 632 (1991) (plurality
opinion); see Robert E. Cleary Jr., Kurtz Criminal
Offenses and Defenses in Georgia 1751 (2011
ed.) (“The actus reus of the crime of terroristic
threats is threatening to commit any crime of
violence, to release any hazardous substance, or to
burn or damage property.”). However, no Georgia
appellate decision has “definitively answer[ed]
the question”—“elements or means?”—with the
certainty described in Mathis. See 136 S. Ct. at
2256.5

Because these sources of state law do not
clearly resolve whether the types of threats are
means or elements, we may “peek” at the record
of Oliver’s prior conviction, including the “in-
dictment and correlative jury instructions.” Id. at
2256-57. The pattern jury instruction for § 16-11-
37(a) reads:

A person commits terroristic threats when that
person threatens to (commit any crime of

violence) (release any hazardous substance)
(burn/damage property) with the purpose of

(a) (terrorizing another) (in reckless disre-
gard of the risk of causing terror), or

(b) (causing evacuation of a building, place
of assembly, facility of public transportation),
or

(c) (causing serious public inconvenience)
(in reckless disregard of the risk of causing
serious public inconvenience)[.]

Council of Superior Court Judges of Georgia,
Suggested Pattern Jury Instructions, Vol. II:
Criminal Cases, § 2.24.10 (4th ed. 2018).6 Given
the instruction’s format, we cannot conclusively
say that it either lists a single statutory alternative
to the exclusion of all others or lists every statu-
tory alternative. Rather, the instruction appears to
be a template for an instructing court to tailor to
the facts of a case. The way in which the three
threats are alternatively listed may at first suggest
that they are separate elements, but then the same
interpretation does not fit for the alternatively
listed mens rea requirements that follow in sub-
sections (a) through (c). Indeed, it does not make
sense to interpret each alternatively listed mens
rea requirement as a distinct element.

We could also look to Oliver’s indictment,
but, as the government concedes, that indictment
is not part of the record. The government points to
Oliver’s PSI, which refers to the indictment in
Oliver’s terroristic-threats case and states that it
charged Oliver solely with threatening a crime of
violence. But such reference to an indictment that
is not part of the record does not squarely fit
within the Mathis framework. See Mathis, 136 S.
Ct. 2243, 2256-57. Even if Mathis permits us to
peek at the language in Oliver’s indictment, it is
inconclusive, as it does not by necessity mean that
the term is an element. See id. at 2257 (“[A]n
indictment and jury instructions could indicate, by
referencing one alternative term to the exclusion
of all others, that the statute contains a list of
elements . . . .” (emphasis added)). Regardless,
without more than this reference to the indict-
ment, we cannot conclude that Oliver’s record of
conviction clearly indicates divisibility. Contra
United States v. Gillis, 938 F.3d 1181, 1205 (11th
Cir. 2019) [28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C311a] (per
curiam) (“Because all of the information before us
points in the same direction, we have no trouble
concluding that § 1201(a) is indivisible and that
the categorical, rather than the modified categori-
cal, approach applies.”).

Accordingly, because the statute’s text, state
case law, and the record of conviction do not
“speak plainly” as to whether the statute is divisi-
ble, we “must resolve the inquiry in favor of
indivisibility.” Cintron, 882 F.3d at 1385. And
because the statute is indivisible and it is
overbroad, we conclude that it categorically does
not qualify as an ACCA predicate offense. As
such, Oliver does not have three qualifying predi-
cate offenses under the ACCA. Therefore, we
reverse the district court’s application of the
ACCA enhancement and remand to the district
court to resentence Oliver without the enhance-
ment.

REVERSED AND REMANDED.

))))))))))))))))))
*Honorable Richard C. Tallman, United States

Circuit Judge for the Ninth Circuit, sitting by designa-
tion.

1The ACCA mandates a 15-year minimum sentence
for a defendant who commits an offense in violation of
§ 922(g) and has three prior convictions for a violent
felony or a serious drug offense. 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(1).

2Greer I was decided prior to Johnson v. United
States, 135 S. Ct. 2551 (2015) [25 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S459a]. In Johnson, the Supreme Court struck down as
unconstitutionally vague the ACCA’s “residual clause,”
which defined a violent felony, in part, as any crime
punishable by a term of imprisonment exceeding one
year that “otherwise involves conduct that presents a
serious potential risk of physical injury to another.” Id.
at 2555-58; 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B)(ii). Several other
Supreme Court cases with precedential value in the
ACCA context were also decided after Greer I, includ-
ing Descamps and Mathis.

3The defendant in Greer I recently appealed the
district court’s denial of his 28 U.S.C. § 2255 motion to
correct his sentence. See Greer v. United States (Greer
II), 749 F. App’x 887 (11th Cir. 2018) (unpublished).
He argued that his sentence under the ACCA was
invalid because his prior Georgia terroristic-threats
convictions did not qualify as violent felonies. Id. at
888. Because the parties agreed that the Georgia statute
was divisible, we assumed the statute was divisible, but
did not decide the question. Id. at 892. We concluded
that only threatened violent force is criminalized under
the “crime of violence” prong of Georgia’s terroristic-
threats statute. Id. at 894-95. The defendant’s three prior
terroristic-threats convictions therefore qualified as
violent felonies under the ACCA’s elements clause. Id.
at 895. Like Greer I, we decline to give Greer II control-
ling weight. Greer II is an unpublished decision and is
not binding on our merits panel. Moreover, Greer II
leaves open the question of whether Georgia’s
terroristic-threats statute is divisible, which is an essen-
tial determination in this case.

4The dissent argues that the structure of the
terroristic-threats statute indicates divisibility. Dissent-
ing Op. at 25. Respectfully, we disagree. The dissent
correctly notes that we determined in Davis that a
sexual-abuse statute, which contained an exhaustive
list, rather than illustrative examples, and referred to
“the crime of sexual abuse,” was nonetheless divisible.
Davis, 875 F.3d at 598 (emphasis added). However, the
format of that statute more clearly indicated divisibility,
see Ala. Code § 13A-6-66(a), and, moreover, our
opinion offered little reasoning or guidance as we
merely stated “[o]n its face § 13A-6-66(a) lists two
separate crimes: sexual abuse by forcible compulsion
and sexual abuse of a person incapable of consent by
reason of being physically helpless or mentally incapac-
itated.” Davis, 875 F.3d at 598.

Furthermore, we have held that a statute that pun-
ishes an individual who “knowingly sells, purchases,
manufactures, delivers, or brings into this state, or who
is knowingly in actual or constructive possession of”
certain narcotics is indivisible because these various
acts are “denominated as a single offense—‘trafficking
in illegal drugs.’ ” Cintron, 882 F.3d at 1385-86. We
concluded that this “suggest[ed] that the six listed
alternatives were all means of accomplishing ‘traffick-
ing,’ rather than separate elements creating distinct
offenses.” Id. at 1386. The same reasoning is persuasive
in interpreting § 16-11-37(a).

5The dissent makes three arguments why Georgia
case law conclusively shows that the statute is divisible.
Respectfully, we disagree with each.

First, the dissent says that relevant cases show that
Georgia prosecutors routinely charge defendants with
separate crimes under the terroristic-threats statute.
Dissenting Op. at 27-28. The dissent states that the
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indictments in these cases reference one term—usually,
threatening to commit a crime of violence—to the
exclusion of all other terms, thus suggesting that the
statute contains elements, not means. This analysis
misapplies the Mathis framework. Mathis tells us to
look to state case law in the elements-or-means inquiry
to see if a state court decision “definitively answers the
question,” such as by clearly holding that a statute
contains “alternative methods of committing one
offense.” Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2256 (alteration ac-
cepted) (internal quotation mark omitted). Mathis also
tells us we may also look to the record of conviction,
including the indictment, in the case at hand. Id. at
2256-57. But Mathis does not direct us to consider the
indictments in other cases, when those cases have not
considered what a prosecutor must charge in the indict-
ment, or what the jury must find. See id.

It is worth mentioning that in United States v.
Gundy, where we held that Georgia’s burglary statute
listed separate elements, not means, we noted that,
“[i]ndeed, in every case cited by Gundy and the govern-
ment, the indictment specified the type of place or
premises burgled.” 842 F.3d 1156, 1167 (11th Cir.
2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1014a]. However, our
analysis of state case law rested on the definitive rulings
in state cases as to what must be charged and, more
significantly, proved to obtain a conviction for Georgia
burglary, in accordance with the Mathis framework. See
id. at 1167 (citing cases). We did not rely on the indict-
ments in other cases cited by Gundy and the govern-
ment to decide that the statute was divisible.

Second, the dissent says that Georgia courts have
long acknowledged that the various actus rei and mentes
reae under the terroristic-threats statute are in fact
elements. Dissenting Op. at 29. The cases the dissent
cites all explain that there are two essential elements of
the offense. We agree. This fact, though, merely begs
the question whether the actus reus alternatives are
means or alternative elements. The cases the dissent
cites do not answer this question. The dissent argues that
Georgia’s cases “stand in stark contrast to the Iowa
cases that Mathis considered, which consistently
described Iowa’s burglary law as one offering ‘alterna-
tive method[s]’ of committing a single offense.” Id. at
30 (quoting Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2256). True, but this is
because the case law from Iowa squarely addressed the
issue, which the Georgia cases do not.

Third, the dissent criticizes our reliance on
Koldewey and Armour. The dissent says that these cases
“colloquially” refer to a singular crime of terroristic
threats. Id. at 31. We do not find insignificant a court’s
reference to a singular “crime” when the statute it is
analyzing expressly refers to a singular “offense,” as is
the case here. See O.C.G.A. § 16-11-37(a). Our dissent-
ing colleague also argues that these cases support his
view of the statute, not ours, because those cases in-
volved separate counts of terroristic threats. We dis-
agree. As a technical matter, Armour involved only one
count of terroristic threats. The court mentioned in
passing that “the evidence would have supported a
terroristic threat charge” based on the defendant’s threat
to beat up a person, “but the indictment charged Armour
only” with a count based on his threat to burn the per-
son’s residence. Armour, 594 S.E.2d at 767 & n.4. In
any event, nothing prevents a prosecutor from charging
multiple counts of terroristic threats for different threats.
That happens all the time. And it is what happened in
these cases.

6The version of this jury instruction at the time of
Oliver’s conviction was the same, except that it omitted,
apparently inadvertently, “release any hazardous
substance,” although that alternative was part of § 16-
11-37(a) at the time.

))))))))))))))))))
(TALLMAN, Circuit Judge, dissenting.) Najee

Oliver was convicted of being a felon in posses-
sion of a firearm. Having previously been con-
victed of two serious drug offenses and of making
“terroristic threats” under Georgia state law—for
threatening to shoot his then-girlfriend and mak-
ing good on the threat by showing up at her house
and firing a round—Oliver’s sentence was prop-
erly enhanced under the Armed Career Criminal
Act (ACCA), 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B)(i). The
majority today reverses that enhancement. Be-
cause I would find that Oliver’s terroristic-threats
conviction qualifies as a violent felony under the
ACCA, I respectfully dissent.

I
The majority ably summarizes both our

ACCA jurisprudence and the facts of this case.
See Maj. Op. at 2-7. I agree that we are bound to
follow the so-called categorical approach to
determine whether state offenses qualify as vio-
lent felonies under the ACCA—that is, regardless
of the actual facts of the case, we must decide if
“the least of the acts criminalized [by the statute of
conviction] includes the use, attempted use, or
threatened use of physical force against another
person.” United States v. Davis, 875 F.3d 592,
597 (11th Cir. 2017) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C368a]. I agree that the Georgia terroristic-threats
statute, O.C.G.A. § 16-11-37(a)1 criminalizes
some conduct that is unquestionably outside the
ACCA’s ambit, such as its prohibition on
“burn[ing] or damag[ing] property.” The question
before us is (1) whether the statute is divisible,
and, if so, (2) whether the crime for which Oliver
was convicted is categorically a violent felony
under the ACCA.2 Because Oliver’s case is em-
blematic of the type of crime for which Congress
sought to enhance a recidivist’s punishment, I
would answer “yes” to both questions and affirm
the district court.

II
At the time Oliver was convicted, § 16-11-

37(a) of the Georgia Code read in relevant part:
A person commits the offense of a terroristic
threat when he or she threatens to commit any
crime of violence, to release any hazardous
substance . . . or to burn or damage property
with the purpose of terrorizing another or of
causing the evacuation of a building, place of
assembly, or facility of public transportation
or otherwise causing serious public inconve-
nience or in reckless disregard of the risk of
causing such terror or inconvenience.

O.C.G.A. § 16-11-37(a) (2010). Because none of
the crimes included in this statute are enumerated
in 18 U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B)(ii) (the “enumerated
offenses clause”), the conviction only qualifies as
a predicate offense under the ACCA if it “has as
an element the use, attempted use, or threatened
use of physical force against the person of an-
other,” id. at § 924(e)(2)(B)(i) (the “elements
clause”).

Applying the categorical approach to the
statute as a whole, it is plain that a person could be
convicted for conduct other than a violent felony.
For example, a threat to burn an office building
does not qualify as a violent felony under the
elements clause because it does not entail physical

force against the person of another. But, as the
Supreme Court noted in Mathis v. United States,
136 S. Ct. 2243, 2249 (2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. S315a], “a single statute may list elements in
the alternative, and thereby define multiple
crimes.” In such situations, we must determine if
a statute’s distinct parts are “elements”—and that
the statute “thereby define[s] multiple crimes”—
or “means”—in which case the statute contains “a
diverse means of satisfying a single element of a
single crime.” Id. Determining a statute’s
divisibility entails, as the majority aptly outlines,
“consult[ing] ‘authoritative sources of state law,’
including the language of the statute itself, perti-
nent state court decisions, and—if state law fails
to provide clear answers—record documents from
the defendant’s own prior conviction.” Maj. Op.
at 7-8 (quoting Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2256).

Only after we have determined that a statute is
divisible may we employ the “modified categori-
cal approach,” looking “to a limited class of
documents (for example, the indictment, jury
instructions, or plea agreement and colloquy) to
determine what crime, with what elements, a
defendant was convicted of.” Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at
2249. Finally, we must determine whether the
crime for which the defendant was convicted is
categorically a violent felony. See Davis, 875 F.3d
at 600.

A
The three factors we examine in assessing

divisibility—the statute, the state case law, and
the record documents of the defendant’s prior
conviction—together paint a picture about
whether a statute is divisible. They serve as guide-
posts to help us distinguish means from elements,
which are “[a]t a trial, what the jury must find
beyond a reasonable doubt to convict the defen-
dant, . . . and at a plea hearing, they are what the
defendant necessarily admits when he pleads
guilty.” Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2248.

The language of the Georgia statute in ques-
tion, Georgia state-court decisions, and Oliver’s
conviction record collectively demonstrate that §
16-11-37(a) is divisible. The statute sets forth an
exhaustive list that bears no resemblance to
Mathis’s indivisible statute. The Georgia courts
call § 16-11-37(a)’s parts elements, and they
make clear that prosecutors must prove the partic-
ular threat alleged. And the indictment to which
Oliver pleaded guilty charged him with threaten-
ing a crime of personal violence only—not for a
generalized “terroristic threat” that could encom-
pass any of the three kinds of threats that compose
the statute.

B
In Mathis, the Supreme Court observed that in

some cases “the statute on its face may resolve the
[divisibility] issue.” 136 S. Ct. at 2256. Mathis
provides a few helpful hints to divine whether a
statute’s parts are elements or means. First, it tells
us that “[i]f statutory alternatives carry different
punishments, then . . . they must be elements.” Id.
Second, “if a statutory list is drafted to offer ‘illus-
trative examples,’ then it includes only a crime’s
means of commission.” Id.

Section 16-11-37(a) is divided into three parts.



Headnotes and indexes are copyrighted and may not be duplicated by photocopying, printing,
or other means without the express permission of the publishers. 1-800-351-0917

U.S. COURT OF APPEALS, ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1015

It criminalizes three separate acts—threatening to
(1) commit any crime of violence; (2) release any
hazardous substance; or (3) burn or damage
property—committed with four separate mentes
reae: (1) terrorizing another; (2) causing the
evacuation of a building, place of assembly, or
facility of public transportation; (3) otherwise
causing serious public inconvenience; or (4) in
reckless disregard of the risk of causing such
terror or inconvenience. See O.C.G.A. § 16-11-
37(a). Admittedly, the statute carries no separate
punishments, so that version of the means-or-
elements test might initially suggest indivisibility.

But neither does the statute offer illustrative
examples. It is therefore not like the type of statute
Mathis told us indicates “means” rather than
“elements.” United States v. Howard, 742 F.3d
1334, 1348 (11th Cir. 2014) [24 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C1047a], provides a good example of an
indivisible statute. It criminalizes unlawful entry
into “structures”—where that term is defined by
a long list beginning with the phrase “and such
term includes”—which, we held, denoted means,
not elements. By contrast, the statute in Davis,
which criminalizes two types of sexual assault—
one violent; one of an incapacitated or disabled
person—lists elements. 875 F.3d at 598. Our
statute’s exhaustive list looks much more like the
statute in Davis than the one in Howard. Rather
than providing a laundry list of various ways in
which a person may commit a single crime, like
the statute in Howard, § 16-11-37(a) provides
three distinct ways in which a defendant may
violate its terms. Its structure indicates that it
creates three separate crimes with different
elements—not a single crime with sundry means
of commission.

While I think the structure of the statute is an
indication of divisibility, the majority would have
the reader disregard the statutory structure and
instead rely on the portion of § 16-11-37(a) refer-
ring to “the offense”—in the singular—of a
terroristic threat. See Maj. Op. at 13-14. The
majority leans on Cintron v. U.S. Attorney Gen.,
882 F.3d 1380, 1387 (11th Cir. 2018) [27 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C626a], to support its claim that a
statute’s referring to “the offense” is an indication
that the statute’s parts are means, not elements.
See Maj. Op. at 13-14. And the majority dismisses
Davis’s contrary holding out of hand—in a
footnote—because “our opinion [in Davis] of-
fered little reasoning or guidance.” Id. at 14 n.4. I
would not so lightly discard one of our
precedential opinions. True: it is difficult to
reconcile Davis and Cintron with regard to how
they grapple with their respective statutes’ no-
menclature for the crimes they proscribe. But
Davis remains good law, and the majority is thus
wrong to count the statute’s terminology as
among the factors “suggest[ing] indivisibility.”3

Maj. Op. at 13.
Section 16-11-37(a)’s structure—like the

Davis statute’s—indicates that it is divisible. Its
reference to “the crime” of terroristic threats—like
Davis’s, to the crime of sexual assault—does
nothing to call that indication into question.

C
While I think § 16-11-37(a)’s structure favors

finding it divisible, I nonetheless grant that the
statute’s text leaves its divisibility open for de-
bate, so I turn to the next factor Mathis tells us to
examine: state-court decisions interpreting the
statute. Precedential state-court decisions serve as
strong evidence that the statute’s actus rei—
threatening to commit a crime of violence, threat-
ening to release any hazardous substance, or
threatening to burn or damage property—are
“elements” one or more of which “the jury must
find beyond a reasonable doubt” in order to
convict, Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2248, depending on
the crime charged, as opposed to “alternative
methods” of committing one crime on which “a
jury need not agree,” id. at 2256.

An examination of the relevant cases reveals
that Georgia prosecutors routinely charge defen-
dants with separate crimes—requiring proof on
different combinations of elements—under the
terroristic-threats statute. The most commonly
prosecuted crime appears to be threatening to
commit a crime of violence with the purpose of
terrorizing another. The indictments in all of the
terroristic-threats cases “referenc[e] one alterna-
tive term” (threatening to commit a crime of
violence) “to the exclusion of all others” (threat-
ening to release any hazardous substance, or to
burn or damage property), which tends to show
the terroristic-threats statute “contains a list of
elements, each one of which goes toward a sepa-
rate crime.” Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2257 (emphases
added).

Indictments so framed pervade Georgia case
law. See, e.g., Bryant v. State, 832 S.E.2d 826,
830 (Ga. 2019) (indictment alleged defendant
“threaten[ed] to commit Murder, a crime of
violence, with the purpose of terrorizing” the
victim); Poole v. State, 326 Ga. App. 243, 247,
756 S.E.2d 322, 328 (2014) (indictment charged
three terroristic-threats counts, each of which
“allege[d] that Poole, ‘with the intent to terrorize,’
threatened to commit a ‘crime of violence’ against
a specific victim on a specific date or limited
range of dates”); Smith v. State, 319 Ga. App. 640,
641, 738 S.E.2d 95, 96 (2013) (indictment “ac-
cused Smith of committing terroristic threats
specifically by threatening to commit aggravated
assault with the purpose of terrorizing the salon’s
owner and one of the customers”); State v. Hors-
ley, 310 Ga. App. 324, 325, 714 S.E.2d 1, 2
(2011) (indictment charged defendants with
“threaten[ing] to commit a crime of violence, to
wit: murder with the purpose of terrorizing Sir
Elton Hercules John”); Martin v. State, 303 Ga.
App. 117, 119, 692 S.E.2d 741, 743 (2010)
(indictment charged defendant with threatening to
commit “a crime of violence, to wit: murder upon
the person of Barbara Hightower”); Martin v.
State, 219 Ga. App. 277, 283, 464 S.E.2d 872,
878 (1995) (indictment charged defendant with
“threaten[ing] to commit a crime of violence with
the purpose of terrorizing another”).

The indictments set forth above list only those
elements relevant to the specific crime charged—
one regarding the defendant’s actus reus (threat-
ening to commit a crime of violence), the other
regarding his or her mens rea (with the purpose of
terrorizing another). To convict a defendant, the

jury must decide that the state has proven both
elements beyond a reasonable doubt. See, e.g.,
Martin, 303 Ga. App. at 119, 692 S.E.2d at 743
(finding the state presented “ample evidence to
allow the jury to find the[ ] elements [of threaten-
ing a crime of violence, with the purpose of terror-
izing another] beyond a reasonable doubt”).

The same principles apply in other cases for
different crimes charged under the terroristic-
threats statute. For instance, an indictment alleg-
ing a defendant committed the crime of threaten-
ing to burn down a victim’s house will be charged
only under the burn-or-damage element of § 16-
11-37(a), to the exclusion of the other two actus
reus elements. See Armour v. State, 265 Ga. App.
569, 571 n.4, 594 S.E.2d 765, 767 n.4 (2004). The
jury in a burn-or-damage case is tasked with
considering only whether the government has
carried its burden in proving the defendant threat-
ened to burn or damage property with a criminal
purpose. See Robinson v. State, 288 Ga. App. 219,
221, 653 S.E.2d 810, 813 (2007) (finding evi-
dence sufficient to support defendant’s conviction
for threatening to burn down a restaurant); see
also Masson v. Slaton, 320 F. Supp. 669, 672-73
(N.D. Ga. 1970) (explaining that, to charge a
defendant under the terroristic-threats statute, “the
court need only consider that portion of the statute
under which the plaintiff was indicted”—the part
criminalizing the threat “to burn or damage prop-
erty, with the purpose of terrorizing another”).

Just as Georgia prosecutors charge defendants
with separate crimes under the statute’s elements,
and jurors decide whether the prosecutors proved
those elements, Georgia courts have long ac-
knowledged the actus rei and mentes reae are
“elements” giving rise to separate crimes. See
Bryant, 832 S.E.2d at 830-31 (explaining that,
under § 16-11-37(a), “the State must establish two
elements to sustain a conviction for making
terroristic threats: (a) that the defendant threat-
ened to commit a crime of violence against the
victim, and (b) that the defendant did so with the
purpose of terrorizing the victim” (internal quota-
tion marks and citation omitted) (emphasis
added)); Clement v. State, 309 Ga. App. 376, 379,
710 S.E.2d 590, 592 (2011) (same); Poole, 326
Ga. App. at 249, 756 S.E.2d at 329 (“[T]he essen-
tial elements of the crime of terroristic threats are
a threat to commit a crime of violence with the
purpose of terrorizing another.” (emphasis
added)); Smith, 319 Ga. App. at 641, 738 S.E.2d
at 96 (“[T]he State was required to prove two
essential elements: (1) that Smith threatened the
victims with aggravated assault and (2) that he
acted with the purpose of terrorizing them.”
(emphasis added)); Martin, 303 Ga. App. at 119,
692 S.E.2d at 743 (“[T]he State was required to
prove two elements: (1) that Martin threatened to
murder Barbara and (2) he did so with the purpose
of terrorizing her.” (emphasis added)); Martin,
219 Ga. App. at 283, 464 S.E.2d at 878 (“The
essential elements of terroristic threats and acts
are: (1) a threat to commit any crime of violence
. . . (2) . . . with the purpose of terrorizing an-
other.” (emphasis added) (omissions in original)).

These Georgia decisions stand in stark contrast
to the Iowa cases that Mathis considered, which
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consistently described Iowa’s burglary law as one
offering “alternative method[s]” of committing a
single offense. 136 S. Ct. at 2256 (finding that an
Iowa state-court decision describing Iowa’s
burglary law component parts as “alternative
method[s]” thereby “definitively” established that
the law comprised means, not elements).

The majority offers two state-court decisions
to cast doubt on whether the balance of Georgia
cases accurately treats the terroristic-threats stat-
ute’s component parts as “elements.” See Maj.
Op. at 15. In both decisions cited by the majority,
the courts colloquially refer to “the crime,” in the
singular, “of terroristic threats.” They say things
like, “[t]o prove the crime of terroristic threats . . .
the State’s burden was to show that Koldewey
‘threaten[ed] to commit any crime of violence . . .
or to burn or damage property[.]’ ” Koldewey v.
State, 310 Ga. App. 788, 789, 714 S.E.2d 371,
373 (2011). See also Armour, 265 Ga. App. at
571, 594 S.E.2d at 767 (“A person commits the
crime of making a terroristic threat when he
threatens to commit any crime of violence or to
burn or damage property[.]”). I disagree that the
majority’s interpretation of these quotations is the
only reasonable one, but taken out of context, they
might suggest that threatening to commit a crime
of violence and threatening to burn or damage
property are alternative means of committing the
single crime of terroristic threats. But the majority
neglects to mention that the indictments underly-
ing both cases charge the defendants with sepa-
rate crimes, all under the terroristic-threats statute,
and as separate counts.

In Koldewey, for instance, the prosecution
charged the defendant in a six-count indictment
that included two counts for threatening to kill
victim A.W. on two separate occasions, another
count for threatening to kill victim C.W., and an
additional count for threatening to set fire to a
home. 310 Ga. App. at 788-89, 714 S.E.2d at 372-
73. The Koldewey indictment presented three
charges for two separate crimes, all under the
terroristic-threats statute: (1) two counts of threat-
ening to commit a crime of violence, and (2) one
count of threatening to burn or damage property.
The facts of Koldewey make clear that each count
contained different elements the prosecution had
to prove to establish the defendant committed the
separate crimes which the statute proscribes.

The Armour defendant was charged solely
with the single crime of threatening to burn down
a house. 265 Ga. App. at 571 n.4, 594 S.E.2d at
767 n.4. The court proceeded to analyze only that
element of the terroristic-threats statute, to the
exclusion of all others, while acknowledging the
defendant’s other conduct might also have sup-
ported a separate charge under a separate statutory
element (a threat to commit a crime of violence),
though the prosecution did not charge him with
the other offense. Id.

Significantly, neither the prosecution in
Koldewey nor in Armour (nor in any other Geor-
gia case that I could find) sought to charge the
defendants with a generalized “terroristic-threats
crime.” Cf. Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2257 (explaining
that where one count of an indictment reiterates
all the terms of a state’s law, “[t]hat is as clear an

indication as any that each alternative is only a
possible means of commission, not an element
that the prosecutor must prove to a jury beyond a
reasonable doubt”). The indictments in these
Georgia cases instead accused the defendants of
specific crimes, each requiring proof on unique
elements, which the state was obligated to prove
in order to convict. Georgia precedent is clear and
directly answers the question, posed by the major-
ity, “whether the actus reus [and mens rea] alterna-
tives” of § 16-11-37(a) “are means or alternative
elements,” Maj. Op. at 16 n.5: threatening to
commit a crime of violence against another,
threatening to release a hazardous substance, and
threatening to burn or damage property are ele-
ments, not means. The terroristic-threats statute is
divisible.

Facing this overwhelming body of Georgia
law, and with but two cases that only superficially
support its argument, the majority throws up its
hands and declares the Georgia case law useless as
a guide to § 16-11-37(a)’s divisibility. It so argues
based on an unsupported and internally inconsis-
tent reading of Mathis. The majority insists that
state-court decisions make clear a statute is divisi-
ble only if they explicitly state that a statute’s
component parts are “means” or “elements.” Maj.
Op. at 16 n.5. But Mathis does not require state
courts to utter any talismanic words before we can
find divisibility in the ACCA context. The Su-
preme Court in Mathis, apparently cognizant that
such state-court incantations would be rare,
permitted lower courts to rely on a suite of factors
to be examined in employing the modified cate-
gorical approach, which are “indication[s]” that
bear on the ultimate determination of divisibility,
whether or not they definitively dispose of it. 136
S. Ct. at 2256-57 (emphasis added). One “indica-
tor,” which we have expressly relied on in con-
cluding a Georgia statute was divisible, is the
form of an indictment. Indeed, where a Georgia
prosecutor must select and identify the component
parts of a statute to charge in an indictment, such
“is the hallmark of a divisible statute.” United
States v. Gundy, 842 F.3d 1156, 1167 (11th Cir.
2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1014a] (conclud-
ing burglary statute was divisible).4

Only a few pages after insisting that Mathis
gives rise to a rigid analytical framework—one
that would require courts to cast a blind eye to
clear trends in state case law directly bearing on
the divisibility question—the majority changes its
tune, insisting that a defendant’s previous indict-
ment merely “could indicate” divisibility but,
inexplicably, ultimately declining to follow
Mathis on that issue. The majority cannot have it
both ways. The Mathis framework either is a strict
test to be mechanically applied (as the majority
disingenuously implies with regard to state-court
decisions), or it is a useful roadmap to guide
courts in undertaking the complicated divisibility
question (as the majority later concedes). The
Mathis framework, as correctly applied here,
yields but one conclusion: Georgia case law—
replete with references to “elements” and exam-
ples of different types of threats charged as alter-
native counts—provides a strong indication that
§ 16-11-37(a)’s parts are elements, and that the

statute is therefore divisible.

D
Although we need not consider the record of

Oliver’s prior conviction under the modified
categorical approach—because Georgia state
decisions clarify that § 16-11-37(a) is divisible—I
do note that the record supports the same conclu-
sion. Most significantly, and in accordance with
the previously mentioned cases, Oliver’s indict-
ment charged him exclusively under that portion
of Georgia’s statute criminalizing a “threat[ ] to
commit any crime of violence . . . with the pur-
pose of terrorizing another.” By charging Oliver
with that specific offense—to the exclusion of the
crimes of threatening to release a hazardous
substance and threatening to burn or damage
property—his indictment further confirms the
statute is divisible. See Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2257
(“[A]n indictment . . . could indicate, by referenc-
ing one alternative term to the exclusion of all
others, that the statute contains a list of elements,
each one of which goes toward a separate
crime.”).

The majority’s suggestion that, because the
“indictment is not part of the record,” we cannot
consider its substance, makes no sense, particu-
larly where both the United States’ brief and
Oliver’s presentence report quote it in relevant
part. Maj. Op. at 18. The indictment may not be a
part of the court “record” in the sense that neither
party formally filed it with either the district court
or our Court. But the indictment certainly is part
of Oliver’s “record of prior conviction,” which
Mathis expressly authorizes us to consider, see
136 S. Ct. at 2256-57, and which we have ac-
knowledged is precisely the type of document
subject to judicial notice, see Francisco v. U.S.
Attorney Gen., 884 F.3d 1120, 1123 n.2 (11th Cir.
2018) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C672a] (acknowl-
edging that, ordinarily, “the terms of the charging
document” are “not in dispute and thus are subject
to judicial notice”); see also Fed. R. Evid.
201(b)(2) (permitting courts to take judicial notice
of facts not subject to reasonable dispute because
they “can be accurately and readily determined
from sources whose accuracy cannot be reason-
ably questioned”). The clear rule authorizing us to
consider Oliver’s indictment perhaps explains the
majority’s awkward two-step, acknowledging the
potential usefulness of the indictment immedi-
ately after disclaiming our ability to rely on it.
Maj. Op. at 18 (the terms of an indictment “could
indicate” divisibility). The majority deftly side-
steps the correct answer: the indictment does
indicate divisibility, and it is a clear sign that § 16-
11-37(a)’s parts are elements.5

Considered together, the text of the statute,
precedential state-court decisions, and Oliver’s
record of prior conviction lead to the ineluctable
conclusion that the statute is divisible.

III
Having found the statute divisible—and that

Oliver was plainly charged under its crime-of-
violence section—I would further conclude that
the offense for which Oliver was convicted is a
“violent felony” under the ACCA. 18 U.S.C. §
924(e)(1). The ACCA’s elements clause defines
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a violent felony as “any crime punishable by
imprisonment for a term exceeding one year . . .
that . . . has as an element the use, attempted use,
or threatened use of physical force against the
person of another.” Id. at § 924(e)(2)(B)(i). This
analysis is “categorical”—it entails no examina-
tion of the facts underlying Oliver’s conviction.
See Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2248 (the ACCA “cares
not a whit about [such facts]”); Davis, 875 F.3d at
597. Rather, it requires us to scrutinize “the fact of
conviction and the elements required for convic-
tion.” Davis, 875 F.3d at 597. If—and only if—
“the least of the acts criminalized includes the use,
attempted use, or threatened use of physical force
against another person” may the conviction
qualify as a violent felony under the ACCA. Id.
That is, all possible violations of the statutory
phrase must involve force (or an attempt or threat
of the same)—or else the violation cannot count
as a predicate offense for ACCA purposes. See id.
at 598.

That force must be more than mere harmless
touching; it must be “violent force—that is, force
capable of causing physical pain or injury to
another person.” United States v. Johnson, 559
U.S. 133, 140 (2010) (Curtis Johnson) [22 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S152a]. And, as the preceding
quotation makes clear, the force threatened must
be against another person, not against property.

While the violation of a statute (or statutory
phrase) that criminalizes nonviolent conduct
cannot constitute a predicate offense under the
ACCA, the mere theoretical possibility that a
statute could be applied to nonviolent conduct
will not serve to render all convictions under the
statute unreachable under the ACCA. See, e.g.,
United States v. St. Hubert, 909 F.3d 335, 350
(11th Cir. 2018) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1509a]
(rejecting appellant’s contention that a Hobbs Act
robbery—which requires “fear of injury”—could
be committed without force because “a hypotheti-
cal nonviolent violation of the statute, without
evidence of actual application of the statute to
such conduct, is insufficient to show a realistic
probability” that the statute could be violated
without the use, attempted use, or threat of force
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted)),
abrogated on other grounds by United States v.
Davis, 139 S. Ct. 2319 (2019) [27 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. S1031a]. This point was trenchantly estab-
lished in Gonzales v. Duenas-Alvarez, 549 U.S.
183, 193 (2007) [20 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S47a],
where the Supreme Court, applying the categori-
cal analysis to the Immigration and Nationality
Act’s (INA) enumerated-offenses clause trigger-
ing removal, held that there must be “a realistic
probability, not a theoretical possibility, that the
State would apply its statute to conduct that falls
outside” the activity covered by the INA. Absent
concrete evidence of convictions under the
violent-crimes portion of § 16-11-37(a) for nonvi-
olent activity, I would hold that all convictions
under that section are violent felonies for purposes
of the ACCA.

A
The relevant portion of Georgia’s terroristic-

threats statute criminalizes “threaten[ing] to
commit any crime of violence . . . with the pur-

pose of terrorizing another.” O.C.G.A. § 16-11-
37(a). The statute has a straightforward actus
reus—threatening a crime of violence6—and an
equally straightforward mens rea: acting with the
purpose of terrorizing another person. The ques-
tion for our purposes is whether all possible
violations of the statute “includ[e] the use, at-
tempted use, or threatened use of physical force
against another person.” Davis, 875 F.3d at 597.

Georgia courts are the ultimate expositor on
Georgia state law. See, e.g., Howard, 742 F.3d at
1346 (“[S]tate law is what the state supreme court
says it is.”). The Georgia courts read the statutory
phrase at issue here to require two elements for
conviction: “(a) that the defendant threatened to
commit a crime of violence against the victim, and
(b) that the defendant did so with the purpose of
terrorizing the victim.” Bryant, 832 S.E.2d at 831
(quoting Clement, 309 Ga. App. at 379, 710
S.E.2d at 592). While the term “crime of vio-
lence” could bear expounding, the Georgia courts
instead insist on giving the phrase its ordinary
meaning. See, e.g., Lanthrip v. State, 235 Ga. 10,
11, 218 S.E.2d 771, 773 (1975) (“There are no
hidden pitfalls or disguised traps into which the
unwary may fall and commit the crime. The
statute can be read and understood by a person of
ordinary intelligence seeking to avoid its viola-
tion.”); Major v. State, 301 Ga. 147, 152, 800
S.E.2d 348, 352 (2017) (“A person of ordinary
intelligence can clearly understand the meaning of
threatening to commit any crime of violence.”).

So what is the ordinary meaning of “crime of
violence”? “Violence” means “the use of physical
force so as to injure, abuse, damage, or destroy.”
Violence, MERRIAM-WEBSTER (Dec. 4, 2019,
11:25:20 AM), https://www.merriam-web-
ster.com/dictionary/violence. A threat of a crime
of violence, then, is a threat to physically injure
the victim.

The result is simple: to find that a Georgia
defendant in Oliver’s shoes violated the violent-
crimes portion of the terroristic-threats statute, the
jury must find that he (1) threatened a crime of
violence against another (2) with the purpose of
terrorizing that person. And a “crime of violence”
is a crime involving the use of physical force. By
necessity, all convictions under this statutory
phrase must involve a threat of physical force—
precisely what is required under the ACCA.
Categorically, a person cannot be convicted under
this part of the terroristic-threats statute unless he
threatens violence. It really is that simple.

B
Oliver contends that a person “could violate

this statute without using, attempting to use, or
threatening to use force against another.”7 But he
describes no plausible scenario—and I can think
of none—wherein a person could be convicted of
“threatening to commit any crime of violence,”
O.C.G.A. § 16-11-37(a), without “threaten[ing]
. . . physical force against another person,” 18
U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B)(i).

The key difference between those provi-
sions—the absence of any language in the Geor-
gia statute requiring that the threat of violence be
directed against a person—appears at first to
indicate a potential category of crimes covered by

the Georgia statute that does not involve physical
force against another person, namely the threat of
a crime of violence against the property of an-
other. Theoretically, a person could be charged
with “threaten[ing] to commit any crime of vio-
lence . . . with the purpose of terrorizing another”
for, say, threatening to slash his neighbor’s tires.
But that reading of the Georgia statute is wrong
for two reasons.

First, Georgia courts read this statutory phrase
to require that the threat be made against the
victim. See, e.g., Bryant, 832 S.E.2d at 831 (list-
ing as an element of the terroristic-threats statute
that the defendant “threatened to commit a crime
of violence against the victim” (emphasis added));
Clement, 309 Ga. App. at 379, 710 S.E.2d at 592
(same). This is key: the Georgia Supreme Court
holds that a person may not be convicted under
the crime-of-violence section of § 16-11-37(a)
unless the threat of a crime of violence is directed
toward another human. See Bryant, 832 S.E.2d at
831. As construed by Georgia’s highest legal
authority, the statute simply does not allow a
conviction for a threat of a crime of violence made
against property. Georgia prosecutors have appar-
ently caught the hint: my survey of Georgia law
uncovered not a single case in which a defendant
was prosecuted under the crime-of-violence
portion of § 16-11-37(a) for threatening violence
against property.8 In the absence of any evidence
of the statute’s being used to prosecute threats of
violence against property, I would abide by St.
Hubert’s and Duenas-Alvarez’s admonition not to
engage in imaginative speculation about its poten-
tial uses. See St. Hubert, 909 F.3d at 350; Duenas-
Alvarez, 549 U.S. at 193.

Second, reading the crime-of-violence section
of § 16-11-37(a) to include threats of crimes
against property (e.g., window smashing or tire
slashing) would render superfluous the statute’s
burn-or-damage section. There is a strong pre-
sumption against reading a statutory provision in
such a way as to make another portion of the same
statute superfluous. See Corley v. United States,
556 U.S. 303, 314 (2009) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S757a] (“A statute should be construed so that
effect is given to all its provisions, so that no part
will be inoperative or superfluous, void or insig-
nificant.” (internal quotation marks and citation
omitted)); In re Daughtrey, 896 F.3d 1255, 1276
n.51 (11th Cir. 2018) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1065a] (“The canon against surplusage is stron-
gest when an interpretation would render super-
fluous another part of the same statutory scheme.”
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted)).
If threatening to commit a crime of violence
against property is sufficient to be convicted
under the crime-of-violence section, the burn-or-
damage section serves no purpose. Any threat to
commit a crime of violence against property is—
necessarily—a threat to damage that property.

Taken together, the Georgia courts’ interpreta-
tion of the terroristic-threats statute and the pre-
sumption against superfluity counsel strongly in
favor of reading “threatens to commit any crime
of violence” as criminalizing only threats of
violence against another person. Any conviction
under the crime-of-violence section of § 16-11-
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37(a) therefore constitutes “threaten[ing] . . .
physical force against the person of another” as
contemplated in the ACCA’s elements clause. 18
U.S.C. § 924(e)(2)(B)(i). That is, threatening
physical force against the person of another is an
element of any and all convictions under the
crime-of-violence section of Georgia’s terroristic-
threats statute. A conviction under that portion of
the statute—like Oliver’s—therefore qualifies as
a predicate offense triggering the ACCA’s sen-
tence enhancement.

IV
I would hold that § 16-11-37(a) is divisible,

Oliver was convicted under its crime-of-violence
section, and such a conviction categorically
qualifies as a “violent felony” under the ACCA’s
elements clause. The majority errs in coming to
the opposite conclusion. I respectfully dissent.
))))))))))))))))))

1While Oliver was convicted under an earlier
version of the statute, the former and revised versions
are identical in all material respects.

2I agree with the majority that United States v.
Greer, 440 F.3d 1267 (11th Cir. 2006) [19 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C312a], does not control our decision here.

3It may very well be that the statute in Cintron
indicated indivisibility by referring to its laundry list of
six kinds of drug crimes as “the offense.” See 882 F.3d
at 1385-86. But such terminology does not always and
necessarily so indicate, as Davis makes clear. And § 16-
11-37(a)’s three nonoverlapping parts bear much
greater resemblance to the two-part, divisible sexual-
assault statute in Davis, see 875 F.3d at 598, than to
Cintron’s six-part litany, see 882 F.3d at 1385.

4I do not understand why the majority relies on
Gundy to establish that federal courts must rely on
“definitive rulings in state cases as to what must be
charged and proved to obtain a conviction.” Maj. Op. at
16 n.5. The majority claims that in Gundy we relied only
on definitive state-court rulings, and that we specifically
did not “rely on the indictments in other cases cited by
Gundy and the government to decide that the statute was
divisible.” Id. But the plain text of Gundy directly
contradicts the majority’s argument. Gundy expressly
acknowledged that, “in every case cited by Gundy and
the government, the indictment specified the type of
place or premises burgled,” thus supporting divisibility.
842 F.3d at 1167 (emphasis added). We then concluded
that, based on the indictments underlying the parties’
cases, combined with definitive state-court rulings, the
Georgia statute at issue was divisible. Id. at 1168 (“For
all of the above reasons, we conclude that the alterna-
tive locational elements in the Georgia statute are
divisible.”) (emphasis added). Gundy simply does not
support the majority’s position here.

5I agree with the majority that the Georgia pattern
jury instruction for § 16-11-37(a) is inconclusive for our
purposes. See Maj. Op. at 17-18.

6Section 16-11-37(a) uses the phrase “crime of
violence” instead of “physical force” in the ACCA. That
discrepancy is readily resolved: Curtis Johnson tells us
that when the ACCA says “physical force,” it means
“violent force.” 559 U.S. at 140. What is required under
the ACCA, then, is that the predicate offense involve the
threat of violent force. The Georgia statute requires a
threat of a crime of violence. There is no daylight
between those provisions.

7Oliver relies on Stewart v. United States, No. 5:06-
cr-00039-HL-CHW-1, 2017 WL 1407641, at *2 (M.D.
Ga. Apr. 19, 2017), in which a federal district court
adopted a magistrate judge’s findings and recommenda-
tions that—because § 16-11-37(a) could support a
conviction for threatening a simple battery, which itself

is categorically not a violent felony, see Curtis Johnson,
559 U.S. at 139-40—the statute “includes means that do
not involve the requisite level of force” under the
ACCA “and is overbroad.” I think the Stewart court
erred in analyzing not whether § 16-11-37(a)’s crimes
(terroristic threats) were “violent felonies,” but instead
focusing on whether the underlying crime threatened
(i.e. ., simple battery) was a “violent felony.” Under our
categorical analysis, it does not matter whether the
crime threatened is a violent one categorically. What
matters is that the terroristic threat is a violent one. In
Shepherd v. State, 230 Ga. App. 426, 496 S.E.2d 530
(1998), cited by the magistrate judge, the jury deter-
mined that the defendant had threatened to commit a
simple battery in a violent manner. That conduct al-
lowed the defendant to be convicted under the crime-of-
violence section of § 16-11-37(a), and likewise qualifies
as a violent felony under the ACCA.

8The United States provides a comprehensive list of
Georgia prosecutions under the statute in the appendix
to its brief. It shows the same: there are no prosecutions
for threatening violence against property under the
portion of § 16-11-37(a) relevant here.

*        *        *

Bankruptcy—Appeals—Jurisdiction—Stand-
ing—Injury in fact—Person-aggrieved doc-
trine—Individual who failed to allege a partic-
ularized, actual injury resulting from bank-
ruptcy court order lacked standing to continue
appeal after second appellant, which undoubt-
edly had standing, settled underlying dispute
and dismissed its appeal—Individual appel-
lant failed to allege a direct and substantial
interest in question being appealed or explain
how bankruptcy court order diminished his,
rather than the dismissed appellant’s, prop-
erty, increased his burdens, or impaired his
rights—No merits to argument that appellant
has aggrieved-person standing because bank-
ruptcy court order will ultimately cause him
financial loss or because he is attacking the
inherent fairness of bankruptcy proceeding
In Re: BAY CIRCLE PROPERTIES, LLC, Debtor.
CHITTRANJAN THAKKAR, Plaintiff-Appellant, DCT
SYSTEMS GROUP, LLC, Plaintiff, v. BAY POINT CAPI-
TAL PARTNERS, LP, BAY POINT ADVISORS, LLC,
CHARLES ANDROS, JOHN DOE, 1, JOHN DOE, 2,
Defendants-Appellees. 11th Circuit. Case No. 18-12536. April
8, 2020. Appeal from the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of Georgia (No. 1:18-cv-00357-RWS, Bkcy No. 15-
bkc-58440-WLH).

(Before WILSON, BRANCH, and JULIE
CARNES, Circuit Judges.)

(WILSON, Circuit Judge.) Initially, when co-
plaintiffs Chittranjan Thakkar and DCT Systems
Group, LLC (DCT) jointly appealed to this court,
we had no reason to doubt our jurisdiction. But
then, after briefing, DCT settled and dismissed its
appeal, leaving Thakkar as the sole appellant.
DCT’s exit created a jurisdictional problem—
Thakkar, an individual without injury, lacks
standing. We thus dismiss Thakkar’s appeal.

I.
Thakkar claims to be “affiliated with” DCT.

Thakkar and DCT each had loans with Wells
Fargo. When DCT declared bankruptcy, Thakkar,
DCT, and Wells Fargo entered into a Settlement
Agreement for debt owed on the loans, securing
them with two properties DCT owned and to

which Thakkar asserted a “beneficial interest.”1

Thakkar alleges the properties were worth at least
$8 million together. The Agreement included a
deeds-in-lieu-of-foreclosure remedy for Wells
Fargo: upon default, “Lender may at any time and
in its discretion, without further notice to any
Obligor or any other Person, record one or more
of the Deeds in Lieu to effectuate a transfer of title
to one or more Parcels of the Encumbered Prop-
erty.”

Wells Fargo sold its interest in the Agreement
to Bay Point, and DCT ultimately defaulted on the
loans. Thakkar alleges that, upon default, DCT
owed $2.7 million on the debt, and Bay Point
chose to record the properties’ deeds. Thakkar
alleges that recording one deed would have satis-
fied the debt. The bankruptcy court overseeing
DCT’s bankruptcy authorized Bay Point “to
exercise (in Bay Point’s sole discretion) any and
all rights and remedies,” including foreclosure,
and Bay Point pursued foreclosure on both prop-
erties.

Two days before the foreclosure sale, counsel
for DCT purported to tender payment of the
remaining debt to Bay Point, stating over email, “I
can confirm to you that the sum of [$2.8 million]
is in escrow to be tendered on behalf of DCT and
such sum [can] be remitted to Bay Point upon
receipt of written acknowledgment that it will
accept this tender.” Bay Point did not respond. At
the sale, Thakkar appeared and read the email
letter aloud, but he did not produce payment. Bay
Point sold the properties for $2.85 million.

Thakkar sued Bay Point in state court and
added DCT as a plaintiff in an amended com-
plaint. In the amended complaint, Thakkar alleges
that Bay Point’s foreclosure of two properties
caused him to lose the collateral’s value exceed-
ing the debt balance, and to suffer mental anguish.

Bay Point removed to bankruptcy court and
moved for judgment on the pleadings under
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(c), which the
court granted and entered for Bay Point. The
district court affirmed the bankruptcy court in all
respects. Thakkar and DCT appealed. On July 24,
2019, we granted DCT’s motion to dismiss its
appeal, following a settlement with Bay Point
where DCT relinquished all claims regarding the
two properties it owned. Now Thakkar alone
challenges Bay Point’s decision to record both
properties’ deeds instead of one and Bay Point’s
failure to accept the purportedly proper “tender.”

II.
Article III standing “represents a jurisdictional

requirement which remains open to review at all
stages of the litigation.” Nat’l Org. for Women,
Inc. v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 255 (1994). We
analyze three elements for Article III standing.
Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560
(1992). The first of these is injury in fact—“an
invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a)
concrete and particularized; and (b) actual or
imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical.” Id.
(internal quotation marks omitted) (citations
omitted). A particularized injury is one that
“affect[s] the plaintiff in a personal and individual
way.” Id. at 560 n.1.

At the pleading stage, “plaintiff[s] must clearly
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allege facts demonstrating each element” of
standing. Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 578 U.S. ___,
136 S. Ct. 1540, 1547 (2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. S128a] (alteration adopted) (internal quota-
tion marks omitted). “[L]abels,” “conclusions,” or
“naked assertions devoid of further factual en-
hancement” will not suffice. Ashcroft v. Iqbal,
556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S853a] (alteration adopted) (internal quotation
marks omitted). “Factual allegations must be
enough to raise a right to relief above the specula-
tive level.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S.
544, 555 (2007) [20 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S267a].

Important too is that “standing is not dis-
pensed in gross.” Town of Chester v. Laroe Es-
tates, Inc., 581 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 1645, 1650
(2017) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S617a]. An appel-
late court must examine its jurisdiction if the sole
party with standing in the lower court is absent as
an appellant. See Diamond v. Charles, 476 U.S.
54, 61 (1986). The ability of a party without its
own standing to “piggyback” on another party’s
standing “exists only if the [party with standing]
is in fact an appellant . . . ; in the absence of the
[party with standing] in that capacity, there is no
case.” Id. at 64.

To start, DCT undoubtedly had standing, but
now its “absence as an appellant requires that we
examine our jurisdiction to entertain this appeal.”
See id. at 61. Thakkar can no longer piggyback on
DCT’s standing because DCT relinquished all
claims to the properties in its settlement with Bay
Point. He must have sufficiently alleged facts in
the operative complaint to establish his own
standing independent of any interest in DCT.

He did not. Thakkar failed to allege an actual
injury personal to him. In the operative complaint,
Thakkar alleges that Bay Point’s foreclosure on
DCT’s two properties caused him to lose the
collateral’s value exceeding the debt balance, and
to suffer mental anguish. But he also alleges that
DCT—not he—was the properties’ owner, and he
otherwise fails to elaborate on the nature of his
“beneficial interest” in DCT and its properties.
Without more, we cannot say that any alleged loss
Thakkar suffered as an individual is more than
speculative. His “naked assertions devoid of
further factual enhancement” will not suffice. See
Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (alteration adopted) (inter-
nal quotation marks omitted).

As for mental anguish, Thakkar asserted that,
“[i]n a wrongful foreclosure action, an injured
party may seek damages for mental anguish in
addition to cancellation of the foreclosure,”
quoting Blanton v. Duru, 543 S.E.2d 448, 452
(Ga. Ct. App. 2000). But, unlike the injured party
in Blanton, Thakkar has not demonstrated that he
owned the foreclosed properties here. See id. at
449-50. On the contrary, he alleges DCT owned
them. Blanton did not hold that a nonowner may
seek damages for mental anguish, so Blanton does
not benefit Thakkar.

To the extent Thakkar asserts other injuries,
none amount to an injury in fact. He asserts on
appeal that (1) he personally guaranteed the loans
at issue; and (2) the property could satisfy or
decrease his personal liability stemming from
judgments that two creditors have against him
individually. First, the foreclosures satisfied the
Settlement Agreement debt, so even assuming

that he truly did personally guarantee the loans, it
is unclear why any personal guaranty matters.
And more importantly, we see no reference in his
complaint to such a personal guaranty. Second, it
is unclear how DCT’s recovery of any lost prop-
erty value would pay off Thakkar’s alleged per-
sonal liability on creditors’ judgments against him
individually; he is neither a debtor nor creditor in
the original bankruptcy proceedings. Indeed, in
his supplemental brief, he says that he or the
bankruptcy estate could get the property, and he
offers no basis for concluding that the property
would likely become his. And, anyway, the
complaint contained no allegations about
Thakkar’s personal liability to these two creditors.
All in all, because Thakkar failed to allege a
particularized, actual injury for Article III stand-
ing, we have no jurisdiction over this appeal.

III.
Beyond Article III standing, “we have adopted

the person aggrieved doctrine as our standard for
determining whether a party can appeal a bank-
ruptcy court’s order.” Atkinson v. Ernie Haire
Ford, Inc. (In re Ernie Haire Ford, Inc.), 764 F.3d
1321, 1325 (11th Cir. 2014) [25 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. C365a]. That “standard does not speak to a
court’s subject-matter jurisdiction. Rather, it tells
us which parties may appeal from a bankruptcy
court order.” Id. at 1325 n.3. The “doctrine re-
stricts standing more than Article III standing.”
Heatherwood Holdings, LLC v. HGC, Inc. (In re
Heatherwood Holdings, LLC), 746 F.3d 1206,
1216 (11th Cir. 2014) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1141a]. It “limits the right to appeal a bank-
ruptcy court order to those parties having a direct
and substantial interest in the question being
appealed,” i.e., those whom a bankruptcy court’s
order “directly, adversely, and pecuniarily”
affects by “diminish[ing] their property,
increas[ing] their burdens, or impair[ing] their
rights.” Ernie Haire Ford, 764 F.3d at 1325
(internal quotation mark omitted).

Based on that doctrine, we also dismiss this
appeal because Thakkar certainly cannot clear the
higher hurdle of showing that he is a person
aggrieved. Assuming the bankruptcy-court order
injured Thakkar at all, it did so indirectly because
the order affected DCT’s pecuniary interest, not
Thakkar’s. See LorCon LLC # 1 v. Heyl (In re
Heyl), 770 F.3d 729, 729-31 (8th Cir. 2014) (per
curiam) (holding an individual did not have
person-aggrieved standing because he had no
more than a derivative interest in his company’s
claim). He fails to allege a direct and substantial
interest in the question being appealed or explain
how the order diminishes his—rather than
DCT’s—property, increases his burdens, or
impairs his rights. See Fortune Nat. Res. Corp. v.
U.S. Dep’t of Interior, 806 F.3d 363, 366-67 (5th
Cir. 2015) (holding entity had no person-ag-
grieved standing because it “did not show that it
would have accessed any funds from the bank-
ruptcy estate had the court not approved” a sale,
and the contested order “left [the entity] in the
same position”).

Thakkar argues that he has person-aggrieved
standing to appeal the bankruptcy-court order
because the order will ultimately cause him finan-
cial loss akin to the loss suffered by homeowners
in Westwood Community Two Association, Inc. v.

Barbee (In re Westwood Community Two Associ-
ation, Inc.), 293 F.3d 1332 (11th Cir. 2002) [15
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C650a]. However, Westwood
is distinguishable. There, the trustee for a debtor
homeowners’ association imposed a special
assessment on the homeowners to cover the cost
of claims against the association in its bankruptcy
proceeding. Id. at 1333-34. The homeowners
appealed two bankruptcy-court orders: (1) an
order denying their request to reconsider allow-
ance of the claims against the debtor homeown-
ers’ association; and (2) an order allowing the
special assessment. Id. at 1334. We held that,
under the proper person-aggrieved standard, the
homeowners had standing to challenge both
orders because, in short, the orders directly per-
mitted the special assessment that cost each home-
owner thousands of dollars. Id. at 1336-37.
Thakkar alleged no equivalent to the Westwood
special assessment—no “direct financial stake” in
the bankruptcy order at issue in this case. See id. at
1337. Therefore, Thakkar has not shown person-
aggrieved standing under Westwood.

Finally, to the extent Thakkar argues that he is
a person aggrieved simply by virtue of attacking
the inherent fairness of a bankruptcy proceeding,
citing Ernie Haire Ford and Kabro Associates of
West Islip, LLC v. Colony Hill Associates (In re
Colony Hill Associates), 111 F.3d 269 (2d Cir.
1997), he is wrong. Thakkar misconstrues Ernie
Haire Ford and its reference to Kabro. In Ernie
Haire Ford, we merely referenced Kabro to
support the proposition that three other circuits
“have recognized that a person is not ‘aggrieved’
when the interests harmed by a court order are not
interests the Bankruptcy Code seeks to protect or
regulate.” Ernie Haire Ford, 764 F.3d at 1326
(citing Kabro Assocs. of West Islip, 111 F.3d at
273-74). In the next sentence, we held that “for a
person to be aggrieved, the interest they seek to
vindicate on appeal must be one that is protected
or regulated by the Bankruptcy Code.” Id. But
that was not to say that, if someone fails to assert
a direct harm, he may still appeal if he attacks the
inherent fairness of a proceeding. In fact, we later
said, “Allowing appeals from parties who have
suffered only an indirect harm or who hold inter-
ests outside the scope of the Bankruptcy Code
would defeat the very purpose underlying our
person aggrieved standard.” Id. (emphasis added).
In other words, a party must both show a direct
harm and hold an interest within the scope of the
Bankruptcy Code. See id. at 1327 (“Assuming
arguendo that Atkinson has suffered a direct harm
. . ., he is still not a person aggrieved because his
interest is not protected or regulated by the Bank-
ruptcy Code.”). Thakkar’s harm is not cognizable,
see supra section II, much less direct. Therefore,
Thakkar is not a person aggrieved, and he may not
pursue this appeal.

IV.
In conclusion, Thakkar lacks standing,

whether Article III or person-aggrieved. So we
dismiss this appeal.

DISMISSED.
))))))))))))))))))

1For simplicity’s sake, we omit reference to other
entities involved in the bankruptcy case and attendant
agreements.

*        *        *
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Mandamus—Crime Victims’ Rights Act—Pe-
tition filed by victim who was one of more than
30 women who were victimized by sex traffick-
er and child abuser alleging that when federal
prosecutors secretly negotiated and entered
into a non-prosecution agreement with traf-
ficker, they violated her rights under CVRA to
confer with government’s lawyer and to be
treated fairly by them—Rights under CVRA
as currently written do not attach until crimi-
nal proceedings had been initiated against a
defendant, either by complaint, information,
or indictment—Because government never
filed charges or otherwise commenced criminal
proceedings against trafficker, CVRA was
never triggered—Accordingly, on facts of case,
CVRA does not provide petitioner with any
judicially enforceable rights
In re: COURTNEY WILD, Petitioner. 11th Circuit. Case No.
19-13843. April 14, 2020. On Petition for Writ of Mandamus
to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida
(No. 9:08-cv-80736-KAM).

(Before NEWSOM, TJOFLAT, and HULL,
Circuit Judges.)

(NEWSOM, Circuit Judge.) This case, which is
before us on a petition for writ of mandamus,
arises out of a civil suit filed under the Crime
Victims’ Rights Act of 2004. Petitioner Courtney
Wild is one of more than 30 women—girls,
really—who were victimized by notorious sex
trafficker and child abuser Jeffrey Epstein. In her
petition, Ms. Wild alleges that when federal
prosecutors secretly negotiated and entered into a
non-prosecution agreement with Epstein in 2007,
they violated her rights under the CVRA—in
particular, her rights to confer with the govern-
ment’s lawyers and to be treated fairly by them.

Despite our sympathy for Ms. Wild and others
like her, who suffered unspeakable horror at
Epstein’s hands, only to be left in the dark—and,
so it seems, affirmatively misled—by government
lawyers, we find ourselves constrained to deny
her petition. We hold that at least as matters
currently stand—which is to say at least as the
CVRA is currently written—rights under the Act
do not attach until criminal proceedings have been
initiated against a defendant, either by complaint,
information, or indictment. Because the govern-
ment never filed charges or otherwise commenced
criminal proceedings against Epstein, the CVRA
was never triggered. It’s not a result we like, but
it’s the result we think the law requires.

I
The facts underlying this case, as we under-

stand them, are beyond scandalous—they tell a
tale of national disgrace.

Over the course of eight years, between 1999
and 2007, well-heeled and well-connected finan-
cier Jeffrey Epstein and multiple coconspirators
sexually abused more than 30 minor girls, includ-
ing our petitioner, in Palm Beach, Florida and
elsewhere in the United States and abroad. Ep-
stein paid his employees to find minor girls and
deliver them to him—some as young as 14. Once
Epstein had the girls, he either sexually abused
them himself, gave them over to be abused by
others, or both. Epstein, in turn, paid bounties to

some of his victims to recruit other girls into his
ring.

Following a tip in 2005, the Palm Beach
Police Department and the FBI conducted a two-
year investigation of Epstein’s conduct. After
developing substantial incriminating evidence,
the FBI referred the matter for prosecution to the
United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern
District of Florida. Beginning in January 2007,
and over the course of the ensuing eight months,
Epstein’s defense team engaged in extensive
negotiations with federal prosecutors in an effort
to avoid indictment. At the same time, prosecutors
were corresponding with Epstein’s known vic-
tims. As early as March 2007, they sent letters
advising each one that “as a victim and/or witness
of a federal offense, you have a number of rights.”
The letters, which the government distributed
over the course of about six months, went on to
enumerate the eight CVRA rights then in force—
including, as particularly relevant here, “[t]he
reasonable right to confer with the attorney for the
[Government] in the case” and “the right to be
treated with fairness and with respect for the
victim’s dignity and privacy.”

By May 2007, government lawyers had com-
pleted both an 82-page prosecution memo and a
53-page draft indictment alleging that Epstein had
committed numerous federal sex crimes. In July,
Epstein’s lawyers sent a detailed letter to prosecu-
tors in an effort to convince them that, in fact,
Epstein hadn’t committed any federal offenses.
By September, the sides had exchanged multiple
drafts of what would become an infamous non-
prosecution agreement (“NPA”). Pursuant to their
eventual agreement, Epstein would plead guilty in
Florida court to two state prostitution offenses,
and, in exchange, he and any coconspirators (at
least four of whom have since been identified)
would receive immunity from federal prosecu-
tion.1 In June 2008, Epstein pleaded guilty to the
state crimes as agreed and was sentenced to 18
months’ imprisonment, 12 months’ home con-
finement, and lifetime sex-offender status.

The district court found that “[f]rom the time
the FBI began investigating Epstein until Septem-
ber 24, 2007”—when the government formally
executed the NPA with Epstein—federal prosecu-
tors “never conferred with the victims about a[n]
NPA or told the victims that such agreement was
under consideration.” Doe 1 v. United States, 359
F. Supp. 3d 1201, 1208 (S.D. Fla. 2019). Worse,
it appears that prosecutors worked hand-in-hand
with Epstein’s lawyers—or at the very least
acceded to their requests—to keep the NPA’s
existence and terms hidden from victims. The
NPA itself provided that “[t]he parties anticipate
that this agreement will not be made part of any
public record” and, further, that “[i]f the United
States receives a Freedom of Information Act
request or any compulsory process commanding
the disclosure of the agreement, it will provide
notice to Epstein before making that disclosure.”
Moreover, at approximately the same time that
the sides concluded the NPA, they began negoti-
ating about what prosecutors could (and couldn’t)
tell victims about the agreement. Seemingly in
deference to Epstein’s lawyers’ repeated requests,

the government held off—for nearly an entire
year—on notifying Epstein’s victims of the
NPA’s existence.

And to be clear, the government’s efforts seem
to have graduated from passive nondisclosure to
(or at least close to) active misrepresentation. In
January 2008, for example, approximately four
months after finalizing and executing the NPA,
the government sent a letter to petitioner stating
that Epstein’s case was “currently under investiga-
tion,” explaining that “[t]his can be a lengthy
process,” and “request[ing her] continued pa-
tience while [it] conduct[ed] a thorough investiga-
tion.” The government sent an identical letter to
another victim in May 2008, some eight months
after inking the NPA.2

If secrecy was the goal, it appears to have been
achieved—there is no indication that any of Ep-
stein’s victims were informed about the NPA or
his state charges until after he pleaded guilty. On
the day that Epstein entered his guilty plea in June
2008, some (but by no means all) victims were
notified that the federal investigation of Epstein
had concluded. But it wasn’t until July 2008—
during the course of this litigation—that petitioner
learned of the NPA’s existence, and until August
2008 that she finally obtained a copy of the agree-
ment.

We are doubtlessly omitting many of the sad
details of this shameful story. For our purposes,
we needn’t discuss the particulars of Epstein’s
crimes, or the fact that the national media essen-
tially ignored for nearly a decade the jailing of a
prominent financier for sex crimes against young
girls.3 Today, the public facts of the case are well
known—Epstein was eventually indicted on
federal sex-trafficking charges in the Southern
District of New York, and in August 2019, while
awaiting trial, he was found dead in his jail cell of
an apparent suicide.

II
In July 2008, petitioner brought suit in the

United States District Court for the Southern
District of Florida, styling her initial filing an
“Emergency Victim’s Petition for Enforcement of
Crime Victim’s Rights Act.” As the district court
explained, “because no criminal case was pend-
ing” at the time—no federal charges having been
filed against Epstein or anyone else—petitioner
“filed [her] petition as a new matter . . . which the
Clerk of Court docketed as a civil action.” Does v.
United States, 817 F. Supp. 2d 1337, 1341 n.4
(S.D. Fla. 2011). Petitioner alleged that she was a
“crime victim” within the meaning of the CVRA
and that by keeping her in the dark about their
dealings with Epstein, federal prosecutors had
violated her rights under the CVRA—in particu-
lar, her rights “to confer with the attorney for the
Government in the case,” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(a)(5),
and “to be treated with fairness and with respect
for [her] dignity and privacy,” id. § 3771(a)(8).4

Over the course of the ensuing decade, the
district court issued a number of significant rul-
ings. For our purposes, three of the court’s orders
are particularly important.

Initially, in 2011 the district court “addresse[d]
the threshold issue whether the CVRA attaches
before the government brings formal charges
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against the defendant.” Does, 817 F. Supp. 2d at
1341. The court held that “it does because the
statutory language clearly contemplates pre-
charge proceedings.” Id. As relevant here, the
district court relied principally on two CVRA
provisions in so holding. First, it pointed to 18
U.S.C. § 3771(c)(1), which the parties here have
called the Act’s “coverage” provision. That
subsection—of which much more later—states
that “[o]fficers and employees of the Department
of Justice and other departments and agencies of
the United States engaged in the detection, inves-
tigation, or prosecution of crime shall make their
best efforts to see that crime victims are notified
of, and accorded, the rights described in subsec-
tion (a).” The district court held that “[s]ubsection
(c)(1)’s requirement that officials engaged in
‘detection [or] investigation’ afford victims the
rights enumerated in subsection (a) surely con-
templates pre-charge application of the CVRA.”
Does, 817 F. Supp. 2d at 1342. Second, the court
pointed to subsection (d)(3), which the parties
here call the “venue” provision and which states
that a crime victim seeking to vindicate his or her
rights under the CVRA must file a “motion” either
“in the district court in which a defendant is being
prosecuted or, if no prosecution is underway, in
the district court in the district in which the crime
occurred.” If, the district court reasoned, “the
CVRA’s rights may be enforced before a prosecu-
tion is underway, then, to avoid a strained reading
of the statute, those rights must attach before a
complaint or indictment formally charges the
defendant with the crime.” Does, 817 F. Supp. 2d
at 1342. Finally, the district court cited In re
Dean, in which the Fifth Circuit had observed that
“[a]t least in the posture of th[e] case” before it—
the court emphasized that it wasn’t “speculat[ing]
on the applicability to other situations”—the
victim’s right to confer with prosecutors applied
pre-charge. 527 F.3d 391, 394 (5th Cir. 2008).
Having “determined . . . as a matter of law [that]
the CVRA can apply before formal charges are
filed,” the district court here “defer[red]” ruling
on the question whether federal prosecutors had
violated the Act until the parties could conduct
additional discovery. Does, 817 F. Supp. 2d at
1343.

Following another eight years of litigation, the
district court issued a pair of rulings that prompted
the mandamus petition now before us. In Febru-
ary 2019, the court found that the government had
infringed petitioner’s CVRA rights. See Doe 1,
359 F. Supp. 3d at 1222. In particular, the court
held that federal prosecutors violated the Act by
“enter[ing] into a[n] NPA with Epstein without
conferring with Petitioner[ ] during its negotiation
and signing.” Id. at 1219. “Had the Petitioner[ ]
been informed about the Government’s intention
to forego federal prosecution of Epstein in defer-
ence to him pleading guilty to state charges,” the
district court emphasized, she “could have con-
ferred with the attorney for the Government and
provided input.” Id. at 1218. The court concluded
that it was precisely “this type of communication
between prosecutors and victims that was in-
tended by the passage of the CVRA.” Id. at 1291.

Having found CVRA violations, the court

directed the parties—which by then included
Epstein as an intervenor—to brief “the issue of
what remedy, if any, should be applied.” Id. at
1222. In response, petitioner proposed multiple
remedies: (1) rescission of the NPA; (2) an injunc-
tion against further CVRA violations; (3) an order
scheduling a victim-impact hearing and a meeting
between victims and Alexander Acosta, the
former United States Attorney for the Southern
District of Florida; (4) discovery of certain grand-
jury materials, records regarding prosecutors’
decision to enter into the NPA, and files concern-
ing law-enforcement authorities’ investigation of
Epstein; (5) mandatory CVRA training for em-
ployees of the Southern District’s United States
Attorney’s office; and (6) sanctions, attorneys’
fees, and restitution. In August 2019, while the
court was considering the parties’ briefing regard-
ing remedies, Epstein died of an apparent suicide;
his death prompted another round of briefing on
the issue of mootness.

In September 2019, having considered the
parties’ briefing and the impact of Epstein’s
death, the district court dismissed petitioner’s suit,
denying each of her requested remedies. See Doe
1 v. United States, 411 F. Supp. 3d 1321 (S.D. Fla.
2019). In its order, the district court made a num-
ber of rulings. First, it held that Epstein’s death
mooted any claim regarding the NPA’s continu-
ing validity, as he was no longer subject to prose-
cution. See id. at 1326. Relatedly, the court held
that it lacked jurisdiction to consider petitioner’s
claim regarding the validity of the NPA as it
applied to Epstein’s coconspirators; any opinion
regarding that issue, the court concluded, would
be merely advisory because the coconspirators—
as nonparties to the suit—couldn’t be estopped
from asserting the NPA’s validity at any future
prosecution. See id. Second, the court denied
petitioner’s request for an injunction on the
ground that she had failed to show “continuing,
present adverse effects” or any “real and immedi-
ate” threat of future CVRA violations. Id. at 1328.
Third, the court rejected petitioner’s requests for
a victim-impact hearing and a meeting with
Acosta on the grounds that petitioner had already
participated in an Epstein-related hearing in New
York, that the Epstein prosecution had concluded,
and that the government had already agreed to
confer with victims concerning any ongoing
investigation of Epstein’s coconspirators. See id.
at 1328-29. Fourth, the court denied petitioner’s
discovery requests for grand-jury materials and
investigative files. See id. at 1329-40. Fifth, the
court declined to order “educational remedies,” as
the government had already agreed to implement
CVRA training for employees of the Southern
District’s United States Attorney’s office. Id. at
1330. And finally, the court rejected petitioner’s
request for sanctions, fees, and restitution. See id.
at 1330-31.

Seeking review of the district court’s order
refusing every remedy that she had sought, peti-
tioner filed—as the CVRA directs—a petition for
writ of mandamus with this Court. See 18 U.S.C.
§ 3771(d)(3) (stating that “[i]f the district court
denies the relief sought,” a victim “may petition
the court of appeals for a writ of mandamus”). The

government filed a “brief in response” in which it
not only opposed petitioner’s arguments on the
merits, but also raised several threshold argu-
ments concerning the scope of the CVRA and the
circumstances in which rights under the Act are
judicially enforceable. In reply, petitioner con-
tended (among other things) that by failing to
“cross appeal,” the government had waived its
arguments about the CVRA’s applicability and
enforceability.5

* * *
This case presents a host of issues, many of

first impression. Before jumping in, we begin
with an introductory summary of the CVRA.

III
The CVRA is a compact statute, occupying

but one section (and only two pages) of the United
States Code. See 18 U.S.C. § 3771. The entire Act
comprises just six subsections, the pertinent
portions of which we will summarize briefly.

The Act opens, in subsection (a), with a cata-
logue of “rights” that federal law guarantees to
“crime victims.” (The Act separately defines the
term “crime victim” to mean “a person directly
and proximately harmed as a result of the com-
mission of a Federal offense.” Id. §
3771(e)(2)(A).) The version of the CVRA in
effect during the events in question here—
between 2006 and 2008—stated as follows:

(a) Rights of crime victims.—A crime victim
has the following rights:

(1) The right to be reasonably protected
from the accused.

(2) The right to reasonable, accurate, and
timely notice of any public court proceed-
ing, or any parole proceeding, involving
the crime or of any release or escape of the
accused.

(3) The right not to be excluded from
any such public court proceeding, unless
the court, after receiving clear and con-
vincing evidence, determines that testi-
mony by the victim would be materially
altered if the victim heard other testimony
at that proceeding.

(4) The right to be reasonably heard at
any public proceeding in the district court
involving release, plea, sentencing, or any
parole proceeding.

(5) The reasonable right to confer with
the attorney for the Government in the
case.

(6) The right to full and timely restitu-
tion as provided in law.

(7) The right to proceedings free from
unreasonable delay.

(8) The right to be treated with fairness
and with respect for the victim’s dignity
and privacy.

18 U.S.C. § 3771(a).
Subsection (b), titled “Rights afforded,”

focuses on courts’ responsibilities under the Act.
It provides—as relevant here—that “[i]n any
court proceeding involving an offense against a
crime victim, the court shall ensure that the crime
victim is afforded the rights described in subsec-
tion (a).” Id. § 3771(b)(1). (Subsection (b)(2)
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pertains to habeas corpus proceedings, in which
crime victims enjoy a more limited set of rights; it
isn’t relevant here.)

Subsection (c), titled “Best efforts to accord
rights,” imposes obligations on non-judicial
actors. One of its constituent clauses—which we
introduced earlier as the so-called “coverage”
provision—states as follows:

Officers and employees of the Department of
Justice and other departments and agencies of
the United States engaged in the detection,
investigation, or prosecution of crime shall
make their best efforts to see that crime vic-
tims are notified of, and accorded, the rights
described in subsection (a).

18 U.S.C. § 3771(c)(1).
Subsection (d) addresses “Enforcement and

limitations.” Several of subsection (d)(3)’s provi-
sions are relevant here. One—the “venue”
provision—states that “[t]he rights described in
subsection (a) shall be asserted in the district court
in which a defendant is being prosecuted for the
crime or, if no prosecution is underway, in the
district court in which the crime occurred.” An-
other provides that “[i]f the district court denies
the relief sought, the movant may petition the
court of appeals for a writ of mandamus”—and as
amended in 2015, and thus before petitioner
sought review here, it goes on to clarify that in
deciding any mandamus petition under the
CVRA, “the court of appeals shall apply ordinary
standards of appellate review.” Subsection (d)(6)
is also relevant in two respects. First, it states that
“[n]othing in this chapter shall be construed to
authorize a cause of action for damages.” Second,
and separately, it emphasizes that “[n]othing in
this chapter shall be construed to impair the
prosecutorial discretion of the Attorney General
or any officer under his direction.”

Finally, subsection (f)—we’ve already intro-
duced subsection (e), which defines the term
“crime victim”—instructs the Attorney General to
“promulgate regulations to enforce the rights of
crime victims and to ensure compliance by re-
sponsible officials with the obligations” concern-
ing those victims. Id. § 3771(f)(1).

With that primer, we proceed to address peti-
tioner’s case.

IV
Petitioner contends—and as already ex-

plained, the undisputed facts show—that federal
prosecutors in the Southern District of Florida
negotiated “a secret non-prosecution agreement”
with Epstein, and that “[f]rom the time that the
FBI began investigating Epstein through the
consummation of the secret NPA, the Govern-
ment never conferred with Epstein’s victims
about the NPA [or] even told them that such an
agreement was under consideration.” Petition for
Writ of Mandamus at 4-5. By keeping her (and
others) in the dark concerning Epstein’s NPA,
petitioner asserts, the government violated the
CVRA.

The unique circumstances of this case—and in
particular, the fact that Epstein was never charged
in the Southern District of Florida—tee up what
the district court correctly called a “threshold”
question: Does the CVRA apply in the period

before criminal proceedings are initiated, either
by criminal complaint, information, or indict-
ment? If it does, then we must proceed to consider
a cascade of logically subsequent questions—
among them, (1) whether the Act authorized the
district court to rescind the NPA, both generally
and, more specifically, as applied to Epstein’s
alleged coconspirators; (2) whether petitioner was
entitled to discovery of certain grand-jury materi-
als, DOJ records pertaining to prosecutors’ deci-
sion to enter into the NPA, and FBI files concern-
ing the Epstein investigation; (3) whether peti-
tioner’s participation in an Epstein-related victim-
impact hearing in New York effectively moots her
request for relief here; and (4) whether federal law
entitles petitioner to recover attorneys’ fees. If, by
contrast, the CVRA doesn’t apply before the
commencement of criminal proceedings, then our
inquiry is at an end.6

Whether the CVRA applies prior to the initia-
tion of criminal proceedings is not just a threshold
question, but also a question of first impression in
this Circuit. The Fifth Circuit has stated—albeit in
dictum, without meaningful explanation, and
seemingly without the benefit of adversarial
testing—that the Act can apply before criminal
proceedings begin. See In re Dean, 527 F.3d 391,
934 (5th Cir. 2008). The Sixth Circuit has deemed
it “uncertain” whether CVRA protections apply
“prior to [the] filing of . . . charges.” In re Acker,
596 F.3d 370, 373 (6th Cir. 2010). The district
courts that have considered the question are
divided. Compare, e.g., United States v. Oakum,
No. 3:08CR132, 2009 WL 790042, at *2 (E.D.
Va. Mar. 24, 2009) (holding that CVRA rights
can attach prior to the commencement of criminal
proceedings), with, e.g., United States v. Daly,
No. 3:11CR121 AWT, 2012 WL 315409, at *4
(D. Conn. Feb. 1, 2012) (holding to the contrary).

As already explained, the district court here
concluded that the CVRA can apply before the
initiation of criminal proceedings—“pre-charge,”
for short—and, accordingly, that petitioner en-
joyed the protections of the Act during the period
that preceded the execution of Epstein’s NPA. In
particular, petitioner asserts in these proceedings
that the government violated her “reasonable right
to confer” with the lead prosecutor, 18 U.S.C. §
3771(a)(5), and her right “to be treated with
fairness,” id. § 3771(a)(8)—neither of which, she
says, is limited by its terms to the post-charge
phase of a criminal prosecution.7 In support of her
position that CVRA rights can apply before
criminal proceedings begin, petitioner points (as
did the district court) to § 3771(c)(1)—which
refers to federal-government agencies engaged in
the “detection [and] investigation” of crime, in
addition to its “prosecution”—and to §
3771(d)(3)—which, in specifying the venue
where a victim should seek relief under the Act,
refers to the eventuality that “no prosecution is
underway.”

The interpretation of the CVRA that petitioner
advances, and that the district court adopted, is not
implausible; the CVRA could be read to apply
pre-charge. We conclude, though—reluctantly,
especially given the mistreatment that petitioner
seems to have suffered at the hands of federal

prosecutors—that the Act is neither best nor most
naturally read that way. For reasons that we will
explain, we hold that (1) the CVRA’s text and
structure, (2) the historical context in which the
Act was passed, and (3) the prosecutorial-discre-
tion principles that the Act was designed to
safeguard—and which, we think, petitioner’s
interpretation would compromise—demonstrate
that its protections apply only after the initiation
of criminal proceedings. If Congress believes that
we have misinterpreted the CVRA—or, for that
matter, even if it believes that we have correctly
interpreted the statute as currently written but that
its scope should be expanded—then it should
amend the Act to make its intent clear.

A
In construing the CVRA, “we begin, as we

must, with a careful examination of the statutory
text,” Henson v. Santander Consumer USA Inc.,
137 S. Ct. 1718, 1721 (2017) [26 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. S638a], looking “to the particular statutory
language at issue, as well as the language and
design of the statute as a whole,” K Mart Corp. v.
Cartier, Inc., 486 U.S. 281, 291 (1988). On
balance, we conclude that the Act’s terms—
including the provisions on which petitioner
relies—demonstrate that its protections apply
only after the commencement of criminal pro-
ceedings.

1
We begin where petitioner does, with the

catalogue of “rights”—quoted in full above—that
the CVRA guarantees to “crime victims.” (As
already noted, the Act defines the term “crime
victim”—more on that later.) Petitioner relies
chiefly on § 3771(a)(5)’s guarantee of a “reason-
able right to confer with the attorney for the
Government in the case,” and § 3771(a)(8)’s
guarantee of the “right to be treated with fairness.”
She contends that by failing to inform her—and
worse, affirmatively misleading her—about its
ongoing negotiations with Epstein, the govern-
ment violated both provisions. We will address
subsections (a)(5) and (8) in due course, but
because “[s]tatutory construction . . . is a holistic
endeavor,” and because “[a] provision that may
seem ambiguous in isolation is often clarified by
the remainder of the statutory scheme,” United
Sav. Ass’n of Tex. v. Timbers of Inwood Forest
Assocs., Ltd., 484 U.S. 365, 371 (1988), we first
examine the balance of § 3771(a).8

In the main, anyway—and there isn’t any real
dispute about this—the CVRA’s enumeration
seems to focus on the post-charge phase of a
criminal prosecution, and in particular on ensur-
ing that crime victims have notice of (and an
opportunity to be heard in) pending criminal
proceedings. Indeed, six of the eight rights listed
in § 3771(a)—all except for those specified in
subsections (5) and (8)—either expressly refer to
or necessarily presuppose the existence of an
ongoing criminal proceeding. Subsections (a)(2),
(3), (4), and (7) leave no doubt whatsoever—all of
them apply, by their plain terms, to
“proceeding[s],” “public proceedings,” or “public
court proceedings.” Not surprisingly, there seems
to be general agreement that these “proceeding”-
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focused rights apply only after the filing of a
complaint or criminal charges. See Reply in Supp.
of Pet. at 17; Paul G. Cassell, et al., Crime Vic-
tims’ Rights During Criminal Investigations?
Applying the Crime Victims’ Rights Act Before
Criminal Charges Are Filed, 104 J. of Crim. L.
and Criminology 59, 71 (2014).

Subsections (a)(1) and (6) aren’t quite as clear,
but they too are best understood as specifying
rights that attach only after criminal proceedings
have begun. Subsection (1) guarantees a crime
victim’s right to protection from “the accused.” §
3771(a)(1). Both in ordinary spoken English and
as a legal term of art, the word “accused” refers to
someone against whom criminal proceedings
have been commenced. See, e.g., Webster’s New
International Dictionary 17 (2d ed. 1944) (defin-
ing “accused” as “one charged with an offense;
the defendant in a criminal case”); see also Michi-
gan v. Jackson, 475 U.S. 625, 632 (1986)
(“[A]fter a formal accusation has been made . . . a
person who had previously been just a ‘suspect’
has become an ‘accused’ within the meaning of
the Sixth Amendment . . . .”). Subsection (a)(6),
which guarantees a victim’s right to “full and
timely restitution,” likewise presupposes the
initiation—and indeed perhaps the maturation or
even conclusion—of criminal proceedings.
Black’s, for instance, defines the term “restitu-
tion,” in relevant part, to mean “[c]ompensation
for loss; esp., full or partial compensation paid by
a criminal to a victim, not awarded in a civil trial
for tort, but ordered as part of a criminal sentence
or as a condition of probation.” Black’s Law
Dictionary 1507 (10th ed. 2014).

So, it seems to us, the rights enumerated in
subsections (a)(1), (2), (3), (4), (6), and (7) are
properly understood as applying only after the
initiation of criminal proceedings. And again,
petitioner doesn’t really contend otherwise.
Instead, she focuses on subsections (a)(5) and (8),
which she says are framed broadly enough that
they can be understood to apply pre-charge. Let’s
take a closer look.

Subsection (a)(5) guarantees a crime victim
the “reasonable right to confer with the attorney
for the Government in the case.” Petitioner and
her lead counsel (in his academic writings) em-
phasize that this provision refers to the attorney
handling “the case” rather than “the charges,”
Reply in Supp. of Pet. at 17, and they assert that
the term “case” can “refer both to a judicial case
before a court and an investigative case pursued
by a law enforcement officer,” Cassell et al.,
supra, at 72 (emphasis added).9 Although it’s true,
at least in the abstract, that the term “case” can
mean either thing, in legal parlance the judicial-
case connotation is undoubtedly primary. See,
e.g., Black’s, supra, at 258-59 (defining “case”
first as “[a] civil or criminal proceeding, action,
suit or controversy at law or in equity” and only
second as “[a] criminal investigation”); Webster’s
New International, supra, at 415 (defining “case”
as used in “[l]aw” as “a suit or action in law or
equity; a cause”). Moreover, and in any event, two
contextual considerations convince us that, as
used in subsection (a)(5), the term “case” refers to
an ongoing judicial proceeding, not a law-en-

forcement investigation.
First, the Supreme Court has held that in the

criminal context, a “case” does not “encompass
the entire criminal investigatory process,” but
rather “at the very least requires the initiation of
legal proceedings.” Chavez v. Martinez, 538 U.S.
760, 766 (2003) [16 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S300a].
Notably, in so holding, the Court drew on long-
standing tradition, citing its now nearly 150-year-
old decision in Blyew v. United States for the
proposition that the word “case” is synonymous
with the word “cause” and “mean[s] a proceeding
in court, a suit, or action.” 80 U.S. (13 Wall.) 581,
595 (1872). Second, and separately, subsection
(a)(5) refers not just to “the case” in general, but
more particularly to “the attorney for the Govern-
ment in the case.” While it is undoubtedly true
that government lawyers may be involved in a
criminal investigation pre-charge, the provision’s
reference to a single, specific individual—“the
attorney for the Government”—indicates that the
conferral right attaches only after proceedings
have begun, at which point that particular person
will presumably be more readily identifiable. Cf.
Rumsfeld v. Padilla, 542 U.S. 426, 434-35 (2004)
[17 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S466a] (holding that the
“use of the definite article . . . indicates that there
is generally only one” person covered). By the
same token, there will surely be many criminal
investigations to which no lawyers have (yet)
been assigned—let alone a single, identifiable
“attorney for the Government.” Accordingly, if,
as petitioner asserts, subsection (a)(5) was in-
tended to apply pre-charge, during the investiga-
tion phase, it makes little sense that Congress
would have tethered the conferral right to a single
government lawyer.

On balance, therefore—and particularly in the
light of subsections (a)(1), (2), (3), (4), (6), and
(7), all of which clearly apply only after the initia-
tion of criminal proceedings—we conclude that §
3771(a)(5)’s conferral right does not attach during
the pre-charge, investigatory phase. Rather,
subsection (a)(5) is best understood as guarantee-
ing a crime victim’s right to consult with the lead
prosecutor—i.e., “the attorney for the Govern-
ment”—in a pending prosecution—i.e., “the
case.”10

Petitioner also relies (albeit more obliquely)
on subsection (a)(8), which vaguely guarantees a
crime victim’s right “to be treated with fairness
and with respect for [his or her] dignity and pri-
vacy.” It is certainly true that this fair-treatment
right has no inherent temporal limitation—on its
face, it could apply pre-charge, post-charge, or for
that matter even post-conviction. But well-estab-
lished canons of interpretation require us to inter-
pret subsection (a)(8)’s general right to fair treat-
ment by reference to the subsections (and their
constituent rights) that precede it. See, e.g., John-
son v. United States, 559 U.S. 133, 139 (2010) [22
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S152a] (“Ultimately, context
determines meaning . . . .”); Gutierrez v. Ada, 528
U.S. 250, 255 (2000) (“[W]ords and people are
known by their companions.”). Because the rights
enumerated in subsections (a)(1)-(7) are best
understood as applying only after the institution
of criminal proceedings, subsection (a)(8)’s

guarantee of “fairness” is, too. What the Supreme
Court said recently in applying noscitur a sociis—
“the well-worn Latin phrase that tells us that
statutory words are often known by the company
they keep”—applies here as well: In § 3771(a),
“we find . . . both the presence of company that
suggests limitation and the absence of company
that suggests breadth.” Lagos v. United States,
138 S. Ct. 1684, 1688-89 (2018) [27 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S286a].11

Taken as a whole, then, we conclude that the
catalogue of rights specified in § 3771(a) are best
read as applying only after the institution of
criminal proceedings.

2
We are fortified in that conclusion by the only

two provisions of the Act that speak directly to
judicial enforcement of victims’ statutory rights.

The first is § 3771(b), titled “Rights afforded.”
At oral argument, petitioner’s counsel invoked
subsection (b)(1) affirmatively, noting—with
emphasis—its directive that “the court shall
ensure that the crime victim is afforded the rights”
enumerated in subsection (a). See Oral Arg. at
5:45-5:57. True, but that’s only part of the story.
In its entirety, subsection (b)(1) reads as follows:
“In any court proceeding involving an offense
against a crime victim, the court shall ensure that
the crime victim is afforded the rights described in
subsection (a).” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(b)(1) (emphasis
added). By its plain terms, then, subsection (b)(1)
empowers courts to enforce CVRA rights only
during pending criminal proceedings—of which
there were none here.

The second is § 3771(d), which specifies—
and strictly circumscribes—the procedural mech-
anisms by which an alleged victim must assert and
seek to enforce CVRA rights. Two (related)
points are worth making. As an initial matter, the
Act clearly indicates that Congress did not intend
to authorize private individuals to initiate stand-
alone suits or actions, outside the confines of
existing criminal proceedings, to enforce their
statutory rights. Quite the contrary, in fact—
subsection (d)(6), titled “No Cause of Action,”
expressly states that “[n]othing in this chapter
shall be construed to authorize a cause of action
for damages.” § 3771(d)(6)). Cf. Alexander v.
Sandoval, 532 U.S. 275, 286 (2001) [14 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S206a] (explaining that “[l]ike
substantive federal law itself, private rights of
action to enforce federal law must be created by
Congress”).

Instead—and this is point two—subsection
(d)(3) specifies that a victim must assert his or her
rights in a “motion for relief” filed in district court
and requires the court to consider and decide that
“motion” promptly. 18 U.S.C. § 3771(d)(3). As
commonly understood, a “motion” is a request
filed within the context of an ongoing judicial
proceeding, not a vehicle for launching a new and
freestanding piece of litigation.12 See, e.g.,
Black’s, supra, at 1168 (“ ‘Frequently, in the
progress of litigation, it is desired to have the
court take some action which is incidental to the
main proceeding . . . . Such action is invoked by
an application usually less formal than the plead-
ings, and is called a motion.’ ” (quoting John C.
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Townes, Studies in American Elementary Law
621 (1911)); cf. Fed. R. Civ. P. 3, 7 (distinguish-
ing between a “motion” and a “pleading”—the
latter of which is defined to include a “complaint,”
which is the prescribed vehicle for commencing a
freestanding action).13

The facts that the CVRA (1) does not sanction
freestanding suits and (2) does prescribe mid-
proceeding “motion[s]” combine—especially in
conjunction with subsection (a)’s enumeration—
to indicate that the Act’s protections apply only
after the initiation of criminal proceedings.14

3
In fairness, petitioner is not without her own

textual arguments. In urging us to hold that
CVRA rights—or at least some of them—apply
even before the initiation of criminal proceedings,
she relies principally on two subsections, which
the parties call the “coverage” and “venue” provi-
sions, respectively. Neither, we conclude, clearly
demonstrates that the rights specified in the Act
attach during the pre-charge, investigative phase.

Petitioner first points to § 3771(c)(1)—the
“coverage” provision—which, as already ex-
plained, states that “[o]fficers and employees of
the Department of Justice and other departments
and agencies of the United States engaged in the
detection, investigation, or prosecution of crime
shall make their best efforts to see that crime
victims are notified of, and accorded, the rights
described in subsection (a).” 18 U.S.C. §
3771(c)(1). From the premise that “the CVRA
applies to the ‘detection [or] investigation’ of
crimes,” petitioner reasons to the conclusion,
which the district court adopted, that “the Act’s
drafters ‘surely contemplate[d] pre-charge appli-
cation of the CVRA.’ ” Reply in Supp. of Pet. at
15 (quoting Does, 817 F. Supp. 2d at 1342). We
disagree for two reasons.

First, understood in proper context, it seems
clear to us that subsection (c)(1) is a “to whom”
provision, not a “when” provision. That is, it
clarifies that CVRA obligations extend beyond
the officers and employees of “the Department of
Justice” to include, as well, the officers and em-
ployees of “other departments and agencies of the
United States” that (like DOJ) are “engaged in the
detection, investigation, or prosecution of
crime”—e.g., IRS, ICE, and TSA. Those agen-
cies’ employees, like DOJ’s, must “make their
best efforts to see that crime victims” are afforded
CVRA rights. Subsection (c)(1) doesn’t expressly
speak to when CVRA rights attach, and it cer-
tainly doesn’t clearly demonstrate that those
rights attach before the initiation of criminal
proceedings. Government employees (whether of
DOJ or some other DOJ-like agency) who are
involved in all three of the referenced phases are
necessarily involved post-charge. Subsection
(c)(1) simply makes clear that the Act reaches
beyond prosecutors (and DOJ) to reach other
actors in the criminal-justice system.15

Second, and more importantly, petitioner’s
reliance on § 3771(c)(1) proves entirely too much.
If, as petitioner thinks subsection (c)(1) shows,
CVRA rights apply during the “detection” and
“investigation” of crime, then there is no mean-
ingful basis—at least no meaningful textual

basis—for limiting the Act’s pre-charge applica-
tion to the NPA context. To the contrary, on
petitioner’s reading, subsection (c)(1) would—to
cite just a few examples—require law-enforce-
ment officers to “confer” with victims, subject
only to a squishy “reasonable[ness]” limitation,
see § 3771(a)(5), before conducting a raid, seek-
ing a warrant, making an arrest, interviewing a
witness, convening a lineup, or conducting an
interrogation. Absent a much clearer indication,
we cannot assume that Congress intended such a
jarring result. Presumably sensing the slipperiness
of their position, petitioner and her counsel have
said that courts can simply draw the line farther
downstream—when, for instance, as counsel put
it at oral argument, an investigation has “matured”
to the point where (as here) prosecutors “are
negotiating with defense attorneys and signing
agreements.” Oral Arg. at 8:30, 9:10-9:17. “At
that point at least,” counsel said, “a conferral right
exists” under subsection (a)(5). Id. at 9:10-9:17.
That is a line, to be sure—and a line that happens
to capture this case—but it has no footing whatso-
ever in the “detection [or] investigation” language
to which petitioner points in support of her posi-
tion.16 As tempting as it might be to do so—
especially on the facts before us here—we cannot
re-write, or arbitrarily circumscribe, the Act’s text
simply to make it fit petitioner’s theory.17

For these reasons, we cannot accept peti-
tioner’s contention that § 3771(c)(1) demonstrates
that the CVRA applies before the initiation of
criminal proceedings.

Petitioner is on slightly stronger footing, we
think, in pointing to the CVRA’s “venue” provi-
sion, § 3771(d)(3). In relevant part, that provision
states that “[t]he rights described in subsection (a)
shall be asserted in the district court in which a
defendant is being prosecuted for the crime or, if
no prosecution is underway, in the district court in
which the crime occurred.” Petitioner contends—
and the district court agreed—that the “no prose-
cution is underway” clause must mean that CVRA
rights “ ‘may be enforced before a prosecution is
underway’ ” and, accordingly, that “ ‘those rights
must attach before a complaint or indictment
formally charges the defendant with the crime.’ ”
Reply in Supp. of Pet. at 15 (quoting Does, 817 F.
Supp. 2d at 1342). Petitioner’s interpretation of
subsection (d)(3) is not implausible—that provi-
sion could be read to mean that CVRA rights
attach before the commencement of criminal
proceedings. But it isn’t necessary, either, and in
light of the remainder of the Act’s text—and the
practical implications of petitioner’s construction,
the details of which we explore below—we are
reluctant to adopt it, or at least to invest it with the
significance that petitioner does.

There are, we think, at least two alternative
ways of understanding § 3771(d)(3). First, and
perhaps most obviously, it could be read to apply
to the period of time between the initiation of
criminal proceedings—which may occur as early
as the filing of a criminal complaint under Federal
Rule of Criminal Procedure 3—and the levying of
formal charges in an indictment.18 The word
“prosecution”—on which subsection (d)(3)
pivots—is a legal term of art; in relevant part, it

refers to “[t]he institution and continuance of a
criminal suit [and] the process of exhibiting
formal charges against an offender before a legal
tribunal, and pursuing them to final judgment on
behalf of the state or government, as by indict-
ment or information.” Webster’s New Interna-
tional, supra, at 1987. Moreover, the law is clear,
at least for Sixth Amendment right-to-counsel
purposes, that a “prosecution” does not begin with
the criminal complaint’s filing. See United States
v. Alvarado, 440 F.3d 191, 199-200 (4th Cir.
2006) (“The filing of a federal criminal complaint
does not commence a formal prosecution.”); see
also, e.g., United States v. States, 652 F.3d 734,
741-42 (7th Cir. 2011) (same); United States v.
Boskic, 545 F.3d 69, 82-84 (1st Cir. 2008) (same).
Rather, the Sixth Amendment right does not
attach—because a “prosecution” does not be-
gin—until, at the earliest, a suspect’s “initial
appearance before a judicial officer.” Rothgery v.
Gillespie County, Tex., 554 U.S. 191, 199 (2008)
[21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S429a]. All of which is to
say that even if petitioner and the district court
were correct that the “no prosecution is under-
way” clause meant that CVRA rights apply
“before” formal charges are filed, they may yet be
incorrect that those rights should be understood to
attach during a pre-complaint investigation.
Subsection (d)(3) can be read sensibly enough to
apply (and to give victims the right, for example,
to “confer” with prosecutors, § 3771(a)(5)) be-
tween the filing of the criminal complaint and the
suspect’s initial appearance before a judge—and
thus, for instance, to express their views to prose-
cutors about whether the defendant should be
granted pretrial release. See Fed. R. Crim. P.
5(d)(1)(C) (noting that pretrial-release decisions
are made at the “initial appearance”).

Alternatively, subsection (d)(3) could be
interpreted to refer to the period after a “prosecu-
tion” has run its course and resulted in a final
judgment of conviction. Petitioner and the district
court read the “no prosecution is underway”
clause to say, in effect, “no prosecution is [yet]
underway”—thereby necessarily pointing to the
period “before” (their word) the prosecution’s
commencement. But subsection (d)(3)’s is tempo-
rally agnostic—on its face, it could just as easily
mean that “no prosecution is [still] underway.” Cf.
Underway, Oxford English Dictionary, https://
oed.com/view/Entry/212225?rskey=hlolT7&
result=1#eid (last visited April 13, 2020) (defin-
ing “underway” as it pertains to “a process, pro-
ject, [or] activity” to mean “set in progress; in the
course of happening or being carried out”). No
one doubts, for instance, that a victim could file a
post-judgment motion alleging that the govern-
ment violated her rights during the course of the
prosecution and asking the court, say, to “re-open
a plea or sentence.” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(d)(5).19

Moreover, petitioner’s broad reading of §
3771(d)(3) suffers from the same slippery-slope
problems that plague her reading of § 3771(c)(1).
To say, as the petitioner does—and as the district
court did—that subsection (d)(3) indicates that
CVRA “rights must attach before a complaint or
indictment formally charges the defendant with
the crime,’ ” Reply in Supp. of Pet. at 15 (quoting
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Does, 817 F. Supp. 2d at 1342), tells us nothing
about how long “before.” Again, must prosecutors
consult with victims before law-enforcement
officers conduct a raid, seek a warrant, or conduct
an interrogation? That seems exceedingly un-
likely. As we’ve explained, petitioner understand-
ably wants to craft a rule that will cover this case
without opening the floodgates to those possibil-
ities—seemingly by reference to some sort of
once-the-investigation-has-matured criterion.
That criterion, though, has no basis in the
CVRA’s text. Petitioner’s reading of subsection
(d)(3)’s “no prosecution is underway” clause—
like her reading of subsection (c)(1)’s “detection
[or] investigation” clause—provides no logical
stopping point.

* * *
For all these reasons, we conclude that the

CVRA’s text is best read as applying only after
the commencement of criminal proceedings,
whether by complaint, information, or indict-
ment.20

B
The historical context in which the CVRA was

enacted confirms what the Act’s text indicates—
namely, that it was not meant to apply prior to the
institution of criminal proceedings. Congress
enacted the CVRA against the backdrop of an-
other victims’-rights statute, the Victims’ Rights
and Restitution Act of 1990. The CVRA repealed
and replaced some parts of the VRRA, but left
others intact. Notably, the “Services to victims”
section of the VRRA, which the CVRA pre-
served, includes provisions that, by their express
terms, plainly apply before criminal proceedings
begin.21

That section opens with a phrase that the
CVRA repeats—noting that it applies to govern-
ment agencies “engaged in the detection, investi-
gation, or prosecution of crime.” 34 U.S.C. §
20141(a). Unlike the CVRA, though, the VRRA
directs the head of each such agency to designate
individuals who will be responsible for identify-
ing victims and for performing certain victim-
related services “at each stage of a criminal case.”
Id. The VRRA goes on state that “[a]t the earliest
opportunity after the detection of a crime at which
it may be done without interfering with an investi-
gation, a responsible official shall . . . identify the
victim or victims of a crime [and] inform the
victims of their right to receive, on request, [cer-
tain enumerated] services.” Id. § 20141(b). By
referring to the period immediately following “the
detection of a crime” and to the existence of an
ongoing “investigation”—with which the respon-
sible official should be careful not to
“interfer[e]”—the VRRA clearly extends victim-
notice rights into the pre-charge phase.

The VRRA is similarly explicit when describ-
ing the sorts of “services” to which victims are
entitled. Following subsection (a)’s direction,
subsection (c) marches—methodically, and
roughly chronologically—through the various
“stage[s]” of a crime’s commission, detection,
investigation, and prosecution. Subsection (c)(1)
states, for instance, that “the responsible official
shall”—presumably immediately in the aftermath
of a crime’s commission, and thus by definition

before any charges are filed—inform the victim
where she can “receive emergency medical and
social services.” Id. § 20141(c)(1)(A). Subsection
(c)(2) then provides that the responsible official
shall ensure that the victim receives “reasonable
protection from a suspected offender”—notably,
not “the accused,” as in the CVRA, but “a sus-
pected offender.” Id. § 20141(c)(2). Continuing,
subsection (c)(3) states that the official shall
provide the victim “the earliest possible notice”
of, among other things, and under appropriate
circumstances, “the status of the investigation of
the crime” and “the arrest of the suspected
offender”—both of which, obviously, refer to pre-
charge events. Id. § 20141(c)(3)(A)-(B). It is not
until subsection (c)(3)(C)—which refers to “the
filing of charges against a suspected offender”—
that the VRRA’s focus conspicuously shifts to
rights pertaining to “charges,” “trial[s],”
“hearing[s],” and “proceedings.” See id. §
20141(c)(3)(C)-(c)(5).

The VRRA’s provisions—about which Con-
gress indisputably knew when it framed and
enacted the CVRA—demonstrate that when
Congress wants to extend victims-rights
protections pre-charge, it knows how to do so, and
does so expressly. The fact that the CVRA con-
tains no similar language counts heavily against
petitioner’s interpretation under what we have
called an entire “family” of interpretive canons.
See Freemanville Water Sys., Inc. v. Poarch Band
of Creek Indians, 563 F.3d 1205, 1209 (11th Cir.
2009) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1677a] (citing the
interrelated principles, for instance, that “where
Congress knows how to say something but
chooses not to, its silence is controlling,” and that
“when Congress uses different language in similar
sections, it intends different meanings” (citations
omitted)).22

* * *
Together, these textual and contextual consid-

erations lead us to conclude that, on balance, the
CVRA is best interpreted to apply only after the
commencement of criminal proceedings. Al-
though not precisely on point, we find resonance
in much of what the Supreme Court recently said
in Lagos v. United States, 138 S. Ct. 1684 (2018)
[27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S286a], which concerned
another federal victims’-rights statute, the Manda-
tory Victims Restitution Act. In particular, the
Court there addressed a portion of that statute
requiring reimbursement of expenses that a crime
victim “incurred during participation in the inves-
tigation or prosecution of the offense or atten-
dance at proceedings related to the offense.” 18
U.S.C. § 3663A(b)(4). The question before the
Court was whether that provision should be
interpreted narrowly, to require reimbursement
only of those expenses that a victim incurred
during a government “investigation” and criminal
“proceedings,” or more broadly, to include ex-
penses incurred during any “investigation” and
any case-related “proceedings.” Lagos, 138 S. Ct.
at 1688.

The Court unanimously adopted the narrower
reading. In doing so, the Court readily acknowl-
edged that there were “contrary arguments . . .
favoring a broad interpretation”—in particular,

that the more limited reading “will sometimes
leave a victim without a restitution remedy suffi-
cient to cover” some offense-related expenses and
thereby contravene the Act’s “broad purpose.” Id.
at 1689. The Court further conceded that while it
thought the statute’s “individual words
suggest[ed]” a more “limited interpretation,” they
“d[id] not demand” it. Id. at 1688. Even so, the
Court held that, understood in context—for
instance, the fact that the terms “investigation”
and “proceedings” were both linked to the word
“prosecution”—the more limited reading was
preferable from a textual and structural stand-
point. The Court also emphasized that “Congress
ha[d] enacted many different restitution statutes
with differing language, governing different
circumstances,” and that while some of them
contained provisions specifically requiring “full”
restitution, the Mandatory Victims Restitution
Act “contain[ed] no such language.” Id. at 1689-
90.

The Court concluded its interpretive analysis
this way: “[G]iven th[e] differences between the
Mandatory Victims Restitution Act and other
restitution statutes, we conclude that the consider-
ations we have mentioned, particularly those
based on a reading of the statute as a whole, tip the
balance in favor of our more limited interpreta-
tion.” Id. at 1690. Just so here. In light of CVRA’s
text’s overarching focus on the period following
the initiation of criminal proceedings, and the
obvious differences between the CVRA and the
VRRA—which by its terms plainly reaches into
the pre-charge phase—we too conclude that the
interpretive balance tips in favor of a more limited
reading.

C
There is a final consideration here, and it is to

our minds a weighty one. The CVRA’s final
substantive provision—which Congress slotted in
just before statutory definitions and a closing
directive to the Attorney General to promulgate
implementing regulations—states that “[n]othing
in this chapter [i.e., the entirety of the Act] shall be
construed to impair the prosecutorial discretion of
the Attorney General or any officer under his
direction.” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(d)(6). For reasons
we will explain, we conclude that petitioner’s
“constru[ction]” of the Act—as applying before
the initiation of criminal proceedings—would
indeed “impair . . . prosecutorial discretion.”

Broadly defined, the term “prosecutorial
discretion” refers to the soup-to-nuts entirety of
“[a] prosecutor’s power to choose from the op-
tions available in a criminal case, such as filing
charges, prosecuting, not prosecuting, plea-bar-
gaining, and recommending a sentence to the
court.” Black’s, supra, at 565. The core of prose-
cutorial discretion, though—its essence—is the
decision whether or not to charge an individual
with a criminal offense in the first place. The
Supreme Court has repeatedly reaffirmed the
principle—which dates back centuries—that “the
Executive Branch has exclusive authority and
absolute discretion to decide whether to prosecute
a case.” United States v. Nixon, 418 U.S. 683, 693
(1974) (citing Confiscation Cases, 74 U.S. (7
Wall.) 454 (1869)).23
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We believe that petitioner’s interpretation of
the CVRA risks “impair[ing] . . . prosecutorial
discretion” in at least two fundamental ways. As
an initial matter, consider that the very first deter-
mination that a court must make when asked to
enforce the CVRA is whether the party seeking
the Act’s benefit is a “crime victim.” The reason is
because the CVRA’s opening provision makes
clear that the Act’s protections—the rights enu-
merated therein, already discussed at some
length—are available only to “crime victim[s].”
18 U.S.C. § 3771(a) (“A crime victim has the
following rights . . . .”). Notably for our purposes,
the CVRA statutorily defines the term “crime
victim” to mean “a person directly and proxi-
mately harmed as a result of the commission of a
Federal offense.” Id. § 3771(e)(2).

Accordingly, any movant asserting rights
under the CVRA must, at the very outset, demon-
strate to the district court that he or she is a “crime
victim” entitled to statutory protection. And,
given the statutory definition’s terms, in order to
determine whether the movant has made the
requisite showing, the court must decide whether
a “Federal offense” has occurred. When a prose-
cutor has already commenced criminal proceed-
ings against an identifiable individual for a spe-
cific crime, he or she has made at least a presump-
tive determination that the individual has in fact
committed a “Federal offense.” So, as applied
post-charge—in the context of ongoing criminal
proceedings—the “crime victim” determination is
straightforward: An individual who has been
“directly and proximately harmed” as a result of
the conduct charged by the government is entitled
to CVRA protection.

Not so before the commencement of criminal
proceedings. In that circumstance, if a movant
were to assert CVRA rights as a “crime victim,”
the court would first have to determine—but this
time without any initial determination by the
government in the form of a charging decision
and, indeed, presumably while the government’s
investigation is ongoing—whether or not a
“Federal offense” has been committed. That
scenario—which is a necessary consequence of
petitioner’s interpretation—presents at least three
intractable problems.

First, and most obviously, petitioner’s reading
puts the cart before the horse: When else, if ever,
is a court called on to decide whether an “offense”
(i.e., a crime) has occurred—as opposed to a
moral wrong more generally—before the govern-
ment has even decided to press charges? The
answer, so far as we are aware, is never. Second,
how, in the absence of a charging decision, would
the court even go about ascertaining whether an
“offense” had occurred? What would that pro-
ceeding look like? A mini- (or perhaps a not-so-
mini-) trial in which the court finds facts and
makes legal determinations regarding an “of-
fense” yet to be named? Finally, and in any event,
it seems obvious to us that simply by conducting
such a proceeding and by concluding (up front)
that an “offense” has—or has not—occurred, the
court would not only exert enormous pressure on
the government’s charging decisions, but also
likely impair the government’s ongoing investiga-

tion. The “impair[ment]” of prosecutorial discre-
tion, we think, would be palpable.

Separately, even if the threshold “crime vic-
tim” barrier could be overcome, the enforcement
of CVRA rights in the pre-charge phase would
risk unduly impairing prosecutorial discretion.
Consider, as a general matter, how CVRA en-
forcement occurs. If, for instance, an individual
claiming to be a covered victim believes—as did
petitioner here—that the government hasn’t
“confer[red]” with her in the manner prescribed
by § 3771(a)(5) or “treated [her] with fairness” as
required by § 3771(a)(8), then she will—as did
petitioner here—ask a district court to “order”
prosecutors to confer and to treat her “fair[ly].”
See Emergency Pet. at 2. Even in the post-charge
phase, those are pretty extraordinary requests. It is
no small thing to ask a judge to issue an injunction
ordering the government’s lawyers (presumably
on pain of contempt) to conduct their prosecution
of a particular matter in a particular manner. But at
least after the commencement of criminal pro-
ceedings—and accordingly after the government
has submitted itself and its case to the district
court’s jurisdiction and supervision—the CVRA
explicitly authorizes the court’s intervention.
Congress made a clear determination that the
intrusion was necessary and appropriate.

Before the commencement of criminal pro-
ceedings, though, the intrusion would be signifi-
cantly greater, both quantitatively and qualita-
tively. As a quantitative matter, petitioner’s
interpretation—pursuant to which the CVRA’s
protections would extend into the “detection” and
“investigation” phases—risks greatly multiplying
the sheer number of opportunities for judicial
intervention in law-enforcement and prosecutorial
affairs. Freed from any line limiting the Act’s
applicability to the post-charge phases of a prose-
cution, courts would be empowered to issue
injunctions requiring (for instance) consultation
with victims before raids, warrant applications,
arrests, witness interviews, lineups, and interroga-
tions. That would work an extraordinary expan-
sion of an already-extraordinary statute.

The intrusion occasioned by a pre-charge
interpretation of the CVRA would also be qualita-
tively different. The commencement of criminal
proceedings marks a sensible boundary on the
prosecutorial-discretion spectrum. As already
explained, before charges are filed—when the
government is still in the process of investigating
and deciding “whether to prosecute”—its author-
ity and discretion are understood to “exclusive”
and “absolute.” Nixon, 418 U.S. at 693. By con-
trast, once the charging decision is made, the
prosecutor steps into the court’s jurisdiction—its
“house,” to speak—and thus necessarily cedes
some of her control of the course and management
of the case. From that point forward, the court will
“assume a more active role in administering
adjudication of a defendant’s guilt and determin-
ing the appropriate sentence.” United States v.
Fokker Servs. B.V., 818 F.3d 733, 737 (D.C. Cir.
2016). Interpreting the CVRA to apply post-
charge—as its terms plainly permit—thus squares
with the background expectation of judicial
involvement. Interpreting the Act to apply pre-

charge, by contrast, contravenes the background
expectation of executive exclusivity.24

* * *
For reasons we have explained, we conclude

that the CVRA is best understood—in accordance
with its terms and the context in which it was
enacted—to apply only after the initiation of
criminal proceedings. To the extent the Act’s
language and structure leave any doubt about its
proper scope, we must assume that Congress
“acted against the backdrop of long-settled under-
standings about the independence of the Execu-
tive with regard to charging decisions.” Fokker
Servs., 818 F.3d at 738. Had Congress intended to
upend (rather than reinforce) those “long-settled
understandings,” we can only assume it would
have expressed itself more clearly. See, e.g.,
Puerto Rico v. Franklin California Tax-Free
Trust, 136 S. Ct. 1938, 1947 (2016) [26 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S240a] (“Congress ‘does not, one
might say, hide elephants in mouseholes.’ ”
(quoting Whitman v. American Trucking Assns.,
Inc., 531 U.S. 457, 468 (2001))).25

V
For the foregoing reasons, we hold that the

CVRA does not apply before the commencement
of criminal proceedings—and thus, on the facts of
this case, does not provide the petitioner here any
judicially enforceable rights.

Having so held, two final words.
First, regarding the dissent: Although we have

endeavored along the way to meet a few of the
dissent’s specific critiques, we must offer here
two more global responses. As an initial matter,
with respect to the dissent’s charge (Dissenting
Op. at 65) that we have “dresse[d] up” what it
calls a “flawed statutory analysis” with “rhetorical
flourish”—well, readers can judge for themselves
whose rhetoric is in fact more florid. See, e.g., id.
at 61 (“So how does the Majority bail the U.S.
Attorney’s Office out of its egregious CVRA
violations . . . ?”); id. at 94 (“So how in the holy
name of plain text . . . ?”); id. (“The Majority
hacks away at the plain text with four tools.”); id.
(“The Majority cherry picks the meaning of ‘case’
. . . .”); id. at 96 (“Nonsense.”); id. at 98 (“As its
third tool to axe the plain text . . . .”); id. (“Do not
fall for this.”); id. 106 (accusing us of ruling “by
judicial fiat”); id. at 109-10 (twice accusing us of
fearing crime victims more than “wealthy defen-
dants”).

More substantively, it remains unclear to us
exactly how the dissent thinks the CVRA should
be interpreted and applied. It’s obvious that our
dissenting colleague doesn’t particularly like our
reading—namely, that CVRA rights don’t attach
before the initiation of criminal proceedings.
(Which is fine—as we’ve already confessed, we
don’t particularly like it either.) But she offers no
intelligible alternative of her own. At times, the
dissent suggests—broadly, but without elabora-
tion—that the Act should be construed to apply
“pre-charge.” See Dissenting Op. at 67, 90, 95
n.19, 96-97, 104, 106, 109, 112. That reading
(while we think wrong) at least has the benefit of
coherence and clarity. But the dissent (we think
wisely) doesn’t seem eager to defend so sweeping
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an interpretation, presumably because it has no
logical stopping point. Instead, the dissent hints—
although again, without any real explanation—
that CVRA rights should be understood to apply
only (or at least?) “once the criminal case has
matured to plea negotiations.” Id. at 96.26 Where,
though—or as our dissenting colleague would
say, where “in the holy name of plain text”—does
that limiting criterion come from? As best we can
tell, it is devised specifically to capture this case
without risking a landslide. For reasons we have
explained in detail, we believe that the CVRA is
most properly (if imperfectly) read to apply only
after the commencement of criminal proceedings.
One thing of which we are certain: That interpre-
tation is far superior to the dissent’s good-for-this-
train-only, once-the-investigation-has-matured
reading—which, so far as we can tell, has no
meaningful footing in the Act’s text, history, or
structure.

Second, and far more importantly, regarding
the consequences of our interpretation: It isn’t lost
on us that our decision leaves petitioner and others
like her largely emptyhanded, and we sincerely
regret that. Under our reading, the CVRA will not
prevent federal prosecutors from negotiating
“secret” plea and non-prosecution agreements,
without ever notifying or conferring with victims,
provided that they do so before instituting crimi-
nal proceedings. We can only hope that in light of
the protections provided by other statutes—and
even more so in the wake of the public outcry over
federal prosecutors’ handling of the Epstein
case—they will not do so.

The question before us, though, isn’t whether
prosecutors should have consulted with petitioner
(and other victims) before negotiating and execut-
ing Epstein’s NPA. It seems obvious to us—and,
indeed, the government has expressly conceded—
that they should have. Our sole charge is to deter-
mine, on the facts before us, whether the CVRA
obligated prosecutors to do so. We simply cannot
say that it did.

PETITION DENIED.
))))))))))))))))))

1The agreement also contained several provisions
concerning Epstein’s victims. The government, for
instance, agreed to provide a list of known victims to
Epstein and, “in consultation with and subject to the
good faith approval of Epstein’s counsel,” to “select an
attorney representative” for the victims, to be “paid for
by Epstein.” Epstein agreed not to contest liability or
damages in a victim’s civil suit, “so long as the identi-
fied individual elect[ed] to proceed exclusively under
18 U.S.C. § 2255, and agree[d] to waive any other claim
for damages.” An odd set-up—and one that, it seems to
us, was likely calculated to quickly and quietly resolve
as many victim suits as possible.

2The government contends that these letters were
technically accurate because the already-signed NPA
remained under review by senior members of the
Department of Justice. See Br. in Opp. to Pet. at 4 n.1.

3Cf. David Folkenflick, A Dead Cat, A Lawyer’s
Call And A 5-Figure Donation: How Media Fell Short
on Epstein, NATIONAL PUBLIC RADIO (Aug. 22,
2019, 6:06 PM), https://www.npr.org/2019/08/22/
753390385/a-dead-cat-a-lawyers-call-and-a-5-figure-
donation-how-media-fell-short-on-epstei.

4A second petitioner joined the suit shortly after it
was filed. For simplicity’s sake—and to avoid confu-
sion—we will refer to “petitioner’s” suit, in the singular.

5Although the CVRA instructs the court of appeals
to “take up and decide” any mandamus petition “forth-
with within 72 hours,” the parties here stipulated to an
extended briefing and decision schedule, which the
CVRA authorizes. 18 U.S.C. § 3771(d)(3).

6Before considering the merits of the question
whether the CVRA applies before the initiation of
criminal proceedings, we must briefly address a front-
end procedural issue. Petitioner contends (Reply in
Supp. of Pet. at 11-14) that the government waived any
argument that the CVRA doesn’t apply here when it
failed to file a “cross-appeal” from the district court’s
2011 order, which (as already explained) held “as a
matter of law [that] the CVRA can apply before formal
charges are filed.” Does, 817 F. Supp. 2d at 1343. We
reject petitioner’s waiver argument. It’s true that in the
usual case, the government’s failure to cross-appeal the
district court’s adverse 2011 order might well have
precluded our review of that decision. See Greenlaw v.
United States, 554 U.S. 237, 244-45 (2008) [21 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S421a]. This, though, isn’t the usual case.
Petitioner didn’t file an “appeal”; rather, as the CVRA
requires, she filed a petition for writ of mandamus. See
18 U.S.C. § 3771(d)(3); see also 16 Charles Alan
Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice and
Procedure § 3932 (3d ed. 2019) (explaining that a
mandamus petition is “an original application to the
court of appeals”). The question before us, therefore, is
not whether to affirm or reverse the district court’s
orders, but rather whether to grant or deny the petition—
and, it seems to us, the government is entitled to raise
any argument it likes in support of its position that we
should deny. And while the CVRA (as amended in 2015
to resolve a then-existing circuit split) directs us to
“apply ordinary standards of appellate review” in
deciding the mandamus petition, see 18 U.S.C. §
3771(d)(3)—rather than the heightened “clear usurpa-
tion of power or abuse of discretion” standard that
typically applies in the mandamus context, In re
Loudermilch, 158 F.3d 1143, 1145 (11th Cir. 1998)—it
does not direct us to employ the rules of procedure that
would apply if this were a typical appeal.

7Petitioner also contends (albeit only in passing) that
the government violated her right to “timely notice of
any public court proceeding,” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(a)(2),
in connection with the June 30, 2008 state-court hearing
at which Epstein pleaded guilty to Florida prostitution
offenses. See Pet. at 54.

8Accord, e.g., Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner,
Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts at 167
(2012) (quoting Sir Edward Coke, The First Part of the
Institutes of the Laws of England, or a Commentary
upon Littleton § 728, at 381a (1628; 14th ed. 1791), for
the proposition that “[i]f any section [of a law] be
intricate, obscure or doubtful, the proper mode of
discovering its true meaning is by comparing it with the
other sections, and finding out the sense of one clause
by the words or obvious intent of the other”).

9Ordinarily, of course, we don’t impute a lawyer’s
out-of-court positions to his client—and we needn’t do
so even in this case. We cite Professor Cassell’s article
here (and elsewhere) for several reasons: (1) because he
is not only petitioner’s counsel but also one of the
nation’s foremost authorities on victims’-rights issues in
general and the CVRA in particular; (2) because the
article is wholly consistent with petitioner’s position as
articulated in her brief and at oral argument; and (3)
because it expands on and deepens petitioner’s in-court
arguments and thus ensures that we are considering the
strongest version of her position.

10See generally Wayne R. LaFave et al., Criminal
Procedure § 13.1, at 849 (6th ed. 2017) (“Under the
federal victims’ rights statute [i.e., 18 U.S.C. § 3771], a
crime victim is granted a ‘reasonable right to confer
with the attorney for the Government in the case,’ but it
is nowhere specified that the conference must precede

or concern the prosecutor’s charging decision . . . .”).
11In spending pages dissecting our citations to cases

applying the noscitur a sociis canon, the dissent misses
the forest for the trees. See Dissenting Op. at 98-100.
The fundamental point is simply that subsection (a)(8)’s
meaning should be informed by its surrounding statu-
tory context, and that because subsections (a)(1)-(7) are
most properly read to apply only after the commence-
ment of criminal proceedings, it makes sense—absent
some contrary indication—to interpret subsection
(a)(8)’s vague fair-treatment provision the same way.

12As already explained, subsection (d)(3) states that
“[t]he rights described in subsection (a) shall be asserted
in the district court in which a defendant is being prose-
cuted for the crime or, if no prosecution is underway, in
the district court in which the crime occurred.” We
address below petitioner’s contention that the “if no
prosecution is underway” language demonstrates that
the CVRA applies before the initiation of criminal
proceedings. See infra at 33-36.

13A third aspect of § 3771(d)(3) likewise counsels—
albeit perhaps a bit more indirectly—in favor of the
conclusion that CVRA rights are intended to apply, and
be enforced, only within the context of an ongoing
criminal prosecution. As already explained, under
subsection (d)(3), a crime victim’s sole recourse to this
Court is via petition for writ of mandamus. See 18
U.S.C. § 3771(d)(3) (“If the district court denies the
relief sought, the movant may petition the court of
appeals for a writ of mandamus.”). Although a petition
for mandamus is “an original application to the court of
appeals,” the writ “is not an independent grant of
appellate jurisdiction” but, rather, “ ‘may go only in aid
of appellate jurisdiction’ that exists on some other
basis.” 16 Wright & Miller, supra, § 3932 (quoting Parr
v. United States, 351 U.S. 513, 520 (1956)). The
“minimum condition” for mandamus relief, therefore,
is “that the case be one that may lie within the prospec-
tive future jurisdiction of the court of appeals, or that has
in fact come within its jurisdiction in the past.” Id. When
CVRA rights are asserted in the context of a criminal
proceeding, our mandamus jurisdiction is clear, because
our appellate jurisdiction over the underlying criminal
proceeding (and any rulings, verdicts, and judgments
rendered therein) is clear. And the CVRA itself provides
that “[i]n any appeal in a criminal case, the Government
may assert as error the district court’s denial of any
crime victim’s right in the proceeding to which the
appeal relates.” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(d)(4). By contrast, in
the absence of a criminal prosecution, mandamus
jurisdiction in this Court is less certain—harder to
justify—simply because it’s less certain how the case
could otherwise arrive, in the form of an appeal, on our
doorstep.

14It is also relevant, we think—even if more margin-
ally so—that the drafters and ratifiers of the Federal
Rules seem to have anticipated that CVRA “motions”
would be filed within the context of an existing criminal
proceeding—not as freestanding actions. The Federal
Rules of Criminal Procedure, which “govern the proce-
dure in all criminal proceedings” in United States
courts, see Fed. R. Crim. P. 1(a)(1), expressly incorpo-
rate portions of the CVRA. In particular, Rule 60—
titled “Victim’s Rights”—implements several of the
rights specified in § 3771(a), and further (echoing §
3771(d)(3)) clarifies that “[a] victim’s rights described
in these rules must be asserted in the district where a
defendant is being prosecuted for the crime.” Fed. R.
Crim. P. 60(b)(4). The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure,
which “govern the procedure in all civil actions and
proceedings in the United States district courts,” see
Fed. R. Civ. P. 1, contain no similar provision, and make
no reference to the CVRA.

15Petitioner’s counsel has contended that this
interpretation of § 3771(c)(1) can’t explain “why
Congress found it necessary to break out three separate
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phases of the criminal justice process: the ‘detection,’
‘investigation,’ and ‘prosecution’ of crime.” Cassell et
al., supra, at 87. If, he argues, Congress’s “intent was
simply to cover, for example, FBI agents or EPA agents
during the post-charging phase of a case, it could have
simply omitted” the words “detection” and “investiga-
tion” from the Act, because those agents “would be
engaged in the ‘prosecution’ of the case when assisting
the victim after the filing of formal charges.” Id. Thus,
he says, our interpretation impermissibly renders the
terms “detection” and “investigation” meaningless. Id.
We don’t think so. We read subsection (c)(1) not as
“break[ing] out” three different phases, but rather as
attempting to broadly cover (perhaps using a belt-and-
suspenders approach) all necessary government-em-
ployee participants—in short, to ensure that the Act’s
protection extends beyond prosecutors.

16In his article on the subject, petitioner’s lead
counsel offered a similar limiting construction, which
he framed this way:

CVRA rights attach when an officer or employee of
the Department of Justice or any other department
or agency of the United States engaged in the detec-
tion, investigation, or prosecution of crime has
substantial evidence that an identifiable person has
been directly and proximately harmed as a result of
the commission of a federal offense . . . and in the
judgment of the officer or employee, that person is
a putative victim of that offense.

Cassell et al., supra, at 92 (emphasis added). Professor
Cassell’s proposal reads like a finely-tuned statutory
provision—but one that, unfortunately, Congress never
enacted.

17For reasons we will explain, the dissent’s inter-
pretation—so far as we can discern it—suffers from the
same flaw. See infra at 51-52.

18Presumably because it finds this the more difficult
of the two interpretations of subsection (d)(3) to deal
with, the dissent labels it our “alternative[ ]” position
and relegates its response to a footnote—notwithstand-
ing that we introduce it as the “[f]irst, and perhaps most
obvious[ ]” reading. See Dissenting Op. at 92 n.17. By
contrast, the dissent goes on for pages challenging what
we offer (next page) as an “alternative[ ]” interpretation,
(mis)stating our position as being that “this venue
provision is about ‘post-judgment’ matters.” Id. at 91-
93.

19We concede that this reading isn’t perfectly
seamless, in that it would require the victim to file her
post-judgment motion “in the district in which the crime
occurred” rather than, as one might expect, in the district
in which the prosecution occurred and the conviction
was entered.

20Although a marginal consideration, we also note
that our interpretation is consistent with that offered by
the Department of Justice, both in its implementing
regulations and in an explanatory memorandum
authored by the Office of Legal Counsel.

First, as already noted, in the CVRA’s concluding
subsection Congress directed DOJ to “promulgate
regulations to enforce the rights of crime victims and to
ensure compliance by responsible officials with the
obligations described in law respecting crime victims.”
18 U.S.C. § 3771(f)(1). DOJ did so, and those regula-
tions are codified at 28 C.F.R. § 45.10. Although the
regulations don’t expressly address the question
whether CVRA rights apply before the commencement
of criminal proceedings, or instead only afterward, they
do, on balance, seem to assume the latter interpretation.
The provision specifying the information that an alleged
victim must include in her administrative complaint, for
instance, states that the document “shall contain,”
among other information, “[t]he district court case
number” and “[t]he name of the defendant in the case.”
Id. § 45.10(c)(2)(iii)-(iv). Needless to say, both items
indicate (even if indirectly) DOJ’s considered view that

the Act’s provisions apply only once a criminal case is
pending.

Second, in December 2010, DOJ’s Office of Legal
Counsel issued a formal 16-page opinion—titled “The
Availability of Crime Victims’ Rights Under the Crime
Victims’ Right Act of 2004”—in which it concluded,
following an exhaustive analysis, that CVRA rights do
not apply before the commencement of criminal pro-
ceedings. See The Availability of Crime Victims’
Rights Under the Crime Victims’ Rights Act of 2004, 35
Op. O.L.C. 1 (Dec. 17, 2010). OLC’s 2010 opinion
reinforced and formalized an earlier 2005 determination
that had likewise concluded, “preliminar[ily],” that “the
rights guaranteed by the CVRA [are] limited in their
applicability to pending criminal proceedings.” Id. at 1.

21In a legislative-history-laden footnote, the dissent
accuses us of “fail[ing] to recognize the CVRA repealed
significant parts of the VRRA.” Dissenting Op. at 101
n.21. As the paragraph to which this note is appended
demonstrates, that is incorrect. The point—which we
explain in text and to which the dissent offers no
response—is that the portions of the VRRA that the
CVRA left in place contain provisions that explicitly
apply pre-charge, and that if Congress had intended the
CVRA to have the same reach, it could (and should)
have said so.

22One might reasonably ask why petitioner here
didn’t proceed under the VRRA, some of whose provi-
sions (unlike, we conclude, the CVRA’s) clearly apply
before the initiation of criminal proceedings—and
which, therefore, the government here may well have
violated. The answer, in short, is that the VRRA pro-
vides no mechanism for judicial enforcement whatso-
ever—not even the limited “motion”-based remedy that
the CVRA authorizes. See 34 U.S.C. § 20141(d) (“This
section does not create a cause of action or defense in
favor of any person arising out of the failure of a respon-
sible person to provide information as required . . . .”).
So, while (on our reading, anyway) the rights available
under the VRRA are more broadly applicable than those
under the CVRA, they are not judicially enforceable—
and thus, as we will explain shortly, don’t give rise to
the practical concerns that a pre-charge application of
CVRA rights would.

23This prosecutorial discretion “flows not from a
desire to give carte blanche to law enforcement officials
but from recognition of the constitutional principle of
separation of powers.” United States v. Ream, 491 F.2d
1243, 1246 n.2 (5th Cir. 1974). As we said in Ream—

The discretionary power of the attorney for the
United States in determining whether a prosecution
shall be commenced or maintained may well de-
pend upon matters of policy wholly apart from any
question of probable cause. Although as a member
of the bar, the attorney for the United States is an
officer of the court, he is nevertheless an executive
official of the Government, and it is as an officer of
the executive department that he exercises a discre-
tion as to whether or not there shall be a prosecution
in a particular case. It follows, as an incident of the
constitutional separation of powers, that the courts
are not to interfere with the free exercise of the
discretionary powers of the attorneys of the United
States in their control over criminal prosecutions.

Id. (quoting United States v. Cox, 342 F.2d 167, 171
(5th Cir. 1965)); accord, e.g., Heckler v. Chaney, 470
U.S. 821, 832 (1985) (“[T]he decision of a prosecutor in
the Executive Branch not to indict . . . has long been
regarded as the special province of the Executive
Branch, inasmuch as it is the Executive who is charged
by the Constitution to ‘take Care that the Laws be
faithfully executed.’ ”).

24For at least two reasons, it is no answer to say, as
the district court did, that the CVRA would entitle
movants only to a “voice” in a prosecutor’s pre-charge
decisionmaking process, not a “veto” over the decisions

themselves—or, as the dissent does, that “nothing in the
CVRA empowers crime victims to force a prosecutor to
prosecute.” Dissenting Op. at 63. First, giving movants
even a guaranteed right under § 3771(a)(5) to “confer”
with government actors before detection- and
investigation-phase activities like raids, warrant appli-
cations, and interrogations could severely impact law-
enforcement and prosecutorial decisionmaking. Sec-
ond, there is essentially no limit to the sorts of pre-
charge relief that an enterprising movant could seek—or
that an innovative judge might grant—under §
3771(a)(8)’s fair-treatment provision. While perhaps
not likely, it is not outside the realm of possibility that
an alleged victim might argue—or that a district court
might conclude—that the only “fair” thing to do in a
particular circumstance would be to require the govern-
ment to indict a suspect, or to charge him in a particular
manner.

25The dissent relies heavily on the Fifth Circuit’s
decision in In re Dean, 527 F.3d 391 (5th Cir. 2008),
which it says “held” that “[t]here are clearly rights under
the CVRA that apply before any prosecution is under-
way.” Dissenting Op. at 103 (quoting Dean, 527 F.3d at
394). To the extent that Dean is properly read to
“h[o]ld” that CVRA rights apply before the commence-
ment of criminal proceedings—which we doubt, for
reasons we will explain—we disagree with and decline
to follow it. In that case, following an explosion at an oil
refinery that killed 15 people and injured more than 170,
the Department of Justice considered prosecuting the
owner. Before bringing any charges, though, prosecu-
tors filed an ex parte motion in the district court (1)
alerting the court that a plea agreement was forthcoming
and (2) asking the court’s permission to delay notifying
known victims until after the agreement was executed,
for fear that pre-plea notification would be impractica-
ble and could jeopardize the plea-negotiation process.
The district court agreed, the plea agreement was
signed, and the victims were notified thereafter. Several
victims subsequently moved to appear and urged the
district court to reject the plea agreement on the ground
that, by maintaining secrecy, prosecutors (and the court)
had violated their CVRA-based “reasonable right to
confer with the attorney for the Government.” 18 U.S.C.
§ 3771(a)(5). When the district court refused to reject
the plea agreement, the victims sought mandamus relief
from the court of appeals.

Although the Fifth Circuit ultimately declined to
issue the writ, it observed—in what, given its ultimate
disposition, was technically dictum—that the district
court had violated the CVRA by acceding to the govern-
ment’s request that victims not be notified in advance of
the plea deal. In so doing, it noted the district court’s
“acknowledg[ment]” that “[t]here are clearly rights
under the CVRA that apply before any prosecution is
underway.” 527 F.3d at 394. “Logically,” the court of
appeals said, “this includes the CVRA’s establishment
of victims’ ‘reasonable right to confer with the attorney
for the Government.’ ” Id. (quoting 18 U.S.C. §
3771(a)(5)). Thus, the Fifth Circuit noted, “[a]t least in
the posture of this case (and we do not speculate on the
applicability to other situations), the government should
have fashioned a reasonable way to inform the victims
of the likelihood of criminal charges and to ascertain the
victims’ views on the possible details of a plea bargain.”
Id.

We decline to follow Dean’s dictum for several
reasons. First, the Dean briefing reveals that the parties
there didn’t even dispute whether the CVRA applies
before the commencement of criminal proceedings;
accordingly, the question that this case so clearly tees up
was never subjected to adversarial testing. Second, and
perhaps relatedly, the Fifth Circuit’s three-sentence
discussion—which does little more than echo the
district court’s own “acknowledg[ment]”—is devoid of
any analysis of the CVRA’s text, history, or structural
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underpinnings. Finally, even read for all it might be
worth, the Fifth Circuit’s observation that the CVRA
applied pre-charge in the circumstances before the court
there was—for reasons we have explained at length and
in detail, and with all due respect—simply incorrect.

26Accord, e.g., id. at 66-67 (insisting that “[t]his case
is not about the start or middle stages of a criminal
investigation” but, rather, “a completed investigation”
and prosecutors’ preliminary “deci[sion] to proceed
with an indictment”); id. at 69 (“The prosecutors were
prepared to indict Epstein.”); id. at 70 (“[P]rosecutors
were recommending and ready to proceed with the
federal indictment of Epstein.”); id. at 97 (asserting that
the right to confer attaches “[o]nce an investigation is
completed, the case has matured to the indictment-
drafting stage and pre-charge plea negotiations with
defense counsel have begun”); id. at 111 (contending
that prosecutors had an obligation to confer here “given
the investigation was completed, the 53-page indict-
ment was drafted, and the prosecutor[s were] already
conducting pre-charge plea negotiations with Epstein’s
defense team”).

))))))))))))))))))
(TJOFLAT, Circuit Judge, concurring.) I concur
without reservation in Judge Newsom’s opinion
for the Court. I write separately because the model
the dissent creates, in which a victim is permitted
to sue the United States Attorney1 for refusing to
confer about a criminal matter prior to indictment,
would, in operation, result in Judicial Branch
interference with the Executive Branch’s function
of investigating and prosecuting federal crimes.
Such a model raises serious questions about
whether, by doing so, the judiciary would be
violating the constitutional principle of separation
of powers.2

There can be no doubt that the Executive
Branch has exclusive power over prosecutorial
decisions. See United States v. Nixon, 418 U.S.
683, 693, 94 S. Ct. 3090, 3100 (1974) (“[T]he
Executive Branch has exclusive authority and
absolute discretion to decide whether to prosecute
a case . . . .”); Confiscation Cases, 74 U.S. 454,
457 (1868) (“Public prosecutions, until they come
before the court to which they are returnable, are
within the exclusive direction of the district
attorney . . . .”); Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821,
832, 105 S. Ct. 1649, 1656 (1985) (“[T]he deci-
sion of a prosecutor in the Executive Branch not
to indict . . . has long been regarded as [within] the
special province of the Executive Branch, inas-
much as it is the Executive who is charged by the
Constitution to ‘take Care that the Laws be faith-
fully executed.’ ” (quoting U.S. Const., Art. II, §
3)). This Executive Branch authority obviously
includes the decision to investigate suspected
criminal activity and whether to seek, or not seek,
an indictment from the grand jury. These pre-
charge decisions are the focus of this case.

The dissent interprets the CVRA as authoriz-
ing a victim to bring a U.S. Attorney to court for
refusing to confer with her about a matter under
criminal investigation. To illustrate what would
likely occur if we permitted the victim to do
that—i.e., to envision how the dissent’s interpre-
tation of the CVRA would operate in practice—
consider a simple case of mail fraud.

Jane Doe is the victim of a fraudulent scheme.
She finds out that the U.S. Attorney’s Office is
investigating the scheme and wants to discuss it

with the attorney handling the investigation. The
attorney refuses her request, so she sues him.
Applying the dissent’s interpretation, the district
court finds that the attorney violated the CVRA
by failing to confer with the victim. The court
issues an injunction requiring the attorney to
confer with Doe and to treat her fairly.3 Even if the
court could craft such an injunction to comply
with Rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Proce-
dure, which I doubt, the court would then be
continually involved in the criminal investigation
from the moment it issued the injunction. At any
moment during the inevitable twists and turns of
a pre-indictment criminal investigation, the victim
could allege that the attorney had violated the
injunction, and the attorney would be back in
front of the district court to show cause why he
should not be held in contempt.4 But the event
most likely to trigger such a hearing is the attor-
ney’s decision not to take the case to the grand
jury, and that decision is completely within the
Executive Branch’s prosecutorial discretion.
Therefore, applying the dissent’s interpretation of
the CVRA would clearly interfere with the Execu-
tive Branch’s investigative and prosecutorial
functions.

Having explored the consequences of the
dissent’s interpretation of the CVRA, it is clear
that such an interpretation cannot be accepted.
The notion that a district court could have any
input on a U.S. Attorney’s investigation and
decision whether to bring a case to the grand jury
is entirely incompatible with the constitutional
assignment to the Executive Branch of exclusive
power over prosecutorial decisions. Additionally,
it is hard to imagine a bigger intrusion on execu-
tive autonomy than the possibility that a U.S.
Attorney will be held in contempt for violating an
injunction if her investigation is not handled as the
victim and district court see fit. Therefore, the
dissent’s interpretation raises serious constitu-
tional issues by concluding that there are no
temporal limitations on the CVRA rights to confer
with, and to be treated fairly by, the U.S. Attor-
ney.5

In contrast, under Judge Newsom’s interpreta-
tion, this problem does not exist because the
CVRA only gives victim’s post-charge rights.
And, post-charge, the district court is not dragging
the U.S. Attorney into court against his will and
imposing a condition upon his prosecutorial
discretion—the attorney is voluntarily before the
court, and it is appropriate for the court, in its
active role in the criminal proceedings, to exam-
ine the attorney’s failure to comply with his
CVRA obligations. In such circumstances, there
is no concern about the separation of powers
because the court is not meddling in the Executive
Branch’s decisions until executive officers have
chosen to present themselves to the court.

In sum, the dissent’s interpretation creates
serious constitutional concerns that Judge
Newsom’s interpretation does not. And it is
“settled policy” that, when confronted with two
potential interpretations of a statute, we should
avoid the interpretation that “engenders constitu-
tional issues if a reasonable alternative interpreta-
tion poses no constitutional question.” See Gomez

v. United States, 490 U.S. 858, 864, 109 S. Ct.
2237, 2241 (1989). Therefore, Judge Newsom’s
interpretation should be adopted. This conclusion
is bolstered by the language of the statute, itself,
which explicitly states that none of the CVRA’s
provisions should be read to diminish prosecuto-
rial discretion: “Nothing in this chapter shall be
construed to impair the prosecutorial discretion of
the Attorney General or any officer under his
direction.” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(d)(6). Clearly, the
author of the statute—Congress—recognized the
need to avoid any construction that results in the
problem that the dissent’s approach creates.6

For all of the reasons set forth in Judge
Newsom’s opinion, and because such an interpre-
tation avoids raising serious constitutional ques-
tions, the CVRA is best understood as not apply-
ing until charges are commenced against a defen-
dant.
))))))))))))))))))

1I refer to the U.S. Attorney here and throughout this
opinion for ease of analysis. Of course, in the typical
case, the victim would sue the specific attorney in
charge of the criminal investigation.

2This case presents an atypical CVRA scenario. In
the ensuing discussion, I explain how the dissent’s
interpretation of the statute would likely be applied in a
typical case, in which the U.S. Attorney’s Office is
considering whether to impanel a grand jury to hear
evidence indicating that an individual may have com-
mitted a criminal offense against another individual and
caused the latter to suffer an injury.

3Another problem with the dissent’s interpretation
is that such an injunction could not be crafted in compli-
ance with Rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Proce-
dure. Under that rule, the order must be “specific” and
“describe in reasonable detail . . . the act . . . required.”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(d)(1)(b)-(c). These requirements
serve three purposes.

First, they provide notice to the enjoined party of
precisely what it must do to avoid being held in
contempt—the party cannot be left guessing. Second, a
specific and reasonably detailed order is easy to enforce,
while a vague order is not. Third, an injunction that does
not meet these requirements breeds disrespect for the
courts and the rule of law.

In cases like this one, an injunction requiring the
attorney to confer with the victim and treat her fairly
could not meet Rule 65’s requirements. In my hypothet-
ical, “conferral” and “fairness” likely would mean
different things to the attorney and Doe, meaning the
parties would be left guessing about what the injunction
required. Therefore, such an injunction would not
comply with Rule 65. To make matters worse, failure to
comply with Rule 65 would exacerbate the problem
discussed below—specifically, excessive judicial
interference with an ongoing investigation—because
the district court would frequently need to oversee
disputes about whether the attorney’s handling of the
investigation was violating the inherently vague injunc-
tion.

4Moreover, and perhaps worst of all, there is nothing
stopping a victim from challenging the attorney’s
decisions at multiple steps along the way. Once the
district court is involved, a victim could allege that the
attorney did not confer with her, or did not treat her
fairly, whenever he makes each new investigatory or
prosecutorial decision.

5The dissenting opinion asserts that it “in no way
injects judicial interference into a prosecutor’s deci-
sions” because “[t]he fact that a prosecutor must confer
with a victim pre-charge does not mean the district court
can exercise any control over the prosecutor’s ultimate
decision whether to indict.” Dis. Op. at 113. But this is
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clearly wrong based on the facts of this case—
prosecutors chose to enter an NPA with Epstein, and the
victim wants the Court to undo that agreement. My
dissenting colleague would likely argue that, because
the U.S. Attorney could re-enter an NPA with Epstein’s
co-conspirators after conferring with victims, forcing
the U.S. Attorney to confer would not invade the execu-
tive’s prosecutorial discretion. This riposte overlooks
the reality that exclusive discretion does not come with
caveats. In other words, imposing the dissent’s condi-
tions that the executive must satisfy before it can exer-
cise its prosecutorial discretion means that it does not
truly have exclusive discretion.

6Putting aside the separation of powers problem,
under the dissent’s approach, the judiciary, based on
Congressional authority in the form of a statute, appears
to be putting its thumb on the scale against the individu-
als being investigated by law enforcement. In a sense,
the judiciary is telling the executive that it had better
indict its suspects or potentially face a CVRA action.
But the only time that it is appropriate for the judiciary
to do so, based on Congressional authority, is during
criminal sentencing, where sufficient due process
safeguards are in place to protect the accused’s constitu-
tional rights. Because such safeguards are obviously not
in place pre-charge, this effect of the dissent’s interpre-
tation is another reason not to adopt it.

))))))))))))))))))
(HULL, Circuit Judge, dissenting.) This appeal
presents legal questions of first impression in this
Circuit regarding the Crime Victims’ Rights Act
(“CVRA”), 18 U.S.C. § 3771, which grants a
statutory “bill of rights” to crime victims. In my
view, the Majority patently errs in holding, as a
matter of law, that the crime victims of Jeffrey
Epstein and his co-conspirators had no statutory
rights whatsoever under the CVRA. Instead, our
Court should enforce the plain and unambiguous
text of the CVRA and hold that the victims had
two CVRA rights—the right to confer with the
government’s attorney and the right to be treated
fairly—that were repeatedly violated by the U.S.
Attorney’s Office in the Southern District of
Florida.1

Here, the U.S. Attorney’s Office (1) drafted a
53-page indictment against sex trafficker and
child abuser Epstein and (2) repeatedly wrote his
defense team that the government had proof
beyond a reasonable doubt that he victimized
more than 30 women as minors. Shockingly
though, the Office then (1) conducted many days
of extensive plea negotiations with Epstein’s
attorneys and secretly entered into a Non-Prose-
cution Agreement (“NPA”), granting Epstein
federal immunity in return for his plea to two state
prostitution-solicitation charges, (2) never con-
ferred one minute with the victims about the NPA
or told the victims that such an agreement was
under consideration, (3) worked closely with
Epstein’s lawyers to keep the NPA’s existence
and terms hidden from the victims, (4) actively
misrepresented to the victims that the criminal
investigation continued when the NPA was
already signed, and (5) never informed the victims
about the NPA until after Epstein pled guilty in
State Court and the secret sweetheart deal was
done.

Remarkably too, without notice and conferral
with the victims, the NPA granted federal immu-
nity not only to Epstein, but also to “any potential
coconspirator of Epstein, including but not lim-

ited to Sarah Kellen, Adriana Ross, Lesley Groff,
or Nadia Marcinkova.” It is only because the
victims filed this lawsuit, and the District Court
ordered the NPA be produced, that the victims
and the public learned the truth about the plea
negotiations and the NPA’s grant of federal
immunity to Epstein and his co-conspirators.

So how does the Majority bail the U.S. Attor-
ney’s Office out of its egregious CVRA violations
and reverse the District Court’s ruling? The
Majority holds that Epstein’s crime victims had
no CVRA rights at all because the plea negotia-
tions with Epstein’s defense counsel were con-
ducted “pre-charge” and the Office never filed the
indictment and commenced court proceedings.
That is to say, the Majority crafts a bright-line,
blanket restriction on the statute: the CVRA
grants crime victims no rights whatsoever unless
and until a formal indictment is filed in a court.
See Maj. Op. at 2.

The Majority concludes “the CVRA was never
triggered” at all, even though the U.S. Attorney’s
Office prepared a 53-page indictment against
Epstein but later secretly entered into a plea deal,
granting federal immunity to Epstein and his co-
conspirators. Id. According to the Majority,
because the Office cleverly entered into a sweet-
heart plea deal with Epstein “pre-charge” and
never filed the indictment, the victims never had
any CVRA rights in the first place. Id. at 2, 18-
19.2

I dissent because the plain and unambiguous
text of the CVRA does not include this post-
indictment temporal restriction that the Majority
adds to the statute. Although, as I discuss later, the
two rights provisions at issue include other limit-
ing principles, there is no textual basis for the
bright-line, post-indictment only restriction the
Majority adds to the statute. Rather, the Major-
ity’s contorted statutory interpretation materially
revises the statute’s plain text and guts victims’
rights under the CVRA. Nothing, and I mean
nothing, in the CVRA’s plain text requires the
Majority’s result.

See for yourself. The CVRA grants “crime
victims” these two unambiguous rights in subsec-
tion (a):

(a) Rights of crime victims.—A crime victim
has the following rights:

. . . .
(5) The reasonable right to confer with the
attorney for the Government in the case.

. . . .
(8) The right to be treated with fairness and
with respect for the victim’s dignity and pri-
vacy.

18 U.S.C. § 3771(a)(5), (8). The text does not
contain the Majority’s post-indictment temporal
restriction. Simply put, crime victims do not have
to wait for the government to file a formal indict-
ment and commence court proceedings before
having these CVRA rights.

In fact, the CVRA’s venue provision in §
3771(d) expressly provides that, “if no prosecu-
tion is underway,” the victims can file suit to
assert their subsection (a) rights “in the district
court in the district in which the crime occurred.”
Id. § 3771(d)(1), (3). In filing this lawsuit back in

2008, the petitioner crime victims did what the
CVRA expressly authorized them to do.

To be clear, nothing in the CVRA empowers
crime victims to force a prosecutor to prosecute.
See id. § 3771(d)(6). As the Concurring Opinion
well points out, the Executive Branch has exclu-
sive authority and absolute discretion over prose-
cutorial decisions and whether to seek indictment
or not. Conc. Op. at 54-55. But what the CVRA
does do is grant victims a statutory right to have
an opportunity to speak to the prosecutor before
the prosecutor makes that decision. In § 3771(c),
the CVRA even mandates that the U.S. Attorney’s
prosecutors, while “engaged in the . . . investiga-
tion[ ] or prosecution of crime shall make their
best efforts” to accord victims these statutory
rights in subsection (a). Id. § 3771(c)(1). After
conferral, the prosecutor has the exclusive author-
ity and discretion whether to indict or not. Pre-
charge, the Office spent days conferring and
negotiating with Epstein’s defense team, but had
not a minute for the victims.

Unlike the Majority, I agree with the Fifth
Circuit that crime victims have a CVRA right to
confer with the government attorney, even if a
plea deal is struck before any formal indictment is
filed. See In re Dean, 527 F.3d 391, 394 (5th Cir.
2008). As the Fifth Circuit emphasized: “In
passing the Act, Congress made the policy
decision—which we are bound to enforce—that
the victims have a right to inform the plea negotia-
tions process by conferring with prosecutors
before a plea agreement is reached.” Id. at 395.

What’s worse is that the Majority concedes, as
it must, that § 3771(a)(5)’s conferral right and §
3771(a)(8)’s right to be treated with fairness have
no temporal limitation on their face and that
petitioners are “not without [their] own textual
arguments.” Maj. Op. at 20, 25, 29. The Majority
admits: “The interpretation of the CVRA that
petitioner advances, and that the district court
adopted, is not implausible; the CVRA could be
read to apply pre-charge.” Id. at 18. Yet, the
Majority refuses to enforce the Act as written by
Congress and grafts onto the plain and unambigu-
ous text a restriction Congress never enacted.

The roadmap for my dissent follows. First, I
recount more facts about the undisputed conduct
of the U.S. Attorney’s Office. This includes how
initially the Office wrote the victims, and later
Epstein’s attorneys, that the victims had ongoing
CVRA rights to confer and be treated fairly.
Tellingly, it was not until the petitioner victims
filed this lawsuit that the Office reversed course
and took the stance that the victims never had any
CVRA rights in the first place.

Next, I examine the CVRA text and apply the
relevant canons of statutory interpretation. Then,
I show the flaws in the Majority’s statutory analy-
sis. In one breath, the Majority urges Congress to
fill the gap left by (the Majority’s reading of) the
CVRA and in the next tells us why granting
victims two CVRA rights “pre-charge” would be
a bad idea.

Given this is a plain-text case, the Majority
curiously carries on at length about slippery
slopes and bad policy implications that the Major-
ity says counsel against enforcing any victim
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rights “pre-charge.” Yet, since the Fifth Circuit’s
2008 decision and the District Court’s 2011
decision, there has been no flood of civil suits by
victims, no evidence of victims’ abuse of their
CVRA rights, and no prosecutors’ complaints
about impairment of their prosecutorial discre-
tion.

The Majority also dresses up its flawed statu-
tory analysis with rhetorical flourish, using lan-
guage like “scandalous,” “national disgrace,” and
“the sad details of this shameful story,” while also
expressing sincere empathy for the victims:
“Despite our sympathy for Ms. Wild and others
like her, who suffered unspeakable horror at
Epstein’s hands, only to be left in the dark—and,
so it seems, affirmatively misled—by government
lawyers, we find ourselves constrained to deny
her petition.” Maj. Op. at 2, 6. The Majority
confesses that “[i]t isn’t lost on us that our deci-
sion leaves petitioner and others like her largely
emptyhanded” and “we sincerely regret that.” Id.
at 52. In addition to ruminating in sincere regret
and sympathy, we, as federal judges, should also
enforce the plain text of the CVRA—which we
are bound to do—and ensure that these crime
victims have the CVRA rights that Congress has
granted them.

Next, I address the constitutional concerns
about the CVRA raised in the Concurring Opin-
ion, although that, so far, has not been the issue in
this appeal. Lastly, I address the remedy and why,
due to the U.S. Attorney’s Office’s egregious
violations of the victims’ rights, this Court should
remand the case to the District Court for consider-
ation of the victims’ requested remedies.

I. PROSECUTORS ADVISE
VICTIMS HAVE CVRA RIGHTS

This case is not about the start or middle stages
of a criminal investigation. Rather, as detailed
below, this case is about (1) a completed investi-
gation of federal sex-trafficking crimes against
minor girls and (2) the U.S. Attorney’s Office’s
repeated communications that it (a) had “proof
beyond a reasonable doubt” that over 30 minor
girls were victims of Epstein’s criminal sexual
conduct and (b) had “decided to proceed with
[Epstein’s] indictment.” Let’s start with the
investigation and how the Office in 2006 wrote
the victims that they did have CVRA rights pre-
charge.

A. 2005-2007 Criminal Investigation
In 2005, the parents of a 14-year-old girl

reported to the Palm Beach Police Department
that Jeffrey Epstein sexually abused their daugh-
ter. This report began the investigation into the
then 52-year-old billionaire Jeffrey Epstein—an
investigation that ultimately revealed that Epstein
assembled a network of underage girls whom he
sexually abused at his mansion in Palm Beach,
Florida, elsewhere in the United States, and
overseas.

In 2006, at the Palm Beach Police Depart-
ment’s request, the Federal Bureau of Investiga-
tion (“FBI”) opened a federal investigation into
Epstein’s and his personal assistants’ use of
facilities of interstate commerce to induce girls
between the ages of 14 and 17 to engage in illegal

sexual activities. Thereafter, the U.S. Attorney’s
Office accepted the case for prosecution and
assigned specific federal prosecutors to the case.

The FBI established that Epstein used young
female recruiters and paid employees to find and
bring minor girls to him, as often as three times a
day, for his own and others’ sexual gratification.
Epstein also directed other people to sexually
abuse the minor girls, including his co-conspirator
Nadia Marcinkova. This in-depth federal investi-
gation proved that, between 2001 and 2007,
Epstein sexually abused more than 30 minor girls,
and multiple co-conspirators either procured the
girls for Epstein’s sexual gratification or partici-
pated in the sexual abuse themselves. The victims
include the petitioners in this case, Jane Doe 1 and
Jane Doe 2, who were 15 years old when first
sexually abused by Epstein.

B. Aug. 2006 Letter to Crime Victim about
CVRA Rights

Throughout the two-year investigation, once
a victim of Epstein’s sexual abuse was identified,
the lead Assistant U.S. Attorney (“AUSA”)
assigned to the case, A. Marie Villafana, sent a
letter telling the victim that she was protected by
the CVRA and explaining her statutory rights
under the CVRA.

For example, in 2006 and before an indictment
was drafted in 2007, the U.S. Attorney’s Office
told petitioner Jane Doe 2 in a letter that she had
statutory rights “to confer with the attorney for the
Government in the case,” “to be treated with
fairness,” and to petition the District Court if her
CVRA rights were being violated. See 18 U.S.C.
§ 3771(a), (d)(3). The Office’s 2006 letter ex-
plained that the Department of Justice would
make its “best efforts” to ensure Jane Doe 2’s
CVRA rights were protected. Later, in March
2007, the Office began sending similar letters to
Epstein’s other victims, informing them of their
ongoing CVRA rights.

This initial position of the U.S. Attorney’s
Office—that the petitioners had ongoing CVRA
rights—is not surprising given that the CVRA
was enacted to protect crime victims’ rights and
ensure their involvement in the criminal justice
process. United States v. Moussaoui, 483 F.3d
220, 234 (4th Cir. 2007); Kenna v. U.S. Dist.
Court, 435 F.3d 1011, 1016 (9th Cir. 2006) (“The
[CVRA] was enacted to make crime victims full
participants in the criminal justice system.”).

II. MAY 2007: FEDERAL
INDICTMENT PREPARED

By May 2007, the U.S. Attorney’s Office had
completed an 82-page prosecution memo and a
53-page draft indictment against Epstein, charg-
ing him with numerous federal crimes of sex
trafficking minor victims. The prosecutors were
prepared to indict Epstein. For the victims, so far,
so good. But what the victims didn’t know is what
was secretly going on behind the scenes.

III. JAN.-SEPT. 2007: PROSECUTORS
NEGOTIATE WITH EPSTEIN

Meanwhile and unbeknownst to the victims,
for over nine months in 2007 (from January to
September), the U.S. Attorney’s Office was
discussing with Epstein’s defense team the forth-

coming federal criminal charges. During this
time, Epstein’s defense team made multiple
presentations to the Office to try to convince them
not to prosecute Epstein, maintaining he commit-
ted no federal crimes.3 Those defense presenta-
tions were not successful. The record contains
extensive communications showing that, as of
August 2007, the Office’s prosecutors were
recommending and ready to proceed with the
federal indictment of Epstein.

In early September 2007, U.S. Attorney R.
Alexander Acosta met with some of Epstein’s
defense team, along with the federal prosecutors
assigned to Epstein’s case and the Chief of the
Child Exploitation and Obscenity Section of the
Department of Justice’s Criminal Division in
Washington, D.C. Epstein’s defense team again
raised federalism-based arguments that were
rejected. As U.S. Attorney Acosta explained,
“[a]fter considering the arguments raised at the
September 7th meeting, and after conferring with
the FBI and with [the Chief of the Child Exploita-
tion and Obscenity Section], our Office decided to
proceed with the indictment.” At that time, the
State of Florida had already charged Epstein with
one count of solicitation of prostitution.

IV. NON-PROSECUTION AGREEMENT
What happened next remains baffling, to put

it mildly. During September 2007, Epstein’s
defense attorneys engaged in more intensive pre-
indictment plea negotiations with the U.S. Attor-
ney’s Office.

Although the record does not explain why, the
Office then took the position that two types of
plea agreements could apply to Epstein’s federal
crimes: (1) a plea agreement to federal charges; or
(2) a non-prosecution agreement, whereby the
Office would agree not to federally prosecute
Epstein and his co-conspirators, in return for
which Epstein would plead guilty to a mere two
state prostitution-solicitation charges and agree to
an 18-month sentence in the county jail.

On September 16, 2007, Epstein’s counsel Jay
Lefkowitz sent the U.S. Attorney’s Office a
proposed written agreement, wherein the Office
would extend immunity from federal prosecution
to Epstein and certain co-conspirators.4 The next
day, Epstein’s counsel Lefkowitz followed up,
asking if the Office “intend[ed] to make the
deferred prosecution agreement public,” should
Epstein agree to “go that route.” AUSA Villafana
responded: “A non-prosecution agreement would
not be made public or filed with the Court, but it
would remain part of our case file. It probably
would be subject to a FOIA request, but it is not
something that we would distribute without
compulsory process.”

The victims were not told that plea negotia-
tions were ongoing, much less that the Office was
seriously considering a non-prosecution agree-
ment granting federal immunity to Epstein and his
co-conspirators. Rather, the parties made great
efforts to keep that secret from the victims and the
public, too.

A. Sept. 24, 2007: Execution and Terms of
NPA

On September 24, 2007, the U.S. Attorney’s
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Office and Jeffrey Epstein signed a seven-page
agreement, entitled the “Non-Prosecution Agree-
ment.”5 The NPA provided that the Office would
not prosecute Epstein or his co-conspirators in the
Southern District of Florida for federal felony
crimes of sex trafficking more than 30 minors if:
(1) Epstein pled guilty in Florida State Court to
two state prostitution-solicitation charges, and (2)
Epstein made a binding recommendation that the
State Court impose an 18-month sentence in the
county jail. The crimes listed in the NPA were: (1)
sex trafficking of minors by force, fraud, or coer-
cion, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1591(a)(1) and
2; (2) conspiracy to travel and traveling in inter-
state commerce for the purpose of engaging in
illicit sexual conduct with minor females, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2423(b), (e), and (f); and
(3) conspiracy to use and using means of interstate
commerce to knowingly persuade, induce, or
entice minor females to engage in prostitution, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 2422(b) and 371.

As for the victims, the NPA added insult to
injury. The NPA provided that if and only if the
victims agreed to waive any other claim for dam-
ages, the victims could obtain an attorney paid for
by Epstein and file 18 U.S.C. § 2255 civil lawsuits
against Epstein for restitution. Of course, restitu-
tion in a criminal case is not contingent upon a
victim giving up rights to pursue damages claims.

Even more striking, the NPA extended immu-
nity to any “potential coconspirator” of Epstein’s,
stating: “In consideration of Epstein’s agreement
to plead guilty and to provide compensation in the
manner described above, . . . the United States
also agrees that it will not institute any criminal
charges against any potential co-conspirators of
Epstein, including but not limited to Sarah Kellen,
Adriana Ross, Lesley Groff, or Nadia
Marcinkova.”6 Apparently, the coconspirators
had not cooperated or assisted the government.
Rather, the sole consideration for their federal
immunity was that Epstein plead to two state
charges and provide potential restitution to his
victims, but only if the victims waived all dam-
ages claims against Epstein. The NPA even stated
“that this agreement will not be made part of any
public record.”7

B. Office Does Not Confer with Crime Victims
Although the U.S. Attorney’s Office accepted

the case for prosecution and prepared a 53-page
indictment, the Office never conferred with the
victims about the NPA and never told the victims
that such an agreement was being considered,
much less being negotiated. While the Office
spent untold hours negotiating the NPA’s terms
with Epstein’s skilled defense team, the Office
never told the victims that it was negotiating and
signing an agreement that would grant federal
immunity to Epstein and his co-conspirators. The
Office kept this information from Epstein’s
victims, despite earlier having sent most, if not all,
of the girls the CVRA letters, which advised that
the victims had a “right to confer with the attorney
for the United States in the case” and a “right to be
treated with fairness.”

V. SEPT. 2007-JULY 2008:
PROSECUTORS HIDE NPA

The U.S. Attorney’s Office also failed to tell

the victims about the NPA for at least nine months
after it was executed. Instead, the Office misrepre-
sented to the victims that “this case” was still
under investigation, advised them “to be patient,”
and never disclosed the government’s NPA with
Epstein.

A. Prosecutors Negotiate With Defense about
Notifying Victims

During that nine-month period, the U.S. Attor-
ney’s Office and Epstein’s defense team negoti-
ated whether and to what extent the victims would
be told about the NPA’s resolution of the federal
case. In this case, the Office admitted that it was a
deviation from the government’s standard prac-
tices to negotiate with defense counsel about the
extent of crime victim notifications. Nevertheless,
Epstein’s defense attorneys demanded that the
victims not be told about the resolution of the
federal case because otherwise Epstein “will have
no control over what is communicated to the
identified individuals [the victims] at this most
critical stage.”

Epstein, of course, did not want the victims to
know there would be no federal prosecution of his
sex-trafficking-of-minors crimes if he pled guilty
in State Court to merely soliciting prostitution.
Everyone knew the victims would be disgusted,
raise vigorous objections on the federal level, and
try to convince the State Court judge not to be
beguiled into accepting such a state plea that was
tied to no federal prosecution for sex-trafficking
crimes against more than 30 minor victims. While
his state plea did not happen until June 30, 2008,
in the interim, Epstein’s attorneys worked to keep
the terms of the 2007 NPA secret until after Ep-
stein’s state plea was accepted and the deal was
done.

In later correspondence with Epstein’s attor-
neys, AUSA Villafana admitted that Epstein did
not want the U.S. Attorney’s Office to inform the
State Attorney’s Office of the facts supporting the
additional state prostitution-solicitation charge,
nor did Epstein want federal victims to contact the
State Court or prosecutor because the state prose-
cutor’s “opinion may change if she knows the full
scope of [Epstein’s] actions.” To this date, the
U.S. Attorney’s Office has presented no evidence
that it or anyone else told the State Court, either
before or during Epstein’s state hearing, about the
secret consideration Epstein had negotiated with
the federal government—federal immunity for
him and all co-conspirators—if the State Court
accepted his state plea.8

Consistent with Epstein’s demands, the U.S.
Attorney’s Office did not notify the victims about
the NPA. But before acquiescing, the manner in
which the Office responded to Epstein’s demands
unmasks the truth.

Initially, the Office responded that the govern-
ment had statutory obligations under the CVRA to
notify the victims of the NPA, to confer with the
victims, and to tell them about upcoming events,
such as Epstein’s state plea in return for no federal
prosecution. Here are examples of what the Office
wrote Epstein’s attorneys in November and early
December of 2007:

• “The United States has a statutory obliga-
tion (Justice for All Act of 2004)9 to notify the

victims of the anticipated upcoming events
and their rights associated with the agreement
entered into by the United States and Mr.
Epstein in a timely fashion.”

• “Section 3771 . . . commands that ‘em-
ployees of the Department of Justice . . . en-
gaged in the detection, investigation, or prose-
cution of crime shall make their best efforts to
see that crime victims are notified of, and
accorded, the rights described in subsection
(a).’ ”

• “Our Non-Prosecution Agreement re-
solves the federal investigation by allowing
Mr. Epstein to plead to a state offense. The
victims identified through the federal investi-
gation should be appropriately informed, and
our [NPA] does not require the U.S. Attor-
ney’s Office to forego its legal obligations.”

• “[T]he Office believes that it has proof
beyond a reasonable doubt that each listed
individual was a victim of Mr. Epstein’s crim-
inal conduct while the victim was a minor. The
law requires us to treat all victims ‘with fair-
ness and with respect for the victim’s dignity
and privacy.’ 18 U.S.C. § 3771(a)(8). We will
not include any language that demeans the
harm they may have suffered.”

• “[W]e will not remove the language
about contacting AUSA Villafana or Special
Agent Kuyrkendall with questions or con-
cerns. Again, federal law requires that victims
have a ‘reasonable right to confer with the
attorney for the Government in this case.’ 18
U.S.C. § 3771(a)(5).”

The evidence shows the Office repeatedly told
Epstein’s attorneys that it had CVRA obligations
to notify and confer with the victims about the
NPA and upcoming events. As the state plea
would resolve Epstein’s federal sex-trafficking
crimes, the CVRA, as well as basic decency and
fairness, demanded the Office tell the victims of
that critical fact and about the State Court pro-
ceeding.

Yet, on December 19, 2007, U.S. Attorney
Acosta sent a letter to Epstein’s counsel address-
ing “the issue of victim’s rights pursuant to Sec-
tion 3771.” U.S. Attorney Acosta stated: “I under-
stand that the defense objects to the victims being
given notice of time and place of Mr. Epstein’s
state court sentencing hearing. . . . We intend to
provide victims with notice of the federal resolu-
tion, as required by law. We will defer to the
discretion of the State Attorney regarding whether
he wishes to provide victims with notice of the
state proceedings[.]” Despite U.S. Attorney
Acosta representing that “[w]e intend to provide
victims with notice of the federal resolution, as
required by law,” the Office never did that before
Epstein pled guilty in State Court on June 30,
2008, and the deal was consummated.

B. 2008 Victims Misled
Another chapter in this sordid story. Before

going to State Court, Epstein apparently was not
satisfied with his defense team’s success in secur-
ing the highly favorable NPA. In January 2008,
Epstein’s attorneys sought higher-level review
within the Justice Department.10 U.S. Attorney



Headnotes and indexes are copyrighted and may not be duplicated by photocopying, printing,
or other means without the express permission of the publishers. 1-800-351-0917

U.S. COURT OF APPEALS, ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1033

Acosta agreed to allow Epstein to delay further his
State Court plea while his attorneys appealed to
main Justice. This time Epstein’s defense team got
nowhere.

Nonetheless, during this review period, the
U.S. Attorney’s Office still did not tell the victims
a signed NPA existed. Instead, on January 10,
2008, the government sent Epstein’s victims
letters misrepresenting that “[t]his case is cur-
rently under investigation. This can be a lengthy
process and we request your continued patience
while we conduct a thorough investigation.”

Jane Doe 1’s sworn testimony is revealing. On
January 31, 2008, Jane Doe 1 met with AUSA
Villafana, FBI agents, and another federal prose-
cutor and provided additional details of Epstein’s
sexual abuse of her. Jane Doe 1 said she hoped
Epstein would be prosecuted and that she was
willing to testify against him at trial. Based on the
earlier letters she received, Jane Doe 1 believed
the federal prosecutors would contact her before
reaching any final resolution. During that meet-
ing, however, the federal prosecutors and FBI
agents still did not disclose to Jane Doe 1 that the
Office had signed the NPA, which barred Ep-
stein’s federal prosecution for sex-trafficking
crimes against her.

The U.S. Attorney’s Office continued to
conceal the existence of the NPA from all the
victims for months to come. In mid-June of 2008,
Bradley Edwards, the Fort Lauderdale, Florida
attorney for several of Epstein’s victims, con-
tacted AUSA Villafana to inform her that he
represented Jane Doe 1 and, later, Jane Doe 2.
AUSA Villafana and Edwards discussed the
possibility of federal charges being filed against
Epstein in the future. Edwards was led to believe
that federal charges could still be filed by the
Office, with AUSA Villafana failing to mention
the NPA or any other possible resolution of Ep-
stein’s federal case.

VI. JUNE 30, 2008:
EPSTEIN’S STATE PLEA

On June 30, 2008, Epstein pled guilty in
Florida State Court to (1) solicitation of prostitu-
tion and (2) procuring a person under the age of
18 for prostitution. That same day, the State Court
sentenced Epstein to 18 months’ imprisonment in
the county jail. As the Majority concedes, there is
no indication that any of Epstein’s victims were
informed about the NPA or the terms of his state
plea until later. Maj. Op. at 6.

Having still not been informed of the resolu-
tion of Epstein’s federal case, on July 3, 2008,
attorney Edwards sent a letter to the U.S. Attor-
ney’s Office communicating the victims’ wishes
that federal charges be filed against Epstein.
Attorney Edwards explained: “We urge you to
move forward with the traditional indictments and
criminal prosecution commensurate with the
crimes Mr. Epstein has committed, and we further
urge you to take the steps necessary to protect our
children from this very dangerous sexual perpetra-
tor.” Because Epstein was “a sexual addict that
focused all of his free time on sexually abusing
children,” Edwards emphasized that “[f]uture
abuse and victimization is obvious to anyone who
really reviews the evidence in this case, and future

sexual abuse of minors is inevitable unless [Ep-
stein] is prosecuted, tried and appropriately sen-
tenced.”

VII. PROCEDURAL HISTORY
On July 7, 2008, Courtney Wild (proceeding

as “Jane Doe 1”) filed an emergency petition
alleging that she was a victim of Epstein’s federal
crimes and that the U.S. Attorney’s Office had
violated her CVRA rights (1) to confer with
federal prosecutors, (2) to be treated with fairness,
(3) to receive timely notice of relevant court
proceedings, and (4) to receive information about
restitution.

Two days later, on July 9, 2008, the U.S.
Attorney’s Office responded, arguing for the first
time, that the CVRA did not apply at all to pre-
indictment plea negotiations with a potential
federal defendant. Once sued, the Office changed
its position despite having earlier written the
victims, and later Epstein’s defense team, that the
victims had ongoing CVRA rights, and that the
Office had statutory obligations to accord the
victims those rights.11

It was only in the Office’s July 9, 2008, re-
sponsive pleading that Jane Doe 1 first saw refer-
ence to the fact that, over nine months earlier in
September 2007, the Office had signed an agree-
ment with Epstein to not prosecute him for federal
crimes if Epstein pled guilty to two state charges.

Also on July 9, 2008, the U.S. Attorney’s
Office sent short letters to petitioner Wild and
Epstein’s other victims stating: (1) “the United
States . . . was prepared to name [each girl] in an
Indictment as victims of an enumerated offense by
Mr. Epstein”; but (2) the “United States has
agreed to defer federal prosecution in favor of
[Epstein’s] state plea and sentence, subject to
certain conditions.” That cursory notification still
did not provide the full terms of the NPA, such as
the provision extending federal immunity to
Epstein’s co-conspirators.12

After multiple hearings, the District Court
ordered the U.S. Attorney’s Office to disclose the
NPA to the victims. In August 2008, the petition-
ers finally obtained a copy of the NPA. Among
other relief, the victims sought rescission of the
NPA.

What followed was more than a decade of
contentious litigation between the victims, the
U.S. Attorney’s Office, Epstein, and his various
defense attorneys.13 In 2011, the District Court
“addresse[d] the threshold issue whether the
CVRA attaches before the government brings
formal charges against a defendant.” Does v.
United States, 817 F. Supp. 2d 1337, 1341 (S.D.
Fla. 2011). In a thorough opinion, the District
Court held that it does under the plain text of the
CVRA. Id. at 1341-43. Later, on February 21,
2019, the District Court ruled that the U.S. Attor-
ney’s Office entered into the NPA without first
conferring with the victims and violated the vic-
tims’ CVRA rights to confer and be treated
fairly.14 Doe 1 v. United States, 359 F. Supp. 3d
1201, 1218-22 (S.D. Fla. 2019).

After extensive briefing on remedies for the
victims, Epstein was found dead on August 10,
2019. On September 16, 2019, the District Court
entered an order denying the victims any remedies

and closed the case. As to Epstein, the District
Court determined that “there is no longer an
Article III controversy” given his death. As to the
co-conspirators, the District Court found it lacked
jurisdiction over them.

Victim Wild filed a petition for writ of manda-
mus with this Court, seeking review of the District
Court’s order denying relief. See 18 U.S.C. §
3771(d)(3) (“If the district court denies the relief
sought, the movant may petition the court of
appeals for a writ of mandamus. . . . In deciding
such application, the court of appeals shall apply
ordinary standards of appellate review.”).15

VIII. QUESTION PRESENTED
This appeal presents this legal question:

Whether, after completing its investigation,
preparing a 53-page indictment, and conferring
with Epstein’s defense team about a pre-charge
plea, the Office violated the victims’ CVRA rights
by (1) not conferring with any of Epstein’s vic-
tims before agreeing to the NPA, (2) intentionally
and unfairly concealing the NPA from the vic-
tims, and (3) affirmatively misrepresenting the
case status to the victims after the NPA was exe-
cuted. The answer depends solely on the text of
the CVRA, to which I turn.

IX. CVRA’S STATUTORY TEXT

A. CVRA’s Bill of Rights for Victims
In interpreting the CVRA, our Court is guided

by the traditional canons of statutory construction.
“Our ‘starting point’ is the language of the statute
itself.” EEOC v. STME, LLC, 938 F.3d 1305,
1313 (11th Cir. 2019) [28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C325a] (quoting Harrison v. Benchmark Elecs.
Huntsville, Inc., 593 F.3d 1206, 1212-14 (11th
Cir. 2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C416a]). We
“assume that Congress used the words of the
statute as they are commonly and ordinarily
understood and must construe the statute so each
of its provisions is given full effect.” United States
v. McLymont, 45 F.3d 400, 401 (11th Cir. 1995).
Therefore, “[w]e do not look at one word or term
in isolation, but instead we look to the entire
statutory context.” STME, 938 F.3d at 1314
(quoting Harrison, 593 F.3d at 1212).

The CVRA grants crime victims these eight
rights in subsection (a):

(1) The right to be reasonably protected
from the accused.

(2) The right to reasonable, accurate, and
timely notice of any public court proceeding,
or any parole proceeding, involving the crime
or of any release or escape of the accused.

(3) The right not to be excluded from any
such public court proceeding, unless the court,
after receiving clear and convincing evidence,
determines that testimony by the victim would
be materially altered if the victim heard other
testimony at that proceeding.

(4) The right to be reasonably heard at any
public proceeding in the district court involv-
ing release, plea, sentencing, or any parole
proceeding.

(5) The reasonable right to confer with the
attorney for the Government in the case.

(6) The right to full and timely restitution
as provided in law.



Headnotes and indexes are copyrighted and may not be duplicated by photocopying, printing,
or other means without the express permission of the publishers. 1-800-351-0917

28 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1034 U.S. COURT OF APPEALS, ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

(7) The right to proceedings free from
unreasonable delay.

(8) The right to be treated with fairness
and with respect for the victim’s dignity and
privacy.

18 U.S.C. § 3771(a) (2008) (emphasis added).
These are not merely aspirational principles.
Section 3771(c)(1) directs that “[o]fficers and
employees of the Department of Justice . . . en-
gaged in the detection, investigation, or prosecu-
tion of crime shall make their best efforts to see
that crime victims are . . . accorded[ ] the rights
described in subsection (a).” Id. § 3771(c)(1). And
if crime victims’ rights are violated, the CVRA
provides a procedural mechanism—this law-
suit—whereby the victims may assert their CVRA
rights in federal court. Id. § 3771(d)(3).
Undisputedly, the petitioners qualify as “crime
victims” as defined in the CVRA. See id. §
3771(e) (“[T]he term ‘crime victim’ means a
person directly and proximately harmed as a result
of the commission of a Federal offense.”).

B. Subsections 3771(a)(5) and (a)(8)
The two subsections at issue here are (a)(5)

and (a)(8), which grant crime victims “[t]he
reasonable right to confer with the attorney for
the Government in the case” and “[t]he right to be
treated with fairness.” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(a)(5), (8).
These two statutory rights are stated in plain
language. The text of the two rights has no post-
indictment temporal limitation on its face. The
language of § 3771(a)(5) and (a)(8) is not ambigu-
ous, intricate, obscure, or doubtful (as the Major-
ity suggests). Maj. Op. at 20 & n.8. As enacted,
Congress granted these rights to victims of crime,
and though the rights are not wholly unlimited as
discussed later, Congress did not restrict these
rights to only the time after an indictment is filed
in federal court. In interpreting a statute, when
“the language at issue has a plain and unambigu-
ous meaning,” we “need go no further.” United
States v. St. Amour, 886 F.3d 1009, 1013 (11th
Cir.) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C704a], cert. de-
nied, 139 S. Ct. 205 (2018) (quoting United States
v. Fisher, 289 F.3d 1329, 1337-38 (11th Cir.
2002) [15 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C527a]).16 Our
statutory analysis thus should start and end with
the language of subsections (a)(5) and (a)(8).

The overall statutory structure of § 3771 also
supports this plain text reading. Beyond their
plain language, what Congress omitted from
subsections (a)(5) and (a)(8) of § 3771, but ex-
pressly included in subsections (a)(2), (a)(3), and
(a)(4), is instructive too. In § 3771, subsection
(a)(2) grants victims the right to “notice of any
public court proceeding”; subsection (a)(3) grants
victims the right “not to be excluded from any
such public court proceeding”; and subsection
(a)(4) grants victims the right “to be reasonably
heard at any public proceeding in the district
court.” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(a)(2)-(4).

In stark contrast, in subsections (a)(5) and
(a)(8), Congress granted victims rights to confer
and be treated fairly without tying those rights to
“public court proceedings” or “public proceed-
ings in the district court.” Congress’s omission of
the distinct phrase of “public court proceedings”

in subsections (a)(5) and (a)(8) is highly signifi-
cant.

First, under the conventional rules of statutory
construction, where Congress has used a more
limited term in one part of a statute, but left it out
of other parts, courts should not imply the term
where it has been excluded. See Keene Corp. v.
United States, 508 U.S. 200, 208, 113 S. Ct. 2035,
2040 (1993) (“[W]here Congress includes partic-
ular language in one section of a statute but omits
it in another . . . , it is generally presumed that
Congress acts intentionally and purposely in the
disparate inclusion or exclusion.”); Russello v.
United States, 464 U.S. 16, 23, 104 S. Ct. 296,
300 (1983) (declining to read a term appearing in
two subsections of a statute to have the same
meaning where there is “differing language” in
the subsections).

Second, “[a] familiar principle of statutory
construction . . . is that a negative inference may
be drawn from the exclusion of language from
one statutory provision that is included in other
provisions of the same statute.” Hamdan v.
Rumsfeld, 548 U.S. 557, 578, 126 S. Ct. 2749,
2765 (2006) [19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S452a]; see
also Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading
Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 170
(2012) (“[W]here a document has used one term
in one place, and a materially different term in
another, the presumption is that the different term
denoted a different idea.”).

In other words, had Congress wanted the
conferral and fairness rights to apply only after the
government has filed an indictment in court,
Congress could have easily written subsections
(a)(5) and (a)(8) more narrowly, as it did in other
parts of subsection (a). But “the presumed point of
using general words is to produce general cover-
age—not to leave room for courts to recognize ad
hoc exceptions.” Scalia & Garner, supra at 101
(“General terms are to be given their general
meaning (generalia verba sunt generaliter intelli-
genda).”). Indeed, the § 3771(a) subsections
explicitly tied to court proceedings show that
when Congress wants to limit crime victims’
rights to post-indictment court proceedings it
knows how to do so and does so expressly. The
CVRA’s text draws a clear distinction between a
victim’s rights to confer and be treated fairly and
a victim’s rights to have notice of and participate
in “public court proceedings,” and our Court is
required to enforce the statute’s distinction as
Congress wrote and enacted it.

C. Subsections 3771(c) and (d)
Two other CVRA subsections—§ 3771(c) and

(d)—also support my conclusion that Epstein’s
victims had the rights to confer and be treated
fairly before plea negotiations were completed. “It
is a fundamental canon of statutory construction
that the words of a statute must be read in their
context and with a view to their place in the over-
all statutory scheme.” Home Depot U.S.A., Inc. v.
Jackson, 587 U.S. __, __, 139 S. Ct. 1743, 1748
(2019) [27 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S857a] (quoting
Davis v. Mich. Dep’t of Treasury, 489 U.S. 803,
809, 109 S. Ct. 1500, 1504 (1989)). “Ultimately,
context determines meaning.” Johnson v. United

States, 559 U.S. 133, 139, 130 S. Ct. 1265, 1270
(2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S152a]. Subsec-
tions (c) and (d) not only provide context for
subsection (a), but expressly refer to the rights in
subsection (a).

Section 3771(c), titled “Best efforts to accord
rights,” instructs that the Justice Department and
“other departments and agencies of the United
States engaged in the detection, investigation, or
prosecution of crime shall make their best efforts
to see that crime victims are . . . accorded[ ] the
rights described in subsection (a).” 18 U.S.C. §
3771(c)(1) (emphasis added). Logically, there
would be no reason to mandate that federal agen-
cies involved in crime “detection” or “investiga-
tion” see that victims are accorded their CVRA
rights if those rights did not exist pre-charge.
Indeed, the use of disjunctive wording—the
“or”—indicates agencies that fit either description
must comply, and not just, for example, the FBI,
which is at times engaged in both crime investiga-
tion and prosecution.

A victim’s right to conferral is with the govern-
ment’s attorney in the case, not with the FBI. But
the fact that the FBI has a “best efforts” duty
during the criminal investigation to see that a
victim’s conferral rights are honored is another
textual signal that the victim has conferral rights
pre-charge, where the case has matured to the
point that a government attorney is assigned.

Lest any doubt remains, the CVRA’s venue
provision in § 3771(d)(3) conclusively demon-
strates that the Act gives crime victims rights pre-
charge. Section 3771(d)(3) provides: “The rights
described in subsection (a) shall be asserted in the
district court in which a defendant is being prose-
cuted for the crime or, if no prosecution is under-
way, in the district court in the district in which the
crime occurred.” Id. § 3771(d)(3) (emphasis
added).

Read most naturally, this venue provision
provides that, if a prosecution is underway, vic-
tims may assert their rights in the ongoing crimi-
nal action. Id. If, however, “no prosecution is
underway,” victims may assert their rights in the
district court of the district in which the crime
occurred. Id. And if a crime victim’s CVRA rights
may be enforced before a prosecution is formally
underway in district court, then to avoid a strained
reading, those rights must attach at some point
before an indictment formally charges the defen-
dant with the crime.

So how does the Majority resist the plain
reading of the venue provision in § 3771(d)(3)?
To be fair, the Majority admits first that: “Peti-
tioner’s interpretation of subsection (d)(3) is not
implausible—that provision could be read to
mean that CVRA rights attach before the com-
mencement of criminal proceedings.” Maj. Op. at
33. But then the Majority argues that, after a
criminal case is totally over, there is no prosecu-
tion underway and hence this venue provision is
about “post-judgment” matters. Id. at 35-36. The
Majority’s reading of § 3771(d)(3) does not
comport with how the word “underway” is ordi-
narily or commonly understood. In everyday
parlance, if “a process, project, [or] activity,” is
not “underway,” we generally understand that to
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mean it has not yet begun. Id. at 35. It is a stretch
to say that when something is not “underway,” it
is commonly or ordinarily understood to mean
that the something is completed.17

In addition, the Majority’s interpretation of the
phrase—“if no prosecution is underway”—makes
no sense because a post-judgment action would
logically be filed in the district court where the
conviction was entered. Even the Majority
“concede[s] that this reading isn’t perfectly seam-
less, in that it would require the victim to file her
post-judgment motion ‘in the district in which the
crime occurred’ rather than, as one might expect,
in the district in which the prosecution occurred
and the conviction was entered.” Id. at 36 n.19.

Not “perfectly seamless” is an odd statutory
interpretation. The Majority’s faulty interpreta-
tion actually makes this part of the venue provi-
sion superfluous. See Corley v. United States, 556
U.S. 303, 314, 129 S. Ct. 1558, 1566 (2009) [21
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S757a] (“[O]ne of the most
basic interpretive canons [is] that a statute should
be construed so that effect is given to all its provi-
sions, so that no part will be inoperative or super-
fluous, void or insignificant.”); Garcia v. Van-
guard Car Rental USA, Inc., 540 F.3d 1242, 1247
(11th Cir. 2008) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1001a]
(stating under the canon against surplusage, “we
strive to give effect to every word and provision in
a statute when possible”). Our job is to enforce the
statute as written by Congress.

In sum, the victims’ two statutory rights—to
confer and be treated fairly—though not unlim-
ited, have no bright-line, post-indictment tempo-
ral restriction on their face. See 18 U.S.C. §
3771(a)(5), (8). Federal agencies and prosecutors
engaged in the “detection, investigation, or prose-
cution” of crime “shall make their best efforts” to
see that crime victims are “accorded[ ] the rights
described in subsection (a).” See id. § 3771(c)(1).
And “if no prosecution is underway,” the venue
provision directs victims that “[t]he rights de-
scribed in subsection (a) shall be asserted . . . in
the district court in the district in which the crime
occurred.” See id. § 3771(d)(3).

D. Majority’s Flawed Statutory Analysis
So how in the holy name of plain text does the

Majority add such a substantive and temporal
restriction on the victims’ rights to confer and be
treated fairly and hold that victims have no CVRA
rights until after the government files an indict-
ment and commences proceedings? The Majority
hacks away at the plain text with four tools.

First, the Majority cherry picks the meaning of
“case” in § 3771(a)(5) and narrows it to mean
judicial case only. Maj. Op. at 22-23. “Case,”
however, has long had a much broader meaning
than the Majority uses. As stated in dictionary
definitions, “case” is both “a circumstance or
situation (as a crime) requiring investigation or
action by the police or other agency” and “the
matters of fact or conditions involved in a suit: a
suit or action in law or equity.” Case, Webster’s
Third New International Dictionary 345 (2002).
Likewise, in Black’s Law Dictionary, the term
“case” can mean both “[a] civil or criminal pro-
ceeding, action, suit, or controversy at law or in

equity <the parties settled the case>” and “[a]
criminal investigation <the Manson case>.” Case,
Black’s Law Dictionary 258-59 (10th ed. 2014).
As shown in my factual background, everyone
involved in Epstein’s case—from AUSA
Villafana, to the Deputy Attorney General, and
even Epstein’s defense team—called this a “case”
before an indictment was filed.

The Majority brushes aside the fact that the
term “case” can mean both a judicial case and an
investigative case on the basis that Black’s first
defines “case” as a civil or criminal proceeding
and only second as a criminal investigation. Maj.
Op. at 22-23.18 But since when is statutory inter-
pretation as simple as picking the first definition
listed in a Black’s dictionary entry to the exclu-
sion of a word’s ordinary meaning? The Majority
cites no legal support for its “first listed dictionary
definition” canon of construction.19

Although “case” means both criminal investi-
gation and formal criminal proceedings, it is
worth noting whom the conferral right is between:
the victim and the attorney for the government.
That fits the petitioners’ claim that once the crimi-
nal case has matured to plea negotiations by “the
attorney for the Government in the case” with
defense counsel, the victims had the right to know
that and to confer with the government’s attorney.

As its second instrument, the Majority drills
down on the meaning of “the attorney for the
Government” in § 3771(a)(5). The Majority
argues that it means one attorney and therefore the
conferral right “attaches only after proceedings
have begun, at which point that particular person
will presumably be more readily identifiable.”
Maj. Op. at 23-24. I don’t quarrel with the fact
that an attorney needs to be “readily identifiable,”
as the Majority puts it. But the Majority wrongly
concludes that happens only once court proceed-
ings begin after a formal indictment. That conclu-
sion is divorced from reality and sorely lacking in
explanation. Who does the Majority think pro-
cures an indictment—just some random attorney
not assigned to the case pre-charge? Nonsense.
Contrary to the Majority’s presumption, specific
government attorneys are routinely assigned to
draft indictments and handle pre-charge matters.
Once an investigation is completed, the case has
matured to the indictment-drafting stage and pre-
charge plea negotiations with defense counsel
have begun, there is obviously a “readily identifi-
able” attorney in the case.

What I quarrel with is the Majority’s leap from
this statutory phrase to its mistaken conclusion
that this phrase translates to the Majority’s
claimed post-indictment restriction on the confer-
ral right. Notably, the pre-charge period has
become crucial to white-collar defense attorneys,
who are hired to represent potential defendants
pre-charge precisely in order to negotiate with the
already assigned, readily identifiable prosecutor
and extract the best plea deal in advance of any
indictment. The Majority’s pre-charge rule will
deny victims’ CVRA rights to confer and fairness
in cases involving white-collar and other wealthy
defendants who commonly engage in pre-charge
plea negotiations.

Jeffrey Epstein’s case illustrates my point. The

U.S. Attorney’s Office assigned specific attor-
neys, with AUSA Villafana being the lead prose-
cutor and primary attorney who negotiated with
Epstein’s defense team. And Epstein’s defense
team spent days negotiating with the Office to
extract the best plea deal pre-charge. As such,
there was a readily identifiable attorney—“the
attorney for the Government”—for Epstein’s
victims to confer with even though formal court
proceedings had not yet commenced. We should
take the victims’ rights granted in § 3771(a)(5)
and (a)(8) at face value and not restrict them to
benefit the privileged few.20

As its third tool to axe the plain text, the Ma-
jority contends that its reading of § 3771(a)(5) and
(a)(8) is supported by the canon noscitur a sociis,
that is, “ ‘a word is known by the company it
keeps.’ ” See S.D. Warren Co. v. Me. Bd. of Envtl.
Prot., 547 U.S. 370, 378, 126 S. Ct. 1843, 1849
(2006) [19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S193a]; Maj. Op.
at 25-26. Do not fall for this. The noscitur a sociis
principle is a “useful rule of construction where
words are of obscure or doubtful meaning and
then, but only then, its aid may be sought to
remove the obscurity or doubt by reference to the
associated words.” Russell Motor Car Co. v.
United States, 261 U.S. 514, 520, 43 S. Ct. 428,
430 (1923). But here, the meaning of the plain
words in § 3771(a)(5) and (a)(8) is not in doubt
and all other contextual clues support that mean-
ing. Thus, the canon cannot be invoked to defeat
Congress’s decision to grant crime victims these
plainly-worded rights of conferral and fairness.
See Ali v. Fed. Bureau of Prisons, 552 U.S. 214,
226-27, 128 S. Ct. 831, 839-40 (2008) [21 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S53a] (rejecting the invocation of
this canon as an “attempt to create ambiguity
where the statute’s text and structure suggest
none”).

Moreover, the cases the Majority cites for this
canon involved statutes with much stronger and
closer contextual clues than in § 3771(a). See
Gutierrez v. Ada, 528 U.S. 250, 254-58, 120 S. Ct.
740, 743-46 (2000) (applying the canon to narrow
the phrase “any election” where it was closely
surrounded by six specific references to guberna-
torial elections); Lagos v. United States, 584 U.S.
__, __, 138 S. Ct. 1684, 1688-89 (2018) [27 Fla.
L. Weekly Fed. S286a] (applying the canon to
narrow the words “investigation” and “proceed-
ings” to government investigations and criminal
proceedings where the words were closely sur-
rounded by three specific expenses victims would
incur during government investigations and
prosecutions, but not in private investigations and
bankruptcy proceedings).

Importantly too, the three subsection (a) rights
in § 3771 that refer to court or public “proceed-
ing[s]” are rights that could not exist absent such
a proceeding. A victim’s right to receive “timely
notice of,” “not . . . be excluded from,” or “be
reasonably heard at” a proceeding would not
attach until the time when such a proceeding
would or could be held. See 18 U.S.C. §
3771(a)(2)-(4). Those rights are contingent on the
existence of a court proceeding, of which a victim
might be notified, from which a victim might be
excluded, or at which a victim might be heard. In
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contrast, a victim’s rights to confer or be treated
fairly in no way flow from or presuppose ongoing
court proceedings. It makes little sense to take the
inherent temporal limits placed on rights explic-
itly tied to and dependent upon court proceedings
and transfer them to rights which do not carry that
particular limitation.

Although public court proceedings are men-
tioned in three different rights in § 3771(a)(2)-(4),
and crime victims have the right to be protected
from the accused in § 3771(a)(1), as well as the
right to “full and timely restitution” in §
3771(a)(6), nothing in the overall statutory con-
text suggests subsection (a) is focused exclusively
on victims’ rights accruing only after the filing of
an indictment. See Ali, 552 U.S. at 225-26, 128 S.
Ct. at 839-40 (refusing to apply the canon noscitur
a sociis to narrow the phrase “any other law
enforcement officer” in 28 U.S.C. § 2680(c) to the
scope of the phrase that preceded it, “any officer
of customs or excise,” because “nothing in the
overall statutory context suggests that customs
and excise officers were the exclusive focus of the
provision”); see also Beecham v. United States,
511 U.S. 368, 371, 114 S. Ct. 1669, 1671 (1994)
(explaining that the noscitur a sociis “canon of
construction is by no means a hard and fast rule”).
The temporal limitations in other § 3771(a) sub-
sections are not inconsistent in any way with the
conclusion that crime victims’ rights to confer and
be treated fairly “sweep[ ] as broadly as [the]
language suggests.”21 See Ali, 552 U.S. at 226,
128 S. Ct. at 840.

The Majority’s fourth attempted blow at the
CVRA’s plain text in subsections (a)(5) and (a)(8)
comes via a marred reading of the word “motion”
in subsection (d)(3). Section 3771(d)(3) provides
that a CVRA victim asserts her subsection (a)
rights in the district court by filing a “[m]otion for
relief.” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(d)(3). Again, “if no
prosecution is underway,” that motion is to be
filed “in the district court in the district in which
the crime occurred.” Id. Once filed, “[t]he district
court shall take up and decide any motion assert-
ing a victim’s right forthwith.” Id.

In considering the usage of “motion” in §
3771(d)(3), the Majority asserts that a “motion” is
solely a request filed within the context of an
ongoing judicial proceeding. Maj. Op. at 27-28.
The Majority argues that, since CVRA rights can
only be asserted in a “mid-proceeding
‘motion[ ],’ ” the CVRA’s protections apply only
after court proceedings have started. See id. at 28.

As with “case,” the Majority slices in half the
definition of the word “motion.” The common
legal definition of “motion” is more general and
broader: a motion is “[a] written or oral applica-
tion requesting a court to make a specified ruling
or order.” Motion, Black’s, supra, at 1168. This
general definition encompasses a motion initiat-
ing a new lawsuit or proceeding, as well as one
filed mid-proceeding. In fact, the federal rules and
statutes allow quite a few motions to initiate new
proceedings in the district court, such as motions
to quash grand jury and other subpoenas, Fed. R.
Crim. P. 17(c)(2), and motions to vacate, set aside,
or correct sentences, 28 U.S.C. § 2255. See also
28 U.S.C. § 1361 (mandamus proceedings are

initiated as a new lawsuit). This very case is a free-
standing civil action litigated for a decade because
the CVRA expressly provides that “if no prosecu-
tion is underway,” the “[m]otion for relief” is filed
“in the district court in the district in which the
crime occurred.” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(d)(3). If
anything, § 3771(d)(3) demonstrates that the
Majority has added a very substantive restric-
tion—victims have no CVRA rights until an
indictment commences court proceedings—that
has no meaningful footing in the text of the stat-
ute.22

E. In re Dean, 527 F.3d 391 (5th Cir. 2008)
The only other circuit court to address this

precise issue has come to the same conclusion as
I do. The Fifth Circuit has held: “ ‘[T]here are
clearly rights under the CVRA that apply before
any prosecution is underway.’ . . . Logically, this
includes the CVRA’s establishment of victims’
‘reasonable right to confer with the attorney for
the Government.’ 18 U.S.C. § 3771(a)(5).” In re
Dean, 527 F.3d at 394. The facts of In re Dean are
instructive too.

After an explosion at a refinery owned and
operated by BP Products North America Inc.
(“BP”) killed 15 people and injured more than
170, the Department of Justice investigated and
decided to bring federal charges against BP. Id. at
392-93. Before filing them, the government
negotiated a plea deal with BP. Id. at 392. At the
government’s request, the district court entered an
ex parte order that prohibited the government
from notifying the victims of a potential plea
agreement until after one was executed. Id. at 392-
93. Later, the government and BP signed a plea
agreement without the government’s attorneys
conferring with the victims. Id. at 393, 395.

The Fifth Circuit concluded that the govern-
ment violated the victims’ right to confer under §
3771(a)(5) by executing the plea agreement
without informing the victims of the likelihood of
the criminal charges and learning the victims’
views on the possible details of the plea bargain.
Id. at 394.

Here, similar to the posture in In re Dean, the
U.S. Attorney’s Office investigated Epstein’s sex-
trafficking crimes, decided to bring federal
charges against him, and engaged in pre-indict-
ment plea negotiations with Epstein’s defense
team. The Office and Epstein then executed an
NPA, extending immunity to Epstein and his co-
conspirators, without ever conferring with Ep-
stein’s victims in violation of § 3771(a)(5).
What’s worse, here, the Office deliberately con-
cealed the NPA’s existence and misled the victims
to believe that federal prosecution was still a
possibility, telling them to be “patient” while the
investigation proceeded.

The Majority heavily criticizes the Fifth Cir-
cuit’s In re Dean for merely “echo[ing]” the
Texas district court’s conclusion that “[t]here are
clearly rights under the CVRA that apply before
any prosecution is underway” and as lacking
discussion of the CVRA’s text, history, or struc-
ture. Maj. Op. at 49-50 n.25. What the Majority
leaves out is that the Texas district court’s deci-
sion—echoed by the Fifth Circuit—contains a
thorough examination of the CVRA’s text, his-

tory, and structure, which led it to conclude that §
3771(a)(5)’s right to confer and § 3771(c)’s
related notice obligation apply to the period
before a charging instrument is filed. See United
States v. BP Prods. N. Am. Inc., No. H-07-433,
2008 WL 501321 at *11-15 (S.D. Tex. Feb. 21,
2008). We should join our Fifth Circuit sister.

F. Majority’s Slippery Slopes and Policy Argu-
ments

The Majority invokes a parade of horribles—
“a jarring result”—that it believes would follow if
(1) the CVRA was interpreted to grant crime
victims the right to confer with the government’s
attorney before an indictment is filed and (2)
courts were “[f]reed from any line limiting the
Act’s applicability” to post-charge court proceed-
ings. Maj. Op. at 31, 47. The Majority suggests
that interpreting § 3771(d)(3)’s “no prosecution is
underway” clause to mean that CVRA rights
attach pre-charge would open the floodgates to
victim lawsuits seeking to make prosecutors
consult with victims before “law-enforcement
officers conduct a raid, seek a warrant, or conduct
an interrogation[.]” Id. at 36. The Majority also
posits that interpreting the CVRA to grant rights
during the “investigation” of a crime would
“require law-enforcement officers to ‘confer’ with
victims . . . before conducting a raid, seeking a
warrant, making an arrest, interviewing a witness,
convening a lineup, or conducting an interroga-
tion.” Id. at 31.

Like all slippery slope arguments, the sound-
ness of the Majority’s position depends on “an
empirical prediction that a proposed rule will
increase the likelihood of some other undesired
outcome occurring.” See B.H. ex rel. Hawk v.
Easton Area Sch. Dist., 725 F.3d 293, 317 (3d Cir.
2013); Frederick Schauer, Slippery Slopes, 99
Harv. L. Rev. 361, 381 (1985) (“[A] persuasive
slippery slope argument depends for its persua-
siveness on temporally and spatially contingent
empirical facts,” and “without empirical evi-
dence” of an underlying reality, “the slippery
slope argument has nothing on which to stand.”).
Yet, the Majority offers no empirical basis for its
slippery slope arguments or its professed need to
add, by judicial fiat, a bright-line, post-indictment
restriction on the CVRA’s plain text.

What’s more, the actual facts show the Major-
ity’s feared hypotheticals are pure conjecture. For
12 years, it’s been the rule in the Fifth Circuit that
crime victims have the right to confer with the
government’s attorney before formal criminal
proceedings have commenced. Yet there is no
evidence whatsoever that federal prosecutors in
Texas, Louisiana, and Mississippi must confer
with crime victims before law-enforcement
officers “conduct[ ] a raid, seek[ ] a warrant,
mak[e] an arrest, interview[ ] a witness, conven[e]
a lineup, or conduct[ ] an interrogation.” And in
the nine years since the District Court’s 2011
opinion in this case—also holding that crime
victims have the right to confer with govern-
ment’s attorney pre-charge—we haven’t seen
reports that federal prosecutors in the Southern
District of Florida are conferring with victims
before law enforcement conducts a raid or con-
venes a lineup, for example. The Majority’s
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misgivings are illusions.

G. Limiting Principles in the CVRA
Besides lacking empirical plausibility, the

Majority’s feared hypotheticals are legally im-
plausible and ignore several limiting criteria
contained in the text of the CVRA itself. In this
regard, here are the Majority’s stated worries: (1)
if a victim’s rights can attach pre-charge, then
there is “no logical stopping point” and no “limit-
ing criterion,” see Maj. Op. at 36, 52; (2) “there is
essentially no limit to the sorts of pre-charge relief
that an enterprising movant [victim] could seek—
or that an innovative judge might grant,” see id at
48 n.24; and (3) if crime victims have rights pre-
charge, then courts would intrude on prosecutorial
discretion because: “Freed from any line limiting
the Act’s applicability to the post-charge phases
of a prosecution, courts would be empowered to
issue injunctions requiring (for instance) consulta-
tion with victims before raids, warrant applica-
tions, arrests, witness interviews, lineups, and
interrogations,” see id. at 47.

While the Majority scrutinizes the text of §
3771(c)(1) and (d)(3) for its limiting principle and
finds none for subsection (a)(5)’s conferral right,
it conspicuously overlooks the text of the confer-
ral right itself, which contains powerful limiting
criteria. First, § 3771(a)(5)’s conferral right is
with “the attorney for the Government in the
case,” not with police or investigators. That alone
resolves some of the Majority’s slippery slope
concerns because the CVRA does not give crime
victims the right to confer with anyone other than
the government’s attorney.

Second, and relatedly, as the Majority con-
cedes, § 3771(a)(5)’s conferral right presupposes
that a “readily identifiable” attorney for the gov-
ernment has been assigned to the case. As even
the Majority recognizes, that also means the case
has matured beyond the police investigative stage
before the right applies.

Third, § 3771(a)(5) grants crime victims the
right to confer with the government’s attorney,
but only to the extent that conferral is “reason-
able.” The Majority summarily discards this
reasonableness limitation as “squishy.” Maj. Op.
at 31. Yet, a victim’s “reasonable right to confer”
is a forceful limiting principle and embodies a
common, workable legal standard that is suffi-
cient to stave off the Majority’s speculations
about “enterprising” crime victims and “innova-
tive” judges. Reasonableness has long stood the
test of time in limiting other actors’ conduct. See,
e.g., Hardy v. Cross, 565 U.S. 65, 69-70, 132 S.
Ct. 490, 493-94 (2011) [23 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
S20a] (for purposes of the Sixth Amendment’s
Confrontation Clause, the “lengths to which the
prosecution must go to produce a witness” is a
“question of reasonableness”); United States v.
Banks, 540 U.S. 31, 35-36, 124 S. Ct. 521, 524-25
(2003) [17 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S7a] (for purposes
of the Fourth Amendment, the execution of a
warrant is subject to a reasonableness standard);
Ohio v. Robinette, 519 U.S. 33, 39, 117 S. Ct.
417, 421 (1996) (“We have long held that the
‘touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reason-
ableness.’ ”); Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 432-
33, 115 S. Ct. 1555, 1565 (1995) (under the Due

Process Clause and Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S.
83, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963), prosecutors must
disclose all evidence, upon request, that is favor-
able to the defense, so long as the evidence is
“material,” meaning it is reasonably probable that
the result of the proceeding would have been
different had the evidence been disclosed);
Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 651, 654,
656, 112 S. Ct. 2686, 2690, 2692-93 (1992) (in
determining whether the government violated a
defendant’s Sixth Amendment speedy trial right,
courts must consider, inter alia, whether any
delays attributable to the prosecution were reason-
able); Thornburgh v. Abbott, 490 U.S. 401, 413,
109 S. Ct. 1874, 1881 (1989) (prison regulations
affecting the sending of publications to prisoners
must be analyzed under a reasonableness stan-
dard); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,
688, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2065 (1984) (“The proper
measure of attorney performance” under the Sixth
Amendment “remains simply reasonableness
under prevailing professional norms.”).

Looking beyond the text of § 3771(a)(5), the
conferral right is also subject to the CVRA’s
express mandate that nothing in the Act “shall be
construed to impair the prosecutorial discretion of
the Attorney General or any officer under his
direction.” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(d)(6). Likewise,
only a “crime victim” has the conferral right,
which limits the right to a person “directly and
proximately harmed as a result of the commission
of a Federal offense.” Id. § 3771(e). Taken to-
gether, these statutory provisions bound the
conferral right, such that the Majority’s trepida-
tions are too far-fetched to justify disregarding the
CVRA’s plain text. The Majority does not cite a
single factual incident or judicial decision where
its apprehensions have become reality. Despite its
best efforts, the Majority has identified no reason
to contravene the CVRA’s plain text as Congress
enacted it.

Because the Majority’s blanket restriction
denies victims all conferral rights during the pre-
charge period, the Majority admits that its rule
“will not prevent federal prosecutors from negoti-
ating ‘secret’ plea and non-prosecution agree-
ments” pre-charge. Maj. Op. at 52. In light of the
public outcry about the Epstein case, the Majority
says it “can only hope” that prosecutors “will not
do so.” Id. at 52-53. Let’s distill this further. The
Majority is more afraid of a future “crime victim”
potentially asking a “readily identifiable” govern-
ment “attorney” to confer “reasonably” with her
pre-charge, than it is of secret pre-charge plea
deals for wealthy defendants, even though it’s
now common practice for them to seek the best
plea deal in advance of indictment. The Major-
ity’s new blanket restriction eviscerates crime
victims’ CVRA rights and makes the Epstein case
a poster-child for an entirely different justice
system for crime victims of wealthy defendants.

Rather than rewriting the CVRA to protect
against so-called “enterprising” victims and
“innovative” judges, this Court should: (1) recog-
nize that the CVRA’s text already contains power-
ful limiting principles—“a reasonable right to
confer” only “with the attorney for the Govern-
ment in the case,” granted only to defined “crime

victims” and without impairment of prosecutorial
discretion; (2) enforce the plain text of §
3771(a)(5) and (a)(8) in this case; (3) hold that the
Office’s prosecutor in the case had an obligation
to confer with Epstein’s victims, given the investi-
gation was completed, the 53-page indictment
was drafted, and the prosecutor was already
conducting pre-charge plea negotiations with
Epstein’s defense team; and (4) conclude that the
Office violated the victims’ right to be treated
fairly by not disclosing the signed NPA before the
State Court hearing and by misrepresenting the
case status to the victims.

H. Concurring Opinion
Now, my brief response to my colleague’s

Concurring Opinion. His Opinion submits that
“the Executive Branch has exclusive power over
prosecutorial decisions” and that “authority
obviously includes the decision . . . whether to
seek, or not seek, an indictment from the grand
jury,” both propositions with which I wholeheart-
edly agree. Conc. Op. at 54-55.

The Concurring Opinion contends, however,
that “the model the dissent creates”—requiring
the U.S. Attorney’s Office to confer with a victim
about a criminal matter prior to indictment—(1)
“raises serious questions about whether, by doing
so, the judiciary would be violating the constitu-
tional principle of separation of powers,” and (2)
“would clearly interfere with the Executive
Branch’s investigative and prosecutorial func-
tions.” Id. at 54, 56. The Concurring Opinion
further states: “The notion that a district court
could have any input on a U.S. Attorney’s investi-
gation and decision whether to bring a case to the
grand jury is entirely incompatible with the con-
stitutional assignment to the Executive Branch of
exclusive power over prosecutorial decisions.” Id.
at 57. The Opinion concludes, therefore, that “the
CVRA is best understood as not applying until
charges are commenced against a defendant”
because “such an interpretation avoids raising
serious constitutional questions.” Id. at 59.

This Concurring Opinion is helpful because it
highlights what is and what is not the issue in this
appeal. First, nothing in the CVRA as Congress
wrote it permits the district court to suggest to a
U.S. Attorney any investigation or grand jury
steps that he must take. The CVRA requirement is
only that the prosecutor speak with the victim
before making a final indictment decision. If a
U.S. Attorney, after reasonably conferring with
the victim, decides not to take the case to the
grand jury, there will be no CVRA violation for
the district court to remedy, and thus no “med-
dling in the Executive Branch’s” exclusive pow-
ers under the Constitution. See id. at 58.

Happily enough, my plain reading of the
statute in no way injects judicial interference into
a prosecutor’s decisions. In fact, not even the
victims here claim they have any authority over a
prosecutor’s decision as to who to indict or not
indict, or for what crime. The victims’ bare-bones
claim is only that the CVRA required a prosecutor
in the Office to confer with them before making
those weighty and final decisions. The fact that a
prosecutor must confer with a victim pre-charge
does not mean the district court can exercise any
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control over the prosecutor’s ultimate decision
whether to indict.

Here, after drafting a 53-page indictment, the
U.S. Attorney’s Office spent not hours, but days
conferring pre-charge with Epstein’s defense
team. All the CVRA does is obligate the prosecu-
tor to give the victims a reasonable opportunity to
confer with them too. This is no impairment
whatsoever on the prosecutor’s authority to
decide whether to indict or not. The CVRA even
expressly mandates that nothing in the Act “shall
be construed to impair the prosecutorial discretion
of the Attorney General or any officer under his
direction.” 18 U.S.C. § 3771(d)(6).

At oral argument in this appeal, counsel argu-
ing for the respondent U.S. Attorney’s Office
agreed the constitutionality of the CVRA was not
being challenged. With all due respect, this consti-
tutional separation-of-powers concern is a red
herring.

Also, the canon of constitutional avoidance
does not apply here because the CVRA is plain
and unambiguous. See United States v. Stevens,
559 U.S. 460, 481, 130 S. Ct. 1577, 1591-92
(2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S221a] (providing
that courts cannot “rely upon the canon of con-
struction that ‘ambiguous statutory language
[should] be construed to avoid serious constitu-
tional doubts’ ” unless the statute is first ambigu-
ous). As the Supreme Court recently explained,
“[s]potting a constitutional issue does not give a
court the authority to rewrite a statute as it
pleases.” Jennings v. Rodriguez, 538 U.S. __, __
138 S. Ct. 830, 843-44 (2018) [27 Fla. L. Weekly
Fed. S78a] (declining to apply the canon of con-
stitutional avoidance because the statutory lan-
guage at issue was not ambiguous). Instead,
constitutional avoidance serves the “basic demo-
cratic function of maintaining a set of statutes that
reflect, rather than distort, the policy choices that
elected representatives have made.” Almendarez-
Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224, 237-38,
118 S. Ct. 1219, 1277-28 (1998). To that end, the
Supreme Court has cautioned that, “rewrit[ing] a
law to conform it to constitutional requirements
. . . would constitute a serious invasion of the
legislative domain.” Stevens, 559 U.S. at 481, 130
S. Ct. at 1592.

Another observation. The Concurring Opinion
insists the problems it identifies would not exist
post-charge because, in that case, the district court
would not be “imposing a condition upon his
prosecutorial discretion.” Conc. Op. at 57-58. But
a government attorney makes all sorts of discre-
tionary prosecutorial decisions following an
indictment, chief among them whether to enter
into a plea agreement with the accused and poten-
tially dismiss some or all of the charges. Thus, to
the extent the Concurring Opinion perceives
separation-of-powers issues with a district court
ordering the government’s attorney merely to
confer with victims about prosecutorial discre-
tionary decisions, it is not clear why the Major-
ity’s post-indictment restriction avoids those
issues, given the victims can complain about lack
of conferral following an indictment too.

In any event, the Concurring Opinion usefully
illustrates the importance of the CVRA’s mandate

in § 3771(d)(6)—nothing in the Act “shall be
construed to impair . . . prosecutorial discre-
tion”—as yet another forceful limiting principle
in the CVRA text that alleviates any need for the
Majority to transplant its very substantive and
temporal restriction on top of the plain text of §
3771(a)(5) and (a)(8).

X. REMEDY
To remedy the Office’s proven CVRA viola-

tions, the victims proposed the following: (1) an
order scheduling a public hearing in the Southern
District of Florida in which the victims could
participate and present victim-impact statements
to the District Court; (2) discovery of records
regarding law-enforcement’s investigation of the
crimes against the victims; (3) discovery of re-
cords explicating why the U.S. Attorney’s Office
decided to grant Epstein federal immunity; (4) the
Department of Justice’s designation of a represen-
tative to explain the Office’s decision to resolve
the Epstein case without any federal prosecution;
(5) mandatory CVRA training for criminal prose-
cutors in the Office; (6) a requirement that the
Office use its best efforts to provide victims (who
request it) accurate and timely notice of future
case events regarding Epstein’s crimes; and (7)
sanctions, attorney’s fees, and restitution.

Yet before the District Court ruled on the
remedies, Epstein died on August 10, 2019. On
September 16, 2019, the District Court directed
the Clerk to “close the case and all pending mo-
tions are denied as moot.” Because the Office
could no longer prosecute the intervenor Epstein,
the victims’ additional remedy requests—such as
rescission of the NPA as to him—were clearly
moot. However, as the victim petitioner argues
before us, this civil case remains live as between
the victims and the Office with respect to the
victims’ other requested remedies.

Accordingly, I would remand this case to the
District Court to fashion a remedy for the proven
CVRA violations. Federal courts have had broad
authority to fashion equitable remedies after
petitioners have proven a violation of statutory
provisions. Hardison v. Cohen, 375 F.3d 1262,
1266 (11th Cir. 2004) [17 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C747a]; Nichols v. Hopper, 173 F.3d 820, 824
(11th Cir. 1999); Ala. Hosp. Ass’n v. Beasley, 702
F.2d 955, 962 (11th Cir. 1983) (in light of statu-
tory violation, we “accordingly remand to the
district court so that it may devise an appropriate
equitable remedy”).

Furthermore, it has long been an “indisputable
rule, that where there is a legal right, there is also
a legal remedy.” Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. 137,
163 (1803) (quoting 3 William Blackstone,
Commentaries *23). For that reason, “[w]here
legal rights have been invaded, and a federal
statute provides for a general right to sue for such
invasion, federal courts may use any available
remedy to make good the wrong done.” Franklin
v. Gwinnett Cty. Pub. Sch., 503 U.S. 60, 66, 68-
69, 112 S. Ct. 1028, 1033-34 (1992) (rejecting
government’s argument that courts have aban-
doned the general rule that all appropriate relief is
available to vindicate a federal right); Bruschi v.
Brown, 876 F.2d 1526, 1531 (11th Cir. 1989)
(taking “special note” the Supreme Court has

made clear that “where federally protected rights
have been invaded, it has been the rule from the
beginning that courts will be alert to adjust their
remedies so as to grant necessary relief”).23

In closing the case, the District Court did
mention that there had been an Epstein-related
hearing in New York on August 27, 2019, but that
was held after the remedy briefing here was
completed. That hearing, scheduled on six days’
notice, involved potential prosecution in New
York for crimes in New York—not those in
Florida. There is no evidence, and the District
Court made no factual findings, about what
transpired at the New York hearing. The Office’s
claim on appeal that the New York hearing was a
sufficient remedy for its CVRA violations wholly
lacks merit.24

Epstein’s death also heightened the need for
the District Court to carefully examine the vic-
tims’ remedy request for document disclosure.
Early on, the District Court denied certain docu-
ment requests based on attorney-client privilege.
Subsequently, in the course of the litigation, the
U.S. Attorney’s Office made numerous represen-
tations about its deliberations, both internally and
externally with Epstein’s attorneys, including a
detailed affidavit from a line prosecutor purport-
ing to describe those deliberations. Thereafter, the
victims filed motions claiming that the Office had
waived, in whole or in part, the work-product
privilege given what the Office itself had now
filed and how the Office sought to defend its
conduct in this case. The District Court never
made a waiver ruling, or any document-by-docu-
ment findings, as to this remedy request. If any-
thing, the informational remedies sought by the
victims have enhanced importance now. Myster-
ies still exist about how Epstein and his co-con-
spirators escaped federal prosecution for multiple
sex-trafficking crimes against over 30 minor girls
in Florida.25

XI. CONCLUSION
While the Majority laments how the national

media fell short on the Jeffrey Epstein story, this
case is about how the U.S. prosecutors fell short
on Epstein’s evil crimes. See Maj. Op. at 6. Our
criminal justice system should safeguard children
from sexual exploitation by criminal predators,
not re-victimize them. The Majority concludes
that our Court is constrained to leave the victims
“emptyhanded,” and it is up to Congress to
“amend the Act to make its intent clear.” Id. at 19,
52. Not true. The empty result here is only be-
cause our Court refuses to enforce a federal statute
as Congress wrote it. The CVRA is not as impo-
tent as the Majority now rewrites it to be.

Given the undisputed facts that the U.S. Attor-
ney’s Office completed its investigation, drafted
a 53-page indictment, and negotiated for days
with Epstein’s defense team, the Office egre-
giously violated federal law and the victims’
rights by (1) not conferring one minute with them
(or their counsel) before striking the final NPA
deal granting federal immunity to Epstein and his
co-conspirators, (2) intentionally and unfairly
concealing the NPA from the victims, as well as
how the upcoming State Court plea hearing would
directly affect them, and (3) affirmatively misrep-
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resenting the status of the case to the victims after
the NPA was executed. I would remand for the
District Court to fashion a remedy.

For all of these reasons, I respectfully dissent
from the Majority’s (1) decision that the crime
victims of Epstein and his co-conspirators had no
statutory rights whatsoever under the Crime
Victims’ Rights Act, and (2) denial of the victims’
petition in this case as a matter of law.
))))))))))))))))))

1Federal prosecutors located in the U.S. Attorney’s
Offices in both West Palm Beach and Miami handled
Epstein’s case. I will refer to those offices collectively as
“the U.S. Attorney’s Office” or “the Office.”

2The Majority holds that “the rights under the Act do
not attach until criminal proceedings have been initiated
against a defendant, either by complaint, information, or
indictment.” See Maj. Op. at 2. But for ease of reference
in my dissent, I collectively refer to the initiation of
criminal proceedings as by “filing an indictment”
because most prosecutions begin that way. In contrast,
a “complaint” can initiate only misdemeanor prosecu-
tions and an “information” can initiate felony charges
only if the defendant waives grand jury presentment.

3Jeffrey Epstein’s defense team included at various
times attorneys from multiple law firms, such as: (1) Jay
P. Lefkowitz, Kirkland & Ellis, New York, NY; (2) Roy
Black, Black Srebnick Kornspan & Stumpf, Miami, FL;
(3) Gerald B. Lefcourt, Law Office of Gerald B.
Lefcourt, P.C., New York, NY (4) Lilly Ann Sanchez,
Fowler White Burnett, Miami, FL; (5) Jack A.
Goldberger, Goldberger & Weiss, West Palm Beach,
FL; and (6) Joe D. Whitley, Alston & Bird, Washington
D.C.; as well as Harvard Law Professor Alan
Dershowitz. While not all attorneys participated in each
defense presentation, the record here reveals some
activity by each of Epstein’s defense attorneys during
either 2007 or 2008.

4In an e-mail to Lefkowitz, dated September 16,
2007, AUSA Villafana suggested strategies to conceal
portions of the plea deal from the courts, stating that a
prosecutor had “recommended that some of the timing
issues be addressed only in the state agreement, so that
it isn’t obvious to the judge that we are trying to create
federal jurisdiction for prison purposes.” AUSA
Villafana added: “I will include our standard language
regarding resolving all criminal liability and I will
mention ‘co-conspirators,’ but I would prefer not to
highlight for the judge all of the other crimes and all of
the other persons that we could charge.”

5The only four signature lines on the September 24,
2007 NPA were: (1) U.S. Attorney Acosta by AUSA
Villafana; (2) Jeffrey Epstein; (3) Gerald Lefcourt,
Counsel to Jeffrey Epstein; and (4) Lilly Ann Sanchez,
Attorney for Jeffrey Epstein. From June 2005 to June
2009, Acosta was the U.S. Attorney for the Southern
District of Florida.

6At oral argument in this appeal, counsel for the
respondent U.S. Attorney’s Office agreed that it was
highly unusual—never seen before—that the govern-
ment would extend federal immunity to Epstein’s co-
conspirators without having the co-conspirators sign
onto a plea agreement or provide some cooperation in
exchange for federal immunity. The co-conspirators did
not sign the NPA and were not listed as parties to it.

7As the NPA was being signed, Epstein’s attorney
Lefkowitz e-mailed AUSA Villafana, requesting:
“Marie—Please do whatever you can to keep this
[NPA] from becoming public.” AUSA Villafana
assured Lefkowitz that the NPA would be kept confi-
dential.

8Epstein’s defense team had legitimate concerns that
the State Court judge would not accept Epstein’s plea if
tied to such a broad, secret federal immunity deal. Under
Florida law, a State trial judge is never bound to honor

a negotiated plea agreement. Goins v. State, 672 So. 2d
30, 31 (Fla. 1996) [21 Fla. L. Weekly S158a]. During a
plea colloquy, a trial judge may announce that she is not
bound by the plea agreement because other factors
make the trial judge’s concurrence impossible. King v.
State, 578 So. 2d 23, 24 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1991); see
also Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.171(d) (“After an agreement on
a plea has been reached, the trial judge may have made
known to him or her the agreement and reasons therefor
prior to the acceptance of the plea. Thereafter, the judge
shall advise the parties whether other factors (unknown
at the time) may make his or her concurrence impossi-
ble.”). The NPA itself acknowledged that the entire deal
was contingent on the State Court judge accepting the
negotiated state plea agreement and sentence.

If the victims had been told the truth about the 2007
NPA, they would have had ample time to make their
views known to the State Court before Epstein’s plea on
June 30, 2008. If the State Court rejected the plea, there
was no federal immunity for Epstein and his co-conspir-
ators.

9The CVRA was enacted as part of the Justice for
All Act of 2004, Pub. L. No. 108-405, § 102, 118 Stat.
2260 (codified as amended at 18 U.S.C. § 3771 (2015).
As does the Majority, I quote the version of the CVRA
in effect during the 2006 to 2008 events in question.

10Epstein wanted one last shot at convincing the
U.S. government that there was no basis for his federal
criminal liability and he should not have to plead to
anything. Epstein’s appeal was unsuccessful. On June
23, 2008, the Office told Epstein’s attorneys that the
Deputy Attorney General had completed his review of
the Epstein matter and “determined that federal prosecu-
tion of Mr. Epstein’s case [wa]s appropriate.”

11In a footnote, the Majority cites to a 2010 opinion
by the Justice Department’s Office of Legal Counsel
(“OLC”). Maj. Op. at 37 n.20. The Justice Department’s
2010 OLC opinion, like the change of position by the
Justice Department’s local U.S. Attorney’s Office, came
only after Epstein’s victims filed this lawsuit. See
Mohasco Corp. v. Silver, 447 U.S. 807, 825, 100 S. Ct.
2486, 2497 (1980) (holding that an agency’s
“ ‘interpretation’ of a statute cannot supersede the
language chosen by Congress”).

12The Majority contends: “On the day that Epstein
entered his guilty plea in June 2008, some (but by no
means all) victims were notified that the federal investi-
gation of Epstein had concluded” citing an e-mail
AUSA Villafana sent to “Jason” (full name redacted)
after Epstein’s State Court hearing. Maj. Op. at 6. There
is no evidence, however, that the two petitioners here,
their attorney Edwards, or other victims were told that
the state plea was related to Epstein’s crimes against
them, much less that the state plea would foreclose the
possibility of federal prosecution for Epstein’s federal
crimes against his victims.

13Epstein and some of his defense team intervened
to argue against victims obtaining their correspondence
about the negotiation and execution of the NPA. Al-
though the petitioners seek rescission of the NPA as to
Epstein’s co-conspirators, the co-conspirators never
moved to intervene.

14In a later order, the District Court explained that
the petitioners’ “right to be treated with fairness and to
receive notice of court proceedings . . . flow from the
right to confer and were encompassed in the Court’s
ruling finding a violation of the CVRA.”

15In this appeal, the Majority does not contest that:
(1) our Court applies the ordinary standards of appellate
review; and (2) we review de novo statutory interpreta-
tion issues and any fact findings for clear error. No party
argues any fact-finding error occurred, and thus we
review de novo the District Court’s ruling that the
victims had pre-charge CVRA rights. If the victims had
pre-charge CVRA rights to confer and be treated fairly,
no party disputes those rights were repeatedly violated

by the U.S. Attorney’s Office.
16As noted, the CVRA was enacted to protect crime

victims’ rights and ensure their involvement in the
criminal justice process. See Moussaoui, 483 F.3d at
234; Kenna, 435 F.3d at 1016. In this context, a compre-
hensive construction of the victims’ rights to confer and
be treated fairly in § 3771(a)(5) and (a)(8) is fitting. See
Yates v. United States, 574 U.S. 528, __, 135 S. Ct.
1074, 1081-82 (2015) [25 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S93a]
(explaining that “[t]he plainness or ambiguity of statu-
tory language is determined [not only] by reference to
the language itself, [but as well by] the specific context
in which that language is used, and the broader context
of the statute as a whole”).

17Alternatively, the Majority argues that §
3771(d)(3)’s “no prosecution is underway” provision
applies to the very narrow and specific period between
the filing of a criminal complaint and levying formal
charges by indictment. Maj. Op. at 33-35. But there is,
of course, no such temporal limitation in the plain
language of § 3771(d)(3), nor is there any indication this
provision applies only to the subset of criminal proceed-
ings involving a complaint. It is also not readily appar-
ent why the Majority only looks to the Sixth Amend-
ment right to counsel for its construction of “prosecu-
tion” and not also to the Sixth Amendment’s speedy
trial right in all criminal “prosecutions.” Id. at 34. The
Sixth Amendment speedy trial right “may attach before
an indictment and as early as the time of arrest and
holding to answer a criminal charge.” United States v.
Gouveia, 467 U.S. 180, 190, 104 S. Ct. 2292, 2298
(1984).

18The Majority argues: “Although it’s true, at least
in the abstract, that the term ‘case’ can mean either
thing, in legal parlance the judicial-case connotation is
undoubtedly primary.” Maj. Op. at 22-23.

19As to the term “case,” even the Majority cites
Chavez v. Martinez, 538 U.S. 760, 766, 123 S. Ct. 1994,
2000-01 (2003) [16 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S300a], which
supports my conclusion that the CVRA’s conferral right
attaches pre-charge. See Maj. Op. at 23. In Chavez, the
Supreme Court construed the Fifth Amendment’s Self-
Incrimination Clause, which prohibits a person from
being “compelled in any criminal case to be a witness
against himself.” U.S. Const. amend. V. The Supreme
Court concluded the phrase “criminal case” “requires
the initiation of legal proceedings” and does not “en-
compass the entire criminal investigatory process”
because a person can only be compelled to be “a witness
against himself” in his own criminal prosecution.
Chavez, 538 U.S. at 766, 123 S. Ct. at 2000-01. But
Chavez itself points out that, for the target of a criminal
case, “legal proceedings” for purposes of the Fifth
Amendment privilege against self-incrimination in-
cludes pre-indictment grand jury proceedings—at
which the target cannot be compelled to testify. Id. at
767-68, 123 S. Ct. at 2001. More importantly for this
case, the Supreme Court clarified: “We need not decide
today the precise moment when a ‘criminal case’
commences; it is enough to say that police questioning
does not constitute a ‘case’ any more than a private
investigator’s precomplaint activities constitute a ‘civil
case.’ ” Id. at 766-77, 123 S. Ct. at 2001. Here, the
CVRA conferral right is with the government’s attorney
in the case, not with the police or an investigator. Not
only did the Office target Epstein, but it drafted an
indictment and met with Epstein’s defense counsel
about a plea in the case. To say that mature stage is not
a CVRA “case” under Chavez’s reasoning is illogical.

The Majority also cites to Blyew v. United States, 80
U.S. (13 Wall.) 581, 595 (1872) for the unremarkable
proposition that the words “case” and “cause” are
synonyms and can “mean[ ] a proceeding in court, a suit
or action.” Maj. Op. at 23. But if in Chavez, over 130
years after Blyew, the Supreme Court still hasn’t defined
the precise moment a criminal case commences, I don’t
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see how Blyew supports the Majority’s proposition that
a “case” means only post-indictment proceedings.

20The Majority does not dispute that prosecutors and
defense counsel routinely negotiate pre-charge plea
agreements, particularly in white-collar cases. Paul G.
Cassell, et al., Crime Victims’ Rights During Criminal
Investigations? Applying the Crime Victims’ Rights Act
Before Criminal Charges Are Filed, 104 J. Crim. L. and
Criminology 59, 84 (2014). Guilty pleas, in fact, ac-
count for over 97% of all criminal convictions obtained
by the government. See U.S. Courts, Judicial Business
2019 Tables: Criminal Defendants Terminated, by Type
of Disposition and Offense (Table D-4) (Sept. 30, 2019)
(only 1,663 of the 78,767 defendants convicted of
federal crimes in the year ending September 30, 2019,
were found guilty by a judge or jury after a criminal
trial; the rest pled guilty), https://www.uscourts.gov/
judicial-business-2019-tables.

21Unable to find support in the CVRA’s plain text,
the Majority turns to language in an older victims-rights
enactment—the Victims’ Rights and Restitution Act of
1990 (“VRRA”). Maj. Op. at 38-41. But the Majority
fails to recognize the CVRA repealed significant parts
of the VRRA because the legislation was ineffective.
See Justice for All Act of 2004, § 102(c). The CVRA’s
legislative history refers to earlier unsuccessful victims’
litigation under the VRRA and cautions that “[i]t is not
the intent of this bill that its significance be whittled
down or marginalized by the courts or the executive
branch. [The CVRA] . . . is meant to correct, not con-
tinue, the legacy of the poor treatment of crime victims
in the criminal [justice] process.” 150 Cong. Rec. S4269
(daily ed. Apr. 22, 2004) (statement of Sen. Feinstein).

In any event, the VRRA did not contain any “right
to confer,” or a “right to be treated with fairness,” and
thus it does not provide guidance for construing the
CVRA’s conferral and fairness rights here. More still, as
the Majority hints at, had Congress wanted to limit the
CVRA’s conferral and fairness rights to certain stages of
a criminal case, it could have simply drafted the legisla-
tion more narrowly and tied those rights to “charges,”
“trial[s],” “hearing[s], and “proceedings” like it did with
different rights in the VRRA. See Maj. Op. at 39-40.
When Congress wants to limit victims-rights
protections to only certain stages of a criminal case, it
knows how to do so.

22Let’s be clear: If the Majority’s view holds, this
civil case should have been dismissed at its very incep-
tion because the Office never filed a formal indictment.

23In the remedy briefing, the Office did not appear to
oppose the District Court’s ordering a public hearing in
Florida in this case, at which the victims could make
victim impact statements—an equitable remedy well
within the District Court’s discretion. The District Court
could preside over the public hearing in a manner
similar to the way district courts handle victim impact
statements in the context of a criminal sentencing.

24In closing the case as moot in light of Epstein’s
death, the District Court sua sponte concluded the co-
conspirators had become necessary and indispensable
parties and their participation as parties was now needed
to afford the victims any relief. Prior to Epstein’s death,
no one contended that the victims needed to join the co-
conspirators as indispensable parties to this action.
Because the District Court did not afford the victims
notice and at least an opportunity to consider whether to
move to join the four named co-conspirators, the peti-
tioner victim asks for a remand on this remedy issue too.

25In closing the case as to the victims’ request for
attorney’s fees, the District Court did not cite the Hyde
Amendment or any legal standard. See Hyde Amend-
ment, Pub. L. No. 105119, § 617, 111 Stat. 2440, 2519
(1997) (reprinted in 18 U.S.C. § 3006A, historical and
statutory notes). Some of the requested documents
would shed further light on that issue. This is only to say
these are potential remedies that are not moot, which the

District Court should first explore further.

*        *        *

Criminal law—Sentencing—Violation of su-
pervised release—Illegal re-entry into United
States—Consecutive sentences—District court
did not abuse its discretion by ordering federal
sentence to run consecutively to defendant’s
undischarged eight-year state sentence after
properly considering and weighing section
3553(a) sentencing factors, including deterrent
effect of state sentence and the impact the state
conviction had on defendant’s federal guide-
lines range—District court was justified under
circumstances in focusing on ensuring that
sentence promoted respect for law and ade-
quately protected public from defendant—
Moreover, both  of federal sentences imposed
were within their respective guidelines ranges,
and sentence for illegal re-entry was at low end
of that range, further demonstrating reason-
ableness of sentencing decision
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff-Appellee, v.
ANDRES GOMEZ, a.k.a. Andres Gomez Avellaneda,
Defendant-Appellant. 11th Circuit. Case No. 19-10609. April
14, 2020. Appeal from the U.S. District Court for the Southern
District of Florida (Nos. 9:18-cr-80181-RLR-1, 9:16-cr-80098-
RLR-1).

(Before ROSENBAUM, JILL PRYOR, and
BRANCH, Circuit Judges.)

(PER CURIAM.) Defendant Andres Gomez
challenges the district court’s order that sentenced
him to a 46-month term of incarceration (for
illegally re-entering the United States) and a 21-
month term (for violating the terms of his super-
vised release), with each sentence to run consecu-
tively to one another and to a separate, undis-
charged eight-year state prison sentence. Gomez
contends that this sentence is unreasonable be-
cause the district court failed to properly consider
and weigh the sentencing factors in 18 U.S.C. §
3553(a). After careful review of the record, we
affirm Gomez’s sentences.

I. Factual and
Procedural Background

Gomez’s appeal is a consolidation of two
federal actions. The first, Case No. 9:16-cr-
80098-RLR-1, is the case against Gomez for
violating the terms of a previously imposed term
of supervised release. The second, Case No. 9:18-
cr-80181-RLR-1, is the case against Gomez for
illegally re-entering the United States in 2017 or
2018. We discuss each in turn before turning to
the merits of this appeal.

a. Gomez’s Violation of Supervised Release
Gomez, a Mexican citizen, has an extensive

history of illegally coming into the United States.
He was voluntarily removed from the country in
1998. He subsequently re-entered the United
States without authorization and was again re-
moved in 2002. But he later sneaked back into the
United States without authorization for (at least)
the third time, and in May 2016 was arrested in
Florida on state charges.

The May 2016 arrest put Gomez back on U.S.
Immigration and Custom Enforcement’s (“ICE”)
radar, and on June 23, 2016, he was indicted for

having unlawfully re-entered the United States in
violation of 8 U.S.C. § 1326(a) and (b)(1). Gomez
pled guilty on August 10, 2016, and was sen-
tenced to 12 months’ imprisonment, followed by
a two-year term of supervised release.

The district court’s sentence contained the
standard mandatory conditions of supervised
release, including a prohibition against commit-
ting another federal, state, or local crime. Because
of Gomez’s immigration status, his sentence also
included a special condition of supervised release,
which required him to be surrendered to ICE’s
custody for removal proceedings at the comple-
tion of his term of imprisonment. And while
Gomez’s sentence contained a standard condition
of supervised release that he report to his desig-
nated U.S. Probation Office within 72 hours of his
release from prison and within the first fifteen
days of each month, Gomez was not required to
report to Probation so long as he resided outside
of the United States. If Gomez reentered the
United States within the term of his supervised
release, though, he was required to report to the
nearest U.S. Probation Office within 72 hours of
his arrival.

Gomez’s term of imprisonment ended in June
2017, and he was deported to Mexico in July
2017. He didn’t stay away for long. Gomez came
back to the United States in October 2017 and was
arrested in Florida on charges of sexual battery
with threat to retaliate on May 28, 2018. The facts
of that incident were recounted in his Presentence
Report (“PSR”): Gomez spent much of May 27,
2018 with the victim, and when she went to drop
him off, Gomez assaulted and raped her. Gomez
then threatened to hurt the victim and her son,
who has Down’s Syndrome, if she reported him,
and claimed that he had someone watching her
house. When the victim later, at the direction of
law enforcement, called Gomez, he again threat-
ened her and her children. Gomez pled guilty
following his arrest and was sentenced to eight
years’ imprisonment.1

On June 1, 2018, the U.S. Probation Office
filed with the district court a petition to revoke
Gomez’s supervised release, charging Gomez
with three violations of his supervised release.
The first charge alleged that Gomez violated the
special condition of his supervised release by re-
entering the United States and failing to report to
the nearest Probation Office within 72 hours. The
second and third charges asserted that Gomez
violated the mandatory condition of his super-
vised release that he refrain from transgressing the
law, specifically by committing sexual battery
with threat to retaliate, in violation of Fla. Stat.
794.011(4)(b), which is a first degree felony
under Florida law (Charge 2), and by illegally re-
entering the United States after removal, in viola-
tion of 8 U.S.C. § 1326(a) and (b)(1) (Charge 3).

Gomez admitted to the first and third charges
at a hearing before a magistrate judge on October
19, 2018. As to the second charge, Gomez admit-
ted, as he had done in Florida state court, to the
lesser-included offense of sexual battery in viola-
tion of Fla. Stat. 794.011(5)(b), a second-degree
felony under Florida law. The magistrate judge
issued his Report & Recommendation (“R&R”)
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on October 19, 2018, recommending that the
district court accept Gomez’s admissions and find
him guilty of committing the three violations of
his supervised release. The district court adopted
the R&R on November 13, 2018.

b. Gomez’s Illegal Re-Entry
The third charged violation of Gomez’s viola-

tion of supervised release—his illegal re-entry to
the United States in 2017 or 2018—constituted a
stand-alone federal offense. Accordingly, on
September 13, 2018, a federal grand jury indicted
Gomez of having unlawfully re-entered the coun-
try on or about May 28, 2018, in violation of 8
U.S.C. § 1326(a) and (b)(1). He pled guilty to the
indictment on November 19, 2018.

c. Gomez’s Sentencing
Gomez’s cases were consolidated for sentenc-

ing, which took place on January 30, 2019. As to
Gomez’s violation of his supervised release,
Probation calculated that Gomez’s imprisonment
range under the Sentencing Guidelines (“Guide-
lines”) was 15 months to 21 months, based on a
total offense level of 13 and a criminal-history
category of II. The district court was statutorily
authorized to revoke Gomez’s supervised release
and send him to prison for up to two years for this
offense. See 18 U.S.C. § 3583(e)(3).

Regarding his illegal-reentry conviction,
Probation calculated that Gomez’s Guidelines
range was 46 to 57 months. This was based on a
total offense level 19, which included a ten-point
enhancement pursuant to U.S.S.G. §
2L1.2(b)(3)(A) for Gomez’s sexual-battery
conviction, and a criminal-history category of IV,
which was also based, in part, on Gomez’s sexual-
battery conviction. The maximum term of impris-
onment for this offense was ten years. See 8
U.S.C. § 1326(b)(1).

The district court sentenced Gomez to 21
months’ imprisonment for violating his super-
vised release. The court explained that the punish-
ment was not simply because Gomez had again
illegally come into the country (though that
“would be concerning”), but that a sentence at the
top of the Guidelines range was necessary to
maintain respect “for all of the [18 U.S.C. §] 3553
factors that must be accomplished, respect for the
law, protecting the public and deterring Mr.
Gomez and others.” ECF No. 33 at 16.2

For his illegal re-entry charge, the district
court sentenced Gomez to 46 months’ imprison-
ment and two years of supervised release, noting
that Gomez had previously re-entered the country
multiple times.

The district court ordered that Gomez’s sen-
tences run consecutively to one another, and that
the entire 67-month term run consecutively to his
eight-year sentence for sexual battery. The court
acknowledged the overlap between Gomez’s
federal and state convictions but concluded that
consecutive sentences were necessary, “given the
history as conveyed about him in the [PSR], that
he has [not] shown any respect for the law or that
he has been deterred thus far by the sentence that
the Court has imposed in the prior deportations.”
ECF No. 33 at 19. The district judge also ex-
plained that it was “gravely concerned about

deterring” Gomez and “protecting the public
from” him, emphasizing that “what Mr. Gomez
did to the [rape] victim” gave her “grave con-
cern.” Id. at 19-20.

Gomez timely appealed both sentences and
now argues that his sentences were substantively
unreasonable. We disagree and affirm.

II. Standards of Review
We review the reasonableness of the district

court’s sentences for an abuse of discretion,
employing a two-step process. See United States
v. Trailer, 827 F.3d 933, 935-36 (11th Cir. 2016)
[26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C445a] (per curiam). At
the first step, we ensure that the district court did
not commit a significant procedural error, such as
miscalculating the Guidelines range, failing to
consider the 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) factors, selecting
a sentence based on clearly erroneous facts, or
failing to explain its chosen sentences. See Gall v.
United States, 552 U.S. 38, 51 (2007) [21 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S11a].

If the district court’s decision contains no
significant procedural error, we review the sub-
stantive reasonableness of the sentences “through
the prism of abuse of discretion.” United States v.
Pugh, 515 F.3d 1179, 1191 (11th Cir. 2008) [21
Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C375a]. “The party challeng-
ing a sentence has the burden of showing that the
sentence is unreasonable in light of the entire
record, the § 3553(a) factors, and the substantial
deference afforded sentencing courts.” United
States v. Rosales-Bruno, 789 F.3d 1249, 1256
(11th Cir. 2015) [25 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1281a].

We likewise review for abuse of discretion the
district court’s decision to order the federal sen-
tences to run consecutively to Gomez’s state-
imposed sentence. See United States v.
Covington, 565 F.3d 1336, 1346 (11th Cir. 2009)
[21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1768a].

Gomez argues that our standard of review for
this issue should be de novo, citing our decisions
in United States v. Perez, 956 F.2d 1098 (11th
Cir. 1992) (per curiam), and United States v.
Fuentes, 107 F.3d 1515 (11th Cir. 1997). Neither
case instructed that we review de novo the issue
that we face today. Our binding precedent is clear
that the appropriate standard is abuse of discre-
tion. Nevertheless, we take this opportunity to
explain why.

First, we note that Perez involved a sentence
imposed under the mandatory Guidelines. There,
the Guidelines required a concurrent sentence.
956 F.2d at 1103. But the district court stated that
it had imposed consecutive sentences as a depar-
ture from the Guidelines. Id. So the question we
addressed was “whether the district court ha[d]
the authority to depart from the Sentencing
Guidelines and order that [the defendants’] sen-
tences be served consecutively.” Id. at 1103
(emphasis in original). Our de novo review in
Perez, then, was of a purely legal question:
whether the district court had authority to depart
from the Guidelines to impose a consecutive
sentence.

The Perez issue is inapplicable here. Indeed, it
is undisputed that the district court had the author-

ity to order that Gomez’s federal sentences run
consecutively to his state sentence. See 18 U.S.C.
§ 3584(a); U.S.S.G. § 5G1.3(d). The applicable
guideline provides, as relevant here,3 that in a
“case involving an undischarged term of impris-
onment, the sentence for the instant offense may
be imposed to run concurrently, partially concur-
rently, or consecutively to the prior undischarged
term of imprisonment to achieve a reasonable
punishment for the instant offense.” U.S.S.G. §
5G1.3(d). Therefore, the very wording of the
guideline—“may be imposed”—anticipates that
the district judge has discretion to impose a sen-
tence consecutively, concurrently, or partially
concurrently. And there is no legal standard other
than abuse of discretion that would allow us to
assess the legality of a sentence imposed under
this guideline. So the issue in Gomez’s case is
whether the district court’s decision that the
sentences run consecutively to one another and to
the undischarged state sentence was reasonable
and adhered to the policy statements set forth in
18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). Rather than trying to put
ourselves into the district judge’s seat, we review
such a judgment call under the familiar abuse-of-
discretion standard. Perez does not support a
different result.

Neither does Fuentes. Like Gomez, Fuentes
was sentenced in federal court to a term of impris-
onment to run consecutively to a previously
imposed state sentence. See Fuentes, 107 F.3d at
1517. On appeal, Fuentes argued that the district
court had erred in failing to apply the then-current
version of Section 5G1.3(b) of the Guidelines,
while the Government argued that Section
5G1.3(b) had no bearing on the case. See id. at
1520. In reviewing the lower court’s decision, we
concluded that “[t]he district court’s determina-
tion that Fuentes’ sentence should run consecu-
tively to his undischarged state sentences resulted
from its application of this guideline to the facts.
We therefore review this determination de novo.”
Id.

As in Perez, our de novo review in Fuentes
was of a purely legal question: whether the district
court applied the proper Guidelines provisions.
We were not tasked with reviewing whether the
district court had acted reasonably pursuant to an
indisputably applicable Guideline that endowed
the district court to act within its discretion.

We recognized this distinction in United
States v. Andrews, 330 F.3d 1305, 1307 (11th Cir.
2003) [16 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C540a] (per
curiam), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 1003 (2003). The
defendant in that case, while on federal supervised
release, was charged with drug possession, brib-
ing a prison guard, and possession of a counterfeit
driver’s license. See id. at 1306. The district court
revoked Andrews’s supervised release while
some of those charges were still pending and
sentenced him to a 24-month term of imprison-
ment, ordering that the sentence be served consec-
utively to any term of imprisonment that he re-
ceived for the substantive crimes he committed.
See id.

On appeal, Andrews challenged whether the
district court “ha[d] the authority to impose a
consecutive sentence to an unimposed, future
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sentence.” Id. We divided our review into two
questions: “The first [was] whether the district
court had the authority to impose the type of
sentence it did. The second [was] whether, while
acting within the scope of its authority, the district
court committed some type of reversible error.”
Id. at 1307. As to the latter, we applied the abuse-
of-discretion standard. See id. (“As to the appro-
priateness of a consecutive sentence, Andrews has
not shown that the district court abused its discre-
tion in imposing a consecutive sentence in his
case.”).

As in Andrews, the issue we face here con-
cerns whether the court erred “while acting within
the scope of its authority.” Id. We therefore re-
view the entirety of the district court’s sentencing
order for an abuse of discretion.

III. Discussion

a. The 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) Sentencing Fac-
tors
Title 18, United States Code, § 3553(a) pro-

vides district courts with a list of factors to con-
sider in crafting a defendant’s sentence. District
courts must account for factors unique to the
defendant, such as the nature and circumstances
of the offense and the defendant’s history and
characteristics. See 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(1). Sec-
tion 3553(a) also requires the district court to
consider how its sentence reflects and furthers
certain societal values, including promoting
respect for the law, providing “just punishment”
for the offense, deterring criminal conduct, and
protecting the public from the defendant. See id.
at § 3553(a)(2)(A)-(C).4

A district court must impose a sentence that is
“sufficient, but not greater than necessary,” to
achieve the purposes of Section 3553(a). Id. at §
3553(a). Our task is to determine whether the
district court abused its discretion in its endeavor
and “fail[ed] to achieve the purposes of sentenc-
ing under 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a).” United States v.
Kuhlman, 711 F.3d 1321, 1327 (11th Cir. 2013)
[24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C106a], cert. denied, 571
U.S. 825 (2013).

We have previously held that a district court
abuses its discretion and renders a substantively
unreasonable sentence if it “(1) fails to afford
consideration to relevant factors that were due
significant weight, (2) gives significant weight to
an improper or irrelevant factor, or (3) commits a
clear error of judgment in considering the proper
factors.” United States v. Irey, 612 F.3d 1160,
1189 (11th Cir. 2010) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C1231a] (en banc) (citation omitted), cert. denied,
563 U.S. 917 (2011). We explained further in Irey
that “a district court commits a clear error of
judgment when it considers the proper factors but
balances them unreasonably.” Id.

Although the district court must consider each
of the factors listed in § 3553(a), it need not dis-
cuss each of those factors on the record. See
United States v. King, 751 F.3d 1268, 1281 (11th
Cir. 2014) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1406a] (per
curiam), cert. denied, 574 U.S. 946 (2014). “It is
sufficient that the district court considers the
defendant’s arguments at sentencing and states
that it has taken the § 3553(a) factors into ac-

count.” United States v. Sanchez, 586 F.3d 918,
936 (11th Cir. 2009) [22 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C227a], cert. denied, 559 U.S. 1023 (2010).

In fashioning a sentence, the district court
enjoys discretion to give greater weight to one or
more factors than to the others. See Rosales-
Bruno, 789 F.3d at 1254. We will not second-
guess that decision, “as long as the sentence
ultimately imposed is reasonable in light of all the
circumstances presented.” United States v. Snipes,
611 F.3d 855, 872 (11th Cir. 2010) [22 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C1207a] (citation and quotation
marks omitted), cert. denied, 563 U.S. 1032
(2011). Even if we disagree with how the district
court weighed the sentencing factors, “we will
only reverse a procedurally proper sentence if we
are left with the definite and firm conviction that
the district court committed a clear error of judg-
ment in weighing the § 3553(a) factors by arriving
at a sentence that lies outside the range of reason-
able sentences dictated by the facts of the case.”
United States v. McBride, 511 F.3d 1293, 1297-
98 (11th Cir. 2007) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed.
C275a] (per curiam) (citation and quotation marks
omitted).

A district court is authorized to revoke a defen-
dant’s supervised release and impose a prison
term if it finds, by a preponderance of the evi-
dence, that the defendant violated a condition of
supervised release. See Trailer, 827 F.3d at 936
(citing 18 U.S.C. § 3583(e)(3)). In doing so, the
court is required to consider most of the § 3553(a)
factors. See 18 U.S.C. § 3583(e).

Where multiple terms of imprisonment are
imposed on a defendant, a district court must
consider the § 3553(a) factors in determining
whether those sentences should be run concur-
rently or consecutively. See 18 U.S.C. § 3584(b).
The primacy of the § 3553(a) factors is further
buttressed by the commentary to the Guidelines,
which notes that “[f]ederal courts generally ‘have
discretion to select whether the sentences they
impose will run concurrently or consecutively
with respect to other sentences that they impose,
or that have been imposed in other proceedings,
including state proceedings.’ See Setser v. United
States, 132 S. Ct. 1463, 1468 (2012) [23 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. S231a]; 18 U.S.C. § 3584(a). . . .
Exercise of that discretion, however, is predicated
on the court’s consideration of the factors listed in
18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), including any applicable
guidelines or policy statements issued by the
Sentencing Commission.” U.S.S.G. § 5G1.3 cmt.
Background.5

b. The District Court’s Sentences Were Not
an Abuse of Discretion
Gomez makes two arguments for his conten-

tion that the district court’s order is substantively
unreasonable. First, he asserts that the district
court failed to properly consider the deterrent
effect of the eight-year sentence that he received
for sexual battery. Second, he contends that the
district court failed to adequately consider that
Gomez’s conviction for sexual battery had al-
ready been factored into his Guidelines range, as
it had increased both his total offense level and his
criminal-history category for his illegal-re-entry
conviction. Gomez made each of these arguments

at his sentencing, but the district court was not
persuaded.

It is unclear to us from these arguments
whether Gomez intended to claim that one or both
of his federal sentences were unreasonable, or that
it was unreasonable for the district court to order
that those federal sentences run consecutively to
his state-imposed sentence.6 But it ultimately does
not matter, because none of Gomez’s arguments
convince us that any aspect of the district court’s
order was unreasonable.

Regarding Gomez’s first argument, while the
district judge did not specifically mention the
deterrence effect of Gomez’s sentence for sexual
battery, she noted the overlap between the federal
and state cases and commented that “the State
Court [is] taking care of that crime.” ECF No. 33
at 20. But the district court nevertheless con-
cluded that, “given all of the concerns that the
Court has, not seeing any of it outweighed by
mitigating history and characteristics of the De-
fendant,” its decision to impose its sentence
consecutively to the state sentence was warranted.
Id.

This was a reasonable conclusion. The district
court was required to consider whether its sen-
tence “afford[ed] adequate deterrence to criminal
conduct.” See 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(B). It is
clear from the record that the district judge did just
that, noting that she was “gravely concerned about
deterring” Gomez because his conduct showed
that none of his prior sentences or deportations
had adequately deterred him. ECF No. 33 at 19.
The district judge was not required to conclude
that the state sentence for sexual battery would
discourage Gomez from committing another
crime, particularly when ample evidence sug-
gested that court punishments were of minimal
deterrence for Gomez. The court did not abuse its
discretion in concluding a longer sentence was
justified.7

Nor are we persuaded by Gomez’s second
argument, that the district court failed to consider
the impact the Florida conviction had on Gomez’s
Guidelines range. The court stated that it had read
the PSR and confirmed with the parties that the
Guidelines ranges were correct. The district judge
was thus aware of this calculation, even if she
gave it little weight. We see no reason to second-
guess that decision.

Even if we were to conclude that Gomez’s
arguments had appeal, the factors that the district
court articulated establish the sentences’ reason-
ableness. In addition to deterrence, the district
judge focused on ensuring that her sentence
promoted respect for the law (pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(A)) and adequately protected
the public from the defendant (18 U.S.C. §
3553(a)(2)(C)).

The district judge was certainly justified in
emphasizing those factors. Gomez’s PSR details
his history of violence. The district court focused
primarily on Gomez’s sexual-battery conviction,
in which he “threatened to hurt [the victim] and
her son, who has Down[’]s Syndrome . . . and
the[ ] ensuing threatening messages that he left for
her.” ECF No. 33 at 20. Moreover, Gomez was
arrested in 2016 after violating a domestic-vio-
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lence protective injunction. During that incident,
Gomez chased another victim to her car and
punched through her car window. Given this
history, it was hardly unreasonable for the district
court to be “very concerned about protecting the
public from” Gomez. Id.

Two other aspects of Gomez’s sentence dem-
onstrate the reasonableness of the district court’s
decision. We have previously said that a sentence
that is well below the statutory maximum penalty
is an indicator of reasonableness. See United
States v. Nagel, 835 F.3d 1371, 1377 (11th Cir.
2016) [26 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C730a]. In this
case, Gomez’s 46-month sentence for illegally re-
entering the country fell well below the ten-year
statutory maximum. See 8 U.S.C. § 1326(b)(1).
And while a sentence within the guidelines range
is not presumed to be reasonable, we have said
that we “ordinarily expect [such] a sentence . . . to
be reasonable.” United States v. Gonzalez, 550
F.3d 1319, 1324 (11th Cir. 2008) [21 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. C1302a] (per curiam), cert. denied,
557 U.S. 928 (2009); see also Nagel, 835 F.3d at
1377 (“[T]he reasonableness of the sentence is
supported by its position at the lowest end of the
applicable guideline range.”). Both of Gomez’s
sentences were within their respective Guidelines
ranges, and his sentence for illegally re-entering
the United States was at the low end of that range.

The district court recognized that Gomez’s 67-
month sentence, ordered to run consecutively to
his undischarged state sentence, represents “a
significant period of time for Mr. Gomez to spend
in prison” but determined that “his actions, in the
Court’s view, warrant it in this instance.” ECF No.
33 at 21. We cannot conclude from this record
that the district court abused its discretion in
reaching that decision.

IV. Conclusion
The district court’s order is AFFIRMED. Oral

argument in this case is CANCELED.
))))))))))))))))))

1Gomez did not object to, and thus admitted, the
accuracy of the factual statements in his PSR. See
United States v. Beckles, 565 F.3d 832, 844 (11th Cir.
2009) [21 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1747a] (“Facts con-
tained in a [PSR] are undisputed and deemed to have
been admitted unless a party objects to them before the
sentencing court with specificity and clarity.”) (citation
and quotation marks omitted), cert. denied, 558 U.S.
906 (2009).

2Citations to “ECF No.” in this opinion are citations
to the electronic case-filing numbers listed in the docket
sheet of United States v. Gomez, Case No. 9:18-cr-
80181-RLR-1 (S.D. Fla.) (Jan. 31, 2019).

3U.S.S.G. § 5G1.3(a)-(c) govern whether a sentence
should be imposed consecutively or concurrently in
situations that are not applicable here.

4The district court must also think about “the kinds
of sentences available, the applicable guideline range,
the pertinent policy statements of the Sentencing
Commission, the need to avoid unwarranted sentencing
disparities, and the need to provide restitution to vic-
tims.” United States v. King, 751 F.3d 1268, 1281 n.6
(11th Cir. 2014) [24 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C1406a] (per
curiam) (citing 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(3)-(7)), cert.
denied, 574 U.S. 946 (2014).

5In deciding whether to impose consecutive sen-
tences, the Guidelines also instruct the district court to
consider “the type (e.g., determinate, indetermi-
nate/parolable) and length of the prior undischarged
sentence”; “the time served on the undischarged sen-
tence and the time likely to be served before release”;
“the fact that the prior undischarged sentence may have
been imposed in state court rather than federal court, or
at a different time before the same or different federal
court”; and “any other circumstance relevant to the
determination of an appropriate sentence for the instant
offense.” U.S.S.G. § 5G1.3(d), cmt. n.4(A)((ii)-(v)).

6Gomez does not argue that the district court erred in
ordering his federal sentences to be run consecutively to
one another. Such an argument would not have been
successful. In addition to the fact that 18 U.S.C. §
3584(a) authorizes this sentence, the Guidelines
permit—and, in fact, encourage—the district court to
impose consecutive sentences. See U.S.S.G. § 7B1.3(f)
(“Any term of imprisonment imposed upon the revoca-
tion of probation or supervised release shall be ordered
to be served consecutively to any sentence of imprison-
ment that the defendant is serving, whether or not the
sentence of imprisonment being served resulted from
the conduct that is the basis of the revocation of proba-
tion or supervised release.”). For the same reasons that
the district court’s sentences were reasonable, discussed
infra, the decision to impose consecutive federal sen-
tences was well within the district court’s discretion.

7In recounting Gomez’s sexual-battery conviction
during his federal sentencing hearing, the district judge
erroneously said that Gomez had been convicted of
Florida first-degree sexual battery. Gomez’s counsel
objected, noting that Gomez had admitted to second-
degree sexual battery. The district judge acknowledged
her error and clarified that she was still going to issue the
same sentence. Gomez argues now that district judge’s
misstatement somehow establishes the unreasonable-
ness of her sentence. We fail to see how. A primary
difference between the two crimes, at least in cases like
Gomez’s, is that unlike first-degree sexual battery, Fla.
Stat. § 794.011(4)(b), a defendant who commits second-
degree sexual battery “does not use physical force and
violence likely to cause serious personal injury.” Fla.
Stat. § 794.011(5)(b). The district judge did not base her
sentence on any force that Gomez did (or did not) apply
in committing sexual battery. She focused instead on the
threats Gomez made to the victim and to her son.
Gomez was not harmed by the district judge’s misstate-
ment, which she corrected.

*        *        *
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